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PREFACE

When Sara Louisa, Lady Blomfield passed away on 31 December 1939 at the
age of 80, the nascent worldwide Baha’i community lost not only a dedicated
believer but one of its most socially distinguished adherents. Posterity
remembers her primarily as the gracious and generous hostess to ‘Abdu’l-
Baha on His historic visits to London and as a chronicler of Baha’i history in
her book The Chosen Highway. Yet beyond this, she was a tireless advocate
of the Baha’i Faith’s spiritual and social teachings within the circles she
frequented; a defender of her persecuted co-religionists in Iran; a champion
of the rights of women, children, prisoners and animals; and an ardent
promoter of peace and interreligious understanding. In more contemporary
Baha’i terminology, it might be said that her speciality was ‘external affairs’
work. In this, she was — without equal — a pioneer.

In the seminal document Century of Light published in 2001 by the
Universal House of Justice to mark the turn of the millennium, Lady
Blomfield is numbered among the ‘galaxy of unforgettable women’ who
‘became the principal exponents of the Baha’i message on both sides of the
Atlantic’.Y! Her acceptance of the Bahd’i teachings in 1907 was an
outstanding milestone in her lifelong search for spiritual truth, a process set in
motion by her childhood experiences of religious conflict in Ireland. Her
quest took her, as it did so many of her contemporaries, through a study of
Theosophy, eastern spiritual traditions and some of the more radical
interpretations of Christianity that emerged during the closing years of the
19th century. Yet her acceptance of Baha’u’llah as the Manifestation of God
to the age of human maturity was by no means the completion of the journey.
Her recognition of the pertinence of His teachings to the needs of the age in
which she lived reinforced in her the desire to see justice and equality
established in the world, a concern expressed in her selfless involvement in
all manner of philanthropic causes as well as in direct service to those in
need. The Baha’i teachings offered spirit and form to her hopes and
convictions. Century of Light hails Lady Blomfield as one whose social
position ‘lent added force to the ardour with which she championed the



teachings’.2!

Shortly after the death of Lady Blomfield, her devoted daughter Mary,
who had been commissioned to write an obituary article for The Bahd’i
World, volume 3, 1938—-1940, wrote that it seemed ‘trivial to record worldly
episodes and circumstances’, for her mother ‘lived greatly in spiritual spheres
above ordinary existence. And yet she was so near the heart of Humanity,
that she felt keenly the world’s suffering, and never relaxed in her efforts for
its alleviation.”!

Such an outstanding figure in the early history of the Baha’i Faith in the
West has long deserved a biography chronicling her life and times. This
offering is a first attempt to convey to Lady Blomfield’s spiritual
descendants, those who follow in her footsteps as ambassadors for the Cause
of Baha’u’llah, something of the character and activities of a devoted,
conscientious soul whose life spanned the first, dawning moments of a new
era in the world’s religious experience.



INTRODUCTION

Bright star, would I were steadfast as thou art . . .
John Keats

Throughout the ages, stars have served as guiding lights to travellers who
have lost their way in the darkness of the night. With the assistance of stars,
seafarers and explorers have charted their position and set their course. While
remaining far out of reach, the light of a star can be observed by all who
choose to cast their eyes heavenward, towards that irresistible point of
attraction in the darkness.

In the metaphorical language of religion, night can represent more than
just physical darkness. It can symbolize a period of spiritual slumber on the
part of humanity, when vision is diminished and shadows prevail, when man
finds himself lost and alone, unable to plot his course. In such moments of
hopelessness, certain individuals can emerge as stars, as illuminated beacons,
sources of direction for the lost and the desperate. Sara Louisa, Lady
Blomfield was just such a light. Perhaps for this reason ‘Abdu’l-Baha, the
son of Baha’u’llah, the Manifestation of God for this day, gave to Lady
Blomfield the Persian name Sitarih, meaning ‘star’.

But the life of a star begins shrouded in obscurity, its particles of gas and
dust pulled together by gravitational attraction. The impact generates
enormous thermal energy and the star begins to shine. Sara Louisa Ryan’s
life likewise began in obscurity, unknown to the world outside a small, rural
village in Ireland. It would be several decades before this luminous star came
to be noticed. And it would take an attraction to a phenomenal source of
power for it to shine so brightly.



A studio portrait of the young Lady Blomfield, signed later by her as Sitarih
Khanum in April 1919



CHAPTER ONE: BECOMING LADY BLOMFIELD

If poverty overtake thee, be not sad; for in time the Lord of wealth shall
visit thee. Fear not abasement, for glory shall one day rest on thee.>!
Baha’u’llah

Thursday 21 April 1887. The citizens of London awoke to a bright, clement
day. Readers of the morning’s edition of The Times learned that Her Majesty
Queen Victoria, holidaying in Aix-les-Bains, had been walking in the gardens
of the Villa Mottet. In Cairo, the death of Sherif Pasha had caused ‘the
liveliest regret among all classes’ since he was ‘genial, warm-hearted and
above all, an honourable gentleman, who secured firm friends, fascinated
acquaintances, and made no enemy’. The two finest British actors of the
age — Mr Henry Irving and Miss Ellen Terry — were treading the boards at
Irving’s own Lyceum Theatre in Goethe’s Faust while Wilkie Collins’s
drama in four acts, Man and Wife, was packing out the Haymarket. The Duke
of Teck, President of the Royal Botanic Society, accompanied by his wife
and daughters, had been visiting the brilliant flower show at Regent’s Park.
‘The exhibition was worthy of the fine weather,”™ enthused The Times
reporter.

Across the rooftops of Kensington the distinctive peal of the ten bells of St
Mary Abbots rang out, tolling a joyful occasion. The renowned architect
Arthur William Blomfield — a son of the late Bishop of London and five
years a widower — was marrying for the second time. The imposing church in
which he awaited the arrival of his bride had only been completed some eight
years before. Bishop Blomfield had once described the previous building on
the same site as the ugliest in his diocese. In 1866 it had been demolished, its
fate sealed by bulging walls and dry rot. The new edifice raised in its place
was ‘on a scale’, according to its then vicar, Archdeacon Sinclair,
‘proportionate to the opulence and importance of a great Metropolitan
parish’.l8l The final stone in its spire, said to be the highest in the capital, had
been put in place with a silver trowel by the Reverend Edward Carr Glyn,
who precariously conducted a dedication service from the scaffolding,
swaying in blustery winds, some 250 feet above an enthralled and somewhat



nervous congregation.

Sir Arthur William Blomfield

On this day in 1887, however, Reverend Carr Glyn — back on terra firma
and glowing from the recent Easter services for which the ladies of the parish
had transformed the interior of the church into an ocean of seasonal blooms —
had stepped aside for the Bishop of Colchester, the groom’s brother, who had
been invited to preside over the wedding ceremony. Arthur Blomfield was
marrying Miss Sara Louisa Ryan, a young Irish-born woman, 30 years his
junior. Joining in the festivities were her mother Emily and younger sister
Cecilia, as well as Blomfield’s three children from his first marriage —
Charles, who was but three years younger than his father’s new bride, Arthur
and Adele, who had been just nine years old when her mother died.



A photograph of Lady Blomfield taken in Eastbourne, possibly soon after the
passing of Sir Arthur Blomfield

As she stepped forward beneath the soaring gothic arches towards the altar
and marriage into one of England’s most celebrated clerical families, what
emotions might have been surging in the heart of Sara Louisa Ryan? It was
all a far cry from rural Ireland where her life had begun 28 years earlier in an
atmosphere of sectarian conflict.

Ryan is one of the most common surnames in Ireland. With its family
crest showing the heads of three griffins facing proudly to the left, its origins
lie with the family of O Maoilriagh4in, meaning a descendant of a devotee of
St Riaghan. The surname is first found during the 14th century in the barony
of Owney on the borders of counties Limerick and Tipperary, where the O
Maoilriaghin clan displaced the O Heffernans. By 1890 Ryan was the
seventh most common surname in Ireland. To this day there is a high
concentration of Ryans living in the area and more than 28,000 in the whole
country.

Until the end of the 19th century civil parishes — originally initiated by
Ireland’s medieval church — were the main units of administration for local
and central government. Knockanevin in county Tipperary where Sara Louisa
Ryan was born in 1859 came under the civil parish of Glenkeen. The nearest
large town to Knockanevin is Borrisoleigh, which derives its name from the
ancient territory Ui Luighdheach in which it was situated. Best known as the
home of Tipperary Natural Mineral Water, today it is a bustling market town
with a few attractive traditional shop fronts and a 15th century tower house.

It was in Borrisoleigh on 17 November 1816 that the baptism was
recorded of Sara Louisa’s father, Mathias. Mathias was the second of ten



children born to Michael ‘Mick’ Ryan and his wife, Ellen, née Crowe, known
as ‘Nelly’. Their first child, Bridget, had been born one year earlier in 1815,
their third — two years after Mathias — was another boy, Denis. Seven siblings
followed: Michael, Patrick, Catherine, Honora, William, John and another
William, so named as the first William died young — that is, one child
roughly every two years or so up until Mathias, by that time known as
Matthew, was 20 years old.

Existence was far from easy for the Ryans and their neighbours. Sporadic
violent confrontation was a characteristic of rural life in Ireland in the first
half of the 19th century. Smouldering age-old tensions with Britain were
fanned by news of the French Revolution, inspiring the uprising of the United
Irishmen in 1798, which was duly crushed. In 1800 the Dublin parliament
was abolished. Anti-English feeling was rife but only a small minority dared
take action. The limited Irish administration was powerless in the face of the
presence of British troops who were firmly established in imposing barracks
in most towns. A more professional police force was emerging and Anglo-
Protestants monopolized jobs in the legal profession, the civil service and
local government. Resentment among the Irish sporadically flared up into
violent resistance to the collection of church tithes. Most significantly, there
was an evident — though often denied — political dimension to Roman
Catholicism in Ireland, born of the church’s influence on the masses, the
strength of its links with Rome and the power of the clergy. A popular mass
movement orchestrated by the Catholic Association arose to challenge the
lack of civil rights for Catholics. The movement was not without success,
resulting in Catholics being allowed to sit in the Westminster parliament and
hold most high offices in 1829.

Despite some promising developments, however, the problems spawned
from rural poverty remained. The ‘Great Hunger’, caused by a fungus which
totally ravaged the potato crop in the late 1840s and exacerbated by the
indifference of the British government, reduced the Irish population by two
million over four years. Around half of these died of starvation and
associated diseases such as cholera and typhus. The other half emigrated. A
total of two million Irish left for North America between 1847 and 1861. The
limited nature of land reform measures further stimulated Irish nationalism,
led by the Young Ireland movement until its suppression in 1848.

It is small wonder, then, that an atmosphere of religious and nationalistic



tension prevailed throughout Mathias Ryan’s marriage to his Anglo-
Protestant wife, Emily. Ryan — a staunch Roman Catholic — held the strong
conviction that his eldest daughter, Sara, born in 1859, would one day join a
convent. The possibility of losing her in such a manner was intolerable to
Emily. The Ryans’ marriage over, the young Sara was taken from her
homeland by her mother, who at this point may have been pregnant with her
second daughter, Cecilia, to live in England. It was in this initial experience
of the clash of loyalties during her most formative years that a seed was
planted in Sara Louisa to search constantly for religious truth. She spoke little
of this childhood pain to her own children but it evidently left lasting scars.
‘The tragedy of religious intolerance’, her own daughter Mary wrote many
years later, ‘had burnt deeply into her soul, and had inspired her quest for the
path of truth, which she found at last when she came into touch with the
Baha’i Revelation . . . The misery of that childhood can easily be
imagined.”®

For Sara’s future husband, Arthur William Blomfield, childhood and family
life could not have been more of a contrast. He was born on 6 March 1829 in
Fulham Palace, London — the official residence of the Bishop of London —
shortly after his father, Charles James Blomfield, had been ordained in the
position.

The Blomfield family had a long and chequered history, tracing their roots
as far back as the 17th century to a Suffolk family predominately composed
of non-conformist Puritans. One exception was William Blomfield of
Wattisham, who was nominated for the order of the Royal Oak after the
Restoration. In 1794 a town in New Jersey was named Blomfield after one
General Joseph Blomfield in recognition of his services in the War of
Independence. In 1803 he enjoyed the position of governor of the state of
New Jersey and an Elizabeth Blomfield, in a letter to her poet brother Robert,
described her meeting with the old man at Philadelphia, during which he told
her that his great-grandfather had fled from England at the time of Oliver
Cromwell. By the 19th century, however, the Blomfield family back home
could not have been more ‘establishment’.

Arthur Blomfield was the fourth son of the Bishop and his second wife,
Dorothy. Born in 1786, Charles Blomfield was a brilliant man. He had gained
a Bachelors degree at Trinity College, Cambridge where he was made a



Fellow, and after being presented to St Botolph’s, Bishopsgate, was ordained
Bishop of Chester in 1824, transferring to the See of London four years later.
From his earliest years he achieved renown as a classical scholar, editing five
plays of Aeschylus with notes and glossaries, as well as three Greek lyric
poets for Gaisford’s Poetae Minores Graeci in 1823. He was a regular
contributor on classical subjects to journals. Family legends told of Charles
spending between 16 and 18 hours a day over his books, a worker of
‘stupendous energy and great ability’.1Y The Gentleman’s Magazine in 1816
confirmed that ‘Mr Blomfield’s academical career was distinguished by
every honour that could adorn the brow of youth and give an earnest of future
excellence’ 11

Charles’s brother Edward Valentine Blomfield, born in 1788, was also an
outstanding scholar, lecturing from a young age in classics at Emmanuel
College. Edward won five gold medals for Greek and Latin verse between
1808 and 1811. His magnum opus, a translation of Matthiae’s Greek
Grammar, appeared posthumously, edited by his brother. A glimpse of the
kind of life the Blomfields were accustomed to can be found in the memoirs
of the acclaimed architect Sir Reginald Blomfield, one of Charles’s
grandsons. Just three years before his death Edward travelled to Stockholm
with two of his Cambridge associates. ‘He was profoundly impressed by the
beauties of the place,” wrote Sir Reginald, ‘but formed a low opinion of its
people . . . Although they began their dinners with brandy and drank wines of
sorts at dinner, they left the table as soon as it was over, and Edward
Valentine deplored the absence of the after-dinner port to which he had been
used in the combination rooms of Cambridge.”!2 Edward’s untimely death at
the age of 28 was said by Charles, at the end of his own life, to be the
‘greatest grief he had ever known’.12

The union of Charles Blomfield and his first wife, Anna Heath, who had
come from Norfolk to marry him in 1810, brought six children into the world.
Only one daughter survived. Anna died after giving birth in 1818 and one
year later Charles married the widowed Dorothy Kent, née Cox. She had no
doubt once been an attractive girl, depicted in George Henry Harlow’s
popular painting The Proposal. But Sir Reginald remembered her as ‘a
shrewd and rather hard old lady’.!¥ Together Charles and Dorothy had
eleven children, ten of whom survived. The oldest was Frederick, who
became the Rector of St Andrew Undershaft in Aldgate, London. Mary, next



in line, married Charles Dalton, Rector of Highgate. Then came Charles who
emigrated to Canada; Henry who commanded a ship in the Mediterranean
and became a full admiral; Isabella, Lucy, then Arthur; Frank — who drowned
at sea whilst saving a life; Dora, wife of Canon Routledge of Canterbury; and
the youngest, Alfred, who became Bishop of Colchester.

Bishop Blomfield’s arduous clerical duties extended to his being a tutor to
the royal family. In March 1830 the then Duchess of Kent, mother of the
future Queen Victoria, called upon Blomfield and his colleague, the Bishop
of Lincoln, to examine her daughter to see if her education was proceeding
successfully. Both clergymen were ‘completely satisfied’!®! with the
princess’s answers to their examination. Thus began Blomfield’s role in the
education of the future Queen, and later the Queen’s children.

Despite his onerous professional life, the Bishop gave great importance to
devoting time to his numerous children. ‘Their education was watched by
him with an unfailing interest,” recalled his son Alfred. ‘As was natural, his
own tastes gave a colouring to his children’s studies; next to scripture and
theology, music and the classical languages taking the most prominent place,
the elements of the last entering even into the course of education prescribed
by him for his daughters.”*®) According to one of the girls, the half to one
hour before breakfast each day was the happiest time, when Charles would
patiently teach his children ‘without any angry words’.Z The Bishop had a
natural fondness for the young. ‘During his holidays, or when he had more
leisure than usual,” wrote Alfred, ‘he would take part in his children’s
recreations, and sometimes entertain them by composing amusing or
descriptive verses, either about the incidents of a tour, or any circumstance of
the hour.’8! Blomfield was a firm believer in gathering the family together
for prayers and, in an expressed spirit of equality and fellowship, insisted that
their servants were also present. The evenings were spent in making music
and cheerful conversation.

However, as in most large families, at times there were disagreements and,
later, an inevitable parting of the ways. Sir Reginald, who was a Blomfield
through both his mother and father, wrote that it ‘has also been an
unfortunate tradition of our family for each branch of it to go off on its own
at the earliest opportunity. It was said of us in the old days at Fulham, that if
as a family we could have stuck together, we might have gone far, but like
the bundle of sticks in Aesop’s fable, we preferred to remain disunited. It is



the defect of a fine quality of independence derived from Puritan ancestors,
and as a family we have paid for it in the past.”2

Most of the time, however, growing up at Fulham Palace seems to have
been quite idyllic for Arthur Blomfield and his brothers and sisters: ‘The
house, so spacious, yet so thoroughly comfortable and domestic, the garden
half hidden on the margin of the Thames, with its spreading lawn of soft and
level turf shadowed with choice shrubs and goodly trees, the avenue of
ancient elms, the circling moat, guarding the whole from intrusion — all these,
within a few miles of the metropolis, give to the Palace at Fulham a charm
peculiarly its own; so close upon the restless world, yet itself “a haunt of
ancient peace”.’2

With his reputation as a scholar and wit surviving into the early years of
the 20th century, Bishop Blomfield was a man with a strong sense of mission,
tirelessly running the London diocese for nearly three decades. Diagnosing
the city as being in a state of spiritual impoverishment, he endeavoured to
improve it by prescribing a hugely ambitious programme of church
construction. In 1836, when Arthur Blomfield was eight years old, his father
instituted a fund for building and endowing churches, which eventually, 18
years later, was merged into the London Diocesan Church Building Society.
Consequently, as a practising architect, Arthur found himself with many
church building projects on his drawing board. In total, some 200 churches
were consecrated in London during Bishop Blomfield’s episcopate.

Arthur Blomfield was educated at Rugby during the headship of Dr
Archibald Campbell Tait, a vigorous evangelizer with broad-minded views,
who later became Archbishop of Canterbury — ‘No archbishop probably since
the reformation had so much weight in parliament or in the country
generally.”2!! Coming from a family that valued classical training so highly,
Arthur Blomfield found Cambridge the natural place to carry on his studies.
His years at Trinity College saw him achieving a Bachelor’s degree in 1851
and a Master’s in 1854, an education to which he ‘owed . . . much of that
equipment of the true English gentleman which was characteristic of him’.12
Arthur and his brother Frank were known as ‘Thunder and Lightning’ at
Cambridge, on account of the ‘pace they went, as I never heard of either of
them having done any reading at all’,'22! wrote Sir Reginald Blomfield.

Being so entrenched in Christian life, it might have seemed an obvious
path for Arthur to follow his father and several of his brothers into the



church. His choice to become an architect, however, was an equally
respectable one. The great era of church-building was underway and his
father’s passion for raising up places of worship throughout the capital was a
sure guarantee of a good livelihood for an architect. More than this, though,
Arthur was a dedicated and discriminating lover of architecture. He became
articled — for the usual term of three years — to the office of Philip Charles
Hardwick, architect to the Bank of England, a post that later Arthur also took
on.

Overseas excursions were a common activity for young architects of the
time and in 1855 Arthur travelled to Rome, Florence and other European
cities with a colleague, Frederick Pepys Cockerell, son of Charles Cockerell,
professor of architecture at the Royal Academy. Frederick was a charming
character and the two men relished their adventures abroad. Blomfield was
captivated by the then fashionable Gothic style with its elements of medieval
design and made it his own right up until his death, despite the changing
tastes around him. He quickly established his own offices and moved to new
premises in Adelphi Terrace in 1856. The practice would continue until the
1930s under the direction of his two eldest sons, Charles James Blomfield
(1862-1932) and Arthur Conran Blomfield (1863-1935).

In 1857 Bishop Blomfield passed away at the age of 71. Thanks to his
father’s legacy and his connections with the clergy, a steady flow of
commissions continued to come to Arthur Blomfield’s office. He was in the
unique position of being able to bring his intimate knowledge of Anglican
liturgical requirements to his work but nevertheless brought some radical
innovations to church architecture. He advocated the installation of galleries
and the use of iron columns and screens to divide the aisles from the nave
because he had noted that in aisled churches there was always a large
proportion of the congregation cut off from the altar, the pulpit or the reading
desk. At the time, one of the objections against the use of iron was that there
was no mention of iron architecture in the Bible — an objection that was no
less applicable to stained glass. It was the purpose rather than the appearance
of a church that gained precedence in Blomfield’s mind. He paid attention to
lighting, heating and acoustics and, unusually, the actual comfort of the
congregation. His concern for assisting the worshippers to have the most
uplifting experience even extended to the design of St Saviour’s Church for
the Deaf and Dumb on London’s Oxford Street in 1874 where his main



intention was to provide as much light and visibility as possible.

Life in the Blomfield practice was relaxed and cheerful. There was no
formal instruction and the amount of work was not overwhelming. In his
Memoirs of an Architect, Sir Reginald Blomfield writes of his early
experiences working for his uncle:

I entered his office full of enthusiasm, thinking that I should find myself
in an atmosphere of high ideals, a modern version of the schools or
studios of the Italian Renaissance. Instead of this I found myself in the
company of a somewhat depressed managing clerk, two or three
assistants and half a dozen cheerful young fellows who were serving
their articles as pupils, and most of whom were much more interested in
the latest news, sporting or otherwise, than in the latest experiment in
Architecture. The usual remark of one of the pupils every morning was,
‘Any spice in the papers?’ One pupil, an old Etonian, took a genuine
interest in his work; the principal interests of another, also an Etonian, a
rowing man and a very good fellow, were shooting and drawing wild
ducks, and looking after a lot of boys, the forerunners of the Boy Scouts
. .. My uncle was very good to me, and so far as his time allowed took
unusual trouble to instruct me . . 124!

Whatever the passions or pastimes of his apprentices, Arthur Blomfield
remained a man dedicated to nurturing the talents of others. In 1862 a
promising young architect from Dorset joined the practice after six years of
working in Dorchester. Blomfield had been looking for a specialist in
ecclesiastical drawing and on 5 May took the apprentice on at a salary of
£110 per annum. Despite winning two architectural prizes the following year,
this young man increasingly devoted more time to his passion for writing. His
name was Thomas Hardy and within ten years of joining the Blomfield office
he was beginning to enjoy literary acclaim with his novel Under the
Greenwood Tree.

Hardy described Arthur Blomfield as ‘a lithe, brisk man’.222! They shared a
passion for music, with Blomfield himself in possession of a strong bass
voice and encouraging his staff to sing part songs with him. Hardy reportedly
enjoyed his role in the office choir. Arthur also took his young assistant out
on site visits and a firm friendship was forged. Hardy even wrote a tribute to
Arthur Blomfield in the poem, ‘Heiress and Architect’, dedicated ‘For



AWB’:
She sought the Studios, beckoning to her side
An arch-designer, for she planned to build.
He was of wise contrivance, deeply skilled

In every intervolve of high and wide —
Well fit to be her guide.

‘Whatever it be,’

Responded he,

With cold, clear voice, and cold, clear view,
‘In true accord with prudent fashionings
For such vicissitudes as living brings,

And thwarting not the law of stable things,
That will I do.’

‘Shape me,’ she said, ‘high walls with tracery

And open ogive-work, that scent and hue

Of buds, and travelling bees, may come in through,
The note of birds, and singings of the sea,

For these are much to me.’

‘An idle whim!”

Broke forth from him

Whom nought could warm to gallantries:

‘Cede all these buds and birds, the zephyr’s call,
And scents, and hues, and things that falter all,
And choose as best the close and surly wall,

For winter’s freeze.’

“Then frame,’ she cried, ‘wide fronts of crystal glass,
That I may show my laughter and my light —

Light like the sun’s by day, the stars’ by night —

Till rival heart-queens, envying, wail, “Alas,

Her glory!” as they pass.’

‘O maid misled!’

He sternly said,

Whose facile foresight pierced her dire;
“Where shall abide the soul when, sick of glee,



It shrinks, and hides, and prays no eye may see?
Those house them best who house for secrecy,
For you will tire.’

‘A little chamber, then, with swan and dove
Ranged thickly, and engrailed with rare device
Of reds and purples, for a Paradise

Wherein my Love may greet me, [ my Love,
When he shall know thereof?’

“This, too, is ill,’

He answered still,

The man who swayed her like a shade.

‘An hour will come when sight of such sweet nook
Would bring a bitterness too sharp to brook,

When brighter eyes have won away his look;

For you will fade.’

Then said she faintly: ‘O, contrive some way —
Some narrow winding turret, quite mine own,
To reach a loft where I may grieve alone!

It is a slight thing; hence do not, I pray,

This last dear fancy slay!’

‘Such winding ways

Fit not your days,’

Said he, the man of measuring eye;

‘I must even fashion as my rule declares,

To wit: Give space (since life ends unawares)
To hale a coffined corpse adown the stairs;
For you will die.”28

One of Arthur Blomfield’s most admired characteristics was his humility. In
spite of his outstanding professional achievements, he remained modest and
even retiring, with a dislike of publicity. His colleague Professor Cockerell
once told him while they stood together at Ludgate Hill, looking at St Paul’s
Cathedral, that he felt the old architects were giants while modern architects
were only pygmies. Blomfield often applied the words to himself. He said
that few of his buildings were worth mentioning, although there remain many



excellent churches that bear his name. One of his finest is the parish church at
Privett in Hampshire, built as a memorial by a gin-maker from London,
George Nicholson, whose son and three of his workers had died when
overcome by gin fumes. Among the other buildings with which Blomfield
felt least dissatisfied were a private chapel at Tyntesfield, St Mary’s church in
Portsea, Queen’s School and Lower Chapel at Eton, the Fleet Street Branch
of the Bank of England — now a pub — and Sion College Library on the
Thames Embankment. He worked on the erection of London’s Law Courts in
1881, the scheme for Church House at Deans Yard Westminster and St
Alban’s Church — the English Church — in Copenhagen. He also carried out
projects for the Prince of Wales — the future King Edward VII - at
Sandringham and made important restorations to the cathedrals of Salisbury,
Canterbury, Lincoln, Chichester and to the nave of St Saviour’s in
Southwark. Overseas commissions included St George’s Cathedral in
Georgetown and Christ Church Cathedral in Port Stanley. ‘Perhaps,” wrote
Reginald Blomfield, ‘it was unfortunate that he was so much in demand by
the clergy of the Church of England for churches, schools and ‘restorations’.
He did a great deal of work, in some cases for quite inadequate remuneration,
for he was a most generous man, and the incessant repetition of the same sort
of problem, and much too much of it, checked the development of the
promise of his younger days.’%

Shortly after being made a fellow of the Royal Institute of British
Architects, Blomfield designed and built a grand family home in Fife Road,
Sheen. Blomfield had married Caroline Case Smith from Bury St Edmunds in
Suffolk and they had two sons — Charles and Arthur — and a daughter, Adele.
Life could not have been more satisfactory. Around this same time a young
girl was being brought to England by her mother from Ireland to escape the
tensions of religious intolerance at home. A quarter of a century later the
paths of Sir Arthur Blomfield and Sara Louisa Ryan would cross and their
lives become intimately linked.

Blomfield was immensely popular among his clients and his peers. He was,
according to an article in The Builder, ‘a most pleasant companion in social
life; he had a cultivated taste for various forms of intellectual recreation; he
was very fond of society and social meetings, and was particularly liked by
young men for his genial and companionable manner to them. In fact he was



himself, in spirit, a young man all his life; one who enjoyed life . . .”128 ‘He
was the most delightful of men,” wrote Reginald Blomfield. ‘. . . witty,
cheerful, a first-rate amateur actor and a skilful painter in water-colours.’#
Arthur had inherited his father’s wit and humour and, as one contemporary
appreciation put it, ‘nature had endowed him with qualities which under other
circumstances would have made him a most successful comedian’.l®
Blomfield was a happy and prosperous man, knowing little of hardship.
Then, in 1882, at the age of 42, his wife Caroline died, leaving him with two
adult sons and a nine year old daughter.

Five years followed where Arthur Blomfield’s career continued apace. In
1883 he was appointed architect to the Bank of England. Three years later he
became the vice president of the Royal Institute of British Architects. ‘No
man had a firmer hold on his clients,” wrote Arthur Edmund Street in the
Institute’s Journal, ‘not only because his work consistently reached a certain
level which the world had come to expect of him . . . but also because he
made friends of them. No one who came into touch with Blomfield could be
insensible to the winning kindliness and courtesy of his manner, or miss the
truth that the manner was an exact index of the man.’2!

Such benign humanity would not go unnoticed by a young woman who
had been raised in an atmosphere of conflict. How the 28 year old Sara
Louisa Ryan came to meet the distinguished architect is regrettably lost to
history. If she did ever speak of it and the years between leaving Ireland as a
girl and becoming Mrs Arthur Blomfield, then their daughter Mary chose not
to record it for posterity in the only surviving written memoir about her
mother.

All that it is now possible to do is to speculate about the meeting that
resulted in Arthur Blomfield’s second marriage. By this time Blomfield and
his young daughter had moved into a tall, opulent Victorian terraced house at
28 Montagu Square, Marylebone. Sara’s address on their marriage certificate,
however, is given as ‘Number 1 Campden Houses’.

Campden Houses, situated on Peel Street, Kensington, was a ‘model
dwelling’, a tenement block built by the National Dwelling Society to
provide cheap and sanitary accommodation for the poor, particularly
labourers. What circumstances might have brought Sara to live in such a
location? Among the occupations of Campden Houses’ occupants, the 1881
census lists a housemaid, a garden boy, a navy pensioner, two scholars, an



engine fitter, a plumber, an art student, an artist, a footman, a cook and a
lady’s maid. There is no mention of Sara Louisa Ryan at the address in that
census. There was quite a large Irish community in West London at this time,
particularly in Hammersmith and North Kensington where the laundry
industry used Irish workers, and there were numerous Irish domestic servants
in employment. Indeed in the 1881 census, there are several Sarah Ryans
listed as servants in the Kensington area. Could Sara Louisa have been a
maid in Sir Arthur’s home? If so, she surely might have appeared on the
census as living there, although she may have joined the household between
census surveys. Might she have been working as a governess or tutor to his,
by now, teenage daughter? She does not appear in records at Windsor Castle
of those serving in the royal household. Might she have been in service to one
of London’s distinguished churchmen, or working as a clerk in Sir Arthur’s
offices? Or had she been a model for one of the many Royal Academicians in
Arthur’s circle? An elegant portrait of her as a young woman is held in the
Baha’i archives at 27 Rutland Gate in London to this day.

Sara’s younger sister, Cecilia, had a career as a stage actress in London
and in New York. The family loved the theatre and both Sara’s daughters
with Arthur became actresses. He was known to be keen on amateur
dramatics and loved to sing and perform himself. Had he encountered or seen
the young Sara playing in a theatre or music hall somewhere?

Recalling his meetings with Lady Blomfield six decades after her passing,
a friend of hers, David Hofman, dismissed the possibility of her having a
working class background. He mentioned her deep, affected voice, still tinged
with an Irish accent, and said she gave the impression of being ‘every inch
nobility’, born and bred. Admittedly he had known her some 50 years after
her marriage to Arthur Blomfield, surely time enough to reinvent herself and
live and speak in a manner to which she had become accustomed.

More than this, alas, it is difficult to discover and perhaps that is how
Lady Blomfield wished it to be. What is known, however, is that on 21 April
1887 Arthur William Blomfield processed down the aisle for a second time —
with Sara Louisa Ryan. The marriage was reported on the front page of The
Times on Saturday 23 April:

On the 21st inst., at St Mary Abbot’s, Kensington, by the Bishop of
Colchester, brother of the bridegroom, ARTHUR WILLIAM BLOMFIELD tO SARA



LOUISA, elder daughter of MATTHEW JOHN RYAN.22!

Life for Sara was now far removed from the basic accommodation of
Campden Houses and, indeed, the poverty afflicting thousands of Londoners
just a few miles east of her marital home in Montagu Square. However much
her personal circumstances had changed, a concern for justice and the rights
of the underprivileged remained strong in her. During her early married life
Sara took a close interest in politics. Arthur was described by his daughter
Mary as a ‘light-hearted Conservative’ while Sara identified herself as a
Liberal up until the time of the women’s suffrage campaign, when she was so
appalled by the government’s treatment of the suffragettes that she left the
party and never joined another. She came to deplore labels and, in her
opinion, party politics were a dilatory expedient for holding up necessary
reforms. While 1887 saw Queen Victoria celebrating her Golden Jubilee and
a great groundswell of affection for the monarchy, the issue of Irish
independence was never far from the public mind. It had been the greatest
single source of violence and upheaval in English politics for the entire
century and would continue to dominate discussions in the British parliament
until the outbreak of the Great War. Sara Blomfield watched events unfold
with evident distress but chose to speak little of it to her family.

Honours continued to be bestowed on Arthur Blomfield as he settled into
married life again. He was elected an Honorary Member of the Royal
Academy of Arts of Copenhagen, of which he was the architect, and was
presented with the Order of the Dannebrog by the King of Denmark. In 1888
he was made an associate of the Royal Academy in Britain and on the 4 June
1889 he was knighted by Queen Victoria at Windsor Castle. Sara Louisa was
now Lady Blomfield, at the very heart of the British establishment. She was
also, more importantly for her, a devoted mother to three children of her own
— Mary Esther, born in 1888; Frank, born the following year; and Rose
Ellinor Cecilia, who arrived in 1890.

The 1891 census gives a glimpse of the kind of life that the Blomfields
were leading. It is recorded that the household consisted of Sir Arthur, 62,
and Sara, 32, and their children — Mary Esther aged 3, Frank aged 2 and Rose
Ellinor Cecilia aged 9 months. In addition, there lived at their home Mary
Lupton, a 26 year old nurse; Elizabeth Addle, 27, their cook; Hannah Wood,
34, parlour maid; Frances Dickinson, 26, housemaid; Emily Granger, 21,



under-nurse; and Mary Sullivan, 20, under-housemaid. The Blomfields’ close
neighbours were military people, among them Captain Horace Barnet of the
Royal Engineers and Captain Francis Baring of the 3rd batallion of the
Hertfordshire Regiment.

The Blomfields enjoyed the conventional but glittering life of London
society, with Sara, the devoted and dutiful wife, delighting in the wit and
brilliance of eminent Victorians. Before the countless functions she attended,
adorned in her finest jewellery, Sara climbed the stairs to the nursery to hear
her children say their prayers and to wish them goodnight. The young Mary
recalled that she thought that no queen could have looked more lovely. Such
was the nature of Lady Blomfield’s conscience, however, that the jewels
would later be sold for the benefit of some philanthropic cause.

At this time Mary wrote that her father was ‘ever youthful at heart, in spite
of his grey curls, dignified appearance and monocle’.22! Sir Arthur frequently
took part in amateur theatricals at St George’s Hall or in drawing room
entertainments of his own composition at home. His acting, wrote one
colleague, ‘was something quite unlike that of the ordinary amateur, and the
rounded completeness of his “Daddy Hardacre” [in John Palgrave Simpson’s
play] is an abiding memory with those who were privileged to see it’.2% The
Blomfields’ love for the theatre was inherited by their daughters.

Acting, though, had to take second place to Sir Arthur’s many professional
and social commitments. On 2 March 1891, the Royal Institute of British
Architects unanimously resolved that, subject to the Queen’s approval, Sir
Arthur should be the recipient of the Royal Gold Medal for the Promotion of
Architecture. The award had been instituted in 1848 when its first recipient
was Charles Cockerell, father of Frederick Cockerell with whom Sir Arthur
had travelled through Europe as a young man. On the 22 June at 8 p.m. a
ceremony was held at the Royal Institute presided over by its president, J.
Macvicar Anderson. In his address Anderson highlighted the privileged
position enjoyed by an architect:

... for while following his bent and indulging his fancy, he can — and if
his taste be rightly inspired he should — contribute to the comfort and
happiness of society by the fitness and the elegance of his creations, and
further, by integrity, independence, and honourable dealing in his
practice, he can raise the tone of his profession, and establish it in the



good opinion of men; for his is much more than an ordinary avocation or
means of subsistence, it is the pursuit of the beautiful and the useful, and
in proportion as he aspires to such attainments, so, and in the same
proportion, will he be likely to reach celebrity and to leave his mark on
his age . . .

. . . Many centuries have passed since the wise man declared ‘How
much better is it to get wisdom than to get gold’ and although the
undoubted truth of this aphorism may at first sight appear to detract from
the value of the Gold Medal which Sir Arthur Blomfield will tonight add
to his other well-earned honours, it really enhances it, for this Medal is
but the recognition of that wisdom which is the result of years of study
and labour, and is manifested in the numberless works which have so
surely established his fame as an accomplished architect.*

Sir Arthur accepted the award with his typical modesty, saying,

. . . however worthy the recipient of this honour may at any time be, and
however conscious of his own merits, I think he would be a still more
exceptional character if on an occasion of this kind, and before such an
assembly as I see here tonight, he did not find those sentiments of pride
and gratification mingled in a large degree with diffidence and
embarrassment . . .

. . it now becomes at once my privilege and my pain to ask you to
bear with me, and listen for a very short time while I say a few words
about myself — and they shall be very few; I can at least promise you that
my dose of egotism shall be homeopathic in quantity .2

Sir Arthur retold his favourite story about modern architects being ‘pygmies’
in relation to the giants of earlier centuries. ‘Perhaps on an occasion of this
sort, and with so indulgent an audience, I might be excused if I were to fall
back upon the apologetic platitude of saying that, however little I have done,
I have at least done my best.’%

As she raised her three children, Sara, Lady Blomfield was ever mindful of
the conflicts that had tainted her own childhood. She tried to remain loyal to
what both her parents had believed, teaching her children the beauties of both
the Roman Catholic and Protestant forms of Christianity, endeavouring to
hide the bigotry which divided them. As an evidence of her inborn sense of



justice, Sara said she could understand the views of a sincere Catholic and a
fearless Protestant who both lived piously up to the light that was in their
respective faiths. But religious intolerance had left its mark deep on her soul
and inspired in her a quest for truth.

With Mary and Rose at her side, Sara rejoiced in the sacred images of
virgin and child, the fragrant incense and the chanting at the occasional
Roman Catholic services they attended. Equally uplifting were the rollicking
hymns of the Salvation Army they heard around London’s parks. When her
daughters were old enough to discover for themselves the bitter prejudices
that cleft the church, they began to ask their mother questions. She
endeavoured to answer them wisely and truthfully. Fearing that she had over-
emphasized the errors of Catholic ecclesiasticism, she sent her daughters to a
French convent school where she hoped they would learn to appreciate all
that was beautiful in the Catholic faith while improving their French. The
former accomplishment, in Mary’s case, outstripped the latter to such a
degree that after a year Sara was horrified to read that Mary was to be
received as a ‘Child of Mary’, who had the right to wear the distinctive blue
cape of the Virgin until her wedding day. Lady Blomfield hurriedly removed
the girls from the school mid-term.

There were other incidents in Lady Blomfield’s early married life that
illustrate her courage. One day, as the family walked near their country home
at Broadway in the Cotswolds, a runaway pony came headlong down the hill
towards them with a little girl, screaming in terror, clinging to its mane. Lady
Blomfield, who was not at ease with horses, having had two bad accidents
herself, forgot her own safety, rushed to meet the pony, seized the bridle, and
although she was dragged off her feet, managed to stop the animal just before
it reached a rough stone wall, collision with which would surely have
seriously injured the child.

Another instance of her physical bravery occurred while the family
holidayed in Switzerland. Out walking once again, they heard a man crying
out in pain. His leg was trapped between two heavy tree logs that had rolled
off a cart. His workmate was trying to pull one of them away but did not have
sufficient strength to do so. It took Lady Blomfield, her two daughters and
their governess, Beatrice Platt, to free the injured fellow’s leg, which Lady
Blomfield bound with their handkerchiefs, sending the second man for a
doctor.



During this period of her marriage Lady Blomfield’s quest for religious truth
was just beginning. Among those she called ‘friends of the mind’, who
influenced her outlook, was Sir Edwin Arnold. Born in 1832, Arnold was a
poet, journalist, translator and traveller who had made an extensive study of
Persian, Turkish and a variety of Indian languages. Following his studies at
University College, Oxford, he was appointed principal of the Deccan
College in Poona. Returning to London at the age of 29, he became leader
writer for the Daily Telegraph and in 1873 its Chief Editor. Arnold was an
excellent journalist but it was as a poet that he yearned for recognition. His
best-known work, The Light of Asia — published in 1879 — is an epic poem on
the life of the Buddha. The average reader would have known very little of
Buddhism at the time of its publication, as most of the accounts of the
Buddha’s life were limited to oriental journals and travel writers of the day
conveyed little of Buddhism’s Indian origins. Arnold utilized his knowledge
of Sanskrit to use Indian names and terms accurately and dedicated the last
section of his poem to the Buddha’s teachings, attempting to convey the
meaning of the Four Noble Truths, the Eightfold Path and Nirvana. Lady
Blomfield considered The Light of Asia to have revealed to her the truth at
the heart of Buddhism.

Another friend was Sir William Crookes whose scientific approach to
psychic research shed a new light on the mysterious phenomena taken so
much for granted in Lady Blomfield’s homeland. Crookes’ long life was one
of persistent scientific study. His interests — ranging across pure and applied
science, physics and chemistry as well as economic issues — made him a
well-known personality. His greatest discoveries were the element thallium
and the properties of cathode rays but the experiments he carried out were
always more valuable to the research of other scientists than for the
conclusions he himself made about his findings. Crookes’ research into
psychic happenings was strongly criticized but it at least demonstrated that he
considered all phenomena worthy of investigation and that he refused to be
bound by tradition and convention.

British society’s taste for spiritualism was at its height in the late 19th
century. The belief that the dead communicate with those still living began
around the middle of the century with Emanuel Swedenborg’s writings on the
spirit world. His ideas were reinforced by Anton Mesmer’s research into



hypnotism which he claimed involved the influence of celestial bodies on the
terrestrial. Many Victorians — among them the writer Elizabeth Barrett
Browning — were strong in their conviction about its truth. Seances became
commonplace and mysterious characters such as Daniel Dunglas Home —
apparently able to float in the air and levitate heavy items without touching
them — were the talk of London. Prominent figures such as the writer Sir
Arthur Conan Doyle — creator of Sherlock Holmes and spiritualism’s most
famous adherent — were impressed that Crookes had personally tested and
endorsed a number of mediums on the circuit. Indeed, Sir William said that
he had witnessed Dunglas Home — parodied by Robert Browning as ‘Mr
Sludge, the Medium’ — float out of an upper storey window, travel over the
street below and reenter the building by another window on the same floor.
By 1869 there were four monthly spiritualist journals in London and the city
was packed with mediums, conjuring up spirit voices and apparitions to
willing customers.

Although she respected Crookes, Lady Blomfield never became absorbed
by practical spiritualism, believing that to seek communication with the other
world disturbed the peace or activities of the departed. Science, to her mind,
however, was another matter. If the barrier between the natural and the so-
called supernatural could have been broken down she would have accepted
the truth that matter and spirit, in the Spiritualist sense, were continuous,
divided only by human beings’ limited perception, and that, in the words of
Alexander Pope whose ‘Essay on Man’ she knew by heart, ‘All are but parts
of one stupendous whole, Whose body nature is, and God, the Soul.’

Lady Blomfield was not scared of causing consternation among others by
sticking to her principles. At a time when religious customs and observances
were considered sacrosanct, she would often turn heads by refusing to stand
with the congregation whenever the Athanasian Creed was being read in
church. The creed sets forth the orthodox doctrine of the trinity and deals
with the incarnation of Jesus Christ. Lady Blomfield took particular offence
to the closing statement of the Creed that says that those who have done good
will enter eternal life, while those who have done evil will enter eternal fire.
She told her daughters that although hell fire might be everlasting, it was
blasphemy to say that God would punish a man forever for a sin he had
committed in a moment of depravity, or even for a lifetime of sin which,
however long it lasted, was only temporary. There was ultimate salvation she



believed, even for the most dire of sinners.

Late in October 1899 Sir Arthur Blomfield was attending a meeting of the
Westminster Abbey Glee Club of which he was president. There was, as was
commonplace, an ‘In Memoriam’ chorus sung in memory of a recently
deceased member. Little did those who listened to it suspect that they would
have to hear it sung again at the next meeting to the memory of their genial
and popular president. On Monday 30 October 1899 Sir Arthur Blomfield
collapsed suddenly from a heart attack while at the Royal Society’s Arts Club
at 40 Dover Street, London. His death came as a devastating shock to his
wife, his children and his professional colleagues. The Architect and Contract
Reporter journal reported that just before his death he ‘looked to be vigorous
as well as happy’ .18

At a time when most of its pages were taken up with the latest reports of
the Boer War which had been declared early that same month, The Times on
Wednesday 1 November published a full obituary of Sir Arthur:

We regret to record the death of Sir Arthur Blomfield, the distinguished
architect, which took place quite suddenly on Monday night. He was
seized with syncope from heart disease while at his club, and died before
medical aid reached him . . .

Blomfield was a man of untiring energy and power of work. Probably
no architect has built or restored so many churches, and there are few
countries where his work may not be seen . . .

But up to the day of his death he remained hard at work constantly
travelling on business to different parts of the country, his holidays being
generally spent at his country house at Broadway, near Stratford-on-
Avon. ..

Sir Arthur Blomfield inherited in a great degree the ready wit which
was characteristic of his father, the Bishop of London. He was a
conversationalist of great charm and was universally popular both in
society and his profession.22

The Builder on 4 November 1899 also published an obituary praising not
only his achievements as an architect but his humanity. The Journal of the
Royal Institute of British Architects wrote:

He was a charming companion, intelligent and sympathetic, seasoning
his conversation with something of the wit and humour of his father.



Among his fellow-workers he was universally liked and esteemed, and
the larger world of society rated him no less highly, for no man was less
of arecluse . . 20

Sir Arthur’s funeral took place in Broadway, Worcestershire, on 3 December
1899. ‘No fitter resting-place’, wrote the architect Arthur E. Street, ‘could be
found for a man who had no liking for the pomps of the world than the
charming village of Broadway, where he had made his country home.’“!! The
funeral was officiated by the Reverend H. Russell Wakefield, the rector of St
Mary’s Bryanston Square, London, assisted by the rector of the parish. Lady
Blomfield led the mourners followed by her two daughters, Mary and Rose,
and stepdaughter Adele. Then came her two stepsons, Charles and Arthur,
and son Frank, Sir Arthur’s nephew Reginald and his niece, the poetess
Dorothy Frances Gurney. There was also a large gathering of the clergy and
people of the neighbourhood. Simultaneously with the interment, a memorial
service was being held at St Mary’s, close to the Blomfields’ Montagu
Square home. The Archdeacon of London and the Reverend R. Dixon
officiated. Archdeacon Sinclair delivered an address in which he sketched out
the life and work of Sir Arthur. Among the distinguished guests were
Kenneth Grahame, then Secretary of the Bank of England and author of The
Wind in the Willows, and the playwright Sir Arthur Wing Pinero.

The passing of this well-loved pillar of both the architectural and religious
establishments caused sadness in London and beyond. Sir Arthur Blomfield
was a decent, Christian man. He was ‘the stamp of a man produced by the old
schools of architecture, now fast dying out; and apart from his professional
status, his modest and genial nature, his conversational powers, his kind and
generous friendship, always willing to aid younger members of the profession
with the fruits of his experience, endeared him to all who knew him. And,
further, he was staunch upholder of the necessity for honour, high principles
and morality amongst English gentlemen.’*¥ Soon after Sir Arthur’s passing
a small memorial brass was fixed in the Bryanston Square church, a building
that had been reseated and redecorated under his guidance 25 years
previously. The brass reads:

In Memory of Arthur William Blomfield, Knight, MA and ARA,
Architect for many years resident in this parish and an earnest worker for
its welfare. Under his direction this church was improved and adorned



An:Dom: 1875.

Barely 40 years old and the mother of three young children, Lady Blomfield
was embarking on the next chapter of her life, during which her passionate
search for spiritual meaning would continue unabated.



CHAPTER TWO: THE SEARCH FOR TRUTH

. . . we must exert ourselves to the utmost in investigating and turning
toward the Sun of Reality, no matter from what dayspring or dawning
point it may appear.£!

‘Abdu’l-Baha

Sir Arthur Blomfield left Sara a wealthy woman. With an estate valued at
almost £29,000 — the equivalent of more than £2,000,000 today — she was
bequeathed the household contents and an income for life. His second son
from his first marriage, Arthur Conran Blomfield, and Henry Russell
Wakefield, the rector of St Mary’s Church in Bryanston Square, were
appointed the guardians of Mary, Frank and Rose in the event of their
mother’s untimely passing. The residue of Sir Arthur’s wealth was set up as a
trust with his two eldest sons and Joseph Watson Overbury, a stockbroker, as
trustees. Lady Blomfield now found herself with three children to raise alone
and two large homes to manage — in London’s Montagu Square and at
Broadway in Worcestershire.

A studio photograph from around this time, taken in Eastbourne, depicts a
proud-looking woman comfortable with her status in society. Smartly dressed
in a fancifully embroidered jacket, lace blouse, twin rows of pearls and a
small, feathered velvet hat, Lady Blomfield is the picture of late Victorian
elegance. Yet there is something bohemian about her appearance reminiscent
of studio portraits of the actresses of the time and the heavy-lidded eyes
denote a compassionate nature. This period must have been one of the
unhappiest of her life yet, as her daughter Mary wrote,‘l can remember, from
the earliest days, her valiant spirit meeting sadness and difficulties with
radiant acquiescence and invincible faith.’'#

With the passing of Sir Arthur, Lady Blomfield decided that it was timely
to leave behind the whirl of their social life in the city and retreat to their
country home, Springfield House in Broadway. Her husband’s remains had
been laid to rest there in a secluded corner of the graveyard of St Eadburgha
church, in the shadow of its 12th century red sandstone tower. A slender
granite gravestone — a decorative Celtic cross — remains there to this day, its



inscription barely legible. Their residence, along a hedgerow-lined track
heading out of Broadway, was a spacious, Cotswold stone country house in
the English vernacular style, homely and comfortable, but a far cry from the
elegance of Montagu Square.

Springfield Cottage at Broadway, Worcestershire




The slender granite gravestone of Sir Arthur Blomfield in a secluded corner
of the St Eadburgha churchyard, Broadway, below

While Broadway, nestling at the foot of the Cotswold Hills at the
southernmost tip of Worcestershire, offered the kind of natural peace and
tranquillity rarely found in London, Lady Blomfield was never far away from
stimulating company. The village’s reputation as a retreat for the cultured
elite boomed in the last decades of the 19th century. The great socialist
visionary, designer and writer William Morris had discovered its charms
while staying at Broadway Tower, a striking 18th century folly, then home to
an Oxford tutor, Carmel Price. Price played host to many celebrated people of
the day in his home from whose turrets spectacular 360 degree views extend
as far as the Welsh mountains and the Severn Valley, encompassing as many
as 12 counties. While on a visit to the tower, the author Leonard Hutton with
the botanist and landscape painter Sir Alfred Parsons had been encouraged by
Morris to take a walk down the valley to visit the village with its attractive
stone farm houses and charming cottages. Hutton was enchanted by the place
and, returning to London, informed two American artists — the graphic
illustrator Edwin Austin Abbey and Francis Millet — of his discovery. The
two men had been on a quest to find the perfect English village and
subsequently rented Farnham House on Broadway Green. The cream of the
arts world followed — the writer Henry James, the distinguished actor and



theatre manager Sir John Hare, the painter John Singer Sargent along with
many others arrived to set up home in Broadway, making it arguably the
most famous village in England of the period. One American magazine
reported, ‘Nowhere can the ideal of old England be found in such a perfect
state of preservation or so untouched by modern improvements as Broadway.
There is scarcely a house which hasn’t been painted by a famous artist, there
isn’t a chimney or doorway which hasn’t been sketched.’*® The ravishing
Sargent masterpiece Carnation, Lily, Lily, Rose of 1885-6, one of the most
popular paintings in the collection at London’s Tate Britain, depicts an
atmospheric Broadway evening scene as two children, clad in white, light
oriental lanterns in a luxurious, lily-festooned garden.

Access to Broadway had improved in the mid-19th century with the
opening of the London—Oxford—Worcester railway line. The nearest stop was
Evesham until 1904 when Broadway received its own railway station.
Despite the inevitable increase in visitors for whom exploring the Cotswolds
had become a popular pastime, the town still managed to maintain the idyllic
charm and picturesque quality that remains to this day.

With Sara’s son Frank now away studying at Eton, Broadway was the
perfect place for her to come to terms with the loss of her husband and to
raise her daughters away from the pressures of life in London without
isolating herself from the stimulating company of England’s cultural elite.
The 1901 census records that Sara, by then aged 42, was ‘living on own
means’ at Springfield House with Mary aged 13, Rose aged 10, the girls’ 23
year old governess Beatrice Platt, and two local women who lived with them
— their cook Amy Keen, aged 33, and 39 year old Harriet Spinner, listed as
the Blomfields’ ‘parlour maid/domestic’. During this period, Sara’s sister
Cecilia married divorcee William Gilmore from Pennsylvania, who enjoyed
some acclaim as a Broadway stage director, and settled in New York.

Lady Blomfield felt at home among the artistic luminaries who had
gathered in Broadway. Pleasant evenings were passed at the home of Frank
Millet, who had converted his barn into a large drawing room and studio.
Millet was a fascinating, well-travelled man who had served as a drummer
boy to a Massachusetts regiment during the American Civil War. Excelling at
Harvard University, he became a reporter and then city editor of the Boston
Courier. His artistic career began as a pastime of making lithographs and
portraits of friends. An excellent decorative artist and painter whose work can



be found at the Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York and at the Tate in
London, Millet was among the 1,523 victims of the Titanic disaster in 1912,
famously finishing a game of cards with friends in the first-class smoking
room as the ship sank in the icy waters of the north Atlantic.

Also among Lady Blomfield’s close friends in Broadway was the first
American superstar actress Mary Anderson, who had retired from the stage in
1890 when she married Count Antonio Fernando de Navarro, a fellow
American working in London. They had two children, a son José and a
daughter Elena, and settled at Court Farm in Broadway where Mary became a
noted hostess, welcoming guests from her circle of musical and literary
friends as well as ecclesiastical acquaintances of the Count. From time to
time she staged evenings of dramatic readings or performances in which the
Blomfield girls eagerly participated. Mary Anderson remained in Broadway,
rarely venturing back into the public eye, until her death in 1940 at the age of
80.

Other visitors Sara enjoyed meeting in Broadway and occasionally
entertained in her own home included the Boer War veteran Lord Elcho and
his wife; the French-born Maude Valérie White, one of the most successful
composers of English song of the Victorian era; Lady Maud Bowes-Lyon, an
aunt of the future Queen Elizabeth the Queen Mother; the legendary actress
Mrs Patrick Campbell, for whom George Bernard Shaw created the role of
Eliza Doolittle in Pygmalion; and the Punch caricaturist Phil May. Relatives
were also close by — Sir Arthur Blomfield’s niece Dorothy Frances Gurney
was the poet who penned the wedding hymn ‘O Perfect Love’, as well as
‘God’s Garden’, which is so often seen quoted on sundials and garden
benches:

The kiss of the sun for pardon,

The song of the birds for mirth —
One is nearer God’s heart in a garden
Than anywhere else on earth.

Lady Blomfield found Dorothy a delightful companion and they enjoyed a
long and devoted friendship. Gurney’s obituary published in The Times in
1932 stated that a “wide circle of friends of every creed and class knew that
they could take to her all their troubles, great or small, and come away with
the burden of them lightened or removed’.



Lady Blomfield had been immersed since the age of 28 in the British
establishment. Now facing life as a young widow, the next major stage in her
spiritual search was under way. Deriving pleasure from the rural yet
bohemian world she inhabited, she was beginning to find even greater
contentment and satisfaction in her exploration of the sphere of spiritual
contemplation and thought. From this time onward, her society life as it had
been previously gave way to associations with those who were working for
some philanthropic cause or shared her interests in spiritual matters. Within a
few years, as Broadway became connected by rail to major cities such as
Birmingham, Cheltenham, Worcester and Oxford, tourism to the peaceful
village began to boom. Perhaps for this reason and the desire to be closer to
those who shared her esoteric interests, Lady Blomfield decided to return to
London with her daughters to live there permanently.

In 1904, by which time her son Frank had finished his schooling and had
joined the Royal Navy, Lady Blomfield and her two daughters moved back to
London and into new accommodation at 10 Welbeck Mansions, 97 Cadogan
Gardens just off fashionable Sloane Square. The Cadogan estate, covering
around 90 acres in the Knightsbridge and Chelsea areas of London, dated
back to the early years of the 18th century when Sir Hans Sloane bought the
Manor of Chelsea. Immediately he began to develop the land, building
houses along Cheyne Walk. On Sir Hans’s death, the estate was further
developed by Lord Cadogan who was married to one of Sloane’s daughters.
The grand red-brick mansion blocks of Cadogan Gardens with their elaborate
ironwork railings, where Lady Blomfield set up home, were built at the end
of the 19th century and remain one of London’s most sought-after addresses,
each apartment now fetching seven figure sums. A wide range of spiritual
teachers now became part of Lady Blomfield’s circle of acquaintances and
made a profound impact on her thinking. In 1911, 97 Cadogan Gardens
would become the setting for the most significant event of all their lives.

The fascination of London society with alternative approaches to religion
and spirituality had grown during the closing decades of the 19th century.
Despite Bishop Blomfield’s best efforts, the church was fighting a losing
battle against the scientific logic of Darwinists, the growth of atheism and
widespread improvements in material wealth. Within the church itself, there
were ongoing struggles between traditionalists and reformers. Increased
access to knowledge about mysticism, eastern religions or occultism allowed



people the freedom to develop personal spirituality, away from the dogma
and corruption of religious institutions. Women, in particular, sought out
forms of worship that, both figuratively and literally, cut out the middleman.
Some historians have noted that the mid- to late-19th century preoccupation
with spiritualism was largely a female one. It has been suggested that, finding
most religious organizations male-dominated, the woman medium — having
been barred from accepted institutions of power — established for herself an
alternative, higher source of authority. Society women were also the main
benefactors of new spiritual movements. Around 1899 two women in London
quietly began to share among their friends and acquaintances a new religious
teaching from Persia they had discovered. They were a divorcee, Mary
Virginia Thornburgh-Cropper — formerly the wife of an English army officer
— and a portrait miniaturist from the city of Bath, Ethel Jenner Rosenberg.
Within a few years Lady Blomfield’s encounter with Rosenberg would
irrevocably change her life.

Sara’s inspirational acquaintances of this period included the Austrian
Roman Catholic theologian Friedrich von Hiigel, Baron of the Holy Roman
Empire. Born in Florence, von Hiigel had moved to England with his family
in 1867 when he was 15. Having studied natural science, philosophy and
religious history, he adopted critical views of the Old Testament and later
went on to found the London Society for the Study of Religion. He was a
profound Christian who passionately desired communion with God and
sympathized with all genuine religion. This broad approach to Christianity
appealed greatly to Lady Blomfield, remembering a childhood riven by
sectarian antagonism. But her spiritual interests did not stop at Christianity.

Her friendships with Sir William Crookes and Sir Edwin Arnold led her to
a thorough study of Theosophy which taught that a universal wisdom lay at
the heart of all genuine religious and occult traditions. The Theosophical
Society had been founded in 1875 by Helena Blavatsky, a Russian occultist,
and Colonel Henry Olcott, an American freemason. It is thought that
Blavatsky was born in 1831, the daughter of a Russian aristocrat, and her
early years were spent living a bohemian life, including a period as a spirit
medium. She claimed she had been contacted by a Tibetan sage who taught
her about a divine hierarchy that rules the cosmos. It was claimed that this
sage — Morya, who was visible only to initiates — was a member of a Great
White Brotherhood of Masters, who were immortal and invisible. Among the



members of the Brotherhood were Buddha, Moses, Plato and various other
enlightened teachers. An important element of their message for that
particular period in history was that Darwin was mistaken in thinking man
had descended from apes, rather the human race had come from spirit beings
who had arrived on Earth via other planets.

When the Theosophical Society was founded, its aims were threefold: to
form a nucleus for the universal brotherhood of mankind irrespective of race,
religion, gender, cast or skin colour; to promote the study of comparative
religion, philosophy and science; and to investigate the unexplained laws of
nature as well as the hidden potential of man. The Society aimed to be free
from religious dogma and adopted the slogan,‘There is no religion higher
than truth’. After Blavatsky’s death in 1891, her successor in Theosophy’s
Esoteric Section was Annie Besant, who, like Lady Blomfield, was half-Irish,
half-English. Besant had originally proclaimed herself an atheist after
walking out of an early marriage to an unpleasant churchman. She later
became a notorious birth control campaigner, losing custody of her children
along the way. After discovering Theosophy at the age of 42, she flung
herself into its work. The appeal of Theosophy for its adherents lay in the
abandonment of clergy and theology, the mystery of reincarnation and the
anticipation of the imminent appearance of a World Teacher. Besant was
convinced that the Maitreya or World Teacher who had previously revealed
himself in the person of Jesus Christ was about to make himself known to
humanity again.

Lady Blomfield avidly read the works of Besant and another prominent
Theosophist, Alfred P. Sinnett, and often attended meetings to hear the
authors. Besant, clothed in billowing white robes, was an inspirational
speaker, lecturing in a beautiful, mesmerizing voice. Her ambition was to
make Theosophy the world’s leading ecumenical religion and social
movement and she succeeded in moving it onto a social level, founding
several schools and becoming president of the Indian National Congress. She
was also heavily involved in the Boy Scout movement and in Co-Masonry, a
version of Freemasonry that admitted women. But the Society was riven with
internal wrangling and disagreements. Sinnett was a journalist who had
worked in London, Hong Kong and Allahabad. He and his wife, both keen
spiritualists, had met Helena Blavatsky in India. Sinnett was dismissed from
his newspaper in India for allowing Blavatsky too much space in it to



proclaim her ideas. Sinnett and Besant were bitter enemies, he being resentful
of her rise to prominence in the Society above him.

Sinnett would often call on the Blomfields to recount the latest
developments in the Society. Young Mary Blomfield later remembered being
thrilled by his talk of astral conflicts between the “White and Black forces’.
Her mother listened attentively and asked pertinent questions, challenging the
fallibility of Sinnett’s notions. Mary noted how a wise inward calm would
show in Lady Blomfield’s smile ‘as Mr Sinnett in his matter-of-fact way
would tell these wonders, taking them for granted as soberly as the
multiplication table’ H¢

If she was aware of the internal conflicts in the Theosophical Society,
Lady Blomfield seems not to have let them interfere with her interest in its
teachings. She confidently told her daughters that a great world teacher was
awaited by the enlightened of all faiths and she believed that she herself
would see him. Whenever a new guru or spiritual master arrived in London,
she would attend his lectures, hoping to find him to be the Promised One.
Among those she sought out was Swami Vivekananda, an Indian monk
whose fame spread after he represented Hinduism at the first World
Parliament of Religions held in Chicago in 1893. Vivekananda was a
handsome and colourful personality who had a vast knowledge of eastern and
western culture, coupled with deep spiritual insight. He pleaded eloquently
for the West and the East, for science and religion to come together. Lady
Blomfield clearly found much to agree with in Swami Vivekananda’s
teaching but ultimately she was not convinced he was the great teacher she
sought. By 1910 the Theosophists had fixed their attention on the young
Indian boy Krishnamurti, whom they claimed, and trained, to be the
incarnation of the World Teacher, a role he later came to strongly despise,
shunning his followers and resigning from the Theosophical Society in 1930.

The Theosophical doctrine of reincarnation fascinated Lady Blomfield,
and her romantic nature and Irish love of myth found appeal in hearing their
version of human evolution with its forgotten races, moon ancestors, shape-
shifting water-creatures known as Hyperboreans and the lost inhabitants of
Atlantis who passed on their wisdom to humanity’s forebears. Ultimately,
though, Lady Blomfield was disenchanted by the manner in which
Theosophy divided up the spiritual world. She preferred ‘the many mansions
of infinity’. In the long run, her gradual dissatisfaction with Theosophy came



about from a critical doubt about the validity of its spiritualistic sources. She
felt that the communications from beyond were very open to fraudulent
abuse, either by charlatans on this plane or the so-called ‘astral’. Lady
Blomfield’s mind instinctively turned towards the ethical aspects of religion
and their practical effect on human behaviour.

The truths inherent in Christianity were never far from her thinking.
Among her papers is a poem in her own handwriting, reflecting a profound
belief in Christ’s redeeming mission:

Oh Love for Man, Oh perfect thought
Which from the heart of Christ arose
When all his work on earth was wrought
‘Conquered is death and all man’s foes.’

In the eternal, long past ages

Thou foresawst the Easter morn
Which should dawn to glad the Sages
Who rejoiced when Christ was born.

Oh Angel of Easter Morning

Oh Herald of Life to be

Breathe from God on the sinful man

And his soul is free.

Slave of Satan and serf of sin, the bondsman of death and time

Loaded with ills of his fathers and his body crushed down by his crime
Heard, received the great tidings of Easter and came to God with his plea

It was life that spake from the darkness

It was light that sprang to the Blind

When the Lord had rent asunder the chains

that had bound the Mind.

Souls held down and enchained

By Satan to death and the grave

Enthralled and entrammelled with fetters of flesh
and dead to all that was brave

Rose up swiftly when Jesus spake

And they knew there was life to find.4Z



Over and above her Theosophist friends, Lady Blomfield found most
inspiration in the missions of two prominent and outspoken churchmen from
whom she derived immense inspiration — the Reverend R.J. Campbell and
Basil Wilberforce, Archdeacon of Westminster.

Reginald John Campbell was a non-conformist Congregational Minister
who had made quite a stir when, as a young preacher, he took over as pastor
at perhaps the most prestigious church in England — the City Temple in
London’s Holborn. Campbell made for an extraordinary presence in the
pulpit with his shock of prematurely white hair and apparent vulnerability.
On his first Sunday at the City Temple seven thousand people attended its
morning and evening services. For the first two years of his ministry
Campbell was judged to be a successful and exciting minister and the
immediate publication of his sermons spread his fame internationally. In
1907 Campbell began preaching his controversial new theology which was
compared by one theologian to a bad photograph: underdeveloped and
overexposed. Campbell critiqued both the utter transcendence of God — God
above and beyond His creation — and pantheism — God identified with
creation. His position of panentheism veered towards the notion that God can
be readily seen and known through creation but is not limited to or contained
by it. The new theology stated that man knows nothing and can know nothing
of the Infinite Cause from which all things proceed, except as He is read in
His universe and in human souls. Campbell believed Jesus to be divine but
also stressed the divinity of all human beings who should strive for oneness
with God and live the life Jesus lived.

From this position, Campbell preached a thoroughly revised version of
Christianity. While not claiming direct influence from Hinduism, Buddhism
or Taoism to which his ideas bore some similarity, Campbell stated his
intention was to recapture the purity of early Christianity. There are certainly,
and not surprisingly for the period, elements of Theosophy in his views.
Campbell came under fire from orthodox theologians who suggested that he
had never been trained in theology. Undeterred, he sought to apply his
thinking to social causes, joined the Independent Labour Party and the Fabian
Society — with its progressive socialist tenets of social justice — and supported
divorce and votes for women. He visited the Western Front at the beginning
of the Great War and Lloyd George made his first public statement on the
conflict at the City Temple. In 1915, as Campbell’s campaigning and the



criticism it attracted took its toll on his fragile health, his congregation asked
him to go — unhappy with his new theology, socialist convictions and other
views they deemed unacceptable. He joined the Church of England and
espoused more conventional theology from then on. “When he had gone,’ one
observer wrote, ‘those who had sat under his spell must have wondered if it
had not all been a dream. They had had the sense of riding the crest of a new
reformation into a reformed society. The Kingdom of Heaven was attainable
— perhaps almost at hand. Then the angelic man who had brought them to
these heights became confused, confessed his error, and left them, as the War
came upon them and swept away the old Europe. When the great let-downs
of the world are recounted, a special word will need to be said for the pre-
War congregation at London’s City Temple.’“8! Campbell’s departure from
the City Temple, however, was preceded by a singular service he rendered to
the Baha’i Movement which his admirer Lady Blomfield was soon to
embrace.

Sara considered Campbell a fearless thinker but she held an even greater
and deeper respect for the interpretation of Christianity given by Basil
Wilberforce, the then Archdeacon of Westminster. Every Sunday she would
take her daughters to St John’s, Smith Square to hear him preach. St John’s
was built in 1728 and is one of the masterpieces of English Baroque
architecture. The church was dubbed ‘Queen Anne’s Footstool’ after a
supposed incident when the architect, Thomas Archer, consulted the monarch
on what the new church should look like. In reply, the queen petulantly
kicked over her footstool and said, ‘Like that!” The church’s distinctive four
towers are thus said to resemble an upturned footstool. St John’s superb
acoustic has today made it a world class classical music venue.

Basil Wilberforce, who was made Archdeacon of Westminster in 1900
after 23 years’ service at St Mary’s in Southampton and then later as
Chaplain to the House of Commons, was regarded as a spiritual teacher of the
highest order. As the son of the Bishop of Winchester and the great-grandson
of William Wilberforce, the great anti-slavery campaigner, he was a staunch
Liberal, although he had no sympathy with party politics. In his position as
Archdeacon he was regarded as having brought a new light to the church,
transforming the old doctrines into living realities, something which must
have clearly appealed to Lady Blomfield in her quest for a religion of ethics
and action.



Like Campbell, Wilberforce was a well-loved, charismatic preacher whose
congregations flocked in huge numbers to hear him. While making a great
moral appeal or rallying his troops to some act of national duty, he was
second to none. But his sermons were not simplistic — one report recounts
that Wilberforce ‘seemed to believe in the virtue of long words to make
difficult things easy. After all “the mysterious power behind phenomena”
only says in many syllables what “God” says in one; but the congregation of
St John’s drank in this eloquence with open mouths and ears, and firmly
believed that it helped them to understand what would otherwise have been
unintelligible.”%

During Archdeacon Wilberforce’s tenure, one notable feature of the 800-
strong congregation at St John’s was that women outnumbered men by ten to
one. Wilberforce’s manner with women was gentle, respectful and
sympathetic. Women, it was observed, ‘felt safe with Wilberforce, pouring
out their troubles into his patient ears, secure not only of genuine sympathy,
but also of sensible advice’.5” He was an eager advocate of women’s right to
vote and was even magnanimous when suffragettes tried to destroy St John’s.
More controversially, he backed the remarriage of divorced people and
celebrated the legalization of marriage with a wife’s sister.

As a churchman in the post-Darwin age, Wilberforce understood the
intellectual difficulties and honest doubts of many of his contemporaries and
attempted to demonstrate the spiritual significance of such doctrines as the
Atonement, the Trinity and the Resurrection which he believed had been lost
in academic interpretations which failed to satisfy the mind or touch the soul.
He also decried the materialism that had crept into the life of the church and
chose to mix freely with a wide range of people — poets, statesmen, scientists
and actors. His wife Charlotte had a reputation as a skilled hostess who had
mastered the art of blending various widely differing personalities into
sociable and harmonious company.

The number of Wilberforce’s admirers was equalled by the number of his
critics. When he administered the sacrament of anointing the sick with oil,
there was an outcry among traditionalists in the Church of England. He was
also a dedicated participant in spiritualist seances and a regular visitor to the
Broadlands Centre in Hampshire where Quakers would rub shoulders with
Spiritualists, Swedenborgians and members of other religious groups. He was
rigorous and conservative in some matters and hugely flexible and liberal in



others. For example, along with large numbers of clergymen of his day, he
was a staunch lobbyist for the temperance movement that advocated
abstention from alcohol. He even tried to introduce grape juice as a
replacement for communion wine. He had little respect for the medical
profession and totally opposed vivisection.

Lady Blomfield also felt deeply concerned about the rights of animals.
Anti-vivisection became a potent issue during 1907 when police, feminists,
medical students and trade unionists fought in Battersea Park over the statue
of a brown dog. Two women, Louise Lind-af-Hageby and Liesa Schartau,
had enrolled in the London School of Medicine for Women to learn
physiology with the intention of using that knowledge to expose the practice
of vivisection. They witnessed the suffering of a brown terrier dog for more
than two months and were inspired to put up a statue of the dog in the park
with an inscription stating that the dog had been done to death by the students
of University College as part of their experiments. Protest meetings to have
the inscription removed came to nothing so medical students vandalized the
statue, leading to rioting. The statue was eventually removed in 1910. Lady
Blomfield became a close friend of Louise Lind-af-Hageby. She was
introduced to her by A. P. Sinnett who called the girl a ‘Divine Being, a
spiritual descendant of St Francis of Assisi’.2! Their friendship lasted for
decades and, many years later, they worked alongside each other in Geneva.

Above all others, Archdeacon Wilberforce was the central focus of Lady
Blomfield’s spiritual life, a much loved and revered mentor. Sorting through
her mother’s papers after her passing, Mary found many letters from him
which Lady Blomfield had treasured along with correspondence from Sir
Edwin Arnold, her other great spiritual guide. In the spring of 1907
Wilberforce gave a series of lectures on the relationship of eastern religions
to Christianity. His universalist point of view and the quality of his
inspiration greatly impressed his audience. These lectures, precisely at that
moment, set the stage for Lady Blomfield to attain her heart’s desire within a
matter of weeks. She was about to discover that the great World Teacher she
was anticipating from God had indeed come.



CHAPTER THREE: THE HIGHWAY CHOSEN

Thou art but one step away from the glorious heights above
and from the celestial tree of love.>2!
Baha’u’llah

During the Easter period of 1907 Lady Blomfield and her elder daughter
Mary were holidaying in Paris. The French capital in the early years of the
20th century was experiencing its belle époque, a period of prodigious artistic
activity. Avant-garde artists and musicians were the recipients of generous
patronage and liberal attitudes prevailed. A pioneering black American writer
Jessie Fauset wrote of that time,‘I like Paris because I find something here,
something of integrity, which I seem to have strangely lost in my own
country. It is simplest of all to say that I like to live among people and
surroundings where I am not always conscious of “thou shall not”.”’*3 This
was a city where anything was possible and diversity flourished. Even so,
Parisians could still be shocked. In March 1907, breaking all the rules of
composition and perspective, Pablo Picasso exhibited Les Demoiselles
d’Avignon, causing an unlikely stir with its grouping of five nude female
figures, their bodies distorted into geometric shapes, their faces reminiscent
of tribal sculpture. Some recognized the influence of an exhibition of African
masks shown in Paris earlier in the year. The city had become an effervescent
centre for the meeting of diverse cultures and ideas.

Most significantly in the unfoldment of Lady Blomfield’s spiritual quest,
Paris was also home to Europe’s first community of Baha’is — many of them
expatriate North Americans resident in the city as artists or students of the
arts. Since a young American woman, May Ellis Bolles, had encountered the
Movement at the end of the 19th century, a number of the outstanding figures
of early western Baha’i history had learned of its principles from her in the
French capital. Among the first to be drawn through her teaching to the
magnetic personality of the then head of the Baha’is, ‘Abdu’l-Baha, were the
scholar Hippolyte Dreyfus; an architecture student, Charles Mason Remey;
the Englishman Thomas Breakwell and the heiress Laura Clifford Barney.
The group was reinforced by an admired American Impressionist painter,



Edwin Scott; artists Juliet Thompson and Marion Jack; and Edith Sanderson,
whose sister Sybil was a celebrated opera singer of her time — a muse of the
composer Massenet, feted by Toulouse Lautrec and the first love of
American newspaper magnate William Randolph Hearst, whose
philanthropist mother was one of the most prominent American followers of
‘Abdu’l-Baha. Another associate of the Baha’is at this time was Raymond
Duncan, brother of the avant-garde dancer Isadora Duncan. Thus the circles
that the Baha’is moved in were culturally sophisticated and open-minded.

‘All that the [early believers in Paris] knew of the Bahai Cause’, wrote
Remey,

was what someone had heard from someone else, and thus the word was
passed on . . . we had very little real information about the Teachings.
We depended mostly upon our faith and on our feelings rather than on
actual information. It was a time, however, of great spiritual romance
and adventure. The great religious fire of the Cause was uppermost in
our minds. We all sang, as it were, a lyric Spiritual Song, and like all
youth the adventure and the new outlook created a tremendous
enthusiasm in our hearts . . . having so little [written literature] we were
obliged to dwell largely on the emotional plane. Dreams and visions
frequently made up to us our lack of actual knowledge.’>*

The early followers of what is now known as the Baha’i Faith did not
consider themselves to be members of a new world religion nor did they
deem it a necessary step to renounce or stop practising their own inherited
religions. Generally speaking, their belief consisted of being in agreement
with the few teachings they knew about and a devotion to ‘Abdu’l-Baha
based upon the stories they had heard of His exceptional personality. ‘When I
first heard of the Cause in Paris,” recalled Marion Jack, ‘I heard of it as
something “queer”. This thought made me curious & fortunately I was led to
someone, Mr. Charles Remey, who explained things so beautifully &
reverently, that I found the “queer” was something great & precious.’>

The ‘Baha’i Movement’, as it was then called, had begun to spread to the
West under the leadership of ‘Abdu’l-Baha shortly after the passing of His
father Baha’u’llah, its Prophet-Founder. Coincidentally, for Lady Blomfield,
Baha’uv’llah’s teachings had been given prominent mention by a Christian
speaker at the 1893 World Parliament of Religions in Chicago where Swami



Vivekananda, whom she had admired, had made such an impact.

The story of the Baha’i Movement, as its early members would have heard
it, began in Persia in 1844 when a young merchant — a descendant of the
Prophet Muhammad — named Siyyid ‘Ali-Muhammad adopted the title ‘Bab’
— meaning ‘Gate’ — and taught His followers that He had been sent to prepare
the way for ‘Him Whom God shall make manifest’ — a Messenger from God
whom the followers of all religions anticipated would be sent to establish His
Kingdom on earth. The Bab’s teachings attracted a widespread following and
caused a great commotion in Persia. The country’s religious leaders launched
a campaign of bitter persecution against the Babis and after six years of fierce
opposition, the Bab Himself was publicly executed. Thousands of Babis were
subsequently tortured and killed.

The romance of the story of the Bab was a powerfully attractive one to
artists in the West. The poet Matthew Arnold wrote of the Bab in A Persian
Passion Play, Sarah Bernhardt commissioned a work, apparently never
performed, about the Bab’s first female follower — the poetess Tahirih — and
the Russian writer Izabella Grinevskaya turned the Bab’s life into a play that
was staged in Paris in 1912. The Bab’s status, however, in the minds of early
western Baha’is was primarily a minor prophetic figure, akin to John the
Baptist, whose sole mission was to announce the coming of a teacher far
greater than Himself.

Among the surviving followers of the Bab, one personality began to win
over the hearts of the dispirited and sorely oppressed community. He was
Mirza Husayn ‘Ali or Bahd’u’llah (meaning ‘the Glory of God’) — a Persian
nobleman, renowned for His acts of charity and great learning. He had
renounced His wealth and the offer of a position in the court of the Shah to
devote His energies to defending the Cause of the Bab. Imprisoned in a foul,
subterranean dungeon where He experienced an extraordinary vision of His
forthcoming mission, and then banished to Baghdad for His open allegiance
to the new religion, Baha’u’llah continued to guide the group of exiles in
Irag. In 1863, after a decade of rebuilding the shattered Babi community
while demonstrating extraordinary perception and producing profoundly
mystical and inspirational writings containing spiritual and social guidance,
Baha’u’llah announced publicly that He was in fact ‘Him Whom God shall
make manifest’ and the Promised One foretold by the Bab and the
Messengers of the past. He explained that the covenant which God had made



with humankind to always protect and guide His creation had been renewed
and that He was the latest ‘Manifestation of God’, sent to give the newest
instalment of divine revelation from the Creator to His creation, set forth in
previous centuries by Abraham, Krishna, Moses, Jesus Christ, Muhammad,
Zoroaster and countless others. Thus Baha’u’llah’s Revelation — which took
the form of some one hundred volumes of writings — was essentially
unveiling and updating eternal spiritual truth, tailored to suit the new
conditions of humanity, at a time when the outmoded institutions of the past
were no longer able to deal effectively with the challenge of a scientifically
and intellectually advanced world.

Baha’u’llah’s Revelation took the theme of unity as its cornerstone. The
day was approaching, He taught, when the human race would, either through
an act of collective will or out of dire necessity, put aside war and conflict
once and for all and establish a world brotherhood and civilization. For this
message, which He proclaimed to the unheeding ears of the kings and rulers
of His time, He endured 40 years of imprisonment and exile at the hands of
the Persian authorities and then the Turkish Ottoman Empire.

Shortly before He passed away in the Holy Land in 1892, Baha’u’llah
received a visit from the distinguished Cambridge orientalist Professor
Edward Granville Browne. Browne had taken a keen interest in the origins
and growth of the Babi community and had devoted a large part of his early
life to studying it. He had presented and published academic papers on it to
the dismay of his contemporaries, who wondered why he was spending so
much of his time studying what they considered to be an insignificant sect of
Shi‘i Islam. However, Professor Browne saw in the history of the new
religion similarities to the phenomenon of the birth of other great religious
systems and chose to record for posterity the heroism that the followers of the
Béab had displayed. The effect of the personality of Baha’u’llah on Professor
Browne was recorded in one of the few pen portraits of the Manifestation.
Browne described Him as a “wondrous and venerable figure’ whose ‘piercing
eyes seemed to read one’s very soul; power and authority sat on that ample
brow . . . No need to ask in whose presence I stood, as I bowed myself before
one who is the object of a devotion and love which kings might envy and
emperors sigh for in vain!’>®

On the same night in 1844 that the Bab had declared His mission in the
Persian city of Shiraz, Baha’u’llah’s wife had given birth to a baby boy



named ‘Abbas, who would become known as ‘Abdu’l-Baha — ‘the Servant of
Baha’. From the age of nine ‘Abdu’l-Baha shared in the sufferings of His
father and spent 55 years as a prisoner and an exile. Baha’u’llah Himself
gave ‘Abdu’l-Baha the title of the ‘Master’, along with the task of protecting
the new Faith — which was now identified as ‘Baha’i’ rather than ‘Babi’ —
from its enemies and helping its growth. The Master’s special qualities were
also recorded by Edward Granville Browne, who said of Him:

Seldom have I seen one whose appearance impressed me more. A tall
strongly-built man holding himself straight as an arrow, with white
turban and raiment, long black locks reaching almost to the shoulder,
broad powerful forehead indicating a strong intellect combined with an
unswerving will, eyes keen as a hawk’s, and strongly-marked but
pleasing features . . . One more eloquent of speech, more ready of
argument, more apt of illustration, more intimately acquainted with the
sacred books of the Jews, the Christians, and the Muhammadans, could,
I should think, scarcely be found even amongst the eloquent, ready, and
subtle race to which he belongs . . . About the greatness of this man and
his power no one who had seen him could entertain a doubt.>Z

‘Abdu’l-Baha was recognized as the model of how to live a Baha’i life.
Despite His exhibiting extraordinary spiritual perception, He did not have the
station of a prophet or divine Messenger, rather He was understood to be the
perfect human exemplar of Baha’u’llah’s teachings. In His Will Baha’u’llah
established ‘Abdu’l-Baha as the ‘Centre of the Covenant’ to whom all the
Baha’is must turn for guidance. Those among Baha’u’llah’s followers who
rejected ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s authority and actively worked to undermine it were
expelled from the community as ‘covenant-breakers’. ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s
pronouncements, interpretations and writings were given the same authority
as Baha’u’llah’s own. His exemplary moral character, His gentle and kindly
‘Christ-like’ manner, and His spiritual authority were of immense importance
to the followers of the Movement as it emerged from the Middle East and
established its roots further afield.

The American millionairess Phoebe Hearst, mother of William Randolph
Hearst, had been moved deeply by what she had heard of the Baha’i
teachings and in 1898 decided to visit ‘Abdu’l-Baha, who was still a captive
in the Ottoman prison-city of ‘Akka. In a spirit of generosity she invited



others to accompany her and put together a travelling party which included
her devoted friend Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper from London and May Ellis
Bolles, who returned, spiritually elevated by the journey, to establish the first
European Baha’i centre in Paris where her brother was studying architecture
at the Ecole des Beaux Arts.

Lady Blomfield herself has left a vivid description of the life-changing
moment when in Paris she encountered her first Baha’is. She and her
daughter Mary were attending a reception at the home of Madame Lucien
Monod. Born in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, of Scottish origins, Charlotte Todd
MacGregor was the second wife of Monod, a celebrated painter of landscapes
and portraits who also specialized in lithography. He was a regular exhibitor
at the Salon and at the National Society of Fine Arts. Madame Monod is
listed in some Baha’i sources as a member of the Paris Baha’i community of
that time. Her eldest son, Jacques, born in 1910, grew up to be a Nobel Prize
winning molecular biologist.

Among the guests attending the reception at the Monod’s was Bertha
Herbert, an interior designer and follower of Baha’u’llah, later the first wife
of the distinguished American believer Horace Holley, who managed the
progressive Ashnur Gallery in Paris from 1912 to 1914.

Miss Herbert, according to Sara’s description was ‘a tall, graceful girl with
shining dark eyes’,*8! who caught the Blomfields’ attention with the ebullient
statement, ‘If I look happy, it is because I am happy. I have found the desire
of my heart!"® Bertha Herbert crossed the room and seated herself between
Mary and Sara, who later described their conversation:

‘I should like to tell you why I am so happy. May I?’

‘“Yes,” we answered.

‘It is true! True!”

We fixed questioning eyes upon her glowing face.

‘“We have been taught to believe that a great Messenger would again
be sent to the world: He would set forth to gather together all the peoples
of good will in every race, nation, and religion on the earth. Now is the
appointed time! He has come! He has come!’&”

Lady Blomfield wrote that these words struck a chord to which her ‘inner
consciousness instantly responded’.’! Having spent years hearing from
Theosophists of the imminent appearance of the great World Teacher, she felt



convinced that she was about to learn the truth that she had sought for so
long. In the introduction to her book, The Chosen Highway, she explains:

Great awe and intense exaltation possessed me with an overpowering
force as I listened.

Miss Herbert continued:

“The Bearer of the Message suffered much persecution, and left an
uncomprehending world in 1892. But His Son is still a captive in the
fortress prison of ‘Akka in Palestine . . . You are interested?’ she asked.

‘Indeed, yes, how could we fail to be interested?’

The news of the momentous event, long prayed for, steadfastly
awaited in the ‘Faith, which is the substance of things hoped for,” had
come.

How should we not be interested?’'¢%

Bertha Herbert informed the Blomfields that there was a woman visiting
Paris who had just returned from a pilgrimage to ‘Akka where she had had
the privilege of meeting ‘Abdu’l-Baha, the son of Baha’u’llah, the ‘Bearer of
the Message’. Bertha offered to make an appointment for them all to meet up
and hear more of His teachings. As she rose to go, she realized that, in her
excitement, she did not know how to get in contact with the Blomfields — or
even their names. The appointment was made and Lady Blomfield and Mary
were subsequently introduced to the first French Baha’i, Hippolyte Dreyfus,
and his English guest, Ethel Jenner Rosenberg.

Hippolyte Dreyfus, who at the time of meeting Lady Blomfield was 34
years old, was a brilliant lawyer and scholar and the first westerner of Jewish
origins to embrace the Baha’i teachings. He had taught himself Persian and
Arabic to enable him to translate the writings of Baha’u’llah and ‘Abdu’l-
Baha from their original languages. He was a warm-natured, cultured man,
widely admired for his openness of spirit, lack of prejudice and inquisitive
nature. May Bolles wrote of her first encounter with him:

He was at the time an agnostic who believed that life and character are
above dogma and creed. Although he had never believed in any force
transcending nature, nor had he received intimations of the possible
existence of a Supreme Being, yet after hearing of the advent of
Baha’v’llah his inner susceptibilities became unfolded and in his
subsequent study of the teachings and his visit to ‘Abdu’l-Baha in the



prison of ‘Akka, he attained a supreme realization of the significance
and importance of this message to the world.®!

Dreyfus’s parents, sister and brother-in-law all joined him in espousing the
Baha’i teachings.

Ethel Jenner Rosenberg enjoyed a close friendship with Dreyfus and his
future wife, the American heiress Laura Clifford Barney. They were
counterparts of each other, pioneer workers engaged in the same important
task of spreading the Baha’i teachings in their respective countries.
Rosenberg, a painter of portrait miniatures, was descended from a
distinguished family of artists from the city of Bath. She had also been taught
— by her mother — to expect the coming of a great teacher from God and had
learned of the Baha’i teachings from Mary Virginia Thornburgh-Cropper,
immediately responding to its message and endeavouring to teach herself
Persian so as to gain a better understanding of the Baha’i writings.
Rosenberg’s efficient nature and precise mind ensured her a pivotal role in
the building of the first Baha’i community in London and the British Isles. At
the time of Lady Blomfield’s arrival in Paris, Rosenberg had just returned
from meeting ‘Abdu’l-Baha in the Holy Land and was assisting Laura Barney
with the manuscript of her book Some Answered Questions, compiled from
talks they had heard ‘Abdu’l-Baha give at His dinner table in ‘Akka.

Lady Blomfield wrote in The Chosen Highway that Ethel Rosenberg and
Hippolyte Dreyfus told her ‘much concerning the sacred task of the Great
One, Baha’u’llah’ .*4 There could not have been two more suitable people to
convey this message to her. Dreyfus was a brilliant intellectual who tempered
his intelligence with gentle, compassionate humour and infinite patience. His
grasp of the Baha’i teachings among Europeans was second to none. Ethel
Rosenberg, while perhaps not so personable as Dreyfus, shared with Lady
Blomfield a strong foundation in the New Testament, was a stickler for
accuracy, devoted to the Movement and more than at home with the British
upper classes. Laura Barney also made a profound impact on Lady
Blomfield, who would come to love and greatly admire her as an outstanding
Baha’i.

Sara and Mary Blomfield were deeply impressed by what they learned of
the teachings of Baha’u’llah and the life of His son and successor. One can
only imagine the extent of Lady Blomfield’s joy at the recognition of the



advent of the world-redeeming Messenger she had been so ardently seeking
and the knowledge that ‘Abdu’l-Baha was alive in the world, fulfilling all the
qualities she sought in a spiritual teacher. After so many years of search, her
response was immediate and wholehearted.

Returning to London, Lady Blomfield took her daughters to meetings that the
Baha’is arranged at the Higher Thought Centre in Kensington. It was situated
at 10 Cheniston Gardens, off Wrights Lane, not far from the church where
Lady Blomfield had been married some two decades before. The Centre
promoted a set of metaphysical teachings based on spiritual healing. Mary
Baker Eddy, who was healed by Higher Thought’s founder Phineas P.
Quimby, later drew inspiration from his system for her Christian Science
Movement. One of Higher Thought’s most prominent members was Judge
Thomas Troward, a close friend of Archdeacon Wilberforce.

The Blomfields were impressed to see the eagerness with which Miss
Rosenberg and Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper welcomed to their meetings anyone
who was interested to investigate everything connected with what Lady
Blomfield called ‘the Event’. ‘Under the guidance of these two devoted
ladies,” she wrote, ‘we met to make plans for spreading the glad tidings . . .
Ever since these days, when this call to awakening was heard in Britain, it
gradually became the foremost desire of my heart to spread the message
which I had myself received . . .’1%

Britain had begun to undergo profound changes in the eight years since Lady
Blomfield had become a widow in 1899. The Victorian era and its
preoccupations had come to an end with the deaths of the three most
influential figures of the time — Gladstone in 1898, Queen Victoria in 1901
and Lord Salisbury in 1903. In its wake the Edwardian period, covering the
reign of King Edward VII from 1901 to 1910, was a turbulent time for
politics. On one hand, the British Empire was at the peak of its powers,
covering nearly a quarter of the earth’s land surface. For the privileged such
as the Blomfields, electric light was becoming easily available along with the
use of telephones, typewriters, gramophones and automobiles. Yet poverty
was still widespread and the Liberal governments of 1905 to 1915 sought to
make profound changes. Free school meals were introduced along with old
age pensions. Winston Churchill saw through the introduction of labour
exchanges while the National Insurance Bill of 1911 made sure that



compulsory insurance was paid to certain workers in times of illness and
unemployment. The modern welfare state was being born yet arguments
raged over who would foot the bill, with the burden falling on the incomes of
the very rich. Lloyd George’s ‘People’s Budget’ met with strong opposition.
The Liberals were attempting to face up to many issues that had long been
delayed. Their political rivals, the Liberal Unionists, were frustrated as they
regarded themselves as the natural rulers of the nation. Lady Blomfield’s
inborn sense of justice and innate compassion were stirred by such changes in
society, especially in the case of increasing demands for women’s suffrage,
which now resonated even more for her with her knowledge of the Baha’i
teachings’ stance on the equality of women and men.

The movement to give women the vote had enjoyed some progress since
attempts had been made to amend the 1867 Reform Act. Women could now
vote in local elections and for the synod of the Church of England. They
stood as candidates for local councils, school boards and the poor law board.
But, for many, it was not enough. The National Union of Women’s Suffrage
Societies, which in 1897 united a number of well-established organizations,
made considerable headway in allowing women to vote for the national
parliament. Its efforts, however, were soon overshadowed by the Pankhursts’
Women’s Social and Political Union, which increasingly advocated violence
against property and politicians.

On 13 February 1907 a crowd of suffragettes stormed the Houses of
Parliament. Dozens were arrested and many were injured in struggles with
police. News reached London the following month of Finnish women
becoming the first in the world to win seats in a national parliament. Early in
1908 Emmeline Pankhurst was sentenced to six weeks in Holloway prison for
obstructing police around the Houses of Parliament. On 21 June several
hundred thousand people marched on Hyde Park to call for the vote to be
given to British women. Christabel Pankhurst spoke from the platform, along
with Annie Kenney from Manchester, who drew attention to the number of
men in the crowd who had come to voice support for their cause.

For many previously indisposed to the issue of universal suffrage, there
was undeniably something inspiring about the passion with which the WSPU
went about its work. ‘I confess there was something in this society which,
from the beginning, appealed to me,” wrote Charlotte Despard, the erstwhile
romantic novelist who became one of England’s most outspoken women’s



rights campaigners.

The youth of many of the members; the fact that they had come together
in womanly frankness and love, not for political ends, not to further the
candidature of party men for public place and power, but for social and
political ends which would affect themselves and the world; the dashing
courage of the little band, their selflessness, their quiet endurance of the
results of their lawless action — these things attracted me. Sometimes I
asked myself, ‘Can this be the beginning? Is this indeed a part of that
revolutionary movement for which all my life long I have been
waiting?’16¢

Lady Blomfield was always a great sympathizer with the campaign for
women’s right to vote. In the early days she admired the self-sacrificing
behaviour of suffragettes and even gave over a cottage on her Broadway
estate for the use of those who were in desperate need to escape victimization
in the capital.

‘I am proud to remember that my mother did all in her power to help the
women to escape from this injustice,” wrote Mary. ‘They would arrive,
exhausted, under assumed names and disguises. The village policeman would
prowl round the house suspecting . . . but whether it was from a secret
sympathy with them, or from a respectful affection for my mother, he never
reported their refuge to the authorities.’*Z
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Alongside their interest in the profound political changes that resonated with
the principles they espoused, the members of the Bahd’i Movement
endeavoured to build bonds of friendship and a sense of community. They
were assisted in their efforts by a number of visitors from Persia who brought
with them greater knowledge of Baha’u’llah’s teachings and their practical
application. Lutfu’llah Hakim, whose grandfather had been the first Jew to
become a follower of Baha’u’llah, arrived in England in 1910 to study
physiotherapy. Another young Persian studying in London, Yihanna Davud,
whose marriage ceremony would be conducted in the city by ‘Abdu’l-Baha in
1911, also helped the Baha’is to increase their understanding of the teachings.
Déavud devoted much energy to a translation of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s treatise, now
known as The Secret of Divine Civilization, which under the title The
Mysterious Forces of Civilization was published in London in 1910. The



amount of literature available to the Baha’is was increasing all the time. The
growth of the American Baha’i community to more than a thousand believers
resulted in an upsurge in publications in English that the British Baha’is
could purchase to educate themselves further. The Kitab-i-fqan — the seminal
text in which Baha’u’llah explains Baha’i concepts of God and His
Manifestations as well as the basic teaching of progressive revelation — had
been available since 1904 in a translation by Ali Kuli Khan. In the same year
a translation of the Hidden Words was made available. Other important
works such as Tarazat, Tajalliyat and Ishragat were also published in English.

In 1908 the London publisher Kegan, Paul, Trench, Trubner and Company
printed the eagerly-awaited volume Some Answered Questions — the only
example of ‘pilgrims’ notes’ of that period to become part of the canon of
Baha’i sacred literature. Laura Barney’s notes were given particular weight
since ‘Abdu’l-Baha Himself had read and modified them and given her
permission to publish them. The 300-page book addressed 84 questions
ranging from biblical prophecy to a diverse range of subjects such as healing,
industrial strikes and astrology.

Lady Blomfield and her daughters, who all enjoyed the dramatic arts, must
also have enjoyed receiving Laura Barney’s publication God’s Heroes, a
poetic drama about the early history of the Bab and His followers. The
sumptuously produced boxed volume sold for twelve shillings and sixpence
and was the most expensive Baha’i book available at that time.

One significant breakthrough for the British Baha’is was the publication in
1909 of The Splendour of God, an anthology of Baha’i sacred writings in the
popular ‘Wisdom of the East’ series, published by The Orient Library. The
aim of these books was, in the words of its editors L. Cranmer-Byng and S.A.
Kapadia, to ‘be the ambassadors of good-will and understanding between
East and West — the old world of Thought and the new of Action’.®8 Among
the Advisory Committee of the Orient Library were Professor E.G. Browne
of Cambridge University and Dr J. Estlin Carpenter of Oxford University,
who would welcome ‘Abdu’l-Baha to his college within a few years of the
publication. The book was compiled by British Baha’i Eric Hammond, who
in his introduction stated,

Wherever Baha’is meet they meet on common ground. Throwing aside
all the accumulated antagonisms of the past, they rejoice unreservedly in



the glad communion of the present; of the day of their Lord . . . The
spiritual unification of the race is the great aim of Bahaism. It does not
propose the wholesale disintegration of creeds and cults, but, looking
through these, discerns the shining of the light, behind, beyond. It
recognizes the truth in each religious phase, but decries any attempt of
any phase to pose as sole interpretation of the truth.[%!

Lady Blomfield and her daughters certainly continued, like most other
Baha’is of that period, to attend church. The strength of Sara’s connections
with Archdeacon Wilberforce and the Reverend R.J. Campbell does not seem
to have been in the least threatened by her recognition of Baha’u’llah. In fact,
quite to the contrary, both churchmen would be of immeasurable assistance
in efforts to promote the Baha’i Movement in the months ahead. The
regularity of Lady Blomfield’s churchgoing was now enhanced by an
increasing number of Baha’i meetings. As a result of the extensive
correspondence that Ethel Rosenberg maintained with believers in the United
States, the London Bahda’is tried whenever it was feasible to host their
gatherings on the same dates as their American counterparts. Meetings would
usually consist of the reading of prayers and scriptures and then sharing in
refreshments. If a believer or visitor had recently been able to visit the Holy
Land then a talk might be included, with the latest news of, or guidance from,
‘Abdu’l-Baha.

By mid-1908 the thoughts of the Baha’is turned often to the safety of their
Master as the Ottoman Empire, under which He was still being held a
prisoner, seethed with unrest. The Sultan of Turkey — Abdul Hamid II — was
forced to call for parliamentary elections after widespread upheavals. The
Young Turk revolutionary movement was demanding freedom of religion,
education and the press. An uprising began within the Turkish army in
Macedonia and the Young Turks aligned themselves immediately with Major
Ahmed Niyazi and the revolt spread. In July 1908 the Sultan was forced to
reintroduce a constitution for the Turkish Empire devised in 1876 when
Sultan Abdul Hamid I had succumbed to liberal demands. As a result, all the
Sultan’s political and religious prisoners were freed. After 40 years in the
fetid atmosphere of the penal colony of ‘Akka, ‘Abdu’l-Baha and His family
were released from captivity, giving the Baha’is enormous cause for
celebration and relief.



“The Beloved Prisoner was free!” wrote Lady Blomfield. ‘Free to obey the
charge laid upon Him by Baha’u’llah to go forth into all the world to carry
the message of the Renewal of Peace and Unity, of Joy and Service, and to
call mankind to immediate action for averting the “Great Woe”.” 2

The unexpected release of ‘Abdu’l-Baha coincided with a major
proclamation of the Baha’i teachings in London at the Seventeenth Universal
Peace Congress held in London at the Caxton Hall where Ethel Rosenberg
was invited to present a paper on ‘Bahaism: Its Ethical and Social
Teachings’. Her address was published in the London Post and the
Congress’s Transactions.

A number of other capable women joined Lady Blomfield and her
daughters in the Baha’i Movement as the first decade of the 20th century
drew to a close, although the extent to which these individuals met with each
other and operated together as a ‘community’ is unclear. Alice Buckton, eight
years younger than Lady Blomfield, shared with her a passionate desire to
improve the lot of the poor in London and increase the provision of education
for women. With this in mind, she visited the Pestalozzi-Froebel-Haus in
Berlin where she made a lasting friendship with its principal, Annet Schepel.
Buckton persuaded Schepel to come to London to manage a similar house.
This ‘Sesame House for Home Life Training’ at 43 Acacia Road, Highgate,
was part of a network that spread advanced educational methods from Europe
into Britain. Buckton was also a keen poet and playwright. In 1904 her
nativity play Eager Heart had caught the nation’s imagination and brought
Buckton some degree of fame. Eager Heart was followed by Kings of
Babylon, which was given a performance at the Haymarket Theatre in
London with music by Gustav Holst, celebrated composer of The Planets
orchestral suite.

Alice Buckton also shared an acquaintance with Lady Blomfield in
Archdeacon Wilberforce. On 20 July 1907 Wilberforce had arranged a
meeting with some of London’s more open-minded thinkers — including
Buckton and R.J. Campbell — to hear a presentation from a 23 year old
Welshman, Wellesley Tudor Pole, about a sapphire blue bowl that his sister
had discovered hidden in a well in Glastonbury the previous year. Katharine
Tudor Pole and a group of young women friends had taken the bowl to
Bristol where they set up a shrine to it at 16 Royal York Crescent, Clifton.
They made the object the centrepiece of mystical services, open only to



women, combining Christianity and Celtic rites. Because of Glastonbury’s
associations with the legends of Joseph of Arimathea, there was a suggestion
that this bowl might be the Holy Grail used by Christ during the Last Supper,
a notion that even Archdeacon Wilberforce was keen to support. During his
research into the bowl, Tudor Pole was informed by a psychic that there were
documents concerning its history buried beneath the ruins of Justinian’s
Palace in Constantinople. The quest would periodically occupy Tudor Pole
with little result for the rest of his life. What he experienced in
Constantinople in 1908, however, was his first encounter with Baha’is from
which he brought home interesting stories and information that he began to
circulate among his esoterically-minded friends in London and Bristol.

In 1910, following ‘Abdu’l-Bahé’s release, Alice Buckton and Annet
Schepel made the journey to the Holy Land to meet Him. ‘Our hearts have
been made glad with the supremest joy’, wrote a London correspondent to the
Bahai News (later Star of the West), ‘in hearing the verbal messages brought
us by Miss Buckton and Miss Schepel who have spent a few weeks at Acca.
Miss Buckton is a strong club woman here and her return has been the means
of spreading the ‘Glad-tidings’ among many who otherwise would have
waited long for this Message.’2

Another woman who first encountered the Baha’i Movement in 1908 was
Elizabeth Herrick. Herrick, who lodged above the Higher Thought Centre,
was born near Birmingham in 1864. She had left school at 13 to earn a living
when her father’s business failed. She was both intellectually gifted and a
good craftswoman and entered a milliner’s shop as an apprentice. Within a
few years she was running her own prosperous wholesale business in
Aldersgate Street in the city of London. Despite her success, Herrick, along
with so many women of her time, saw her first aim in life to seek out
religious truth. Initially a dedicated Sunday School teacher in the Church of
England, she transferred her allegiance to a Baptist Chapel to which she
devoted an enormous amount of time. She also made many influential
friends, including the suffragette Christabel Pankhurst. When Herrick’s
Baptist minister and his family left England to settle in America, she wound
up her business and joined them, thinking it was the Will of God for her to
serve Him in this way. But in America she discovered a new avenue of
interest in the Christian Scientist teachings, which she felt brought her even
closer to the truth she sought. A rift opened between Herrick and her Baptist



companions and she returned to England to begin her career again, this time
as an assistant in a London shop. Once again her enterprising talents saw her
rise to managing her own millinery salon in one of the big department stores
in Kensington High Street, under the name of Madame Corelli.

At the time of Herrick’s first encounter with the Baha’is she was 44 years
old, an attractive woman with a fair complexion and large blue eyes. On
Sundays she packed away her millinery and gave over a large room to Baha’i
meetings. Here many of the believers met Tudor Pole for the first time and a
succession of believers from the East passing through London. ‘The
Assembly is splendidly harmonious and growing healthily,’”2 wrote the
London correspondent to Bahai News in 1910. Indeed it seemed that the
Baha’i Movement in London was in a very healthy state. Hippolyte Dreyfus,
en route for America, gave an inspiring talk at the regular Friday night
meeting held at the Higher Thought Centre. Afternoon feasts enabled
believers to attend from as far afield as Eastbourne on the Sussex coast,
Surrey and Essex. A dental practitioner, Dr Edwin Fischer — later a
pioneering Baha’i in Germany — gave a series of lectures on Baha’u’llah’s
mystical masterpiece, the Seven Valleys. Prominent American Baha’is
Isabella Brittingham and Roy Wilhelm sent literature and personal letters that
kept the London believers informed of developments across the Atlantic. A
Burmese Baha’i, Khosroe Bohman, visited the city and shared his insights as
well as stories of the growth of the movement throughout Asia.

For Britain as a whole, the Edwardian era was drawing to a close — the last
age in British history to bear the name and hallmark of its monarch. King
Edward VII enjoyed grand state occasions and pageantry more than had his
mother Queen Victoria and did everything within his power to put the
monarchy more in the public eye than it had been. In contrast to his reclusive
predecessor, he was a constantly visible monarch, frequently pictured in the
newspapers at race meetings and shooting parties. The King made pleasure
the fashion of the day, his charm and social exploits resonating with a nation
keen to break free of the stuffiness of the Victorian age.

Despite her growing preference for matters of the spirit, Lady Blomfield
maintained her position in London’s social circles. On Friday 4 March 1910
she and her daughters attended Court at Buckingham Palace at 10 o’clock in
the evening. The invitation card called for ‘Full Dress. Ladies with Feathers



and Trains’, thus emphasizing the King’s obsession for court protocol, while
exercising the most dubious double standards in his personal life. The King’s
sudden death at the age of 68 on 6 May 1910 was a genuine blow to the mood
of the nation. The Times generously eulogized him as ‘sagacious, popular,
cautious, courageous and tactful’. The historian Sir Robert Ensor has written
of the Edwardian period as ‘one of calm and contentment, of pomp and
luxury, of assured wealth and unchallenged order. Court splendours apart, it
was none of those things. It was an era of growth and strain, of idealism and
reaction, of swelling changes and of seething unrest. At home, politics had
never been so bitter; and abroad the clouds were massing for
Armageddon.’Z
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An invitation to Lady Blomfield and her daughters to attend a royal court, 4
March 1910

The death of the King did not go unnoticed by ‘Abdu’l-Baha who,
speaking in Haifa on 10 May, referred to his passing.

The English king, with his pomp and grandeur, used to address the sun
and say: ‘Thou dost never disappear from my lands’ . . .; but now he is



buried under the earth. Some time ago the flags at the top of the masts
proclaimed the day of his ascension to the throne; but today the flags are
at half-mast, for he is dead. The flags and banners of the Beloved are
ever waving at the top of the masts; they are never inverted; nay, rather
they go on higher day by day; in fact, theirs is the sovereignty. Without
fighting forces they conquer the cities; and without taking any tribute
they bestow and give freely. The kings gain their victory through
bloodshed and the taking of life; whereas the Beloved of God confer life
and are victorious. The sovereignty of the friends is an eternal one.”

Since 1907, despite His continued confinement, ‘Abdu’l-Baha had been
gradually transferring His family and their affairs to Haifa, across the bay
from ‘Akka, at the foot of Mount Carmel. Among the first acts He completed
after His release was to lay to rest the remains of His father’s forerunner, the
Béb, in their permanent mausoleum on the slopes of the mountain, some 60
years after they had been rescued from a moat outside Tabriz where they had
been unceremoniously discarded. Then, in October 1910, news reached the
believers that ‘Abdu’l-Baha had left the Holy Land for the first time in 42
years and journeyed to Egypt. He had informed very few people of His
departure. It was the first leg of a historic journey that would take Him to the
great cities of Europe and North America on an unprecedented peace mission
that had, up to that point, been prevented by His lifelong incarceration. The
decade just beginning would bring with it the worst carnage the world had yet
seen and few were aware of what lay ahead.

‘Would His strength be sufficient for these journeys?’ wrote Lady
Blomfield. ‘Our hearts sank as we thought of His captivity in the pestilential
air of ‘Akka. Entering it as a young man of twenty-four; leaving that death-
dealing atmosphere at the age of sixty-four . . .2

Lady Blomfield throughout this period lent her support to the Baha’i
meetings and activities. In her own personal teaching endeavours she
managed to engage the sympathetic interest of her daughters’ former
governess, Beatrice Marion Platt, known as Patsy. Around the time that
‘Abdu’l-Baha was beginning His sojourn in Alexandria, a meeting was
organized in collaboration with the Reverend R.J. Campbell at the City
Temple at which a Persian student named Tammaddun’ul-Mulk, visiting



London from Paris, gave an address on the Baha’i Movement. After the
young man’s address, the meeting was thrown open for questions.
Considerable interest was expressed about the persecution of Persian Baha’is
and Reverend Campbell asked a question about the future Houses of Justice
ordained by Baha’u’llah, which Ethel Rosenberg duly answered. Campbell
also remarked that he had received a very gracious message from ‘Abdu’l-
Baha who took great interest in his work in London. Campbell added that
there were many gaps in the recorded Christian teachings that needed to be
filled. Such comments must have generated great excitement among the
Baha’is gathered at the City Temple.

A month after the Master’s arrival in Egypt, Wellesley Tudor Pole visited
‘Abdu’l-Baha at Ramleh, near Alexandria. He found ‘Abdu’l-Baha in good
health. ‘He spoke much of the work in America,” reported Tudor Pole, ‘to
which he undoubtedly is giving considerable thought. He also spoke a good
deal about the work that is going forward in different European centres as
well as in London, and he expects great things from England during the
coming year.’ %



Wellesley Tudor Pole

On 28 December 1910, The Christian Commonwealth newspaper — on whose
editorial board Reverend Campbell sat — published an article by Tudor Pole,
entitled ‘A Wonderful Movement in the East’ along with a message from
‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘Not one Englishman in a thousand has heard of this religious
and social uprising in the East, yet its adherents are estimated to number
millions, and its power and influence are growing week by week!’ reported
the newspaper.””Z The Christian Commonwealth was first published in 1881
as an organ of the Baptist Spurgeon Movement but by the turn of the century
was describing itself as the ‘Organ of the Progressive Movement in Religion
and Social Ethics’. Albert Dawson, a member of the City Temple, became its
editor in 1901 and the newspaper did much to spread Reverend Campbell’s
thinking throughout the country and beyond. ‘Abdu’l-Baha had sent a letter
and a selection of quotations from the writings of Baha’u’llah to the



newspaper which it published. It later gave extraordinary publicity to His
journeys to London in 1911 and 1913.

‘Let me try to give you a word-picture of him,” wrote Tudor Pole of
‘Abdu’l-Baha in his article. ‘He is sixty-five years of age, of medium height
and of commanding presence; he has long silver-gray [sic] beard and hair,
blue-grey eyes, a fine forehead, a wonderful carriage, and a sweet but
powerful voice. He was dressed when I saw him, in cream white robes and a
white Persian headdress. You feel at once that here is a master of men and a
marvellous spiritual personality. He seemed to me to focus in a truly divine
manner the spiritual ideal of the coming age. When one has come in contact
with Abdu’l-Baha’s power, or rather the power behind him, one has no doubt
that this movement will vitally affect the religious and social evolution of the
whole world.” 2

Tudor Pole reported that the Baha’i Movement was ‘beginning to take a
more serious hold on public attention . . . and that during the next few weeks
a number of meetings are to be held in London, Bristol and in the North,
which are likely to produce far-reaching results. A Bahai paper is to be read
at the Universal Races Congress in London next July.””2! His comments were
not an exaggeration. Activities and interest were both increasing. One of the
Movement’s most distinguished teachers, Marion Jack, arrived in London,
lodged with Elizabeth Herrick and participated in weekend meetings for
inquirers. Interest in the teachings was beginning in the northwest of England
as Edward T. Hall responded positively to Tudor Pole’s article in The
Christian Commonwealth and began to involve his own friends and family in
Manchester.

On 31 December 1910 at the Higher Thought Centre, a meeting was called
for Tudor Pole to speak of His visit to ‘Abdu’l-Baha. With some 80 people
present, it was the largest Baha’i meeting yet held in London and may have
been the first time that many of the London Baha’is had properly encountered
Tudor Pole, whose discovery and espousal of the Movement had largely been
carried out in isolation from any developing Baha’i community activities.
The crowd heard how 1911 would be a year of very great importance and that
London would be the focal point for great events. It was time, said Tudor
Pole, for the establishment of an international residential and social club open
to all comers without distinction of race, creed or gender. He urged his
hearers to do all in their power to work together in harmony and joy for the



great ideal of universal unity and peace. Lady Blomfield remarked that Tudor
Pole ‘explained to us the deeper significance of what afterwards became
known as the Great Event of the Baha’i Cause’ .2

On 25 February Tudor Pole again met with the London believers and
spoke to them of his visit to the Master. He expressed a view that was largely
shared by the Baha’is of this time that they should remain in existing
organizations and churches as far as possible, endeavouring to spiritualize
them and to communicate the Baha’1 spirit to others within those groups. In
addition, there was a flurry of excitement over the possibility that ‘Abdu’l-
Baha Himself might come to London to address the First Races Congress to
be held at the University of London in July. Lady Blomfield wrote:

News came of His sojourn in Alexandria from one who said of Him:
‘Seeing ‘Abdu’l-Baha and His most holy life has made me believe in
Christ. Never before did I think His existence possible. Now I can
understand.’

As we thought upon all these marvels, we waited and wondered
whether it was to be our privilege to see Him. Would it be given to us to
hear the teaching of Baha’u’llah from ‘Abdu’l-Baha Himself?8!

Tudor Pole was a great advocate of the power of thought and urged the
Baha’is to mentally prepare themselves and others for a visit from the Master.
“The Bahais are uniting in prayer and concentration each evening at 9
o’clock, upon love and unity,” wrote Arthur Cuthbert to Star of the West, ‘and
that we may be fittingly prepared as a fertile soil to receive the seed which
Abdul-Baha will sow in our midst; also other Societies of those who desire
Abdul-Baha to come are joining us in this 9 o’clock concentration.’82 Lady
Blomfield acknowledged Tudor Pole’s assistance in helping the believers to
understand the realm of thought and it is likely that she too was engaging her
spiritual friends and acquaintances in this preparation. Many of them would
become key players in His imminent visit.

On Sunday 1 March 1911 Archdeacon Wilberforce spoke at St John’s
Westminster about the Baha’i teachings and the next week answered many
questions which he had received by post. Following on from Wilberforce’s
presentation, a Unitarian minister from Highgate asked for a Baha’i to speak
from his pulpit about the Movement. In August Tudor Pole spoke at a
Theosophical Society summer school on ‘Bahaism’. Also present was the



campaigner Charlotte Despard, who spoke on ‘Some Aspects of the
Women’s Movement’. By September the Women’s Freedom League
newspaper The Vote ran a three-part article by Mrs Despard entitled ‘A
Woman Apostle in Persia’, recounting the life of the Babi poetess Tahirih.

“The believers in London are indeed steadfast and true,” wrote ‘Abdu’l-
Baha at this time,

they are resolute, they are constant in service; when put to the test, they
do not falter, nor doth their fire abate with the passage of time; rather,
they are Baha’is. They are of heaven, they are filled with light, they are
of God. Without any doubt they will become the cause of raising high
the Word of God, and advancing the oneness of the world of man; of
promoting the teachings of God, and spreading far and near the equality
of every member of the human race.

It is easy to approach the Kingdom of Heaven, but hard to stand firm
and staunch within it, for the tests are rigorous, and heavy to bear. But
the English remain steadfast under all conditions, neither at the first sign
of trouble do their footsteps slip. They are not changeable, playing fast
and loose with some project and soon giving it up. They do not, for some
trivial reason, fail in enthusiasm and zeal, their interest gone. No, in all
they do, they are stable, rock-solid and staunch.

Although ye dwell in western lands, still, praise be to God, ye did
hear His call from out the east and, even as Moses, did warm your hands
at the fire kindled in the Asian Tree. Ye did find the true path, were lit
like unto lamps, and have come into the Kingdom of God. And now
have ye arisen, out of gratitude for these blessings, and ye are asking
God’s help for all the peoples of the earth, that their eyes as well may
behold the splendours of the Abha Realm, and their hearts, even as
mirrors, reflect the bright rays of the Sun of Truth.

It is my hope that the breaths of the Holy Spirit will so be breathed
into your hearts that your tongues will disclose the mysteries, and set
forth and expound the inner meanings of the Holy Books; that the
friends will become physicians, and will, through the potent medicine of
the heavenly Teachings, heal the long-standing diseases that afflict the
body of this world; that they will make the blind to see, the deaf to hear,
the dead to come alive; that they will awaken those who are sound



asleep.

Rest ye assured that the confirmations of the Holy Spirit will descend
upon you, and that the armies of the Abha Kingdom will grant you the
victory.8!

The First Races Congress, an initiative of the Union of Ethical Societies of
America and England, was given support from more than 50 countries by,
among others, some 30 presidents of parliaments and 40 colonial bishops.
The Congress aimed to cultivate mutual knowledge and respect between the
peoples of East and West. To complement the sessions of the Congress,
which also attracted a number of Baha’is from the United States, the London
believers held unity meetings and evening lectures — commencing on 18 July
with ‘Awakening of the East’ by Mrs Jean Stannard, ‘Personal Experiences
of Baha’is’ the following night by Sydney Sprague, ‘Arab Life and Religion’
by Mr S.H. Leeder on the 20 July, and finally, Alice Buckton speaking on
‘The Relation of the Bahai Work and Teaching to Christianity’ on 21 July.
On 9 August The Christian Commonwealth reported that a well-attended
public meeting hosted by the Baha’i community was held at Caxton Hall,
Westminster, to explain how the Baha’i teachings related to other religious
and social movements. The speakers included Hippolyte Dreyfus, Louise
Waite, Tudor Pole and Jean Stannard. Their contributions, as quoted in the
newspaper, give a fascinating insight into how the members of the Baha’i
Movement viewed themselves and their new-found Cause in relation to other
religious congregations.

‘Miss Alice Buckton dealt with the fear of disloyalty that many members
of orthodox churches feel in regard to the movement,” wrote the article’s
author, Jessie Phillips. ‘She herself was a member of an orthodox church, and
she re-assured the audience that Bahaism did not mean the refusal of
anything that had gone before. It was a pure and unadulterated universalism,
such as had been the prophetic spirit of all religions.”#4

‘But although Baha Ulla was a spiritual focal point,” commented Tudor
Pole, ‘the light was radiating through us all. We were not to come out of our
societies but to reillumine them.’'

Much to the disappointment of the Baha’is, ‘Abdu’l-Baha did not attend
the Congress, announcing instead that he would not leave Egypt until the
following month. It has been suggested that He may not have attended owing



to the appearance there of Mirza Yahyay-i-Dawlatabadi, a follower of
Baha’u’llah’s treacherous half-brother Subh-i-Azal. Later, ‘Abdu’l-Baha
wrote that a ‘Persian took the substance of the Epistles of His Holiness
Baha’u’llah, entered that Congress, gave them forth in his own name and
published them, whereas the wording was exactly that of His Holiness
Baha’u’llah. ¢!

Tudor Pole and many other Baha’is deemed the Congress to be a great
success, not least because it generated a lot of interest in their Movement.
‘Ten years ago’, he wrote, ‘the holding of such a gathering would have been
impracticable, and it has created a foundation from which to work for future
congresses. The immediate tangible results of the discussions may not be
very evident; the press reports have been inadequate; and many of the
speakers could not be heard beyond the platform. Also it must be admitted
that the stifling heat of the hall did not conduce toward clear thinking or
debate. Nevertheless, this congress has triumphantly demonstrated the
possibility of bringing together in friendly intercourse representatives of
nearly every race and religion under the sun, and the spiritual and moral
effects of this fact alone can never be undone.’’Z

Lady Blomfield, though, was disappointed that ‘Abdu’l-Baha had not
managed to travel to the Congress as her overriding desire was now to meet
Him in person.

‘Should we travel to Egypt, or would He come to Europe?’ she wondered:

If He were to come to London, where would be the roof to shelter Him?
We who had quietly prepared our home in the hope that He might deign
to sojourn there awhile, sent the invitation. Soon a telegram came:
““Abdu’l-Baha arriving in London 8th September. Can Lady
Blomfield receive Him?’
And now at last ‘Abdu’l-Baha was coming into the western world,
even to us in London!8

Two weeks after the close of the First Races Congress, ‘Abdu’l-Baha set sail
from Egypt for Europe. ‘Forty years in captivity!” wrote Lady Blomfield.

Entering the prison city of ‘Akka a young man of twenty-four years.
Released at sixty-four!

Was ever so great a victory over material conditions? The opposing
forces utterly routed!



The radiant spirit of ‘Abdu’l-Bahéa, undaunted and eager!

He began to make plans for journeying to the western world in
accordance with His Father’s sacred charge to bring to mankind the
knowledge of the Divine Plan for establishing the ‘Kingdom of God,
where His Will shall be done on earth as it is in Heaven.” He was ready
to go forth with that vital transforming spirit which would change a
World, now wet with tears, into the delectable Paradise of Love and
Justice.

Oh, the marvel of such a preparation for such a Mission! Was ever
such unfaltering, unswerving determination?J

Within a month, the Blomfields’ home at Cadogan Gardens would be
overflowing with visitors from all over the world come to pay their respects
to the Master.



CHAPTER FOUR: THE MASTER’S HOSTESS

Heaven has blessed this day.2%
‘Abdu’l-Baha

‘He arrived, and who shall picture Him?’ wrote Lady Blomfield of ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s arrival by steamer in the port of London.

A silence as of love and awe overcame us, as we looked at Him; the
gracious figure, clothed in a simple white garment, over which was a
light-coloured Persian ‘abd; on His head He wore a low-crowned tdj
round which was folded a small, fine-linen turban of purest white; His
hair and short beard were of that snowy whiteness which had once been
black; His eyes were large, blue-grey with long, black lashes and well-
marked eyebrows; His face was a beautiful oval with warm, ivory-
coloured skin, a straight, finely-modelled nose, and firm, kind mouth.
These are merely outside details by which an attempt is made to convey
an idea of His arresting personality.[2!

Thus Sara Louisa, Lady Blomfield described her impressions of the man she
had waited four years to meet. Now, the living exemplar of the teachings she
had first encountered in Paris had arrived in London to proclaim His father’s
message after a lifetime of imprisonment.

‘His figure was of such perfect symmetry,” she observed, ‘and so full of
dignity and grace, that the first impression was that of considerable height.’

He seemed an incarnation of loving understanding, of compassion and
power, of wisdom and authority, of strength, and of a buoyant
youthfulness, which somehow defied the burden of His years; and such
years!

One saw, as in a clear vision, that He had so wrought all good and
mercy that the inner grace of Him had grown greater than all outer sign,
and the radiance of this inner glory shone in every glance, and word, and
movement as He came with hands outstretched %2

‘Abdu’l-Baha had left Egypt on 11 August 1911 bound for Marseilles in
France. ‘He arose,” wrote His grandson Shoghi Effendi on the centenary of



the births of both his religion and his grandfather, ‘with sublime courage,
confidence and resolution to consecrate what little strength remained to Him,
in the evening of His life, to a service of such heroic proportions that no
parallel to it is to be found in the annals of the first Baha’i century . . .’

He, Who in His own words, had entered prison as a youth and left it an
old man, Who never in His life had faced a public audience, had
attended no school, had never moved in Western circles, and was
unfamiliar with Western customs and language, had arisen not only to
proclaim from pulpit and platform, in some of the chief capitals of
Europe and in the leading cities of the North American continent, the
distinctive verities enshrined in His Father’s Faith, but to demonstrate as
well the Divine origin of the Prophets gone before Him, and to disclose
the nature of the tie binding them to that Faith.[%!

Having rested for a few days at Thonon-les-Bains on the shores of Lake
Geneva in France, ‘Abdu’l-Baha continued His route across Europe to
London, ‘capital city of the largest and most cosmopolitan empire the world
has ever known’.2¥ Awaiting Him on His arrival at Victoria station, an
automobile put at His disposal for His entire stay by Mrs Thornburgh-
Cropper, who had visited ‘Abdu’l-Baha for the first time 13 years previously
among the pioneering group of western pilgrims to ‘Akka. How new and
different the views through the window must have been to ‘Abdu’l-Baha as
the car took Him through the streets of London, possibly around Sir Charles
Barry’s Houses of Parliament with their stately clock tower by Augustus
Pugin, past elegant terraced houses, mansion blocks and well-stocked shop
windows, through wide thoroughfares lined by tall, leafy plane trees, to
aristocratic Belgravia and Lady Blomfield’s home at Cadogan Gardens where
a sizeable group of His followers had gathered to greet Him.

‘Heaven has blessed this Day,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha told them. ‘It was said that
London should be a place for a great proclamation of the Faith. I was tired
when I went on board the steamer, but when I reached London and beheld the
faces of the friends my fatigue left me. Your great love refreshes me. I am
very pleased with the English friends.’'®>

‘Are you pleased to receive such a guest?’ ‘Abdu’l Baha asked them.

‘I think’, wrote Lady Blomfield, ‘our souls must have answered, for I am
not conscious that anyone uttered an audible word.”%°



For the 29 days of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s first visit to London the Blomfields
gave up their apartment and stayed at the home of friends nearby. Each day
they returned to Cadogan Gardens for meals and to help marshal the long
procession of guests and callers.

‘Oh, these pilgrims, these guests, these visitors!” Lady Blomfield
exclaimed. ‘Remembering those days, our ears are filled with the sound of
their footsteps — as they came from every country in the world! Every day, all
day long, a constant stream. An interminable procession!’2Z

Despite the, at times, exasperating task, nothing could have made Lady
Blomfield happier as she hung upon the Master’s every word, committed to
heart every teaching and watched, enthralled, every action, every gesture.
‘The intense elation and ecstasy of that time have somehow blurred the
outward circumstances in my memory,’ recalled Mary.

I can see my beloved mother, eager, vital, full of sublime enthusiasm,
never losing a word or a movement of the Master’s, fully realizing that
this visit was an event which belonged to the world . . . At this time she
had the beauty of a mature soul. The moulding of her face was lovely
and she remained beautiful to the last. Her facial expressions, ever
changing, reflected the spiritual harmony within. Her dress, not
fashionable in the ordinary sense, was distinctive and individual without
being strange. She wore garments with long flowing lines which made
her seem taller than her natural height, and she was as upright always in
her outward stature as she was in her soul . . . I can see her, her eyes
shining, welcoming the pilgrim guests to the presence of the Master./22!

‘Isn’t it wonderful? Isn’t it wonderful?’ Lady Blomfield would exclaim, her
hands emphasizing her words with an emphatic movement. Not only was
‘Abdu’l-Baha in their midst but believers and devoted friends had arrived
from all over the world to bask in the warmth of His presence and to lend
their assistance to His work. Lady Blomfield was particularly delighted that
Hippolyte and Laura Dreyfus-Barney were on hand to assist in translation
‘and were altogether helpful, courteous, and charming’.%%!

The day after ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s arrival, Albert Dawson, the editor of The
Christian Commonwealth newspaper, arrived to conduct an interview. Lady
Blomfield was also pleased to introduce the Reverend R.J. Campbell, who

was eager to meet the Master. ‘It was interesting to find Abdul Baha well



acquainted with The Christian Commonwealth,” wrote Dawson. ‘“He is very
pleased with what you write in your paper,” were the first words, after a
cordial welcome that came through the interpreter. “Some of the papers write
things that he does not like and are not correct, but you write about what you
know.” The production of an early copy of our last issue caused some
merriment. The fact that it was printed a day before the date it bore amused
him, and when the paragraph, “A meeting between Abdul Baha and the editor
of The Christian Commonwealth took place yesterday (Tuesday) afternoon.
Some particulars will probably appear in our next issue,” was translated to
him, he said, with twinkling eye, he was very pleased with our “prophetic
writing”. Of the preceding passage, referring to the fundamental unity of all
religious faith, Abdul Baha said, “You have written all that I can say to you.
That shows that we are one in spirit.” 1%

As Reverend Campbell arrived, ‘Abdu’l-Baha rose from His chair to greet
him with His arms extended. ‘Standing face to face,” observed Dawson,
‘linked hand in hand, in the centre of the room, these two spiritual leaders of
world-wide fame — Eastern and Western, but essentially one in their outlook
on life — formed an impressive picture that is stamped indelibly on the mind’s
eye of all who were privileged to be present.’1%

‘Here are two men,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha told Campbell, ‘one living in the East
and one in London, whose hearts were coming to meet one another long ago.
Although in the material world we were far apart, we have always been near
in the spiritual world. The real nearness is the nearness of the heart, not of the
body . . . I have read your sermons and speeches,’ said ‘Abdu’l-Baha.

‘And I have read yours,’ replied Campbell.

“That is a proof of unity,” laughed the Master. ‘As I have read your
sermons, you have to read mine!’

Reverend Campbell invited ‘Abdu’l-Baha to visit his church. ‘I should
like to come,’ replied ‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘I know that the City Temple is a centre
of progress in the religious world, and seeks to promote universal
understanding.’!% T.ady Blomfield must have rejoiced that one of her dearest
spiritual guides would now play host to the Master in a building in which she
had spent many hours contemplating the nature of truth and the reality of
religion.

Every day that ‘Abdu’l-Baha spent in London was filled with
extraordinary events and encounters. Lady Blomfield listed the callers:



Ministers and missionaries, Oriental scholars and occult students,
practical men of affairs and mystics, Anglican-Catholics and
Nonconformists, Theosophists and Hindus, Christian Scientists and
doctors of medicine, Muslims, Buddhists, and Zoroastrians. There also
called: politicians, Salvation Army soldiers, and other workers for
human good, women suffragists, journalists, writers, poets, and healers,
dressmakers and great ladies, artists and artisans, poor workless people
and prosperous merchants, members of the dramatic and musical world,
these all came; and none were too lowly, nor too great, to receive the
sympathetic consideration of this holy Messenger, who was ever giving
His life for others’ good.1%!

Foremost among the visitors were ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s own followers from
London, among them Mary Virginia Thornburgh-Cropper, Ethel Rosenberg,
Annie Gamble and Elizabeth Herrick. Other pilgrims who had sailed
especially from North America included the lawyer Mountfort Mills, Charles
Mason Remey, Claudia Coles, Julia Culver and the composer Louise Waite.
In addition, a number of believers travelled from Persia. Several, descended
from martyred heroes of the Cause, were given a very special, loving
welcome from the Master. ‘We were all overcome by the poignant emotions
of such meetings,” wrote Lady Blomfield.1%4!

Soon after His arrival in London, ‘Abdu’l-Baha also received a visit from
Lady Blomfield’s great mentor, Archdeacon Wilberforce.

‘This was a remarkable interview,” she enthused. ‘Our dear friend, the
Archdeacon, sat on a low chair by the Master. ‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke to him in
His beautiful Persian. He placed His hand on the head of the Archdeacon,
talked long to him, and answered many questions. Evidently His words
penetrated further than the outer ears, for both were deeply moved.’1%

As the days passed, the apartment filled up with gifts of flowers and fruit
brought by the visitors. ‘Abdu’l-Baha would stand at the dinner table, picking
off bunches of grapes from their stems and offering them to the guests.

‘He talked to us of the joy of freedom,’ recalled Lady Blomfield, ‘of how
grateful we should be for the privilege of dwelling in safety, under just laws,
in a healthy city, with a temperate climate, and brilliant light — “there was
much darkness in the prison fortress of ‘Akka!”’

After His first dinner with us He said: ‘The food was delicious and the



fruit and flowers were lovely, but would that we could share some of the
courses with those poor and hungry people who have not even one.’

What a lesson to the guests present!

We at once agreed that one substantial, plentiful dish, with salad,
cheese, biscuits, sweetmeats, fruits, and flowers on the table, preceded
by soup and followed by coffee or tea, should be quite sufficient for any
dinner. This arrangement would greatly simplify life, both as to cookery
and service, and would undeniably be more in accordance with the ideals
of Christianity than numerous dishes unnecessary and costly.1%!

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s days at 97 Cadogan Gardens took on a routine. He rose early,
chanted prayers, took tea, wrote or dictated letters. He then began to receive
visitors, some of whom arrived just after dawn and waited on the doorstep.
Early in His visit Lady Blomfield received a telegram from the Baha’i
Assembly in Tehran: ‘That the holy feet of ‘Abdu’l-Baha have crossed your
threshold receive our felicitations. Blessed are ye.” 1%

Lady Blomfield enlisted the assistance of her daughters, their former
governess Beatrice Platt, Ethel Rosenberg and Dr Lutfu’llah Hakim to
coordinate all the activity and make appointments as well as to take notes of
His addresses. Every moment spent in the presence of ‘Abdu’l-Baha was for
Lady Blomfield a lesson in how to live.

“This station of Servitude — how great! How marvellous!’ she enthused.

We very gradually began to have a tiny glimmer of comprehension of
what Service could mean, as the life of this Servant unfolded itself daily
before our eyes.

The Master’s custom was to receive the visitors by twos or by threes,
or individually, during the early hours of the morning. Then, about nine
o’clock, He would come into the dining-room whilst we were at
breakfast to greet us. ‘Are you well? Did you sleep well?’

We tried to prevail upon Him to take some breakfast with us (we
were always concerned that He ate so very little). At last one day He said
He would like a little soup — then we had it brought in every morning.
He smiled and said: “To please you I will take it. Thank you, you are
very kind.” Then to the servitor who offered it to Him: ‘I give too great
trouble,” He said.

In a few minutes He would go to His room, where He would resume



the chanting of prayers and dictating of Tablets in reply to the vast
number of letters which incessantly arrived.

Visitors having gradually gathered in the drawing-room (about ten
o’clock), ‘Abdu’l-Baha would come to us, pausing just inside the door,
smiling round at the guests with a look of joyous sympathy which
seemed to enfold each and all who were present; they rose
simultaneously, as though the kingship of this Messenger were
recognized by an inner perception.

‘How are you? My hope is that you are well. Are you happy?’

Speaking so to us, He would pass through our midst to His usual
chair. Then He would talk rather with us than to us; so did He reply to
unspoken questions, causing wonderment in those who were waiting to
ask them — weaving the whole into a beautiful address, in the atmosphere
of which all problems and pain and care and doubt and sorrow would
melt away, leaving only happiness and peace.

The power of Divine Love we felt to be incarnated in Him, Whom we
called ‘the Master’.

Now came the hour when He would receive those who had asked for
appointments for private audiences. Careful timetables were made and
strictly adhered to, for very numerous were these applicants for so
unique an experience, how unique, only those knew when in the
presence of the Master, and we could partly divine, as we saw the look
on their faces as they emerged — a look as though blended of awe, of
marvelling, and of a certain calm joy. Sometimes we were conscious of
reluctance in them to come forth into the outer world, as though they
would hold fast to their beatitude, lest the return to things of earth should

wrest it from them.[1%!

One such caller was the writer Constance Elizabeth Maud, who was deeply
impressed by the Master. In her book Sparks among the Stubble, Maud
recalled how a

look of wonderful love, joy, and understanding came into his profoundly
far-seeing old eyes, when he recognised in his visitor a pure heart, a soul
of light; and it was as though he had found a brother or sister, someone
near of kin. But when he spoke of the discord, misery, and sorrow of the
world, his eyes took on an expression of unfathomable sadness, and



pictures rose up before one of the ghastly scenes of death and torture
those same eyes must have been forced to witness.!.%

On Wednesday 6 September, around 50 or 60 people gathered at the home of
Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper. One of her friends, a Mrs Drakoules, who had
founded the Humanitarian League more than 20 years before, presented
‘Abdu’l-Baha with a leaflet about its work. When He discovered its aims
were kindness, He made this the theme of His talk.

“You are all one family,” He said, ‘you have grown out of one root.’

Each of you is like a branch, a flower, a fruit. You must look on no one
as a stranger. You should try to show the greatest love to all men and to
every creature. I have come to you as to my own people — brothers and
sisters, sons and daughters. My bond is with all mankind; so should
yours be. Try to follow the teachings of Baha’o’llah, then each one will
shine like a star. Since the time of Adam there has been no other

teaching; until the end of time there will be no other.l1%

Two days later Lady Blomfield hosted a morning meeting at her home.
Hippolyte Dreyfus presented one Madame Olga de Nevosky, who had been
actively promoting the Baha’i teachings in Paris. Mrs Drakoules then showed
‘Abdu’l-Baha a photograph of her husband, a leading Greek reformer. While
he objected to the word ‘leader’, ‘Abdu’l-Baha told Mrs Drakoules that He
could discern the goodness and spirituality of her husband from the
photograph.

‘I can see Him’, wrote Mary Blomlfield, ‘. . . pacing the room where He
received the pilgrims at home. I can repicture His kingly walk which swung
the folds of His garments gently from side to side. I can see the descriptive
gestures of His hands — so eloquent that the meaning of His words often
reached His audience before the translation was given.”1

Later that day ‘Abdu’l-Baha visited the Passmore Edwards Settlement
Centre in Tavistock Place which was the site for a number of interesting
educational developments and innovations. It housed the first fully equipped
classrooms for children with disabilities living in the community. The school,
which had opened in 1898, provided course work, physical therapy and
meals. The second crucial innovation was the development of a play centre
for children. By 1902 more than 1,200 children were attending sessions. The
Centre provided a place of warmth and safety and the opportunity for



children to develop their play and comradeship in a situation where bullying
could be contained. Alice Buckton was intimately involved with the work of
the Centre and the following day she invited ‘Abdu’l-Baha to visit her and
Annet Schepel at their home in Byfleet, Surrey, some 20 miles from London,
where a number of working women of the Passmore Edwards Settlement
were spending a holiday.

‘We gathered round him in a circle, and he made us sit beside him in the
window seat,” wrote one of the women.

One of the members, who was ill, had a specially beautiful greeting from
him. ‘Abdu’l-Bahd began by saying, as he seated himself: ‘Are you
happy?’ and our faces must have shown him that we were. He then said:
‘I love you all, you are the children of the Kingdom, and you are
accepted of God. Though you may be poor here, you are rich in the
treasures of the Kingdom. I am the Servant of the poor. Remember how
His Holiness Jesus said: “Blessed are the poor!” If all the queens of the

earth were gathered here, I could not be more glad!’/112

Later He walked through the village where He talked with children, mothers
whose babies were unwell and unemployed men. Returning to the house, He
remarked how the garden reminded Him of a Persian garden. He presented
everyone with a purple heartsease from the garden as He left for London.

Sunday 10 September was a historic day in the history of the Baha’i Faith
and opened a new chapter in the ministry of ‘Abdu’l-Baha. Accepting
Reverend Campbell’s invitation, ‘Abdu’l-Baha attended the evening service
at the City Temple at Holborn Circus. The visit had been kept secret as
attendance at the service was usually very large, numbering around two
thousand. The service proceeded as usual until the hymn that immediately
preceded the sermon. While this was being sung, to the surprise of the
congregation ‘Abdu’l-Baha, in full Persian robes and turban, arrived and
ascended the stairs to the pulpit. When the hymn was finished, Reverend
Campbell sat the Master in his own chair and then said to the congregation, ‘I
propose to shorten my sermon this evening, because we have a visitor in the
pulpit whose presence is somewhat significant of the spiritual drawing-
together of East and West, as well as of the material drawing-together which
has long been going on, and I think you would like to hear his voice, if only
for a few moments.’113!



Campbell proceeded to deliver his sermon on ‘The Use of the Will in Prayer’.
He then said:

This evening we have in the pulpit of the City Temple the leader of one
of the most remarkable religious movements of this or any age, a
movement which includes, I understand, at least three million souls. The
Bahai movement, as it is called, in Hither Asia rose on that soil just as
spontaneously as Christianity rose in the middle territories adjoining,
and that faith — which, by the way, is very closely akin to, I think I might
say identical with, the spiritual purpose of Christianity — that movement
stands for the spiritual unity of mankind; it stands for universal peace
among the nations. These are good things, and the man who teaches
them and commends them to three millions of followers must be a good
man as well as a great. Abdul Baha is on a visit to this country — a
private visit — but he wished to see the City Temple; and I think I am
right in saying for the first time in his life he has consented to lift up his
voice in public. He does not address public meetings, he does not preach
sermons; he is just a religious teacher. He spent forty years in prison for
his faith, and from his prison directed the efforts of his followers. There
is not much in the way of organization, but simple trust in the Spirit of
God. We, as followers of the Lord Jesus Christ, who is to us and always
will be the Light of the World, view with sympathy and respect every
movement of the Spirit of God in the experience of mankind, and
therefore we give greeting to Abdul Baha — I do not know whether I
could say in the name of the whole Christian community — that may be
too much — but I think in the name of all who share the spirit of our
Master, and are trying to live their lives in that spirit. Abdul Baha, I
think, intends to say a word of two in response to this greeting that I
address to him in your name .14

‘Abdu’l-Baha moved to the front of the pulpit in full view of thousands of
people. For the first time in His life He was to address a public gathering.

‘At first the people were attentive,” observed Charles Mason Remey, ‘then
just a bit restless before all seemed to catch the spirit of what he was saying.
Hardly any understood Persian. Then a stillness and a quietness fell over the
assemblage and as Abdul-Baha raised his hands in prayer and benediction,
we were all conscious of the Omnipresent spirit of God, for every soul



seemed to vibrate in unison with the soul of Abdul-Baha, who is God’s
servant here upon earth today.’[L.%!

‘. . . the tense thrill vibrating throughout the whole building was most
strongly marked,” reported Wellesley Tudor Pole.’® For eight minutes
‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke in Persian, His voice rising and falling, His hands
animated. At the end, He put His hands together as if in prayer while Tudor
Pole read the translation:

O noble friends; seekers after God! Praise be to God! Today the light of
Truth is shining upon the world in its abundance; the breezes of the
heavenly garden are blowing throughout all regions; the call of the
Kingdom is heard in all lands, and the breath of the Holy Spirit is felt in
all hearts that are faithful. The Spirit of God is giving eternal life. In this
wonderful age the East is enlightened, the West is fragrant, and
everywhere the soul inhales the holy perfume. The sea of the unity of
mankind is lifting up its waves with joy, for there is real communication
between the hearts and minds of men. The banner of the Holy Spirit is
uplifted, and men see it, and are assured with the knowledge that this is a
new day.

This is a new cycle of human power. All the horizons of the world are
luminous, and the world will become indeed as a garden and a paradise.
It is the hour of unity of the sons of men and of the drawing together of
all races and all classes. You are loosed from ancient superstitions which
have kept men ignorant, destroying the foundation of true humanity.

The gift of God to this enlightened age is the knowledge of the
oneness of mankind and of the fundamental oneness of religion. War
shall cease between nations, and by the will of God the Most Great
Peace shall come; the world will be seen as a new world, and all men
will live as brothers.

In the days of old an instinct for warfare was developed in the
struggle with wild animals; this is no longer necessary; nay, rather, co-
operation and mutual understanding are seen to produce the greatest
welfare of mankind. Enmity is now the result of prejudice only.

In the Hidden Words Baha’u’llah says, ‘Justice is to be loved above
all.” Praise be to God, in this country the standard of justice has been
raised; a great effort is being made to give all souls an equal and a true



place. This is the desire of all noble natures; this is today the teaching for
the East and for the West; therefore the East and the West will
understand each other and reverence each other, and embrace like long-
parted lovers who have found each other.

There is one God; mankind is one; the foundations of religion are
one. Let us worship Him, and give praise for all His great Prophets and
Messengers who have manifested His brightness and glory.

The blessing of the Eternal One be with you in all its richness, that
each soul according to his measure may take freely of Him. Amen.1Z

The Reverend R.J. Campbell then arose to speak again.

I think you will probably agree with me that this is an interesting as well
as a unique occasion, and that what we have been listening to, in that
brief message uttered by a spiritual teacher from the East, is in spirit the
same message that you are listening to on the authority of Jesus week by
week. It is a great time, a time of the drawing-together of all people. East
and West join hands in the City Temple to-night.[l1&

‘It seemed to us’, recalled Tudor Pole, ‘as if a new page in history was being
turned over and as if a new religious and spiritual epoch was being outwardly
launched upon an expectant world before our very eyes.’11%!

After the service, in the vestry, Campbell invited ‘Abdu’l-Baha to inscribe
a few sentences in the pulpit Bible. ‘Abdu’l-Baha expressed his delight at the
reverent spirit of the gathering and wrote, ‘This book is the Holy Book of
God, of celestial inspiration. It is the Bible of Salvation, the noble Gospel. It
is the mystery of the Kingdom and its light. It is the Divine Bounty, the sign
of the guidance of God.” As He left the City Temple, ‘Abdu’l-Baha said in
English, ‘I am very happy!’!22 A crowd gathered about the door, extending
their hands towards Him. ‘Abdu’l-Baha remarked that Baha’u’llah had told
Him many years before that He would proclaim the Baha’i Cause in this part
of the world.

‘With that discourse’, writes the distinguished Baha’i historian Hasan M.
Balyuzi, ‘“Abdu’l-Baha opened a phase of His ministry which must, in every
aspect, remain unrivalled. In His sixty-eighth year, in precarious health, He
stepped into a crowded, demanding arena to proclaim to the Christian West
the essential verities of the Faith of His Father.’121

The following Sunday, after another full week of visits and visitors,



‘Abdu’l-Baha offered His message to a large public audience once again in
the church of St John the Divine, Smith Square, Westminster. The long
cherished hope of Lady Blomfield to hear the Master speak in her own
favoured church, led with such fearless independence by her friend
Archdeacon Wilberforce, was at last to become a reality. Eighteen months
previously Wilberforce had sent a message to ‘Abdu’l-Baha saying, ‘We are
all one there, behind the veil.” ‘Abdu’l-Baha replied, ‘Tell him the veil is very
thin, and it will vanish quite.”122

‘All who were present’, reported The Christian Commonwealth, *. . .
could not fail to realise that the wveil was vanishing. Archdeacon
Wilberforce’s beautiful intercessory service was a means to that end . . . Then
Dr. Wilberforce told of the teacher — “Master” he called him — who had come
to London to emphasise unity, and who was present that evening at St. John’s
to proclaim the meaning of it. “Whatever our views,” the Archdeacon said,
“we shall, I am sure, unite in welcoming a man who has been for forty years
a prisoner for the cause of brotherhood and love.””12

The congregation waited expectantly while the Archdeacon left the
church. He returned a brief moment later, having removed his white surplice,
with ‘Abdu’l-Baha, the two distinguished figures walking down the aisle.
Lady Blomfield observed, ‘The beloved Messenger from the East passed
through the midst of the crowded church, hand in hand with Archdeacon
Wilberforce, up to the chancel, where they stood together, two men of God,
one from the East and one from the West, united in their loving service to the
“Ruler of the throne and of the dust”.”1%

Controversially, the Archdeacon sat ‘Abdu’l-Baha in the Bishop’s chair
on the chancel steps in front of the altar. He then introduced his guest to the
congregation, talking of His imprisonment, His suffering and His faith.

‘Rudyard Kipling has said, “East is East and West is West and they twain
never shall meet”,” reflected Wilberforce, ‘but I say they can and do meet on
the common ground of Love and here is the proof.’1%

Then ‘Abdu’l-Baha rose for the second time in one week to address a
Christian congregation. Once again the singing intonation of His voice and
His decisive hand movements gave many the impression that they had
understood His talk, despite it being in Persian.

““Abdu’l-Baha’s beautiful voice filled the church with its powerful
vibrations,” wrote Lady Blomfield. ‘. . . This was indeed a soul-stirring event,



far-reaching in its influence!’12®) Having finished His address, ‘Abdu’l-Baha
sat again as the Archdeacon, standing beside Him, read the translation of
‘Abdu’l-Baha’s talk himself, saying ‘I would I could reproduce the musical

inflections of the Master’s voice’:1%Z

O noble Friends! O Seekers for the Kingdom of God! Man all over the
world is seeking for God. All that exists is God; but the Reality of
Divinity is holy above all understanding.

The pictures of Divinity that come to our mind are the product of our
fancy; they exist in the realm of our imagination. They are not adequate
to the Truth; truth in its essence cannot be put into words.

Divinity cannot be comprehended because it is comprehending.

Man, who has also a real existence, is comprehended by God;
therefore, the Divinity which man can understand is partial; it is not
complete. Divinity is actual Truth and real existence, and not any
representation of it. Divinity itself contains All, and is not contained.

Although the mineral, vegetable, animal and man all have actual
being, yet the mineral has no knowledge of the vegetable. It cannot
apprehend it. It cannot imagine nor understand it.

It is the same with the vegetable. Any progress it may make, however
highly it may become developed, it will never apprehend the animal, nor
understand it. It is, so to speak, without news of it. It has no ears, no
sight, no understanding.

It is the same with the animal. However much it may progress in its
own kingdom, however refined its feelings may become, it will have no
real notion of the world of man or of his special intellectual faculties.

The animal cannot understand the roundness of the earth, nor its
motion in space, nor the central position of the sun, nor can it imagine
such a thing as the all-pervading ether.

Although the mineral, vegetable, animal and man himself are actual
beings, the difference between their kingdoms prevents members of the
lower degree from comprehending the essence and nature of those of the
superior degree. This being so, how can the temporal and phenomenal
comprehend the Lord of Hosts?

It is clear that this is impossible!

But the Essence of Divinity, the Sun of Truth, shines forth upon all



horizons and is spreading its rays upon all things. Each creature is the
recipient of some portion of that power, and man, who contains the
perfection of the mineral, the vegetable and animal, as well as his own
distinctive qualities, has become the noblest of created beings. It stands
written that he is made in the Image of God. Mysteries that were hidden
he discovers; and secrets that were concealed he brings into the light. By
Science and by Art he brings hidden powers into the region of the visible
world. Man perceives the hidden law in created things and co-operates
with it.

Lastly the perfect man, the Prophet, is one who is transfigured, one
who has the purity and clearness of a perfect mirror — one who reflects
the Sun of Truth. Of such a one — of such a Prophet and Messenger — we
can say that the Light of Divinity with the heavenly Perfections dwells in
him.

If we claim that the sun is seen in the mirror, we do not mean that the
sun itself has descended from the holy heights of his heaven and entered
into the mirror! This is impossible. The Divine Nature is seen in the
Manifestations and its Light and Splendour are visible in extreme glory.

Therefore, men have always been taught and led by the Prophets of
God. The Prophets of God are the Mediators of God. All the Prophets
and Messengers have come from One Holy Spirit and bear the Message
of God, fitted to the age in which they appear. The One Light is in them
and they are One with each other. But the Eternal does not become
phenomenal; neither can the phenomenal become Eternal.

Saint Paul, the great Apostle, said: “We all, with open face beholding
as in a mirror the glory of God, are changed into the same image from
glory to glory, as by the Spirit of the Lord.’

O God the Forgiver! O Heavenly Educator! This assembly is adorned
with the mention of thy holy Name. Thy children turn their face towards
thy Kingdom, hearts are made happy and souls are comforted.

Merciful God! Cause us to repent of our shortcomings! Accept us in
thy heavenly Kingdom and give unto us an abode where there shall be
no error. Give us peace; give us knowledge, and open unto us the gates
of thy heaven.

Thou art the Giver of all! Thou art the Forgiver! Thou art the
Merciful! Amen.12%



The congregation was profoundly moved. Archdeacon Wilberforce invited
‘Abdu’l-Bahd to pronounce the blessing, and following the minister’s
example, the congregation knelt to receive the benediction while the Master
stood with extended arms, His voice rising and falling. Mary Blomfield
recalled how it was ‘wonderful to see Him standing on the chancel steps of a
Christian Church, and to hear Him interpret the living eternal Christ to a
Christian congregation. His white head-dress crowned His silver hair, His
long sand-coloured robe falling in long folds accentuated His majestic
bearing. He seemed to combine the hierarchy of the Prophets as He called
men to worship the everlasting Dynasty of God’s Messengers to Man, and to
open their eyes to the Sun of Truth shining resplendent for those who had
vision, in this chaotic age.”12

As ‘Abdu’l-Baha and the Archdeacon processed down the aisle to the
vestry, hand in hand, the hymn ‘O God our help in ages past’ was sung by the
standing congregation. “‘We do not speak his language,” Wilberforce was
heard to say, ‘nor he ours, but for the angels of God there is no Babel.”!2
Outside St John’s, as they left, ‘Abdu’l-Baha caught sight of members of the
Salvation Army holding their meeting. He was deeply impressed at the
gathering of men, women and children praying and singing on the street
corner.

Earlier in the day of Sunday 17 September ‘Abdu’l-Baha had visited the
Indian Religious Centre of Keshun Niketon in Hampstead. Lady Blomfield
recalled that the Master seemed always pleased to be with Indian friends. A
deputation from the Bramo-Somaj Society arrived, inviting the Master to
address them. The Society traced its origins back to the start of the 19th
century and a Bengali Hindu by the name of Raja Ram Mohan Roy who had
challenged the idolatry of Hinduism and pronounced that throughout history,
saints and prophets had appeared in every land and that to claim finality and
exclusivity of any revelation was misguided. Roy studied the Bible in
Hebrew and, in his mid-30s, wrote a book called Precepts of Jesus: The
Guide to Happiness and Peace in Life. He also studied the Qur’an in Arabic
as well as his own Hindu scriptures and in 1828 founded the first theistic
church in India. ‘Abdu’l-Baha was pleased with the enlightened spirit of the
Bramo-Somaj movement and His other Indian visitors.

He would speak to them of the ‘Spiritual Sun of Truth, which has always



shown from the eastern horizon, and again of the great Spiritual
Teachers, who have all arisen in the East’. The Message of Krishna was
a Message of Love; every true Prophet of God has given the same
message, that of Love. We must all strive to spread this Love among the
sons of mankind.

‘It would be well for the Western peoples to turn to the East for
illumination,” He would say again and again.

“The East and the West should unite to give to each other what is
lacking in each. This exchange of gifts would form a true civilization,
where spiritual ideals would be translated into action in the material
world.” 13

‘The picture of the Persian pilgrims rises in my memory,” wrote Mary
Blomfield, ‘so many and so patient that they would wait for hours for a
glimpse of the Master, some of them sitting on the stairs, humbly, with folded
hands, and heads bent reverently in meditation, sons of martyrs, or
themselves martyrs to be, men who had travelled from the distant East to see
‘Abdu’l-Baha directly the glad news of His freedom had reached them.’232! In
addition to the Persian believers who had travelled so far to be with ‘Abdu’l-
Baha, others from His homeland sought His company. One, Jalalu’d-Dawlih,
who was responsible for the torture and murder of two Baha’is in Persia,
begged to be received by ‘Abdu’l-Baha, imploring His forgiveness for his
crimes. Members of the Persian Legation also arrived along with a Persian
nobleman, Dust-Muhammad Khan (Mu‘ayyiru’l-Mamalik) who was a
constant visitor and sometimes accompanied the Master to meetings.

‘Certain of those who thronged to see the Master, having travelled from
far countries,” wrote Lady Blomfield, ‘were naturally anxious to spend every
possible moment with Him, Whose deeds and words appealed to them as
ever-filled with grace and love. Therefore it came about that day after day,
whilst the Master was teaching, the luncheon gong would sound, and those
who remained would be invited to sit at food with Him. We grew to expect
that there would be nineteen guests at table, so often did this number
recur.’!33 The chaos in the kitchen can be imagined as Beatrice Platt
coordinated the meals, attempting to manage ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s own cook
Khusraw alongside Lady Blomfield’s overwhelmed staff.

‘Like all popular prophets and preachers,” observed Constance Maud, ‘he



suffered not a little from his disciples; the incense-burners and daily adorers
bored and wearied him to the core. I have often noted the happy smile of
frank relief from strain with which he would turn to welcome some young
thing, a wide-eyed child with fixed gaze of curiosity upon his white turban, or
one of the hostess’ young daughters who, sitting at his feet, would
mischievously imitate some of the “yearners” till he laughed like a
schoolboy.”l3 At times, ‘Abdu’l-Baha became annoyed by extravagant
worship and strongly reproved individuals who acclaimed Him as a
reincarnation of Christ. One woman would sit at his feet and gaze up with
adoration while He was speaking. One day, He glanced casually at her during
His address. At the end she asked Him what He had been saying at that
particular moment, to which He replied that He had been describing how the
vegetable world arose out of the mineral. She, expecting a more flattering
remark, received the gentle rebuke humbly and modified her ostentatious
piety. Lady Blomfield was greatly amused by this incident although she kept
it between herself and her daughters.

‘Abdu’l-Bahéa’s affection for the Blomfields grew with every passing day
of His sojourn in their home. Once, while they were out driving, Mrs
Thornburgh-Cropper asked Him if He was not missing His wife and children.
‘Abdu’l-Baha told the ladies that they were as beloved by Him as His own
daughters. ‘Our hearts thrilled with joy and awe as He spoke,” wrote Lady
Blomfield. ‘How can we serve to be even a little worthy of so high an
honour?’1122!

Each of them was given a Persian name by the Master: Sitarih, meaning
‘star’ for Lady Blomfield, a name she from then on used, sometimes in its
more common form, Esther; Maryam for Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper; Parvine
for Mary; and Nouri for Rose Ellinor. Lady Blomfield’s neighbour Gabrielle
Enthoven was known to the Master as Hamsa’ih, meaning precisely
‘neighbour’. Lady Blomfield’s son Frank was also given a Persian name, now
lost to us.

Another incident demonstrating ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s consideration for all also
touched Sitarih. A workman who had left his bag of tools in the hallway of
the block was welcomed with immense kindness by ‘Abdu’l-Baha. Sadly the
man said: ‘I don’t know much about religious things, as I have no time for
anything but my work.’



“That is well. Very well,” replied the Master. ‘A day’s work done in the
spirit of service is in itself an act of worship. Such work is a prayer unto
God.’

Sitarih described how ‘the man’s face cleared from its shadow of doubt
and hesitation, and he went out from the Master’s presence happy and
strengthened, as though a weighty burden had been taken away’./:3¢

Early on during His first visit, many attempts were made to photograph
‘Abdu’l-Baha. Press photographers camped out in Cadogan Gardens, waiting
for an opportunity to get a picture. Sitarih was disturbed by their presence
and protested to one of them.

‘Do you think it very courteous to insist on photographing a guest from a
distant country against His will?’

‘No, Madam,’ the photographer replied, ‘but if others succeed and I fail,
my chief will think me a fool.’

‘When I told this to ‘Abdu’l-Baha,’ Sitarih reported,

He laughed heartily and said: ‘If the photographs must be, it would be
better to have good ones. Those in that paper are very bad indeed.’

Thereupon he consented with His unfailing, smiling grace, to be
photographed. ‘To please the friends,” he said. ‘But to have a picture of
oneself is to emphasize the personality, which is merely the lamp, and is
quite unimportant. The light burning within the lamp has the only real
significance.’

He signed a photograph, writing His name on the white part of his
turban. ‘My name is my crown,’ said ‘Abdu’l-Baha — ‘Servant of God,
the Most Glorious. 2



Three professional photographs of ‘Abdu’l-Bahd taken during His first visit
to London




‘Those who have sought interviews with him have been of all ranks and
classes,” wrote Ethel Rosenberg to Albert Windust, editor of Star of the West,

amongst them many clergy of the Anglican church and other
denominations. It is indeed a most marvellous privilege to have him in
our midst and I hope that blessing may be yours next year. He has said
many kind things about the firmness and steadfastness of the English
believers. Many have brought their young children to see him to be
blessed and it is very beautiful to see him with the little ones, folding
them in his arms, kissing and blessing them.

. .. It is a matter of extreme difficulty for us to find time for the
interviews of the many hundreds of people who desire to see Him. There
have been notices of his visit in nearly all the daily papers, most of them
extremely sympathetic, notably so the interviews in the Daily News of
Sept. 14th, of which I will enclose a cutting; also that of the Daily Mail.
[138]

Despite the long years of imprisonment and His advanced age, ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s ability to summon up new reserves of energy impressed His hostess.
After a whole day of visiting and meeting people, Lady Blomfield noted how
tired the Master seemed and bewailed the fact that He would have so many
stairs to climb to her apartment. To her amazement, on reaching the staircase,



‘Abdu’l-Baha bolted up the steps to the top without stopping for breath. With
a bright smile, He turned to the rest of the party slowly ascending the stairs
and said, ‘You are all very old! I am very young! . . . Through the power of
Baha’u’llah all things can be done. I have just used that power.” 32

‘That was the only time we had ever seen Him use that power for
Himself,” wrote Sitarih, ‘and I feel that He did so then to cheer and comfort
us, as we were really sad concerning His fatigue.

‘Might it not also have been to show us an example of the great Reserve of
Divine Force always available for those of us who are working in various
ways in the “Path of the Love of God and of Mankind”. A celestial strength
which reinforces us when our human strength fails. 14

The Master’s enthusiasm for the evolving powers of material civilization
was also keenly noted by His hosts. ‘I can see ‘Abdu’l-Baha watching
aeroplanes ascend at Brooklands,” wrote Mary Blomfield, recalling many
years later their visit to one of Britain’s first airfields near Weybridge in
Surrey. ‘He would speed them into the sky laughing with pleasure, and
making a sweeping upward movement of His arms. The progress of material
civilization gave him intense satisfaction, as long as its inventions were not
used for the prosecution of war.” 4

On His penultimate weekend in England ‘Abdu’l-Baha accepted an invitation
from Wellesley Tudor Pole and his wife to visit them at their home at 17
Royal York Crescent, Clifton, Bristol. Sitarih was among the other guests
who joined Him on the journey, setting out from London’s Paddington
station and arriving around midday on the Saturday at Bristol Temple Meads
station, where Tudor Pole met them.

Every detail for the Master’s comfort had been lovingly considered as it
was known that He needed some well-earned rest after the exacting weeks of
His sojourn in London. The bedroom prepared for ‘Abdu’l-Baha was filled
with white lilies. On the wall was hung a verse from the Psalms, translated
into Persian: ‘O send out thy light and thy truth; let them lead me; let them
bring me unto thy holy hill and to thy tabernacles.’142

After partaking of coffee on His arrival, ‘Abdu’l-Baha walked joyously on
the broad paved terrace in front of the house, accompanied by His interpreter
Tammaddunu’l-Mulk and a few of the ladies. The Master was quite taken
with the spectacular sea views from the Guest House and the fresh air. Tudor



Pole, who had also received a cable from the Tehran Baha’is congratulating
him on the Master’s visit to his home, laid on carriages to take ‘Abdu’l-Baha
and His entourage to see many of the local beauty spots.

The believers were impressed by ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s freshness and the
spontaneous interest and delight which He took in all He saw. He was very
impressed by the vivid greens of the countryside. At one point a young
woman galloped past on horseback followed by several more riding bicycles
on their own.

“This is the age of woman,’ remarked ‘Abdu’l-Baha.

She should receive the same education as her brother and enjoy the same
privilege; for all souls are equal before God. Sex, in its relation to the
exigencies of the physical plane, has no connection with the Spirit. In
this age of spiritual awakening, the world has entered upon the path of
progress into the arena of development, where the power of the spirit
surpasses that of the body. Soon the spirit will have dominion over the

world of humanity.[143

That night, a long table was laid out for a company of 19 visitors and guests.
Sitting down to dinner, ‘Abdu’l-Baha told the assembled company that this
supper was a great and holy occasion and would be recorded in history. ‘The
meal itself,” wrote Tudor Pole, ‘partaken of in love and harmony, was indeed
a sacrament and a mark of unity and fellowship that would bring the blessing
of Bah&’ Ullah upon all gathered round the board.’!#

“What struck some of those present was his extremely natural and simple
behaviour,” wrote one observer, ‘and the pleasant sense of humour, which his
long imprisonment and awful trials had not succeeded in destroying.’14!

“Those of us who were included in the kind invitation of Mr. and Mrs.
Tudor-Pole to accompany ‘Abdu’l-Baha on His visit to the Clifton Guest
House, Clifton, will forever remember the wonderful three days under that
hospitable roof,” wrote Lady Blomfield.l14!



‘Abdu’l-Baha at Clifton Guest House, Bristol, September 1911

After dinner a meeting had been arranged for some 90 people who had
arrived to meet the Master. The meeting began with a duet for violin and
piano followed by Tudor Pole offering a few words about the Baha’i
Movement, reminding the guests of the long imprisonment and suffering of
Baha’u’llah, ‘Abdu’l-Baha and their followers in Persia.

‘Abdu’l-Baha then entered the room, at which point everyone rose out of
respect. He seated Himself with His interpreter and, though fatigued, spoke
clearly and with great vigour about the new age which was dawning in the
world, challenged His audience to look upon all races as members of one
organism, and blessed the whole gathering.

“The time of youth has come again to the earth,” He told the audience.
‘May those here be watered by those holy springs that are renewing life in the
world. Just as day follows night and after sunset is passed, dawn is at hand;
just as the sun sets to rise, and sets again; so, in the time of darkness a new
light came to illumine the sons of men.’4

Following the meeting ‘Abdu’l-Baha bade goodnight to the visitors at the
doorway, taking the hand of each with a warm and loving grasp. He then
went up onto the balcony and looked out across the city of Bristol, ‘a fairy-



like scene lit up by thousands of lamps’.42

The next morning Sitarih and the rest of the party welcomed ‘Abdu’l-Baha
to breakfast. Now and then He spoke, remarking on the contrast between the
simple meal before Him and the costly banquets of the wealthy. His gaze
scanned the room and rested momentarily on each guest’s face with a love
that embraced them all. The party then went out driving and walking on the
downs. Afterwards He gathered all the servants of the house together and
gave them a small address full of practical advice about the blessedness of
work. He asked them to serve Tudor Pole faithfully, and to each of them He
gave a token of His appreciation for their services. He then went into every
room in the house, blessing and dedicating it to the service of Baha’u’llah
and promising that the house would become a centre of peace and rest for
pilgrims from East and West. It is reported that He also inspected the famous
blue bowl from Glastonbury that had become the focus of a women’s cult. A
prayer for ‘Abdu’l-Baha was subsequently added to one of the shrine’s
service books.

‘Abdu’l-Baha seemed to be energized by the air at Clifton and slept well
in the Tudor Poles’ home. Towards the end of the stay He consented to be
photographed with His devotees on the terrace outside of the Guest House.
Around midday on the Monday He wrote a beautiful prayer and blessing in
the visitors’ book before leaving on the train back to London.

‘... we shall always be grateful that we were privileged to share in the
sunshine of those days,” wrote Sitarih of their visit to Bristol.142!

Just one week was remaining of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s historic first stay in London
and still the visitors continued to arrive at the door of 97 Cadogan Gardens.
Sir Richard and Lady Stapley were frequent visitors. Sir Richard, a co-
founder and director of the prosperous London clothing business of Stapley
and Smith, was a member of the Corporation of London for more than 30
years. He had a lifelong concern with education and philanthropic causes.
Regretting that he had never been to university, he set up a trust to give
promising but impoverished young people the chance to continue their
education at universities, colleges and beyond. Sir Richard also served on the
editorial board of The Christian Commonwealth.

The Stapleys gave a reception in honour of ‘Abdu’l-Baha at which they
brought out a large iced cake with a flock of snow-white doves radiating from



it. The Master gave an iced dove to each guest as a souvenir. On that
occasion, there being no room for one of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s entourage, Mirza
Asadu’llah, in the car, Sitarih believed he had been left behind. However
when they arrived at their destination they discovered the old man scrambling
down from the roof of the limousine where he had leapt at the last moment.
Until the end of her days Lady Blomfield loved to tell this story over and
over. One can only imagine the extraordinary sight as the car proceeded
through London’s more salubrious suburbs with an oriental man in full robes
and turban clinging to the roof.

Mary also recalled ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s sense of humour, something which
Sitarih has not recorded in too much detail in her book The Chosen Highway.
‘My mother,” Mary remembered, ‘like all great souls had a strong, but always
kindly, sense of humour, and I often heard laughter during those wonderful
days with ‘Abdu’l-Baha.’’>® On one occasion, the Master gave Mary a
‘cat’s-eye’ stone. As He was handing it to her, He said laughing, ‘Pussy
Eye!” Mary had it set in a ring which she wore for the rest of her life.

The influential newspaper man and spiritualist W.T. Stead, editor of the
Review of Reviews, had a great sympathy towards the Baha’i teachings,
having run a feature on the Movement in 1907. He arrived to challenge
‘Abdu’l-Baha on the issue of communication with the departed. Constance
Elizabeth Maud was a witness to their conversation and recorded it in Sparks
among the Stubble:

‘I have preached Bahai doctrine, but I have added to it a truth which
Baha Ullah failed to give to the world,” said W.T. Stead eagerly, and
blissfully regardless of the somewhat delicate ground on which he was
venturing in his walking boots.

‘What truth is that?’ inquired Abdul Baha, alert, and it must be
admitted, somewhat surprised.

‘The truth of actual present communication between dwellers on
earth and our loved ones who have passed on to the other side.’

Abdul Baha replied that he taught and believed absolutely and
literally in the communion of saints, but to teach the expediency of
seeking communication in séances he regarded as unwise.

“You make no provision, then, for the poor doubting Thomases,’
rejoined Mr. Stead, ‘those longing for evidence, for proof, for



consolation. Julia’s Bureau, dedicated to St. Thomas, opens a way for
this sad and numerous company to belief in God, the soul and
immortality.’

Abdul Baha, with infinite gentleness, explained that in his opinion the
average man needed all his energies concentrated on an actively holy
life, and a danger lay in emphasizing too much the unseen world around
him, though he himself was vividly conscious of the reality of the
Unseen, and knew as an experienced fact that ‘all religions are based on
inspiration from the Unseen’.

“You have this personal experience,” W.T. Stead took him up
quickly, ‘but see how, like the priest of all ages, you would keep the
pearl of great price in your own hands, instead of giving it freely to all
the people. To the poor you allow no access to truth except through
certain prescribed channels.’

‘Meat is for strong men, not babes,’ replied Abdul Baha. ‘Christ said
there were many things He could tell, “but you cannot bear them now”.’

The wise old eyes regarded his accuser with sympathy and affection.
There were things, perhaps, aspects of truth he had attained, which few
of his hearers could have borne. You cannot pour more wine into a
goblet than it will hold. But it was not for himself that W.T. Stead had
taken up the cudgels, and this Abdul Baha felt instinctively, recognizing

in his visitor one whose very reason of being was love for his fellow
men. 21

For Lady Blomfield a key concern was clarified by ‘Abdu’l-Baha during His
visit. Dating back to the days of her study of Theosophy, she had been
fascinated by the concept of reincarnation, despite rejecting most everything
else the Theosophists had taught her. One day while walking with Lady
Blomfield in Battersea Park, ‘Abdu’l-Baha set her mind at rest by saying,
‘The Theosophists are mistaken in their concept of reincarnation. Why should
the soul return to this world, when there are so many worlds?’1>2

The Theosophist leader Annie Besant visited the Master, as did Lady
Blomfield’s old friend A. P. Sinnett, who came several times. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
accepted their invitations to speak at the Theosophical Society’s new
headquarters in Tavistock Square on 30 September.

After Sinnett conveyed a general history of the Baha’i Movement and



offered sympathetic words of welcome, ‘Abdu’l-Baha delivered to the packed
room an address upon the distinctive characteristics of Baha’i teaching while
commending the eagerness of the Theosophy Society in its search for truth.

A number of Sitarih’s friends from spiritualist or Theosophist circles
claimed they saw manifestations of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s power at the level of the
aura. ‘Many were the “Signs” spoken of by those friends gifted with the
clairvoyant sense,” she wrote.

‘I have just seen a great light, as a halo shining round the Master’s head!
Wonderful! Wonderful!’

‘Have you not seen it yourself?’ said one of these friends.

I replied, ‘In the sense you mean, no. I am not gifted with a constant
clairvoyance, but to me He is always clothed in a sacred light.’

‘But,” she persisted, ‘there must be miracles. Many miracles, are
there not?’

“Yes, of course. But ‘Abdu’l-Baha says:

‘““Miracles have frequently obscured the Teaching which the Divine
Messenger has brought. The Message is the real miracle. The
phenomenal miracles are unimportant, and prove nothing to anybody but
the witnesses thereof, and even they will very often explain them away!
Therefore miracles have no value in the teaching of religion.””

“Yes, I understand,” she answered, ‘but when a dear friend was being
carried to the operating room to undergo a serious operation, ‘Abdu’l-
Baha seemed to walk before her, smiling encouragement, and stayed
whilst the doctors did their work. The dreaded ordeal was overpast, and
she who had been despaired of, even by the doctors, recovered most
unexpectedly. Are you not surprised?’

‘No, for this reason; on the day she left London, to join her mother,
that lady’s daughter came to implore ‘Abdu’l-Baha to “bear in mind the
critical hour of the operation, and to come to her mother’s help”. I am of
course not surprised that He granted her request.’

Another friend said: ‘At that gathering which I attended, the radiant
light emanating from ‘Abdu’l-Baha spread over the whole hall. It looked
like showers of golden drops, which fell upon every person in the
assemblage.’

We who observed and pondered these things grew to take the



unprecedented happenings as a part of the whole, not with surprise, but
rather with thankfulness that such things could be.l1>!

One other visitor of note among those who thronged to the apartment during
the Master’s visit was the poet Ezra Pound, who thought ‘Abdu’l-Baha ‘a
dear old man’2>% but later treated Him flippantly in one of his works.

On another occasion, while several people were talking with ‘Abdu’l-
Baha, a man’s voice was heard at the hall door. Sitarih takes up the story:

‘Is the lady of this house within?” The servitor answered ‘Yes, but —’
‘Oh please, I must see her!” he interrupted with despairing insistence. I,
overhearing, had gone into the hall.

‘Are you the hostess of ‘Abdu’l-Baha?’ he asked.

“Yes. Do you wish to see me?’

‘I have walked thirty miles for that purpose.’

‘Come in and rest. After some refreshment you will tell me?’

He came in and sat down in the dining-room. In appearance he might
have been an ordinary tramp, but as he spoke, from out the core of
squalor and suffering, something else seemed faintly to breathe.

After a while the poor fellow began his pitiful story:

‘I was not always as you see me now, a disreputable, hopeless object.
My father is a country rector, and I had the advantage of being at a
public school. Of the various causes which led to my arrival at the
Thames embankment as my only home, I need not speak to you.’

‘Last evening I had decided to put an end to my futile, hateful life,
useless to God and man!’

‘“Whilst taking what I had intended should be my last walk, I saw “a
Face” in the window of a newspaper shop. I stood looking at the face as
if rooted to the spot. He seemed to speak to me, and call me to him!”

““Let me see that paper, please,” I asked. It was the face of ‘Abdu’l-
Baha.

‘I read that he is here, in this house. I said to myself, “If there is in
existence on earth that personage, I shall take up again the burden of my
life.””

‘I set off on my quest. I have come here to find him. Tell me, is he
here? Will he see me? Even me?’

‘Of course he will see you. Come to Him.’



In answer to the knock, ‘Abdu’l-Baha Himself opened the door,
extending His hands, as though to a dear friend, whom He was expecting.

‘“Welcome! Most welcome! I am very much pleased that thou hast
come. Be seated.’

The pathetic man trembled and sank on to a low chair by the Master’s
feet, as though unable to utter a word.

The other guests, meanwhile, looked on wonderingly to see the
attention transferred to the strange-looking new arrival, who seemed to
be so overburdened with hopeless misery.

‘Be happy! Be happy!’ said ‘Abdu’l-Baha, holding one of the poor
hands, stroking tenderly the dishevelled, bowed head.

Smiling that wonderful smile of loving compassion, the Master
continued:

‘Do not be filled with grief when humiliation overtaketh thee.

‘The bounty and power of God is without limit for each and every
soul in the world.

‘Seek for spiritual joy and knowledge, then, though thou walk upon
this earth, thou wilt be dwelling within the divine realm.

“Though thou be poor, thou mayest be rich in the Kingdom of God.’

These and other words of comfort, of strength, and of healing were
spoken to the man, whose cloud of misery seemed to melt away in the
warmth of the Master’s loving presence.

As the strange visitor rose to leave Him Whom he had sought and
found, a new look was upon his face, a new erectness in his carriage, a
firm purpose in his steps.

‘Please write down for me His words. I have attained all I expected,
and even more.’

‘And now what are you going to do?’ I asked.

‘I’m going to work in the fields. I can earn what I need for my simple
wants. When I have saved enough I shall take a little bit of land, build a
tiny hut upon it in which to live, then I shall grow violets for the market.
As He says “Poverty is unimportant, work is worship.” 1 need not say
“thank you”, need I? Farewell.” The man had gone.!>*

Another famous story related by Lady Blomfield reiterates ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s
loving concern for the happiness of all:



Every detail of one evening remains in the memory of those who were
present.

Two ladies had written from Scotland asking if it were possible that
‘Abdu’l-Baha would spare them one evening.

They accepted my invitation to dinner. Having come straight from the
train, and being about to return the same night, every moment was
precious.

The Master received them with His warm, simple welcome, and they
spontaneously, rather than consciously, made more reverent curtsies than
if in the presence of the ordinary great personages of the earth.

Everybody was feeling elated at the prospect of a wonderful evening,
unmarred by the presence of any but the most intimate and the most
comprehending of the friends.

Not more than half an hour had passed, when, to our consternation, a
persistent person pushed past the servitors, and strode into our midst.
Seating himself, and lighting a cigarette without invitation, he proceeded
to say that he intended writing an article for some paper about ‘Abdu’l-
Baha, superciliously asking for ‘Some telling points, don’t you know.’
He talked without a pause in a far from polite manner.

We were speechless and aghast at the intrusion of this insufferable
and altogether unpleasant bore, spoiling our golden hour!

Presently ‘Abdu’l-Baha rose and, making a sign to the man to follow
Him, went to His own private room.

We looked at one another. The bore had gone, yes, but alas! so also
had the Master!

‘Can nothing be done?’ Being the hostess, I was perturbed and
perplexed. Then I went to the door of the audience room, and said to the
secretary: ‘Will you kindly say to ‘Abdu’l-Baha that the ladies with
whom the appointment had been made are awaiting His pleasure.’

I returned to the guests and we awaited the result.

Almost immediately we heard steps approaching along the corridor.
They came across the hall to the door. The sound of kind farewell words
reached us. Then the closing of the door, and the Beloved came back.

‘Oh, Master!” we said.

Pausing near the door, He looked at us each in turn, with a look of
deep, grave meaning.



“You were making that poor man uncomfortable, so strongly desiring
his absence; I took him away to make him feel happy.’

Truly ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s thoughts and ways were far removed from
ours 18]

On the evening of 29 September Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper arranged a large
farewell reception for ‘Abdu’l-Baha in the hall of the Passmore Edwards
Settlement. The room was filled to capacity with almost 500 guests from all
walks of life. The meeting began with the Lord’s Prayer spoken in unison by
all present, followed by a prayer of Baha’u’llah for unity and a 5th century
prayer attributed to Pope Gelasius. The chair for the evening, Professor
Michael Sadler, then welcomed the guests and introduced the evening’s
speakers: Sir Richard Stapley, Eric Hammond, Mr Claude Montefiore — a
progressive-thinking and highly influential member of the Jewish community
— Mrs Stannard from Egypt, Alice Buckton and others.

‘Abdu’l-Baha on the platform of Passmore Edwards Settlement Hall, 29
September 1911




‘We have met together to bid farewell to ‘Abdu’l-Baha,” said Professor
Sadler, ‘and to thank God for his example and teaching, and for the power of
his prayers to bring Light into confused thought, Hope into the place of
dread, Faith where doubt was, and into troubled hearts, the Love which
overmasters self-seeking and fear.’

Though we all, among ourselves, in our devotional allegiance have our
own individual loyalties, to all of us ‘Abdu’l-Baha brings, and has
brought, a message of Unity, of sympathy and of Peace. He bids us all be
real and true in what we profess to believe; and to treasure above
everything the Spirit behind the form. With him we bow before the
Hidden Name, before that which is of every life the Inner Life! He bids
us worship in fearless loyalty to our own faith, but with ever stronger
yearning after Union, Brotherhood, and Love; so turning ourselves in
Spirit, and with our whole heart, that we may enter more into the mind

of God, which is above class, above race, and beyond time.[5

After a sequence of talks, each building on the theme of unity, ‘Abdu’l-Baha
stood to give His farewell address, taking His audience to a new vision of a
united world:

As the East and the West are illumined by one sun, so all races, nations,
and creeds shall be seen as the servants of the One God. The whole earth
is one home, and all peoples, did they but know it, are bathed in the
oneness of God’s mercy. God created all. He gives sustenance to all. He
guides and trains all under the shadow of his bounty. We must follow the
example God Himself gives us, and do away with all disputations and
quarrels.

Praise be to God! the signs of friendship are appearing, and as a proof
of this I, today, coming from the East, have met in this London of the
West with extreme kindness, regard and love, and I am deeply thankful
and happy. I shall never forget this time I am spending with you . . .

I leave you with prayer that all the beauty of the Kingdom may be

yours. In deep regret at our separation, I bid you good-bye.[58

The morning before He left London ‘Abdu’l-Baha answered an invitation



from the Lord Mayor, Sir Thomas Strong, to visit him. Sir Thomas was a
self-made businessman who dealt in paper, and an advocate of temperance —
a teetotaller. ‘Abdu’l-Baha duly went to the Mansion House and told Lady
Blomfield He was greatly pleased with the interview, which covered many
subjects including the efforts being made to improve social conditions,
prisons and prisoners — a cause close to Lady Blomfield’s heart.

‘When the Lord Mayor told Him how people were working to improve the
treatment of these poor creatures in prison,’ she wrote, ‘and to secure help for
them when they were released, the Master said:

‘It is well with a country when the magistrates are as fathers to the
people.

‘There is a great spiritual light in London, and the ideal of justice is
strong in the hearts of the people.

‘I am always pleased to remember an instance of this sense of justice,
which so amazed the Eastern people of the place.

‘A certain Pasha, having most unjustly and cruelly beaten one of his
servants, was arrested and brought before that just man who represented
Britain. To the intense surprise of the Pasha, he himself was sentenced to
a term of imprisonment, and told that he richly deserved the punishment.
He could not think it possible that so great a person as himself could be
sent to prison, and offered a large bribe for his release. This was sternly
refused. A much larger sum was offered with the same result, and the
unjust lord was compelled to accept the punishment awarded him for his
cruelty to his servant.

“The news of this incident, being noised abroad, did much to show
the Eastern people that British justice is in reality the same for the rich
and for the poor, and therefore worthy of all respect.’

The Lord Mayor remarked that he was delighted to hear so pleasing a
story of British administration in the East. ‘Sometimes, alas! there are
adverse criticisms,” he added.l:>¥

‘For us,” remembered Sitarih as the visit drew to an end, ‘every day was
filled with joyous interest and marvelling, where simple happenings became
spiritual events.’

One day we were invited to accompany the Master to East Sheen, where
a number of friends were gathered, invited by Mr. and Mrs. [John



Henry] Jenner [relatives of Ethel Rosenberg who later moved to
Tasmania]. Their three small children clambered on to His knee, clung
round His neck, and remained as quiet as wee mice whilst the Master
spoke, He meanwhile stroking the hair of the tiny ones and saying:

‘Blessed are the children, of whom His Holiness Christ said: “Of
such are the Kingdom of Heaven.” Children have no worldly ambitions.
Their hearts are pure. We must become like children, crowning our
heads with the crown of severance (from all material things of the earth);
purifying our hearts, that we may see God in His Great Manifestations,
and obey the laws brought to us by those, His Messengers.’

After we had enjoyed the hospitality of the parents of those sweet
children, the Master, always loving trees and pastures, went into
Richmond Park, where He watched a race on ponies between some boys
and a girl. When the latter won, He clapped His hands, crying out
‘Bravo! Bravo!’

On the way back the evening light was waning as we crossed the
Serpentine bridge. Rows of shining lamps beneath the trees, stretching as
far as our eyes could see into the distance, made that part of London into
a glowing fairyland.

‘I am very much pleased with this scene. Light is good, most good.
There was much darkness in the prison at ‘Akka,’ said the Master.

Our hearts were sad as we thought on those sombre years within that
dismal fortress, where the only light was in the indomitable spirit of the
Master Himself! When we said ‘We are glad, oh! so full of gladness that
you are free,” He said: ‘Freedom is not a matter of place, but of
condition. I was happy in that prison, for those days were passed in the
path of service.

“To me prison was freedom.

“Troubles are a rest to me.

‘Death is life.

“To be despised is honour.

‘Therefore was I full of happiness all through that prison time.

“When one is released from the prison of self, that is indeed freedom!
For self is the greatest prison.

‘“When this release takes place, one can never be imprisoned. Unless
one accepts dire vicissitudes, not with dull resignation, but with radiant



acquiescence, one cannot attain this freedom.’1%%

The extraordinary first episode in ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s travels to Britain was
drawing to a close. Looking back, Mary Blomfield recalled how careful her
mother was to insist that the humble and diffident were admitted to the
Master’s presence as well as the great and important.

‘How wise she was in this’, wrote Mary, ‘is evident in the fact that many
of the humble remained faithful to the Cause, while, with a few exceptions,
the great were so impressed by their own importance, that they came to air
their own views and went away, missing the significance of the divine
Messenger they had come to see.’1%

One person who regretted being unable to find time to meet with the Master
during His first sojourn in London was Professor Edward Granville Browne.
They had first met at the Mansion of Bahji some two decades earlier when
Browne was privileged to attain the presence of Baha’u’llah. Knowing of
their long acquaintanceship, Lady Blomfield took the trouble to invite
Professor Browne to a supper on the eve of the Master’s departure from
British shores. On Sunday 1 October, Browne wrote to Lady Blomfield
saying he would very much have liked to have joined them but was not able
to since he had a prior engagement in Cambridge which could not be
cancelled.

‘I am very sorry indeed that ‘Abdu’l-Baha is leaving on Tuesday morning
early,” wrote Browne, ‘so that I shall just miss him. If by any chance he

should delay his departure, I should be so grateful if you would let me know .
[162]

‘The last morning came,’ wrote Lady Blomfield. “The secretaries and several
friends were ready to start for the train.’

‘Abdu’l-Baha sat calmly writing. We reminded Him that the hour to
leave for the train was at hand. He looked up, saying: ‘There are things
of more importance than trains,” and He continued to write.

Suddenly in breathless haste a man came in, carrying in his hand a
beautiful garland of fragrant white flowers. Bowing low before the
Master, he said:

‘In the name of the disciples of Zoroaster, The Pure One, I hail Thee
as the “Promised Shah Bahram”!’



Then the man, for a sign, garlanded ‘Abdu’l-Bahd, and proceeded to
anoint each and all of the amazed friends who were present with
precious oil, which had the odour of fresh roses.

This brief but impressive ceremony concluded, ‘Abdu’l-Bah4, having
carefully divested Himself of the garland, departed for the train. 16!

Almost one full month had passed since ‘Abdu’l-Baha first landed in Great
Britain. On 3 October 1911 He and His entourage boarded a train at London’s
Victoria station bound for the coast and an English Channel crossing to
France. The final glimpse that His friends had of Him was seeing His tender
face, gazing out of the train window with a look of wonderful benevolence
towards those He was leaving behind.

‘O daughter of the Kingdom!” wrote ‘Abdu’l-Baha to the newly-named
Sitarih Khanum on His arrival in the French capital.

Praise be to God, we reached Paris safely and in a state of utmost
happiness and contentment with thee. The services thou didst render and
the troubles thou didst endure during our stay in London were indeed
considerable and worthy of praise. Nor shall I ever forget them. I cherish
the hope that, through divine bestowals, thy family may be blessed with
everlasting honour, and that thy home may ever remain the gathering
place of the sons and daughters of the Kingdom. May thou receive at
every moment a heavenly confirmation, arise with sacrificial devotion in
the path of Baha’u’llah, guide the souls to the kingdom of glory, and,
through the aid of the Holy Spirit, speak with an eloquent tongue and
shine as a brilliant candle.
Upon thee be the Glory of the Most Glorious.
[Signed] ‘Ayn ‘Aynl&

In a postscript the Master added, ‘According to thy promise, I anticipate thine
arrival.”1&l

Within days, Lady Blomfield, her daughters and Beatrice Platt left London
for a nine-week stay in Paris, a remarkable sojourn that inspired them to
make a significant contribution to the burgeoning literature of the Baha’i
Movement.



CHAPTER FIVE: THE DIADEM OF THE MOST GREAT
GUIDANCE

.. . this Lady Blomfield is dearer to me than all the queens of the world.
[166]

‘Abdu’l-Baha

France at the time of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s first visit to the city was embroiled in a
diplomatic crisis with Germany which almost brought the two nations to war
with each other. For many years the aim of French foreign policy had been
revanche — return match — with the aim of recapturing the provinces of
Alsace and Lorraine that had been taken by Germany in 1871. The two
decades from 1890 until ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s arrival saw France building alliances
so that it could take on Germany. France was also eager to maintain her
influence in Morocco. To resolve the crisis of 1911, France met Germany’s
demands for a part of the French Congo in exchange for recognizing France’s
control over Morocco. As a result, there was intense public indignation and
hostility towards Germany brewing among the French. Against this backdrop
of national tension, ‘Abdu’l-Baha arrived in Paris to proclaim His message of
brotherhood and unity.

“The city of Paris is very beautiful,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha told His followers on
the evening of Friday 20 October 1911.

. a more civilized and well-appointed town in all material
development it would be impossible to find in the present world. But the
spiritual light has not shone upon her for a long time: her spiritual
progress is far behind that of her material civilization. A supreme power
is needed to awaken her to the reality of spiritual truth, to breathe the
breath of life into her dormant soul.’1%Z

It was ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s mission to summon His followers to reanimate the
peoples of Paris.

He took up residence at 4 Avenue de Camoens in the Quai de Passy, an
apartment found for him by Hippolyte and Laura Dreyfus-Barney, whom



Lady Blomfield particularly loved. ‘It was charmingly furnished, sunny,
spacious,’ recalled Sitarih. A flight of steps from the Avenue led directly into
the Trocadéro Gardens where the Master could often be seen walking and
quietly admiring the view, across the park and over the Seine towards the
Eiffel Tower that dominated every vista. ‘Sheltered in this modern,
comfortable, Paris flat, He Whom we revered, with a secretary, servitors, and
a few close friends, sojourned for an unforgettable nine weeks,”2% Sitarih
reminisced.

The Master’s stay in the French capital saw Him once again expounding
the fundamental teachings of His father’s Cause. Whether He was addressing
the friends in His private rooms, meeting with large groups of spiritual
seekers or simply strolling in the Trocadéro Gardens, ‘Abdu’l-Baha managed
to entrance most of the people who came into contact with Him.

“The French people would gaze at Him in awe,” wrote Mary Blomfield,
‘and one day I saw a young man with more than ordinary perception, cross
himself instinctively. He had recognized one of the Great Ones of God.”1%

Freed from the responsibilities of being the Master’s hostess, Lady Blomfield
seems to have relished all the more the act of observing His interactions with
people:

Who is this, with a branch of roses in His hand, coming down the steps?
A picturesque group of friends (some Persians, wearing the kuldh, and a
few Europeans), who are following Him, see little children coming up to
Him. They hold on to His ‘abd (cloak), confiding and fearless. He gives
the roses to them, caressingly lifting one after another in His arms,
smiling the while that glorious smile which wins all hearts.

Again, we saw a cabman stop his fiacre, take off his cap and hold it in
his hand, gazing amazed, with an air of reverence, whilst the majestic
figure, courteously acknowledging his salutation, passed by with that
walk which a friend had described as ‘that of a king or of a shepherd’.

Another scene. A very poor quarter in Paris — Sunday morning —
groups of men and women inclined to be rowdy. Foremost amongst
them a big man brandishing a long loaf of bread in his hand, shouting,
gesticulating, dancing.

Into this throng walked ‘Abdu’l-Baha, on His way from a mission
hall, where He had been addressing a very poor congregation at the



invitation of their pastor. The boisterous man with the loaf, suddenly
seeing Him, stood still. He then proceeded to lay about him lustily with
his staff of life, crying ‘Make way, make way! He is my Father, make
way!” The Master passed through the midst of the crowd, now become
silent and respectfully saluting Him. ‘Thank you, my dear friends, thank
you,” He said, smiling round upon them. The poor were always His
especially beloved friends. He was never happier than when surrounded
by them, the lowly of heart.l.2

Lady Blomfield was always delighted to notice the effect the presence of
‘Abdu’l-Baha had upon children. One little girl was heard to whisper, ‘Look,
that is Jesus when He was old.’

‘Perhaps their unstained nature sensed the breath of holiness which was
always with Him,” Sitarih mused, ‘and caused these little ones to liken Him
to the most Holy One of Whom they were conscious.” 22,

As it had been in London, ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s daily routine revolved around
meetings with individuals and groups of visitors. To each He gave a special
lesson or insight to assist them in their lives. Among the multitudes of guests
Sitarih noted

all nationalities and creeds, from the East and from the West, including
Theosophists, agnostics, materialists, spiritualists, Christian Scientists,
social reformers, Hindus, Sufis, Muslims, Buddhists, Zoroastrians, and
many others. Often came workers in various humanitarian societies, who
were striving to reduce the miseries of the poor. These received special

sympathy and blessing..22

‘Abdu’l-Baha gave His addresses in Persian, which Hippolyte Dreyfus-
Barney translated into French and Laura into English. Lady Blomfield, her
two daughters and Beatrice Platt took copious notes of the talks each day.
“The words of ‘Abdu’l-Baha can be put on to paper,” wrote Lady Blomfield,
‘but how to describe the smile, the earnest pleading, the loving-kindness, the
radiant vitality, and at times the awe-inspiring authority of His spoken
words?’

The vibrations of His voice seemed to enfold the listeners in an
atmosphere of the Spirit, and to penetrate to the very core of being. We
were experiencing the transforming radiance of the Sun of Truth;



henceforth, material aims and unworthy ambitions shrank away into
their trivial, obscure retreats.

‘Abdu’l-Bahda would often answer our questions before we asked
them.12!

Ever sensitive to religious intolerance, Lady Blomfield particularly noted the
visit of a group of bigoted churchmen who proceeded to bitterly condemn
anyone who did not accept their view of religion. “The new revelation was
too great for their narrowed souls and fettered minds,” she observed.

The heart of ‘Abdu’l-Baha was saddened by this interview, which had
tired Him exceedingly. When He referred to this visit there was a look in
His eyes as if loving pity were blended with profound disapproval, as
though He would cleanse the defiled temple of Humanity from the
suffocating diseases of the soul. Then He uttered these words in a voice
of awe-inspiring authority:

‘Jesus Christ is the Lord of Compassion, and these men call
themselves by His Name! Jesus is ashamed of them!’

He shivered as with cold, drawing His ‘aba closely about Him, with a
gesture as if sternly repudiating their misguided outlook.124!

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s sadness at the condition of humanity was becoming
increasingly apparent in the words of warning He addressed to His Paris
audiences. Events taking place in the world were evidently causing Him great
distress. Italy was at war with Ottoman Turkey over Libya.

“The news of the Battle of Benghazi grieves my heart,” mourned ‘Abdu’l-
Baha. ‘I wonder at the human savagery that still exists in the world! How is it
possible for men to fight from morning until evening, killing each other,
shedding the blood of their fellow-men: And for what object? To gain
possession of a part of the earth!”Z2) He charged His listeners to concentrate
all their thoughts on love and unity: ‘When a thought of war comes, oppose it
by a stronger thought of peace.’17%

Even though the pernicious influence of the covenant-breakers was not
widespread in the West and ‘Abdu’l-Baha had clearly established His
ascendancy over His faithless family members, certain individuals emerged
during His western visits who tried to cause trouble and undermine His
authority. One person in particular began to whisper slanderous lies about the



Master and came daily to distort the teachings amongst the pilgrims.
According to her daughter Mary, Sitarih dreaded this woman’s appearance.
One morning Lady Blomfield withdrew into a quiet room and repeated the
prayer of the Bab known as the Remover of Difficulties. The individual did
not appear that day nor did she ever come again.

Lady Blomfield spoke to the Master about those, even among His own
entourage, who tried to damage His reputation. One day, she received a
disquieting letter from someone whose sincerity she did not doubt. The letter
asked her to warn the Master not to visit a certain country in the near future
as it might be dangerous for Him. She rushed to inform ‘Abdu’l-Baha of her
concerns.

“To my amazement,” she wrote, ‘He smiled and said impressively: “My
daughter, have you not yet realized that never, in my life, have I been for one
day out of danger, and that I should rejoice to leave this world and go to my
Father?”

‘Oh, Master! We do not wish that you should go from us in that
manner.’ I was overcome with sorrow and terror.

‘Be not troubled,’ said ‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘These enemies have no power
over my life, but that which is given them from on High. If my Beloved
God so willed that my life-blood should be sacrificed in His path, it
would be a glorious day, devoutly wished for by me.’

Therefore the friends surrounding the much-loved Master were
comforted, and their faith so strengthened, that when a sinister-looking
man came up to a group who were walking in the gardens and
threateningly said: ‘Are you not yet sufficiently warned? Not only is
there danger for ‘Abdu’l-Baha, but also for you who are with Him,’ the
friends were unperturbed, one of them replying calmly: ‘The Power that
protects the Master protects also His other servants. Therefore we have
no fear.”Z

Two days before the end of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s visit a woman rushed into the
gathering at His apartment. Lady Blomfield recounts her words:

Oh, how glad I am to be in time! I must tell you the amazing reason of
my hurried journey from America. One day, my little girl astonished me
by saying: ‘Mummy, if dear Lord Jesus was in the world now, what
would you do?’ ‘Darling baby, I would feel like getting on to the first



train and going to Him as fast as I could.” ‘Well, Mummy, He is in the
world.” T felt a sudden great awe come over me as my tiny one spoke.
‘What do you mean, my precious? How do you know?’ I said. ‘He told
me Himself, so [of] course He is in the world.” Full of wonder, I thought:
Is this a sacred message which is being given to me out of the mouth of
my babe? And I prayed that it might be made clear to me.

The next day she said, insistently and as though she could not
understand: ‘Mummy, darlin’, why isn’t you gone to see Lord Jesus?
He’s told me two times that He is really here, in the world.” ‘Tiny love,
Mummy doesn’t know where He is, how could she find Him?’ “We see,
Mummy, we see.’

I was naturally perturbed. The same afternoon, being out for a walk
with my child, she suddenly stood still and cried out, “There He is! There
He is!” She was trembling with excitement and pointing at the windows
of a magazine store where there was a picture of ‘Abdu’l-Baha. I bought
the paper, found this address, caught a boat that same night, and here I
arn.’ 178

Another interested caller that Sitarih was able to introduce to ‘Abdu’l-Baha
while in Paris was an English-born friend of hers, now an Italian princess.
She was the daughter of a bishop and had been brought up in an ecclesiastical
circle. On reading the Bible by herself, she told Lady Blomfield, that she
used to feel a glow of spiritual life, but when she listened to church services,
she said she felt quite cold and uninspired. Her husband was a sceptic in
religious matters and in his home she felt that she seemed to be in utter
darkness, so much so that she felt at times as if she could not bear it. Meeting
‘Abdu’l-Baha, she said, had been the happiest day in all her life. In His
presence she felt the same sort of glow that she used to feel in reading the
Bible, only far more powerful. She said she had felt the hunger of her soul
satisfied as never before. 12!

During the days in Paris, ‘Abdu’l-Baha took the opportunity to outline for the
first time His plans for the administrative development of the Baha’i
community in Britain. The Master spoke with Lady Blomfield about His
hope that a small committee be established in London which would be
responsible for the collection of funds and the publication of the transcripts
taken of His talks in England. ‘Abdu’l-Baha personally requested that the



committee be made up of Ethel Rosenberg, Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper, Mrs
Alexander Whyte of Edinburgh, Alice Buckton, Lady Blomfield, Tudor Pole
and the Blomfields’ neighbour Gabrielle Enthoven. Lady Blomfield passed
on this guidance in correspondence to Ethel Rosenberg who, when she
arrived in Paris, questioned ‘Abdu’l-Baha further on practical arrangements.
His first response to her thanks for the guidance was to pay high compliment
to Lady Blomfield, saying that He found her entirely sincere and pure-
hearted. He urged Ethel Rosenberg to value Lady Blomfield’s friendship.

‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke at considerable length with Rosenberg about the
procedures He wished the committee to follow in regard to general expenses,
funds and collections. He said, first of all, that they had to make it very
clearly understood that all offerings were to be entirely voluntary. There was
to be no obligation in this matter and if a believer felt unable to afford to
contribute then giving nothing was acceptable. Those who wished to give,
however, should choose a sum within their means and contribute this
regularly. He told Rosenberg that it would be a good plan to have the amount
decided upon paid into the fund each month and entered into a book so at the
end of a year the amounts could be balanced. Thus the committee would
know how much it had at its disposal after general expenditure. Rosenberg
noted that ‘Abdu’l-Baha was very interested in all the details of the fund and
spoke very fully and enthusiastically about it. He told her the meetings in
London would grow in numbers and would improve in every way. He
particularly wished that the Baha’is whom He had named should consult
together and arrange matters as they thought wisest and best on the general
basis He had suggested.

‘How are the believers in London?’ ‘Abdu’l-Baha asked in a message sent
from Paris, ‘Are they happy? Are they spreading the call of the Kingdom?
Are their tongues engaged in the commemoration of God? Are they full of
zeal? Do they comfort the unhappy? Do they raise the fallen? Are they kind
to all the people of the world? Do they serve the Cause of Universal Peace
and Goodwill amongst the nations? Do they sympathise with the unfortunate?
Are they the stars of the Heaven of Baha? Are they the waves of the most
great sea? Are they the illuminating path of the travellers? Are they the bright
torches of reality? . . .

‘The friends of God must become fully informed of the Teachings. It is



well to be thoroughly versed in the sciences and arts and literature, and one
must be established in the Kingdom of God on a like basis. The results of
physical science are limited. His holiness Christ said, “Leave thy nets. Come
and I will make thee fishers of men.”

“The results of the Divine sciences, the guidance of God, the spiritual arts,
are unlimited, and train the real man. My spirit communicates with you. It
annihilates time and space. God willing, the confirmation of the Supreme
Concourse shall descend upon you uninterruptedly.’2

As the historic meetings in Paris drew to a close, Sitarih noted that ‘we who
witnessed them seemed to be in a higher dimension, where [there] were
natural indications of the presence of the Light which in all men is latent and
in ‘Abdu’l-Baha transcendent.’

The constant awareness of an exhilaration, which carried us out of our
everyday selves, and gave us the sense of being ‘one with the Life Pulse,
which beats through the Universe’ is an experience to be treasured rather
than an emotion to be described.18!

In His farewell talk to the friends gathered at 15 rue Greuze on 1 December,
‘Abdu’l-Baha noted that receptivity had increased during His sojourn in the
city.

‘When I arrived in Paris some time ago for the first time,” He told His
followers, ‘I looked around me with much interest, and in my mind I likened
this beautiful city to a large garden.’

With loving care and much thought I examined the soil, and found it to
be very good and full of possibility for steadfast faith and firm belief, for
a seed of God’s love has been cast into the ground . . .

Since my arrival a few weeks ago, I can see the growth of spirituality.
At the beginning only a few souls came to me for Light, but during my
short sojourn among you the numbers have increased and doubled. This
is a promise for the future!182!

Nevertheless, in a talk later given in New York on 15 April 1912, ‘Abdu’l-
Baha was once again mourning the materialism of Paris.

‘Paris is most beautiful in outward appearance,” He told visitors to the
home of Mountfort Mills.

The evidences of material civilization there are very great, but the



spiritual civilization is far behind. I found the people of that city
submerged and drowning in a sea of materialism. Their conversations
and discussions were limited to natural and physical phenomena, without
mention of God. I was greatly astonished. Most of the scholars,
professors and learned men proved to be materialists. I said to them, ‘I
am surprised and astonished that men of such perceptive caliber and
evident knowledge should still be captives of nature, not recognizing the
self-evident Reality.’18

5

‘Now I say “Goodbye”,” were ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s farewell words to His
followers in Paris. ‘This I say only to your outer selves; I do not say it to your
souls, for our souls are always together.’ 1%

Bereft at the thought of a prolonged separation from Him, Lady Blomfield
had already conversed with the Master about the possibility of her visiting
Him in Egypt within a few months of His departure from Paris, followed by a
pilgrimage that she had long desired to the Shrines of the Bab and
Baha’u’llah.

As ‘Abdu’l-Baha departed Europe to winter in Alexandria, Sitarih
intended to head for Switzerland with her daughters and their former
governess, Beatrice Platt — ‘Patsy’ — with an important task in hand. The
Master had encouraged them to arrange for the publication of His talks in
Paris. Yet, despite her intention to get swiftly to work, ‘Abdu’l-Baha had
other plans for Lady Blomfield.

In the southern German city of Stuttgart, a series of misunderstandings
amongst the Baha’is was having unfortunate repercussions. Germany had
been opened to the Baha’i Faith when the American dentist Dr Edwin Karl
Fischer moved to Stuttgart in 1905. However, more significant for the long-
term development of the community was the arrival two years later of Alma
Knobloch, of German-American parentage, who had built on the small
nucleus of believers that Dr Fischer had confirmed and raised the largest
Baha’i community in Europe by the end of the first decade of the 20th
century. Knobloch travelled extensively throughout Germany and later
helped establish the Faith in Austria and Switzerland.

The disunity in Stuttgart emerged from some of the conflicting ideas held
by those Baha’is who had previously been schooled in Theosophy or
Christian Science, as well as relying upon their own spiritual or mystical



interpretations of the New Testament. Others were convinced they had
received spiritual messages through automatic writing and psychic
phenomena. Furthermore, the enthusiastic method that Dr Fischer used to
promote the Baha’i teachings was causing agitation to some of his fellow
believers. Unfortunately, the disagreements had given rise to two groups, and
some enquirers, attracted to the beauty of the teachings but confronted with
signs of disunity, refused to investigate further and were never seen again. To
help restore unity, ‘Abdu’l-Baha had penned a specific message to His
followers in Stuttgart. Lady Blomfield was tasked with delivering it, in
person.

On the evening of Saturday 2 December 1911 she arrived in Stuttgart,
along with her German translator Mrs Earle, Mirza Asadu’llah and Mirza
Ahmad Sohrab. They were met at the station by Miss Knobloch and Dr
Fischer, along with other Baha’is — Messrs Eckstein and Braun, and Mr and
Mrs Wilhelm Herrigel — all of whom extended a very warm welcome to their
visitors. Lady Blomfield and Mrs Earle went to stay with the Herrigels while
the Ecksteins entertained the Persians.

At 11 o’clock the following morning, Lady Blomfield invited Alma
Knobloch to meet her in private. This friend, who had herself suggested — and
then been encouraged by ‘Abdu’l-Baha — to leave Stuttgart and begin
teaching work in Leipzig, was overwhelmed with anxiety about what the
Stuttgart believers might do were she to leave. ‘She seemed to think that
everything would be likely to go wrong in the way of erroneous teaching,’
Lady Blomfield later reported to ‘Abdu’l-Baha.82) During a frank discussion,
Sitarih encouraged Miss Knobloch to inform the believers that same
afternoon that she would now go and begin anew in Leipzig. This course of
action, she assured her, had the Master’s blessing.

At luncheon the German friends were thrilled to hear of the Master’s
achievements in London and Paris. Lady Blomfield made no mention of any
knowledge of the challenges being faced by the Stuttgart community,
thinking it wiser to offer the teachings of ‘Abdu’l-Baha from a wider,
impersonal standpoint which, she hoped, ‘from its very grandeur, would
cause all personal likes and dislikes to melt away, as too trivial to obtrude
themselves’ 118

Their meal over, the Herrigels and Dr Fischer shared with Lady Blomfield
details of what had happened to cause the unfortunate split in the community.



Some of them told her about the psychic messages they claimed to have
received. With her long experience and knowledge of esoteric matters, Lady
Blomfield later reported that she felt there was some authenticity in the
guidance that somehow had been channelled to the Stuttgart believers.

“Through these Counsels, several devout seekers after Truth have been led
into the Kingdom of Baha, and there confirmed and established,” she wrote to
‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘Through these messages also, some of these souls have been
led to work with all their might in the Cause of Unity and have translated into
German much of the Baha’i literature.” =2z

Lady Blomfield was impressed that these devoted believers had been
responsible for much of the teaching of the Faith in Stuttgart. However, she
learned that Dr Fischer had perhaps been ‘more enthusiastic than wise’128 in
his attempts to teach his patients as they reclined in his dentist’s chair.

‘For instance, officers of the Army would surely need the introduction of
the Cause of Peace to be presented to them gradually!” she reported. ‘But,
when given to them in a Dentist’s chair, with the mouth gagged, probably in
pain, and certainly not in the best of tempers — they, unable to reply at the
moment, became furious in their antagonism to Dr Fisher and the Teaching
he advocated!" 18

Dr Fischer also spoke of some of the psychic messages he felt he had been
receiving and how some of the friends were accusing him and others of
spiritualism and anything else that occurred to them as a possible explanation
of things that had transpired.

‘However, I understood,” Lady Blomfield told the Master, ‘how these
mischievous reports were spread abroad with an opposing force, born of lack
of knowledge rather than of desire to persecute!”1%%

Dr Fischer had lost many of his patients as a result of the reports against
him being circulated.

‘He, persecuted, suspected and misunderstood is now reduced to a
miserable state,” reported Lady Blomfield. ‘His money gone, his heart sore,
his health broken down by a sense of failure and unmerited suffering; the
only prospect before him that of absolute starvation! Most pathetic!!’13U

Lady Blomfield appealed to ‘Abdu’l-Baha to consider giving Dr Fischer a
fresh start in London or elsewhere. She sought advice on whether she could
raise some £50 or £60 among the believers to assist him. She contributed 100



francs herself to a subscription list in the hope that it could help Dr Fischer
leave Stuttgart and start anew.

On the Sunday afternoon Lady Blomfield addressed a large gathering of
enthusiastic believers at the Biirger Museum. She noted the presence of Miss
Knobloch who was at the meeting with some of her circle of friends, as well
as several who had refrained from joining either group. All exchanged
friendly greetings as if no discord had ever marred the community. Then,
after a hearty welcome, Lady Blomfield rose to deliver the stirring message
from ‘Abdu’l-Baha:

Rejoice! Rejoice! Because of the Glad-tidings! You have attained to the
light of the Kingdom. The glory of the Sun of Truth penetrates all
regions.

Rejoice! Rejoice! Glad-tidings I send unto you. The doors of the
Kingdom are open. The heavenly manna has descended upon you.

Rejoice! Rejoice! There were many holy messengers sent into the
world; they came one after another, and all diffused the breath of the
Holy Spirt.

Praise God! Praise God! That you have turned your faces toward the
Kingdom. The rays of the sun of truth are illuminating you.

Strive with heart and soul that the Heavenly Light may descend upon
all people and that through it every heart may be enlightened and that the
spirit of the human race may partake of Its glory. Work and strive until
all regions of the world are bathed in this Light. Fear not when trouble
overtakes you. You will be criticized; you will be persecuted; you will
be cursed and reviled. Recall in those days what I tell you now: Your
triumph will be sure; your hearts will be filled with the Glory of God, for
the heavenly power will sustain you, and God will be with you. This is
my message to you.1%!

All present were moved and stirred by the Master’s message. At the end of
the meeting Lady Blomfield stood at the door and gave a warm handshake on
behalf of ‘Abdu’l-Baha to each of those attending as they left the room.
‘Many of the people had tears in their eyes and asked that their love and
gratitude, and heartfelt thanks might be conveyed to the Master, with their
strong faith and hope that it was really a precursor of a touch of His own

beloved Hand, when He should come in person to gladden their eyes!!’1%!



As the children were brought, Lady Blomfield took them in her arms and
kissed each one of them from the Master. Their mothers conveyed special
greetings to be sent to ‘Abdu’l-Baha. One little boy of about two and a half
years old named Wolfgang Sturm, whose mother had passed away, clung
tightly to Lady Blomfield’s neck and kissed her again and again, as if he
understood from whom the embrace had been sent.

‘How near some little ones are to the Kingdom!” Lady Blomfield
observed.124

That evening, Lady Blomfield delivered the Master’s message again, this
time to a unity gathering where she felt it had an even greater effect than in
the afternoon.

‘Something was felt by several at this Assembly of a Grand Spirit of
Harmony! Some great signs were seen! They were growing nearer to an
understanding! A beautiful Peace seemed to brood over the friends!” she
reported.1%!

She also delighted in being able to hold a three month old baby called
Noor, who stayed in her arms during the tea, looked up and smiled, perhaps
also understanding — Lady Blomfield thought — that progress was being
made.

The following evening, Monday 4 December, another meeting was held
which also had a big impact on the Stuttgart believers.

‘The flowers on the tables were not more sweet and gentle than the dear
people, who between the speeches, drank tea, ate cakes, listened to the
singing of Baha’i songs, and conversed in the utmost kindness with each
other.’1%¢

Mr Herrigel called a meeting of his friends the next night. Lady
Blomfield’s reading of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s message was again met with great
enthusiasm. The audience rose to its feet at the message’s end and cried out,
‘Allah-u-Abha’.

After reading the letter, Lady Blomfield delivered several talks of the
Master from her notes. When she no longer had another one left to share, the
gathering requested she speak more which she did, telling ‘Abdu’l-Baha
later, ‘I spoke of Unity, how that all societies who worked for the uplifting of
Humanity were blessed by the Master, and that all found a place in the
service of the Baha’i Cause. I went on to the effect that adverse criticism on
the methods of other Baha’i brothers, even if we did not understand them,



was surely not good! That there are many different ways of serving the
Cause! Many gardeners could find work in the garden of the Kingdom! That
souls in differing stages of development did not all need the same kind of
food! About that there could be no hard and fast rule! Various groups must be
permitted to study in their own way — the way that most helps them! Whether
Theosophy! Christian Science, Mysticism or Spiritual Interpretation of Holy
Scriptures, or all of these subjects! No disapproval should be expressed by
those who do not agree, neither understand! Nothing! Nothing!! must be
allowed to break down the bond of “unity” amongst the Bahai brothers! We
tarnish the Cause in the eyes of the world when we show that we are not
careful to live the “Unity” we teach! (and much more to the same effect),” she
reported to the Master..27

In her remarks Lady Blomfield urged the Stuttgart Baha’is to spread the
bond of unity not only in their city but throughout all of Europe, which would
catch ablaze from its divine flame. ‘Abdu’l-Baha would only come to visit
them when the unity was strong in Stuttgart, she told them.

One afternoon Lady Blomfield and Mrs Earle joined Alma Knobloch on
an excursion out to Esslingen to visit relatives of the Herrigels who had been
estranged from the community for some time. A delightful afternoon was
spent at which Lady Blomfield told the story of Tahirih to her hosts,
conveying the Persian poetess’s courage, firmness and love for women’s
rights.

“The dear tender-hearted German people, man and woman, with tears in
their eyes, pondering on her sufferings for the Cause, seemed to be gathering
to themselves an echo of her spirit, her strength!” she reported. ‘There was
no sign of dis-union! But a beautiful atmosphere of friendship seemed to
encircle all!’1%!

Lady Blomfield believed that the battle was over, that the lesson of unity
had been learned in Stuttgart. She praised the spirit and devotion of the

Herrigels, ‘the most saint-like people it has ever been my privilege to meet’.
[199]

On 7 December 1911 Lady Blomfield returned to Switzerland to be
reunited with her daughters.

‘I returned late on Thursday night and met the girls here,” she wrote to
‘Abdu’l-Baha the following Monday. ‘I have prepared a report of the Battle

for the King, at whose command I went forth!’2%



‘The Master speaks of having given trouble when staying at our house!’
she added, referring to a letter He had sent her. ‘In reality we were so grateful
to be permitted the privilege of ministering to Him for that short space of His
daily life — making those arrangements was a true joy! I shall never cease to
praise God that to my humble home came that delight! How could it be
otherwise when God’s Messenger deigned to honour my roof by staying
under it whilst He gave His Holy Message to my dearly loved country? In
this I shall remain grateful to the end of my earth life and after, in the
Heavenly Kingdom, the thankful memory will continue with me.”2%

‘Abdu’l-Baha had previously teased Lady Blomfield, saying that she
wrote few letters to Him.

‘If such long letters were to arrive often He would be so tired of them that

He would surely be glad that they should come seldom!’ she joked in return.
[202]

‘O thou who art attracted to the Kingdom of God!’ replied ‘Abdu’l-Baha.
‘During the days I spent in thy home I was the recipient of thine utmost
kindness. I shall never forget it, and I cherish the hope that, through the grace
of Baha’u’llah, thou shalt be so enkindled in London with the heat of the love
of God as to set aflame all who meet thee.”2%

‘O thou candle of the Love of God!” He wrote again on 4 January.

During my sojourn in London I witnessed thine utmost kindness and I
am most pleased with thee. Praise be to God that thou wert confirmed,
even as I had hoped, in thy service to the Kingdom of God during thy
journey to Stuttgart, and didst become the means of spreading the word
of God. In the assemblage of the friends thou didst shine forth as a bright
candle with the light of God’s love, and thou wert aided by the breaths of
the Holy Spirit. With the utmost courage, thou didst unloose thine
eloquent tongue and deliver a persuasive speech.

It behoveth thee to render a thousand thanks at every moment for the
bounty of being thus crowned with the diadem of the most great
guidance, and it befitteth thee to pride thyself above all the queens of the
world. For thousands of worldly queens shall come and go, leaving
behind neither name nor trace, neither sign nor fruit; but through the
light of God’s love thou wilt shine forth above the horizon of eternity
and thy remembrance will bring solace to the hearts of men and women



in ages and centuries to come 1224

Her mission to Stuttgart accomplished, Lady Blomfield, her daughters and
Beatrice Platt settled down to examine their transcriptions and notes of
‘Abdu’l-Bahéa’s talks in Paris with the goal of preparing them for publication.
Their base in Switzerland was the Hotel Belvedere, close to the holiday villa
‘Daro’s-Salam’ built by Hippolyte Dreyfus at Mont Pélerin, a mountain
village above Vevey with spectacular panoramic views over Lake Geneva.

In compiling the talks for publication, the four women said they tried to
maintain the quality of spontaneous simplicity that was ably given by the
Master’s French translators, the Dreyfus-Barneys. ‘. . . my two daughters, my
friend and I took notes,” wrote Lady Blomfield in the book’s Preface. ‘Many
friends asked us to publish these notes in English, but we hesitated. At length
when ‘Abdu’l-Baha Himself asked us to do so, we, of course, consented — in
spite of our feeling that our pen is “too weak for such high message”.”2%

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s lessons, collected in Talks by ‘Abdu’l-Bahd Given in
Paris — later retitled Paris Talks — range over a broad collection of spiritual
and social themes including, among numerous other subjects, the nature of
man and the soul, the Prophets of God and the establishment of world peace.
The second section, as conceived by Lady Blomfield and her daughters, is an
attempt to present the fundamental teachings of the Baha’i Faith as 11
principles, defined by them as: The Search after Truth; the Unity of Mankind;
Religion ought to be the Cause of Love and Affection; the Unity of Religion
and Science; Abolition of Prejudices; Equalization of Means of Existence;
Equality of Men before the Law; Universal Peace; Non-Interference of
Religion and Politics; Equality of Sex — Education of Women; and the Power
of the Holy Spirit.

Paris Talks is a presentation of deeply profound concepts conveyed with a
clarity and simplicity that has ensured that the book has remained a popular
and accessible exposition of the Baha’i teachings, reprinted many times since
the original 1912 edition. A third section was added to subsequent editions,
including an address given by the Master at the Friends’ Meeting House in
London in January 1913; His discourses on love, prayer and evil — also given
during His second visit to London; and a Tablet dated 28 August 1913
concerning the equality of men and women.

With regard to the preparation of the book, it was felt important to



expedite its publication so that it would be available when ‘Abdu’l-Baha next
left Egypt and embarked on His mission to the United States of America.

‘The presence of Abdu’l-Baha in Europe and His approaching visit to
America will be sufficient advertising for the book,” Mirza Ahmad Sohrab
wrote to Lady Blomfield, ‘and no publisher — no matter how important he is —
can give us more publicity than we already have.’!2%

‘If the addresses of Abdu’l-Baha in London are sufficient for a volume,
well and good,” wrote Sohrab. ‘If they are not, his Paris addresses could be
added to them and both put together in one volume.’2Z! In the event, Talks by
‘Abdu’l-Baha Given in Paris and ‘Abdu’l-Baha in London appeared as
separate publications, the latter edited by Eric Hammond.

‘My talks in Paris and London were recently corrected,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha
wrote to Lady Blomfield, having reviewed transcriptions of His talks.
‘“Whenever they are translated I will send thee a copy for publication and
distribution . . .’12%

‘Abdu’l-Baha was deeply touched by Lady Blomfield’s efforts to make
His talks in both London and Paris available to a wider audience. Speaking
on His return to London in December 1912, the Master said that He would
like to see all of the talks that He gave in the United States of America —
which at that point were uncollected — compiled into one or two volumes.

‘He called attention to how quickly the Paris and London addresses
delivered last year were printed; and this was done through one woman, Lady
Blomfield,” Mirza Ahmad Sohrab wrote to Star of the West.

‘... just now this Lady Blomfield is dearer to me than all the queens of
the world,” said ‘Abdu’l-Baha..2

Longing to see the Master again and willing to travel to Egypt should she
be granted permission to do so, Lady Blomfield wrote to Him on 12 January
1912 seeking His guidance.

‘As to thy coming to Egypt,” He replied, ‘it will bring happiness both to
thy heart and to ours.’

I suggested this to thee two months ago, that we proceed to Egypt
together, and that thou then makest a journey to Haifa. But upon arriving
in Egypt I found that the East was in a state of turmoil and agitation.
Secondly, in the months of January and February the sea is very stormy.
My sister, the Greatest Holy Leaf, is presently in quarantine on rough



seas, and it is not known when she will be released. Thirdly, I will not
remain in Egypt more than two months. I will probably leave at the end
of March, but will not proceed directly to Haifa. As it is my wish to meet
thee both in Egypt and in Haifa, it is better that thou shouldst come next
year at the end of November or the beginning of December, that thy
journey to Egypt may conclude with a visit to the sacred Dust. Thus it
will be made complete and bring about great joy and happiness.2%

With the wider diffusion of the Baha’i teachings always at the forefront of
her mind, Lady Blomfield asked the Master whether it was wise for her to
attend and address meetings of the Theosophists. He encouraged her to
continue, saying that the confirmations of the Holy Spirit would assist her.
But He warned her against arguing with the Theosophists over the question
of reincarnation, saying that, at this stage, ‘their ideas must be treated with
forbearance’.

“Return”’, He wrote, ‘is a reality, but reincarnation is not.

‘Abdu’l-Baha clearly recognized Lady Blomfield’s capacity to faithfully
present His father’s teachings to others, and in His wisdom saw that her
presence in Switzerland might be a key to attracting many souls to His Cause,
particularly those of the progressive internationalist thinkers gathering around
Geneva. On 12 February 1912 He encouraged her to help establish a Baha’i
centre on the shores of Lake Geneva. She should, He said, collaborate with a
Miss Gibbs whom He described as a ‘revered lady’.

‘She is highly capable and ready to acquire the teachings of Baha’u’llah,’
wrote ‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘She is endowed with great intelligence and hath the
capacity and potential to become wholly attached to the divine Kingdom.’'2%2

Geneva by the end of the 19th century had emerged as an international
city. In October 1863 it had hosted the conference of 16 nations which
adopted various resolutions — and an emblem, the red cross — to improve
assistance to the sick and wounded during wartime. Aspiring to see the Red
Cross principles become accepted into international law, the following year
saw a diplomatic meeting held in the city at the invitation of the Swiss
government. This assembly formulated the Geneva Convention for ‘The
Amelioration of the Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in
the Field’, signed by 12 states and later accepted by virtually all. A second
Geneva Convention addressing members of the armed forces at sea was first

’[211



adopted in 1906. In time, building upon this reputation as a centre for
reconciliation and arbitration, Geneva became the seat of the League of
Nations in 1920.

A first step was for Lady Blomfield and Miss Gibbs was to establish a
regular Wednesday night meeting in the historic town of Villeneuve, situated
where the Rhone river runs into Lake Geneva at the opposite end of the lake
from Geneva city. Villeneuve had become an attractive and popular
destination for countless visitors over the decades including the composer
Richard Wagner, the author Victor Hugo and the Nobel Prize winning
novelist Romain Rolland.

‘I first learned of Baha’ism at Geneva,” Rolland wrote six years later.

... It is above all a religious ethic, which does not conceive of religion
without putting it into practice, and which seeks to remain in accord with
science and reason, without cult or priests. The first duty is that each has
a profession: work is holy, it is divine benediction.

I have noticed an analogy with Christian Science. In my spirit, I
prefer Baha’ism. I find it more flexible and subtle. And it offers the
poetic imagination a rich feast. Its roots are sunk in the great
metaphysical dreams of the Orient. There are some luminous pages in
the discourses of St Jean d’Acre [i.e. Some Answered Questions] of
‘Abdu’l-Baha. Baha’u’llah, a prisoner, succeeded in writing and
answering some ‘tablets’ of an admirable and moral beauty, under the
name ‘the Oppressed One’ . . 1213

Rolland referred to the Baha’i Faith in his book La Vie de Tolstoi and later
quoted from Some Answered Questions in his novel Clerambault.

“Thou hast taken in hand a shining lamp and art dispelling and casting
away the darkness of waywardness from the hearts,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote to
Lady Blomfield. ‘In whatever city thou dost enter, be it Paris, London, or the
cities of Switzerland, turn to the Abha Beauty, seek confirmation from the
Holy Spirit, and then unloose thy tongue. Know thou of a certainty that
wondrous meanings will flow from thy lips! To whatever hostel thou art
invited, betake thyself, and attend whatever gathering where thou art
summoned. The Blessed Beauty is with thee; rest assured.’24

Anxious about the future of the Geneva meetings should she return for a
while to her home in London, Lady Blomfield was reassured by the Master



that ‘undoubtedly the maid-servant of God Miss Gibbs will continue; indeed
she is most kind and hospitable. I hope that through the bounteous favours of
the Blessed Beauty she may burn as a bright candle in the Kingdom of God
and shine as a brilliant star in the realm of glory.’23!

In the meantime, as Lady Blomfield continued to render service at the
request of the Master in Switzerland, He was preparing for His gruelling
eight-month journey across North America.

‘I had been waiting to answer your letter,” Lady Blomfield wrote from
Mont Pelerin on 10 March to Mirza Ahmad Sohrab, who would serve as the
Master’s interpreter throughout His next visit to the West, ‘expecting daily
that the “Paris Notes” were published and that I could send off a large
number of copies to you as my contribution to the work of “Preparation” for
‘Abdu’l-Bahéa’s visit; the money for which your Committee would have sold
them, to be used for the benefit of the Preparation Fund, thus as I thought and
intended, helping doubly in the “Work”.’218]

‘Now to my great surprise and grief, a letter has just come, telling me that
the “Paris Notes” sent off at the end of January, after being looked through,
and approved by Madame Dreyfus, are not yet published!! It is a terrible
blow!*21

Back in London, Ethel Rosenberg had been struggling valiantly to get the
book published but setbacks in collecting the funds had delayed progress.
Concerned that the book would not be ready for another three months, Lady
Blomfield sent a telegram to the printers instructing them to send the whole
packet of Talks by ‘Abdu’l-Bahd Given in Paris to the Baha’i Publishing
Society in Chicago so that they were there in time for the Master’s arrival, as
He had wished.

‘Lady Blomfield seems to be under the impression that her book will be
ready within a week!” an exasperated Ethel Rosenberg wrote to Ahmad
Sohrab. ‘I fear it cannot be ready for at least another 3 weeks — or maybe a
few days longer — but we are doing our very best to hurry matters
forward.’1218

On the other hand, preparations for ‘Abdu’l-Bahd in London were
progressing well.

‘We are hoping to sell this at 1/- [one shilling] per copy — and as Lady
Blomfield’s Talks of ‘Abdu’l-Bahd in Paris is quite twice as large — I fear that
cannot sell at less than 2/- per copy,” Rosenberg informed Sohrab. ‘We are



binding the Paris book in stiff paper to make it lighter weight for
transport.’2X

‘T only wish for the spread of the beautiful “Talks” and for nothing else,’
wrote Lady Blomfield. ‘Our names have not been mentioned in the matter,
only our initials for identification . . .22

‘In regard to the name of the compilers,” wrote Sohrab, ‘it is my
conviction that it should bear the full names of yourself, your daughters and
Miss Platt. Please write me on this matter directly because I feel that your full
name should appear on the title. It will give to the book an authority and a
personal touch which are lacking in anonymous compilations and works.”'22.

Lady Blomfield evidently won the argument. Talks by ‘Abdu’l-Bahd
Given in Paris went to press with only the initials of its compilers added to
the end of the Preface.

On 25 March 1912 ‘Abdu’l-Baha left Egyptian shores aboard the SS Cedric
and sailed for Italy on the first leg of His journey. With Him were His eldest
grandson Shoghi Effendi, His personal attendants Siyyid Asadu’lléh and Agé4
Khosrow, His secretary Mahmud, Mirza Munir, and His translator Dr Farid.
The American believers urged the Master to leave the Cedric in Italy and sent
funds for Him to travel by rail and boat to England there to join the maiden
voyage of the Titanic. Fortunately, ‘Abdu’l-Bahéa declined the offer, returning
the money for charity.

At Naples, Italian doctors who boarded the Cedric insisted that Shoghi
Effendi, Munir and Khosrow must disembark and return to Egypt, diagnosing
an eye infection that meant all three of them were unable to enter the United
States. Six western believers including Louisa Mathew of London, who had
also joined the Cedric at Naples, rallied behind the Master in trying to
persuade the Italian physicians to reconsider. But the doctors were adamant.
This painful episode at the very start of the journey greatly saddened the
Master.

Lady Blomfield had also hoped to make a trip to Naples to see ‘Abdu’l-
Baha but instead decided to donate what she would have spent on the journey
to the poor.

‘Thy decision not to travel to Italy was in full accord with my good
pleasure,” wrote the Master, ‘for it became the means of contribution to the
poor.’1222



Across the Atlantic there was mounting excitement at the Master’s
imminent arrival.

‘All kinds of preparations are being made — there is much interest
everywhere,” Mirza Ahmad Sohrab wrote to Lady Blomfield. ‘So many
invitations from churches, societies and clubs have been extended to Abdul-
Baha to address them that He will be kept fully busy for the next five or six
months addressing them, day and night.’!222

Sitarih’s thoughts at this time were also turning frequently to the friends she
had met in Stuttgart. Despite her best efforts, the believers were still
struggling to achieve unity.

‘I hope that egotism may be entirely dispelled, that the lights of divine
bestowals may shine forth as they should,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote to her. “‘Were
this odour not to be found in Stuttgart, that city would by now have become
wholly illumined. In brief, I pray that the hearts may attain such purity as to
harbour naught save the love and the knowledge of God.’224

Another source of anxiety that preoccupied Lady Blomfield’s mind was
the well-being of her sister, the actress Cecilia Gilmore, who lived in New
York. On 16 May, Cecilia brought a legal suit for separation and alimony
against her husband, the Broadway director William H. Gilmore. The couple
had already separated in 1907 with the agreement that ‘Billy’ would pay $60
a month to Cecilia and their then one year old daughter, Ruth. Gilmore,
however, returned to live in the family apartment in June 1911, but claimed
he was only a lodger in the house. By November 1912 the case had become
something of a public scandal generating a good deal of salacious press
coverage. Cecilia charged Gilmore with desertion and cruelty, claiming that
at the end of July 1911 he had declared he was tired of living with her and
wanted a divorce. When she refused, Gilmore threatened her with physical
violence. The following month Gilmore had told Cecilia that he had been
having a liaison with a ‘noted woman’. Cecilia told the court that she had
fainted for the first time in her life when Billy made his confession. She
argued that he broke the previous separation agreement when he returned to
live with her in June 1911. She claimed that Gilmore earned $75 a week and
had an annual income of almost $1000 from his grandmother’s trust fund.

Lady Blomfield shared some of her concern for her sister in
correspondence with ‘Abdu’l-Bahda who, anticipating His forthcoming



journey to New York, assured her, ‘I will surely meet thy sister in New York
and will console her.’22! By May the following year Cecilia had won her
case as well as an appeal that Gilmore had made against a previous decision,
thus requiring him to pay her $1200 a year. Gilmore died at the age of 49 in
1929 at his Madison Avenue home, from acute heart problems.

At 11:40 p.m. on 14 April 1912 the ship on which the American believers had
hoped ‘Abdu’l-Baha would cross the Atlantic — the Titanic — collided with an
iceberg four days into her maiden voyage. More than 1,500 passengers and
crew died, among them Lady Blomfield’s good friend from her days as a
young widow in Broadway, the painter Frank Millet. Millet’s death was also
a cause for sadness for another believer, Agnes Parsons, who raised Millet’s
fate with ‘Abdu’l-Baha a few days after the disaster.

“Where one has been devoted to his work in life — art, or whatever it may
be,” the Master replied, ‘it is regarded as worship and he is undoubtedly
surrounded by the mercy of God.’2%

The journalist and spiritualist W.T. Stead — with whom the Master had
conversed while in London - also perished in the Titanic. Presciently, in 1892
Stead had penned a novel, From the Old World to the New, which told the
story of a ship sinking after hitting an iceberg in the North Atlantic. In
Stead’s book a number of passengers were picked up by a passing ship, the
Majestic, captained by one E.J. Smith, whom Stead wrote into a number of
his stories. Two decades later, Smith was the captain of the Titanic and Stead
was among his ill-fated passengers.

Nine days after the sinking, ‘Abdu’l-Baha reflected upon the disaster.
‘Although such an event is indeed regrettable,” He told an audience gathered
in Washington pc, ‘we must realize that everything which happens is due to
some wisdom and that nothing happens without a reason.’

Therein is a mystery; but whatever the reason and mystery it was a very
sad occurrence, one which brought tears to many eyes and distress to
many souls. I was greatly affected by this disaster. Some of those who
were lost voyaged on the Cedric with us as far as Naples and afterward
sailed upon the other ship. When I think of them, I am very sad indeed.
But when I consider this calamity in another aspect, I am consoled by
the realization that the worlds of God are infinite; that though they were
deprived of this existence, they have other opportunities in the life



beyond. ..

‘Therefore, the souls of those who have passed away from earth and
completed their span of mortal pilgrimage in the Titanic disaster have
hastened to a world superior to this,” He said.22”

In a letter to the American Baha’i composer Louise Waite, more than a
year later, Lady Blomfield wrote that she was extremely distressed to learn
that two letters she had written to Waite had never been received.

‘One was to thank you for your delightful Baha’i music which we so
greatly appreciate,” she wrote, ‘this I sent you from Switzerland, and I can
only suppose that it went down in the Titanic, with several registered packets,
of which I received notice. These of course were only valuable to myself and
the friends who did not receive them. Some were letters to the Master, when

he should arrive in America!’228

Returning to London in the early summer of 1912, Lady Blomfield was
relieved finally to receive the first edition of Talks by ‘Abdu’l-Bahd Given in
Paris. She immediately dispatched a copy to the Master and 25 copies to Star
of the West magazine in Chicago.

‘We loved our work of putting the “Talks in Paris” into English, for the
edification of those who had not the blessed privilege of hearing the Beloved
one,” she wrote to ‘Abdu’l-Baha.22 After receiving a telegram from Him
which contained news of three meetings in Chicago attended by thousands of
people, she wrote back that she was there ‘in heart and spirit’, wishing she
had been present ‘at this blessed time’ 2%

After being absent from London for some nine months, Lady Blomfield
enjoyed reuniting with her fellow Baha’is whose activities had continued
since the Master’s departure from their midst. Lady Blomfield cherished the
hope that ‘Abdu’l-Baha would return to the city and wrote to Him from the
apartment in Cadogan Gardens where He had stayed ten months earlier that
His ‘London home is awaiting Him, whenever His glorious work may bring
Him here. He knows well how we all have welcoming hearts, and even the
house is waiting with an expectant smile for His presence.’231

In anticipation of the Master’s possible return, Mary and Ellinor had
started taking Persian lessons from Dr Lutfu’llah Hakim and were working
hard to make progress.

‘We ardently wish Him to rest here after His arduous American work — in



the house of his devoted daughter in the Holy Service,” wrote Lady
Blomfield.[232

‘Undoubtedly, by the time of my arrival in London they will be fluent in
Persian,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha replied.233]

‘O thou revered lady!” the Master told Sitarih. “Thou must raise aloft the
banner of Baha’u’llah in London and become so aflame with the fire of the
love of God as to rouse and stir every listless soul and confer a new life upon
the dead . . .12

‘Abdu’l-Baha encouraged Lady Blomfield to give eloquent speeches and
gather friends together once a week to commemorate God. He also warned
her about the presence in the city of Azalis, followers of Bahad’u’llah’s
disloyal half-brother Mirza Yahya.

‘Moreover, the bearers of the “Golden Key” are in reality Azalis. They
have been stealthily seduced and instructed to be duplicitous and
dissembling, and they are indeed dissemblers. Admit them not into your
circle and avoid their company, for they are hypocrites . . .” wrote the Master,
warning her also that Professor E.G. Browne was ‘in perfect league with the
enemies of Baha’u’llah and hath become an instrument in their hands.” ‘In
the heart of every soul he doth meet he instilleth doubt and suspicion, and
whatever lies and calumnies the enemies teach him, he imparteth unto others.
You should know this. Erelong, however, he will find himself in the utmost
remorse.’ 1222

Lady Blomfield was saddened to hear the news of Professor Browne’s
coming under the influence of covenant-breakers and hoped that he might
return to the appreciation of the truth.

‘Be not grieved at this . . .” wrote ‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘We showed the utmost
kindness to Professor Browne. He was most grateful, and in his first book . . .
he expressed the highest praise. Later, however, the enemies in Persia
surrounded him and flattered him to such a degree as exceedeth all
description . . . but erelong he will understand that this is naught but manifest
loss, and will regret his actions.”2°

Lady Blomfield asked ‘Abdu’l-Baha if she should convey the warning to
shun the Azalis to all the Baha’i friends. He advised her to warn only those in
whom she could confide and who would not spread it further.

Contemplating spreading the true message of Baha’u’llah to those with



whom she had once had intimate contact through her husband’s family, Lady
Blomfield decided in July 1912 to deliver some articles she had written,
based on ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s talks, to the Archbishop of Canterbury, the
principal leader of the Church of England. The Archbishop at that time was a
Scotsman, Randall Thomas Davidson, who served in the post from 1903 until
1928, and was married to the daughter of a previous Archbishop of
Canterbury, Archibald Campbell Tait, who had been Sir Arthur Blomfield’s
headmaster at Rugby.

The Archbishop’s response to Lady Blomfield’s proclamation of the
Baha’i message was civil but not to Sitarih’s hopeful expectation. He
returned the papers soon afterwards with a letter stating, ‘I have heard and
read a good deal about this particular matter. At present I am not prepared to
assign to this teacher whom you commend the position of religious leadership
which he somewhat solemnly claims. But I am very glad to have the facts
before me in the compendious form in which you have put them.”'237

Amongst Lady Blomfield’s surviving papers is a draft in pencil of a letter
that clearly shows she was agonizing on how to answer the Archbishop’s
response.

‘I thank you for returning my short paper on the work of Abdul-Baha,’ she
wrote. ‘If it appears to your Grace that he makes claim to any honours for
himself, it must be entirely due to my failure in accentuating the fact that he
discourages emphatically any attachment to personality. I have never seen a
truer humility; his only claim is one which we all, if we are Christians, make,
and some are able to substantiate i.e.: to be a Servant of God, working in the
Divine Cause of the Grand Unity of the whole Human Race. His special
mission is to call upon all God’s servants in every tribe and nation, to unite in
working for this Universal Brotherhood, and to emphasise the truth that all
children must be taught Religion, for without it there can be no lasting
civilization!’238!

At the end of July, still struggling with how to respond to the Archbishop,
Sitarih wrote to ‘Abdu’l-Bahd, informing Him that a ‘high Ecclesiastical
Dignitary’ did not refer to her article in an ‘appreciative manner’ and asking
the Master whether she should write again or just let the matter drop.2%
Evidently she persevered. A copy of Talks in Paris was sent to the
Archbishop with the suggestion that they might meet. Lady Blomfield heard
nothing. Undeterred, she wrote again enclosing a copy of The Hidden Words



of Bahd’u’llgh. On 30 November 1912 Archbishop Davidson thanked her for
the ‘pamphlet’ and expressed his distress that Sitarih did not receive his
gratitude for the edition of Talks in Paris.

‘I thought it had been acknowledged, but possibly I was mistaken,” he
wrote. ‘I am not myself resident in London at present, and I am afraid that
such an interview as you suggest would be practically impossible.’124

The summer of 1912 saw Lady Blomfield occupied with numerous Baha’i
activities in London. In addition to holding a weekly gathering in her home
on Friday evenings, she made a presentation to workers of the Church Army,
hosted an afternoon meeting at which she spoke on the history and message
of the Baha’i Cause, and made a similar presentation to some Theosophists.
A friends of hers, a Mrs Rooper, organized a meeting for 20 of her friends in
her own home at which Lady Blomfield spoke and read some of the Master’s
talks. The response, she reported, was very positive and many of those in
attendance expressed an interest in attending the Friday evening meetings.
She informed ‘Abdu’l-Baha that after the talk she served tea, coffee and
sweets, since this encouraged the guests to stay and ask questions.

‘Holding receptions in thy house on Friday evenings where tea, coffee and
sweets are served is most agreeable,” commented the Master. 24!

Lady Blomfield also supported a meeting hosted by the elderly believer
Annie Gamble in Putney where there were several people interested in the
Faith. She attended a gathering hosted by Ethel Rosenberg at which some of
the friends from Stuttgart were present. There was an invitation too from
another friend, a Mrs Gordon, who invited Sitarih to speak on the Cause at a
reception in her home to be held the following October.

Lady Blomfield was also delighted to report to the Master that a Miss
Franckel was working on a Swedish translation of Talks in Paris.

‘Rest assured’, ‘Abdu’l-Baha told her, ‘that in heart and spirit I am with
thee, and that at every moment I seek for thee divine confirmations.’!242

‘Perchance on my return I will pass through London and upon reaching it I

will find it luminous,” wrote the Master from New York City 124!

During this period the British Baha’is learned that the acclaimed Oxford
theologian and biblical critic Professor Thomas Kelly Cheyne was showing a
profound interest in the Baha’i message. An ordained Anglican priest,
Cheyne was on the editorial board of The Christian Commonwealth, which



had extensively covered ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s first visit to London. For 23 years,
after lecturing in Hebrew and divinity, Cheyne served as Oxford University’s
prestigious ‘Oriel Professor of the Interpretation of Holy Scripture’,
specializing in the field of Old Testament Studies. In July 1912 Ethel
Rosenberg encountered Cheyne, now in his seventies and almost entirely an
invalid, on his way through London.

‘He is a reverent and deeply convinced Baha’i,” Lady Blomfield reported
to ‘Abdu’l-Baha. ‘He wishes to read up a good deal on the Sacred Cause, as
he intends, when in better health, to write a book in its favour.” The book, she
added, ‘will surely be an antidote to anything that the enemy’s book can
say!’244

‘Abdu’l-Baha instructed Lady Blomfield to ‘Write in particular to
Professor Cheyne at Oxford University, give him my deepest love and
highest regards, and tell him that I have the utmost desire and longing to meet
him. I beseech God that he may shine even as a star above the horizon of true
knowledge.’2%

Lady Blomfield duly conveyed the Master’s greetings to Cheyne.

‘. . . your Message of our loved and venerated Head is a heavenly
surprise,” wrote the professor on 11 September, adding that he and his wife
were both eagerly anticipating a second visit of ‘Abdu’l-Baha to Britain. ‘I
want so much to make Bahai views of “love” a reality for me. But I cannot
move about . . . Now, would this Great One confer on me the favour of a
visit? I live close by to Manchester College, the Head of which [Dr Estlin
Carpenter] would readily grant the use of lecture-hall. I long for it.

‘In any case, some day will you not arrange for a Bahai meeting? We will
try to get those who sympathise to come . . .’12%

The thought of welcoming the Master to Oxford took hold of Cheyne’s
imagination and in the following month he wrote again to Lady Blomfield
assuring her that should He pay them a visit, ‘Abdu’l-Baha would see at once
that Oxford ‘is a first-rate place for “sowing the seed”.’24”

‘... it is important that we should endeavour to make the word of the
kingdom known here,” wrote Cheyne, urging Lady Blomfield also to
contemplate visiting the city to speak on the Baha’i Cause. “Would you
introduce the subject to our audience? I understand that you have often
spoken at such meetings . . . A long lecture room, often used by professors, is
offered for our use by Dr Carpenter, the Principal at Manchester College. We



think any Wednesday would be the best day, there are plenty of trains. 3 pm
would be the best time . . . Mrs Cheyne and I would be so glad if you would
join us at lunch with any other friend who may accompany you.’'2%

Sitarih took up Cheyne’s invitation and spoke at Manchester College on
30 October. The Cheynes sent out the invitation which read:

WHAT IS THE BAHAI RELIGION?

You are invited to a meeting to be held in Manchester College (Oxford)

on Wednesday October 30th at 3 pm. There will be an address by Lady

Blomfield preparatory to the second English visit of Abdul Baha, the

Persian Prophet. T.K. Cheyne Emeritus Professor of Interpretation, etc.

[249]
‘Dear Lady Blomfield,” wrote Dr Estlin Carpenter on 7 November, the week
after Lady Blomfield’s talk at his college. ‘Thank you very much for sending
the little volume of talks by ‘Abdu’l-Baha in Paris. They breathe exactly that
lofty air of character and devotion which you so aptly described to us.’122

By the end of the year the Master would be joining Lady Blomfield and
Estlin Carpenter at Manchester College, preceded by an encounter at
Cheyne’s Oxford home, in her words, ‘fraught with pathos’.!%!

‘Indeed thou art my daughter and the dear maidservant of Baha’u’llah,” wrote
‘Abdu’l-Baha to Lady Blomfield on 17 September 1912, a day on which He
was newly arrived in Minneapolis.

Therefore I beseech the Kingdom of Baha’u’llah that the confirmations
of the Holy Spirit may descend upon thee unceasingly, that thou mayest
progress in this Cause day by day, that thou mayest so shine in faith and
certitude, in constancy and steadfastness as to astonish every soul, that
thou mayest become the cause of guidance of a great multitude, and that
all London may become a glass globe and thou its lamp. Marvel not if
the gracious favours and bestowals of Baha’u’llah were to cause a mere
star (sitdarih) to shine as brightly as the moon wherewith to illumine the

horizon of L.ondon.222

For Sitarih, the day when the Master would return to London was a bright
prospect indeed.



CHAPTER SIX: THE BRILLIANT LIGHT

I beseech God to grant thee His divine confirmation and assistance,
that thou mayest become the luminous candle of that city
and summon all the people to the Kingdom of God.[23

‘Abdu’l-Baha

On 5 December 1912 ‘Abdu’l-Baha sailed away from New York City after
239 days tirelessly proclaiming Baha’u’llah’s message of universal peace to
the people of North America. His historic journeys to the West — and in
particular this eight-month tour of the United States of America — wrote
Shoghi Effendi some three decades later, ‘may be said to have marked the
culmination of His ministry, a ministry whose untold blessings and
stupendous achievements only future generations can adequately estimate’.
1241 Just as the ‘day-star of Baha’u’llah’s Revelation had shone forth in its
meridian splendour’ when the Manifestation of God had addressed the kings
and rulers of the earth from Adrianople, observed the Guardian, so too did
‘the Orb of His Covenant mount its zenith and shed its brightest rays when
He Who was its appointed Centre (‘Abdu’l-Baha) arose to blazon the glory
and greatness of His Father’s Faith among the peoples of the West’.[2>]

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s second visit to Great Britain came at the end of an eight-
day crossing of the Atlantic Ocean aboard the SS Celtic. The 20,000 ton ship
had been making the regular return journey between England and America
since 1901. The Master’s voyage aboard the Celtic was on seas which were,
for the first four days, as ‘calm as a mirror’.12% ‘Abdu’l-Baha sent two boxes
of roses to the Captain and lavished sweets and fruit on the stewards. The
Captain made a courtesy call to ‘Abdu’l-Baha on 7 December and expressed
his pleasure at having Him on board.

As the smooth crossing continued, the Master remarked that He would
like to see a big storm. The heavens complied and by five o’clock in the
evening on 9 December, three days of relentlessly turbulent weather were
unleashed upon the Celtic and its storm-tossed passengers. Up on the deck,
‘Abdu’l-Baha delighted in the elements.

‘Look at that imperial wave, how it mounts high and devours the smaller



waves!’ He enthused. ‘It is a wonderful sight. This is the best day. I am
enjoying it.”%7

Not wishing to miss any opportunity to spread His father’s message,
‘Abdu’l-Baha addressed more than 60 first class passengers on the last night
of the voyage, recounting stories of His eight months in America.

“They were all greatly impressed and came and expressed their pleasure,’
wrote Mirza Ahmad Sohrab,'28! ‘ Abdu’l-Baha’s interpreter who took copious
notes every day of the Master’s journey to North America and His second
visit to Europe.

The Celtic forged ahead through the unabating storm, around the
southernmost tip of Lady Blomfield’s homeland Ireland and, as the waters
calmed, arrived in a dank and rainy Liverpool on the northwest coast of
England. It was Liverpool’s port, and in particular its alliance with the slave
trade, that had been responsible for the city’s expansion in the 18th century.
By the early years of the following century, 40 per cent of the world’s trade
passed through the city. On Friday 13 December 1912 the majority of the
city’s inhabitants were unaware, however, of the historic events unfolding at
their port. As the Celtic docked, a dozen Baha’is gathered, waving
handkerchiefs to welcome the Centre of Baha’u’llah’s covenant back to
British shores.

Lady Blomfield did not join her fellow believers in Liverpool as the
Master stepped for the second time onto English soil. It had been left to
Elizabeth Herrick to make the journey from London and arrange a small
programme of talks for the Master in the city. Hippolyte Dreyfus, from Paris,
was also present, along with a small band of Baha’is from the north of
England.

‘Suddenly we caught sight of Abdul-Baha in the ship’s bow,” wrote one of
them, Isabel Fraser, ‘and as she hove to he walked slowly down the long deck
till he stood quite alone, in the very centre of the centre deck. All eyes on the
landing stage were at once rivetted upon him as he peered over the ship’s side
into the rain and gloom of Liverpool. The huge modern boat made a fitting
frame for the Master-symbol, as it is of this outpouring of power, designed as
it is to bring brothers into closer touch, and Abdul-Baha, the Centre of this
dispensation, appeared standing in command.’!22

‘It was but for an hour or so that we were in contact with that great soul,’
recalled Edward Hall from Manchester, who had journeyed to Liverpool for a



glimpse of the Master, ‘yet from that time began a real and enduring
assurance of the truth in my life . . . I did not go for romantic reasons nor to
witness anything sentimental. I went to welcome a mighty figure of the
coming Kingdom.” Hall described his encounter with the Master as a ‘brief
but very beautiful incident in my life — one worth many years of a person’s
existence.’ 2%

‘Abdu’l-Baha spent two days in Liverpool, staying at the Midland Adelphi
Hotel, ‘the most beautiful hotel in the city’..2!l During His stay, He addressed
two public meetings — the first at the Theosophical Society and the following
day at Pembroke Chapel, a Baptist church where Elizabeth Herrick had once
worshipped. In both presentations He delivered His talk in Persian with
Hippolyte Dreyfus translating into English.

‘The Theosophists are very dear to me, for they have abandoned all
prejudice,” the Master said at the first gathering. ‘We both (Theosophists and
Bahais) have abandoned all dogmas in our earnest search for truth. But look
at the tribes and nations of the world — why are they seething with
contention? Because they are not seeking truth. Truth is one.’'22

The following night, Reverend Donald Fraser welcomed the Master to the
Pembroke Chapel expressing his deep appreciation at having Him in his
church. ‘Abdu’l-Baha hesitated to climb up to the pulpit saying He did not
like to be above the audience. When someone pointed out to Him that those
in the gallery would be above Him and would hear all the better were He to
do so, He consented to speak from the pulpit. The Master spoke about the
oneness of humanity after which the hymn ‘All People That on Earth Do
Dwell’ was sung. Later, in the vestry, ‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote a blessing for
Reverend Fraser in the church book, ‘O Thou Kind Almighty, confirm Thou
this servant of Thine, Mr. Fraser, in the service of Thy Kingdom. Make him
illumined; make him heavenly; make him spiritual; make him divine! Thou
art the Generous, the King!’26!

On the morning of Monday 16 December, ‘Abdu’l-Baha departed
Liverpool for London by train, in the company of Hippolyte Dreyfus-Barney,
Ahmad Yazdi, Elizabeth Herrick and Isabel Fraser.

‘I am most pleased with you,’ the Master informed the two women. ‘You
are the real servants of the Covenant.’2%4

“You must become like a burning torch,” He said, ‘so that you may be able
to melt mountains of snow. Europe is filled with mountains which are



snowcapped all the year around. May you attain to such a degree of heat that
you may melt the snow. Europe is submerged in materialism. People are not
thinking of God. All their attention is turned toward matter and nature. Like
unto cows they graze in the meadows which are overgrown with grass. They
can see nothing beyond their noses. America is much better. People in that
country are investigating the Reality. They are more susceptible to spiritual
life.’1265

Shortly before two o’clock in the afternoon, the train carrying the Master
and His entourage reached London’s Euston station where some 50 of His
admirers had gathered to welcome Him. Lady Blomfield was there with a car,
ready to transport Him back to her home at 97 Cadogan Gardens. He joined
her and her daughters in the automobile without His interpreter. Much to their
surprise, Sitarih’s daughters — now young women in their twenties —
discovered that ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s proficiency in the English language had
much improved since they had last welcomed Him to their home. They later
recounted that He conversed with them quite fluently in their mother tongue
during that journey across London.

Once again the Blomfields vacated their apartment and moved in with
friends nearby to give the Master and His entourage the necessary space for
their stay. That afternoon ‘Abdu’l-Baha chose to rest and then, after a short
walk in the garden, a group of reporters arrived to interview Him. Questions
ranged across the teachings of Bahd’u’llah and ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s thoughts on
the visit to America, a nation of which He could not speak highly enough. On
many occasions during this second stay in Britain the Master shared His
unbounded enthusiasm for the reception He had received across the Atlantic.

On the evening of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s arrival Lady Blomfield hosted a dinner,
inviting a Christian minister whom she had met in Switzerland, the Reverend
Daniel Cooper-Hunt. When Sitarih had been in Geneva earlier that year,
‘Abdu’l-Baha had addressed a message to the clergyman.

‘Convey my utmost love and respect to Reverend Daniel Cooper-Hunt’,
the Master had written, ‘and say: Praise be to God, the doors of the Kingdom
have been opened wide, the angels of confirmation are unceasingly
descending, the breath of the Holy Spirit conferreth a new life at every
moment, and the hosts of heaven vouchsafe their assistance. I beseech God
that thou mayest become the Paul of the Baha’i Dispensation, may rend
asunder the veils that blind the people, open their eyes, and make deaf ears to



hear.’2%¢) The Master spoke in great detail with the clergyman, telling him of
an opulent religious procession He had witnessed in Denver and how it
contrasted with the simple life of Christ.

The following day, a believer from Belfast — most likely one Joan Waring
— arrived to pay her respects to the Master. ‘Abdu’l-Baha welcomed her and
told her, “You must become the cause of the illumination of Ireland.’'2”
Recounting the story of a believer from Persia who had attracted some 40
souls to the Baha’i teachings in one year, the Master urged this follower to
ignite ‘four thousand lamps’2%! in the same period of time. She responded
that many that she spoke to were afraid of a new religion, saying the religion
of their ancestors remained good enough for them.

“They are like unto those souls who say: “We don’t like fresh flowers but
we are satisfied with withered and decayed flowers”,” replied ‘Abdu’l-Baha.
‘Decayed flowers do not have sweet fragrance; their odour is not good; they
have no freshness and charm . . . Every new year needs a new flower, new
fruits are necessary, fresh and gentle breezes are needed. Every new day
requires new food, you cannot partake of the decayed food of yesterday.’'2%

On the afternoon of 17 December a large reception was held for the
Master at Caxton Hall, at that time used as the Town Hall for the City of
Westminster and much in demand as a concert hall and a venue for public
meetings, including those of the suffragettes. A large gathering of friends and
sympathizers heard ‘Abdu’l-Baha pay tribute once again to the American
people and emphasize the unity between the United States of America and
Britain. After the meeting He walked back to Cadogan Gardens where, no
sooner had He arrived, than more people began to gather.

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s second sojourn in London took on a similar character to
the first. There were private audiences and gatherings — day in and day out —
at Lady Blomfield’s apartment, as well as other meetings and receptions at
the homes of His followers and admirers in the city. Believers from abroad
arrived to pay their respects and bask in the warmth of His presence. In the
case of Laura Dreyfus-Barney, newly arrived from Paris, conversation with
the Master focused on a proposed return visit for Him to the French capital.
‘My mother much loved and admired Madame Dreyfus-Barney,” wrote Mary
Blomfield..2

The elderly Hand of the Cause of God Haji Amin, an Apostle of
Baha’u’llah and the trusted courier of His mail and finances, arrived from



Iran via Paris with three young Persians. When ‘Abdu’l-Baha received them,
they threw themselves at His feet and wept.

‘It was a touching scene,” observed Ahmad Sohrab. ‘He took them up,
kissed their cheeks and showed them much love.’2Z

One morning Haji Amin, soon after His arrival, presented his cotton
handkerchief to the Master who unwrapped it to find a piece of dry black
bread and a shrivelled apple. Lady Blomfield reported:

The friend exclaimed: ‘A poor Baha’i workman came to me: ‘I hear thou
goest into the presence of our Beloved. Nothing have I to send, but this
my dinner. I pray thee offer it to Him with my loving devotion.’

‘Abdu’l-Bahé spread the poor handkerchief before Him, leaving His
own luncheon untasted. He ate of the workman’s dinner, broke pieces
off the bread, and handed them to the assembled guests, saying, ‘Eat
with me of this gift of humble love.”2%2

Among the countless callers who arrived at 97 Cadogan Gardens to hear
‘Abdu’l-Baha on the morning of 18 December was Professor Edward G.
Browne. No mention was made of his recent contact with individuals who
were inimical to ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s leadership of the Baha’i community,
although the Master did call Browne to His room for a private conversation
after His public talk was ended.

“The last time I met you,” He told the distinguished Orientalist, ‘was
twenty-two years ago in Acca under different environment, but now I have
the pleasure of seeing you in London.’2%]

The two men then conversed in Persian together, reportedly ranging over
subjects as diverse as Persia, inventions, the history of the Baha’i Movement,
and the education of women.

The memory of His extraordinary experiences in the United States did not
diminish as ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s stay in London continued. One rainy day, having
intended to take a walk, He hailed a taxi and rode through Hyde Park and
Regent’s Park, noticing that the streets were not very clean. He talked to His
companions about the cleanliness of Broadway, New York, and its night-time
illuminations — ‘the Ben Hur horses, the advertisement of Spring Water, the
advertisement of pepsin, the advertisement of automobiles; and many others
which are lighted at night; he told about the electric office in Denver which is
a tall and magnificent building, how at night the whole structure is lighted



from top to bottom.’224 ‘Abdu’l-Bahé even spoke about His high opinion of
America to the ambassador and consul from the Persian embassy who called
to meet Him on consecutive days. He praised the system of government in
the United States, its federal system, its educational opportunities and the
resources. He also spoke about Persia and Turkey and His concerns over the
war that had been rocking the Balkan region of Europe.

For months the situation in the Balkans had been growing more volatile.
Fear of Austro-Hungarian expansion combined with the instability caused by
a vulnerable Ottoman Empire weakened by its war with Italy over Libya
since 1911, prompted the formation of the Balkan League. This was an
alliance of Bulgaria, Greece, Montenegro and Serbia formed under Russian
auspices in the spring of 1912 with the purpose of taking Macedonia away
from the Ottomans. Bulgaria was also disturbed by the growing concentration
of Turkish troops on her borders in Adrianople, the town where ‘Abdu’l-
Baha had been exiled with Baha’u’llah and His followers almost 50 years
previously. War was officially declared at the beginning of October in a
move to repatriate large parts of Balkan ethnic populations who were living
under the Ottoman Empire. The swift campaign ended five centuries of
Ottoman rule in the Balkans. Hostilities officially ceased on 2 December as
the victorious allies set conditions for negotiations over the status of various
territories they had taken. Peace talks were underway in London, as ‘Abdu’l-
Baha commenced His visit.

Equally alert and deeply sensitive to the injustices and perilous conditions
of society, Lady Blomfield was meanwhile watching with mounting anxiety
the cause of women’s suffrage, which she supported despite deploring their
resorting to extreme tactics to promote their cause. A famous story has been
passed down of the Master’s conversation with a suffragette, possibly
Emmeline Pankhurst, which tells how, when the visitor referred to ‘Abdu’l-
Baha as a ‘prophet’, He replied ‘Oh, no! I am a man, like you.’2%

Mrs Pankhurst certainly met the Master during this visit to London. He
advised her and the other suffragettes He encountered that they should not
resort to violent measures such as window smashing, wrecking trains and
letter boxes, ‘nay, rather they should demand their rights with the power of
intelligence, with scientific accomplishments, with artistic attainments,” He
said. ‘Unseemly deeds would rather retard the realization of their cherished
hope. In this age a weak person resorts to frightful measures, but an



intelligent person uses the superior power of intelligence and wisdom. 2%

Lady Drower, better known as the author Ethel Stefana Stevens, was also
among the callers, journeying all the way from Southampton to meet the
Master. She had travelled extensively in the Middle East from where she
drew the inspiration for her books. Three years previously she had stayed for
several months in the Holy Land where she had been inspired to use the
Baha’i community of Haifa and ‘Akka as the setting for her romantic novel,
The Mountain of God, published by Mills and Boon in 1911. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
expressed His happiness at seeing her again and they enjoyed an extended
conversation. She informed Him that she was writing a novel about the
second coming of Christ. ‘Abdu’l-Baha told her how all the nations and
religions had circumscribed limits for His coming and how when He came,
many rejected Him 1222

A remarkable cosmopolitan gathering filled the large hall at the Westminster
Palace Hotel five days before Christmas, where the Master spoke on the
subject of peace. The room was packed to capacity, with some attendees
forced to sit on the floor or squeeze into the doorways. Writers, thinkers,
scientists, diplomats, and distinguished guests from East and West were in
the audience which was ‘set aglow’, wrote Ahmad Sohrab.

‘All the faces were shining, and all the people were responsive. Indeed to
have such a well attended meeting in London at this time of the year is
nothing short of a miracle.”2%

The Liberal politician and former head of the British Chamber of
Commerce Sir Thomas Barclay chaired the meeting. He introduced the
Baha’i teachings as a ‘system of thought and conduct’.

‘I wonder if I have understood the Revelation of Baha’o’llah,” he said. ‘If
I have, it has a singularly good Christian ring and I should interpret its
meaning as “Be a real Christian and you will be a good Bahai”.’

‘But I am merely presiding and not proselytising,” he hurriedly added as
he introduced the Master to the crowd.2”!

‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke earnestly, reported Isabel Fraser, ‘gesticulating freely
and one could almost follow his thoughts as the light and fire played over his
countenance.’

Once again the conflict in the Balkans was very much at the forefront of
the Master’s mind:



‘... blood is being freely and copiously shed,” He mourned, ‘lives are
being destroyed, houses are pillaged, cities are razed to the ground, and all
this through religious prejudice; while in reality, the foundation of the
religion of God is love.’28

‘As the English government is a just government,” the Master concluded,
‘and as the British nation is a noble nation and accomplishes whatever it
undertakes, it is my hope that in this matter it will manifest the utmost
wisdom and sagacity, so that the sun of peace may dawn on the horizon of
the Balkans, so that eternal fellowship may be realized among them, and
whenever in the future there is any difficult problem a conference may be
called for its settlement, so that through these various conferences all the
troubles of humanity may be solved.”2!

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s words were met with a deep silence. Sir Thomas Barclay
introduced Charlotte Despard, President of the Women’s Freedom League,
who expressed the deep privilege she felt at ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s presence
amongst them.

“There is unrest everywhere,’ she told the meeting,

. . unrest in industry, unrest among the women of the country, unrest
intellectually and unrest religiously, and some are frightened as they
look out, and wonder if these days mean the disintegration of which we
have been hearing, which is the very fruit of this. But some of us think
that this unrest at the present moment is actually a healthy symptom.
That it is on account of the unreality of things that people generally are
troubled and anxious and longing for some settled thing.

We have the mighty movements — the women’s movement, the
religious movement, the spiritual movement. At the basis of all the great
religions that have moved the world there are the same great truths. This
unrest at the moment, and of ancient times though in different words and
different form are still the same. God is one. There is nothing but God
anywhere. He is the one eternal life; because we are in Him therefore we
are eternal; death is but the dropping of a garment.

This is the principle of unity and we are thankful beyond measure
that it has been brought to us today./282!

‘Abdu’l-Baha closed the meeting with a blessing, hands outstretched, palms
turned upward.



O Thou Kind Almighty, we supplicate at the Throne of Grace for mercy
for the blood that has been shed in the Balkans; the children that are
being made orphans; the mothers losing their dear sons; the sons who
have become fatherless; the cities that have been destroyed; the many
hearts that have been filled with sorrow; the many tears that are being
shed and the many spirits that are in a state of agitation!

.. . O Lord! confirm this just government in the establishment of
peace, so that it may hold aloft the banner of reconciliation in the
Balkans. May the light of love shine and flame forth undefiled. O Lord!
Thou art Almighty; Thou art Merciful; Thou art Clement; Thou art Kind!
[283]

Many of the guests who attended the Westminster Palace Hotel meeting went
to Cadogan Gardens the following morning to greet ‘Abdu’l-Baha. Among
them was a woman who had travelled 40 miles the previous day to hear Him.
She told the Master of a friend of hers who had lost the power of speech and
the use of his hands in an accident but who wrote by manoeuvring a pen in
his mouth. This young man sorely wished to have a signed photograph of the
Master. ‘Abdu’l-Baha gave her a message for the young man. She was to tell
him that although he was speechless yet he had the language of the heart and
spoke with the tongue of the intellect. The Master hoped that he would
acquire the language of the Kingdom, which was not in need of any outward
means to convey thoughts.

The Blomfields’ daughters had inherited their parents’ keen love of the
theatre and both were budding actresses. It being Christmas, Mary was
performing in the nativity play Eager Heart at Church House, Westminster.
Dedicated to ‘all who see and worship the One in the many’, Eager Heart
was the first major stage work written by Alice Buckton, one of ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s devotees, and with which she enjoyed a huge success for the entire
first half of the 20th century. It had become a perennial feature of the
Christmas season since it was first produced in 1904.

The play tells the story of a young girl called Eager Heart — played in this
production by Mary Blomfield — who on Christmas Eve is preparing a
humble meal in the hope that a ‘royal’ guest the whole city is talking about
will stop by her door and rest. In the best tradition of English Christmas
entertainments, Eager Heart has two unpleasant sisters, Eager Fame and



Eager Sense, the first being strong-willed and domineering, the second
glamorous and gluttonous. Both sisters are also keen to meet the special
visitor and believe he will be attracted by their ostentation. While her two
siblings venture into the streets to join the waiting crowds, Eager Heart
receives an unexpected visit from a travel-weary couple, carrying a small
baby and seeking food and shelter. They ask her if they can rest there.
Initially torn between her hope of hosting the expected royal visitor and
helping the needy arrivals, Eager Heart allows them in and feeds them before
going outside to see if the anticipated one has arrived. On the way, she
encounters shepherds, kings and travellers, all seeking him. She is amazed to
see them gravitating towards her home where they bow in adoration before
the weary family, and in particular the small child. Eager Heart realizes
exactly who it is she has in her house, and her sisters, returning home, also
recognize the folly of their ways.

At 3:30 on the afternoon of Saturday 21 December, ‘Abdu’l Baha left
Cadogan Gardens in Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper’s car for a performance of the
play, one of the first dramatic performances He had ever witnessed in His
life.

‘This was a memorable occasion,” wrote Lady Blomfield.l2% Some 1200
people packed the hall as Mary Blomfield opened with the lines,

To-night the weary world is husht and still!

Out on the plains the shepherds watch! And we,
Dwelling in cities, keep our doors ajar,

Lest He should come this way, the royal Child,
Two thousand years our King! Alas, to think
How many highways He must tread to-night,
Will know Him not, nor see Him as He comes!

‘Abdu’l-Baha was rapt throughout the entire performance. Lady Blomfield
observed how the Master was keenly interested in the story unfolding on
stage and ‘wept during the scene in which the Holy Child and His parents,
overcome with fatigue, and suffering from hunger, were met by the hesitation
of Eager Heart to admit them to the haven of rest which she had prepared,
she, of course, failing to recognize the sacred visitors’.[222!

Mary Blomfield interpreted the character of Eager Heart, according to
another spectator, with a ‘delicacy and artistic appreciation that was



wonderful. There was such longing, such unutterable desire in every
movement and word for the King. 128

Following the performance ‘Abdu’l-Baha went up onto the stage to speak
with the actors who circled around Him.

‘It was an arresting scene,” reported Lady Blomfield. ‘In the Eastern
setting the Messenger, in His Eastern robes, speaking to them in the beautiful
Eastern words of the Divine significance of the events which had been
portrayed.’2%

After complimenting them on their performance, ‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke of
the coming of Christ and how those who had eagerly awaited the appearance
of the Promised One rejected Him on the grounds that He did not fulfil their
interpretations of the signs that were meant to accompany the Messiah’s
coming.

‘All these people thought they were waiting for Christ and that they were
His intimate friends, but later on it was shown that He was quite foreign to
them,’ said ‘Abdu’l-Baha,

. . . for when He came they knew Him not. Some used to pray day and
night, saying when will that day come, when He will manifest himself?
O God! Hasten that day when He shall be on earth. But when He came
they did not know Him; they denied Him and were offended at Him.
Every trouble befell Him; they crowned Him with thorns, and finally
killed Him. Imagine how ignorant they were. Some of them shouted out,
‘Crucify Him for he is not the true Messiah, whose coming is to be under
special conditions, which must take place according to the facts
mentioned in the Bible: but this man is from Nazareth, and we know
where He lives, how does He claim to have come from Heaven while we

know He is the son of Mary . . 1288

Christ’s birthday, ‘Abdu’l-Baha told the cast, was a glorious day.

I hope that this Christmas may be a blessed one for this noble nation and
this just government. This nation can be blessed through being an
instrumentality in establishing the Balkans Peace.

Then these fighting nations shall become friendly and these dark
clouds of enmity that have encircled the horizon of Balkans shall be
removed. The light of Peace shall shine forth, darkness and enmity shall
vanish . . .12



The Master commended everyone on their performances.

‘It was very effective,” He said. ‘I wept when I saw Christ in His mother’s
bosom coming homeless and lonely in the world. I hope you will succeed in
portraying many illumined scenes in the future.”2% To those who had played
angels, He recommended that they all ‘be angels as long as they live’.[2!

The following morning the Master spoke again to friends assembled at
Lady Blomfield’s apartment about the performance, which evidently left a
marked impression on Him. After praising the actors once more, He reflected
on the expectations of people who, when the Promised One appears, are
unwilling to offer Him shelter.

“They prepare palaces for Him, they decorate the streets, they arrange
downy couches,’ the Master said, ‘but He, the Son of Man, cometh when no
one knoweth. Through the highways and byways He walks, people
unconscious of His divine presence, pursuing their own pleasure and yet
expecting His arrival as a king and ruler.”'22

Later that same day an actress arrived to meet ‘Abdu’l-Baha.

‘We also have a theatre,” the Master told her. The visitor immediately
became interested and enthusiastic.

‘Where is it?’ she asked. ‘I should love to see it. Can I play in it?’

‘Our theatre,” the Master answered, ‘is built in a country where there is
eternal springtime, the streets of that city are as clean as the surface of a
mirror, the lights of that playhouse are the rays of the Sun of Reality, the
actors of our drama are the Holy Manifestations of God, the audience is
composed of pure and sanctified souls. They play their parts with the most
delicate art, they deliver their words with power and potency.

“The stage of our theatre is the arena upon which is played the sublimest
tragedy, the most terrible dramas, the most thrilling and heart throbbing
events of life. Come and join our company. You have acted all your life in
the material stage, now come and act on this celestial stage. Your fellow
actors will assist you, will coach you in your part and step by step you will
become a star shining in the galaxy of these heavenly inspired dramatists.’2%

Every day of the Master’s visit Lady Blomfield brought to Him those who
had travelled from near and far, curious to meet Him. It must have been a
particular delight for her to introduce to Him on Sunday 22 December three
of her late husband’s grandchildren with their mother, the wife of Lady



Blomfield’s stepson, Charles. One of the children, a small girl, went straight
to the Master. He embraced her, gave her some candy and held her in His
arms.

‘My dear baby, my sweet, my very sweet baby,” He said to her. ‘I have not
seen a child for a day or two,” He told Lady Blomfield, hugging the girl
closer. The child sang ‘Abdu’l-Baha a Christmas carol before telling Him
about her doll and horses and cars and elephants. The Master told her how He
would like to take her to the land where Christ was born, where orange trees
blossom, where the sun always shines, where the stars always glow and the
weather is always clear.24

“This girl will progress very much,” He informed her mother. ‘She is
intelligent and keen. Educate her properly. Give her Baha’i instruction, so
that her thoughts may become luminous, her susceptibilities become keen,
she may become absolute good in the world of humanity. God willing, she
will study in the school of God, she will acquire ideal and heavenly
knowledge and she will be informed with the mysteries of phenomena.’'2

On 22 December Lady Blomfield received a letter from Francis Henry
Skrine, a retired member of the Indian civil service and friend of the author
Mark Twain. Skrine had written a book entitled Bahaism: The Religion of
Brotherhood and Its Place in the Evolution of Creeds which had been
published earlier that year by Longmans, Green and Co. His conclusion about
the ideals promoted by the Master was that ‘Bahaism may come with a rush
that nothing can resist’.2l Skrine was on his way to Scotland for Christmas
as his father-in-law, the “Venerable Laird of Ardvorlich’ was ailing.

‘Hence, to my greatest grief,” wrote Skrine, ‘I cannot pay our personal
respects to the Master.

‘But a charming and enlightened Indian Prince, who has read my
“Bahaism” is most anxious to call upon Abdul Baha. If he can be converted,
what a blessing it will be for India — and he is in principle a Bahaist already,’
wrote Skrine.2Zl He asked Lady Blomfield to arrange an invitation to be
delivered to the Maharajah of Jhalawar — a small state in what is now
Rajasthan — who was then residing in South Kensington.

Lady Blomfield, describing the Maharajah as an ‘enlightened and cultured
prince’,[2%8! related how he subsequently paid many visits to ‘Abdu’l-Baha:

He gave an elaborate dinner and reception in His honour, to which we



also were invited. The Maharajah and members of his suite sometimes
dined at our house with the Master, who delighted all the guests with His
beautiful courtesy, recounting interesting stories, often full of humour;
He always loved to see happy laughing faces. And what grace He
possessed — as of a king — this serene and dignified Personage Who had

spent a lifetime in prison!2

The Master also loved to see nature and particularly enjoyed one excursion to
Richmond Park. Unusually for a December day in London, the sun had come
out. ‘Abdu’l-Baha took off His coat for the hour-long walk, during which He
talked and answered questions, occasionally making witty remarks about the
horsemen and women riding by.

‘In brief, it was a heavenly hour,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab.2%! Another
enjoyable drive in Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper’s car took the Master to
Battersea Park, just south of the River Thames. On His return ‘Abdu’l-Baha
met several workmen who had come some distance to see Him.

‘Although I am not a Baha’i,” said one of them, ‘I like [sic] to tell you
what I think of you. You are the Napoleon of Peace.”%

To another, who worked on roads, the Master said, ‘Thou art paving the
material roads, may thou become able to straighten the pathway of heaven.
That is more important. Straighten the path for the Kingdom of God is nigh.
Be thou a heavenly lineman.’2%

Christmas Eve was a comparatively quiet day at the Blomfield’s
apartment. After receiving a few visitors, ‘Abdu’l-Baha reflected on the life
of Jesus Christ, beginning with the trials of the Virgin Mary and the poverty
and hardships of the Holy Family, and concluding with the crucifixion.

‘But today, they worship His name,’ the Master told the small gathering,

.. . they commemorate His birth in thousands of churches, they celebrate
His virtues and they spread sumptuous feasts. Kings glory in His name.
Emperors are proud to wear the golden crowns of Christendom, royalties
in their luxurious palaces sing the hymns of praise and glorification
because the Son of Man was born. But the King of Kings was born in a
stable, He did not have a place to lay His head, He was shunned,
persecuted, a crown of thorns adorned His heavenly brow. This has ever
been the custom of the people, to worship those who are dead, to martyr
those who are living.[2%l



Sitting down to dinner that evening, the Master told His companions that He
was not hungry, but that He had agreed to come to the table because Lady
Blomfield had insisted. Two despotic monarchs of the East had not been able
to command Him and bend His will, He laughed, but the ladies of America
and Europe, because they were free, gave Him orders.3%4

“To be with the Master is a never failing joy,” wrote Mirza Ahmad Sohrab on
Christmas Day, ‘to listen to His words is a heavenly boon, to bask under the
sunshine of His Love is eternal honour, to follow in His footsteps is the
greatest happiness, to serve Him is to serve humanity, to receive His advice is
the source of spiritual beatitude and to spread His Teachings and His
instructions is the supreme privilege.’3%

Throughout Christmas morning guests arrived to wish ‘Abdu’l-Baha the
season’s greetings. One gift brought Him much pleasure. He had previously
informed Isabel Fraser on the train journey from Liverpool to London that He
had learned to sew in case of emergency. She brought Him the smallest
sewing kit she could find, consisting of needles, scissors, thimble and thread,
all in a leather box, prompting much laughter from the Master and the
promise that He would use it. To another friend who asked Him a particularly
abstruse ethical question, the Master laughed, ‘I will answer that some other
time. Today we sing carols.’2%

Sitarih and her daughters brought in gifts for the Master and His Persian
entourage.

“They were really so kind that it made me quite ashamed,” reported
Ahmad Sohrab.2%” ‘Lady Blomfield is a very remarkable woman, a most
sincere Bahai, an active worker, and an enthusiastic speaker; really a
wonderful woman.’2%

After holding one particularly expensive gift lovingly for a moment,
‘Abdu’l-Baha said to the gentleman who had brought it, “You see, I have
accepted your beautiful present, and it has made me very happy. I thank you
for it. And now I am going to give it back to you. Sell it and give the money
to the poor. The rich in England are too rich, and the poor are too poor.”=%

“To each who came to Him on that Christmas Day,” observed Elizabeth
Herrick, ‘He gave a spiritual present — compatible with the capacity of each;
for Abdul Baha’s method of teaching the people so that they become moved
with conviction, is through the heart.”31



At noon ‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke to those gathered about the marvels of the
20th century, linking the great stirring that occurs in the world with the birth
of every Manifestation of God. Later He was taken to Mrs Thornburgh-
Cropper’s home to meet Lord and Lady Lamington. Lamington, born Charles
Cochrane Baillie, and his wife Mary Houghton Hozier, were close friends of
a number of the early Baha’is in Britain. Lamington had been a colonial
administrator for the British government, serving as Governor of Queensland,
Australia, from 1896 to 1901 and Bombay, India, from 1903 to 1907. He had
a strong interest in the Middle East and spoke frequently on the subject in the
House of Lords. He had been entertained by the Master in Alexandria the
previous year and on this Christmas day they talked about many subjects, the
Lamingtons listening attentively and referring to ‘Abdu’l-Baha as ‘our
Beloved Master’.

Lady Blomfield’s afternoon was concluded by accompanying ‘Abdu’l-
Baha to the Salvation Army shelter in Westminster where several hundred,
perhaps as many as a thousand, poor men were being fed. As the Master
entered, all the men rose to greet Him. Lady Blomfield was introduced by
Captain Spencer of the Salvation Army. She spoke to those gathered about
who ‘Abdu’l-Baha was, His sympathy for the poor, His love for those upon
whom fortune has not smiled. The Master then rose and spoke of His
pleasure at being present at such a gathering, how all the Prophets had been
poor and of humble origin, how Christ Himself had been born in a manger.
Many of the men were so taken by His presence that they forgot to eat the
food in front of them, allowing it to grow cold as they listened attentively.

‘My lot has ever been with those who have not the goods of this world,’
the Master told them. “When we look at the poor of humanity, we behold a
world of brothers. All are the sheep of God; God is the real shepherd. The
poor have ever been the cause of the freedom of the world of humanity; the
poor have ever been the cause of the upbuilding of the country; the poor have
ever laboured for the world’s production; the morals of the poor have ever
been above those of the rich; the poor are ever nearer to the threshold of God;
the humanitarianism of the poor has ever been more acceptable in the
threshold of God.”2!

“You are elected by God,’ said the Master. ‘Christ was the associate and
helper of the poor. Baha’u’llah was poor. He was called Darveesh. He gave
up all He had in order to help the poor ones on earth. Therefore be ye happy.



Always thank God.’’312

Before entering the hall the Master had changed many pounds into
shillings. He had 20 gold sovereigns and some five hundred shillings to
divide among the poor men gathered. The Salvation Army captain had
another idea however. He suggested using the money to host another dinner
for all those present on New Year’s Eve in the name of ‘Abdu’l-Baha. The
Master consented.

‘Our honoured guest has just given me the money for a New Year’s
dinner,’ the Captain told the gathering, ‘and all of you at this occasion will be
His guests.’21

The men broke out into spontaneous applause, rising from their seats,
cheering and waving their cutlery for many minutes. Then the Captain took
‘Abdu’l-Baha, Lady Blomfield and the retinue through the buildings to see
the large clean halls furnished with good beds. Here the poor could sleep,
wash clothes and get a breakfast for three pence a night. The Master was very
impressed. As He was leaving, the Master said to Captain Spencer, ‘May God
prosper you. May you all be under the protection of the Almighty!’214

“This was a notable day in the history of the Cause in England,” wrote
Ahmad Sohrab that night. ‘It was not only the Christmas of two thousand
years ago, but to us it had a double significance, for before our eyes we could
see how Christ lived in that far off period, how He taught the people, how He
conversed with them and how He associated with the lowly and
downtrodden.’3%2

Throughout the four days following Christmas Lady Blomfield’s routine of
joyfully bringing guests and visitors to the Master in her home, as well as
accompanying Him to meetings with other believers, continued. There was a
talk at the studio flat shared by Elizabeth Herrick and the Canadian believer
Marion Jack, who was much admired by ‘Abdu’l-Baha. The Master also
ventured as far as East Putney to the home of His devoted follower Annie
Gamble.

‘Should Prayer take the form of action?’ someone asked the Master at
Lady Blomfield’s home on 26 December.

“Yes,” He replied.

In the Baha’i Cause arts, sciences and all crafts are (counted as) worship.
The man who makes a piece of notepaper to the best of his ability,



conscientiously, concentrating all his forces on perfecting it, is giving
praise to God. Briefly, all effort and exertion put forth by man from the
fullness of his heart is worship, if it is prompted by the highest motives
and the will to do service to humanity. This is worship: to serve mankind
and to minister to the needs of the people. Service is prayer. A physician
ministering to the sick, gently, tenderly, free from prejudice and
believing in the solidarity of the human race, he is giving praise.

‘“What is the purpose of our lives?’ someone else asked.

To acquire virtues. We come from the earth; why were we transferred
from the mineral to the vegetable kingdom — from the plant to the animal
kingdom? So that we may attain perfection in each of these kingdoms,
that we may possess the best qualities of the mineral, that we may
acquire the power of growing as in the plant, that we may be adorned
with the instincts of the animal and possess the faculties of sight,
hearing, smell, touch and taste, until from the animal kingdom we step
into the world of humanity and are gifted with reason, the power of
invention, and the forces of the spirit.2¢!

“To have seen the world’s greatest prisoner amid these surroundings was a
never-to-be-forgotten picture, but one hard to repeat in words,” recalled
Elizabeth Herrick. ‘Many beautiful and touching incidents could be related of
that Christmas had we the records of the hundreds that thronged to see
Him. 3

Eager to ensure that the wish of Reverend T. K. Cheyne to host ‘Abdu’l-Baha
in Oxford was granted, Lady Blomfield kept the Professor apprised of the
Master’s movements prior to the Christmas holiday, as well as arranging to
journey with Him by train to the university city on New Year’s Eve.

‘I am so delighted to hear of the welfare of the beloved Master,” Cheyne
replied to her on 23 December, ‘and of the spiritual impression which he
seems to have made; so delighted, too, that he can come to Oxford. Christmas
and the New Year are bad times for getting up meetings; we can only hope to
get a few sympathetic hearers.’38]

The party left London’s Paddington station at 20 past ten in the morning
of 31 December and arrived in Oxford some 90 minutes later. Professor
Cheyne had invited the Master and His entourage to lunch with him and his



wife at their home close to Manchester College, where a platform had been
arranged for the Master to speak later in the afternoon.

“The meeting will begin with a short passage from the Bible and prayer,’
Cheyne informed Lady Blomfield, ‘as there are hindrances to having it in a
church or chapel.’32

‘The visit to Oxford was one of notable interest,” Sitarih remembered.
“The meeting between ‘Abdu’l-Baha and the dear, revered higher critic, Dr T.
K. Cheyne, was fraught with pathos. It seemed almost too intimate to
describe, and our very hearts were touched, as we looked on, and realized
something of the sacred emotions of that day.’32

When ‘Abdu’l-Baha arrived at the Cheynes’ home, he embraced the
elderly professor and praised Him for ‘his courageous steadfastness in his
life’s work, always striving against increasing weakness, and lessening bodily
health. Through those veiling clouds the light of the mind and spirit shone
with a radiant persistence,” wrote Lady Blomfield.22!

Cheyne showed the Master preliminary drafts of his writings about the
Baha’i teachings, expressing his faith with great fervour. His belief so moved
‘Abdu’l-Baha that He kissed Cheyne several times on the head and face and
stroked his head as he spoke. ‘Abdu’l-Baha also paid much attention to
Cheyne’s wife, Elizabeth Gibson, a poet who cared for her husband with a
devotion that also greatly touched the Master.

Surpassing Cheyne’s expectations of a small turnout on New Year’s Eve,
a large audience gathered to hear ‘Abdu’l-Baha speak at Manchester College.
The meeting was presided over by its Principal, Dr J. Estlin Carpenter, a
prominent Unitarian minister and authority on comparative religion. Dr
Carpenter paid an eloquent tribute to ‘Abdu’l-Baha and His work in his
introductory remarks, saying that what He promoted ‘was a movement not to
inspire another religion, but to create peace and goodwill amongst the
people’ 1222

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s theme for the talk was the importance of science, which
distinguishes man from the animal.

‘All the sciences and crafts were once the mysteries of nature,” the Oxford
Times reported the Master as saying, ‘but man had discovered them, and out
of the plain of invisibility he had brought them into visibility. This showed
that he had power to break the mysteries of nature.’32 Religious knowledge
and understanding now needed to catch up with science, the Master said. The



fundamental basis of religion was love, but this had been forgotten.

Concluding His speech, ‘Abdu’l-Baha commented how the great
universities were carrying on the work of peace and reconciliation, and He
expressed the hope that each member of the audience would become a voice
of opposition to warfare.

‘He was very hopeful of the future,” reported the Oxford Times. ‘He was a
great optimist and he hoped that the bounties of God would descend upon
them.”324 After ‘Abdu’l-Bahd concluded His remarks, there being no
questions from the floor, some of the academics returned with Him to the
home of the Cheynes.

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s brief visit to Oxford left a profound impression on those
who heard Him, notably Cheyne and Carpenter.

‘Why I am a Baha’i is a large question,” Cheyne wrote later, ‘but the
perfection of the character of Baha’u’llah and Abdu’l-Baha is perhaps the
chief reason.’222! ‘Abdu’l-Baha gave Cheyne a Persian name, Ruhani,
meaning ‘spiritual’.

‘Evidently he thought my work was not entirely done and would have me
be ever looking for help to the Spirit,” wrote Cheyne in 1914, in the preface
to his book The Reconciliation of Races and Religions .32

J. Estlin Carpenter in his volume entitled Comparative Religion, published
in 1913, wrote that the Baha’i Faith ‘claims to be a universal teaching; it has
already its noble army of martyrs and its holy books; has Persia, in the midst
of her miseries, given birth to a religion which will go round the world?’22J

On the train back to London, with tears in His eyes, ‘Abdu’l-Baha spoke
particularly of Mrs Cheyne to Lady Blomfield and Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper:
‘She is an angelic woman,’ He said, ‘an example to all in her unselfish love.
Yes, she is a perfect woman. An angel.’2%

1913 got under way with ‘Abdu’l-Baha talking to the friends gathered at 97
Cadogan Gardens about the changing character of civilization.
‘Civilization is like unto a moving hill of sands,” He said.

Today it is here, tomorrow it’s many thousand miles away. It is subject
to constant transference . . . Who knows what course of nobler and
higher civilization is not made ready for the East — the cradle of spiritual
civilization, the foundation of the moral life of man, the mainspring of
divine effulgences and the horizon from which the Day-Star of hope is



arising with resplendent beauty? When the material civilization joins
hands with divine civilization, then the world will have reached the goal
of a new order of things. There there will be no poverty, no squalor, no
crime, no shame. There will be no night and no winter. Eternal day and
perennial spring will gladden all hearts. 22

A doctor arrived and told the Master that he was attending to the physical
ailments of humanity.

‘May you be able to heal the spiritual sicknesses of the hearts,” ‘Abdu’l-
Baha told him. ‘This is more important. God will assist you in this work and I
will pray that you may become confirmed in this great service.”22

“This being New Year’s Day, Lady Blomfield and her two daughters came
in,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab, ‘and a constant flow of New Year’s greetings was
kept on. She received the wonderful blessing of the Master.”33

Violets, roses, carnations and sweets were presented to ‘Abdu’l-Baha as
signs of love from His devoted followers in London.

The Master joined Lady Blomfield and her daughters for a luncheon at Mrs
Thornburgh-Cropper’s apartment. Nineteen guests were present for a
sumptuous meal of many courses, including pigeon and chicken. ‘Abdu’l-
Baha told Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper that Haji Amin was going to file a suit
against her. When she asked Him why, He replied that because she was
giving .Haji Amin such delicious foods, he would become so fat as to lose
his stylish waist and would be unable to return to Persia to face the believers.

An itinerary for ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s upcoming visit to Edinburgh was
presented to Him. He laughingly told the friends that He had not reached that
city yet and they had already planned what He must do during every hour.
Then He joked about the rigid customs, date fixing and programme-making
of the westerners.

‘Abdu’l-Baha left the table to rest, returning later to say in English, ‘Good
sleep. I good sleep today.’'332

A further appointment followed at the centre of an organization interested
in psychic and spiritual matters called the Cosmos Society. More than three
hundred people gathered to hear Lady Blomfield introduce ‘Abdu’l-Baha,
who spoke about the visible and invisible realities of man and the rising and
setting of the suns of truth.

The activities of New Year’s Day concluded at a popular vegetarian



restaurant, in the company of Sir Richard Stapley and the veteran painter
Felix Moscheles. Moscheles was the son of a famous pianist, Ignaz
Moscheles, and was named for his godfather, the composer Felix
Mendelssohn. Moscheles was a keen Esperantist and a pacifist, and President
of the International Arbitration and Peace Association. Moscheles, like all
others who met ‘Abdu’l-Bahd, was greatly impressed by Him. At the end of
the meal, the gathering of 16 rose to drink the health of the Master. Towards
the end of His visit ‘Abdu’l-Baha would dine again with the Stapleys and
attend an ‘At Home’ at the Moscheles residence in Elm Park, Chelsea. The
Master also agreed to sit for a portrait by Moscheles.

Two of Lady Blomfield’s ‘friends of the mind’, as she called them, were
among the visitors to Cadogan Gardens on Thursday 2 January. John Lewis,
a journalist who had met ‘Abdu’l-Baha in Egypt, was prominent in the
International Psychical Research club, while C. W. Child was a celebrated
practitioner of palmistry. Lewis told the Master of his intention to publish a
number of Baha’i articles in the club magazine of which he was editor,
starting that month with an introductory article by Arthur Cuthbert, followed
by a transcript of the Master’s address to the Cosmos Society the day before.
Child, meanwhile, asked ‘Abdu’l-Baha if He would permit him to take an
impression of His hands, to which the Master agreed. Child brought out four
sheets of paper which he blackened with charcoal and obtained four prints of
the Master’s palms. They were later reproduced in the magazine with Child’s
analysis and published as a separate pamphlet.

J. Murray Macdonald, then Liberal Member of Parliament for Falkirk
Burghs, called on the Master to discuss matters to do with Persia. Macdonald
was a member of the Persia Committee with which Professor Browne was
also deeply involved. Macdonald discussed developments in the country with
‘Abdu’l-Baha, who took the opportunity to talk about the Baha’i ideals of
peace and brotherhood.

An excursion to Battersea Park in Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper’s automobile
later that same day saw ‘Abdu’l-Baha enter a playground where some three
hundred children were entertaining themselves. As He entered, many of the
boys and girls left their play and gathered around Him. For a few minutes, He
tenderly greeted the children and, reaching into His pockets, brought out
handfuls of half-shillings which He scattered over their heads.



‘There you see a mass of future generation, going down to grab the
money, happy noises, amiable scramble and delightful confusion!” wrote
Ahmad Sohrab, who then accompanied the Master back to the car, followed
by a crowd of children, vigorously waving their handkerchiefs and hats,
calling ‘Good day, Sir!’, ‘God keep you, Sir’ and ‘Happy New Year!’1233l

The Reverend R. J. Campbell, Pastor of the City Temple where ‘Abdu’l-
Baha had given His first ever public talk more than a year previously, arrived
to pay a return visit to the Master, who rose from His seat and advanced
towards him, showing great joy and pleasure at seeing him. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
told Campbell that He had yearned to see him since He had returned to
Britain and had many times inquired after him. Campbell had been suffering
from nervous tension from overwork in the intervening period since they had
last met and had moved to a quieter house outside of London to live with his
parents. Campbell told the Master that wherever he gave an address during
his own recent visit to the United States, the Baha’is came to hear him and
expressed their gratitude and pleasure. ‘Abdu’l-Baha invited Campbell to
visit Him in the Holy Land for a few months and also encouraged him to visit
Persia. In the meantime, however, a date was arranged for ‘Abdu’l-Baha to
have dinner with him, his parents and other invited ministers on 19 January.

[N Ll i

The Reverend Reginald John Campbell

Lady Blomfield and her daughters then joined the Master for afternoon tea
with one of their neighbours, who lived in the same block. ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s
attention was taken by a picture of Napoleon Bonaparte on the neighbour’s
wall and He spoke in detail of the story of Napoleon’s defeat in ‘Akka and



his subsequent travels to Egypt. Then the conversation turned to drama and
the Master talked about the religious plays of Persia that sometimes took ten
days to perform. The plays were so intense, so dramatic and so realistic, He
said, that often the spectators forgot that they were at a play. Once an
unfortunate actor was even Kkilled by one of the audience members who
thought that his friend in the performance was actually being murdered on the
stage.

Charlotte Despard, the prominent suffragette, welcomed ‘Abdu’l-Baha to the
Cedar Club House, maintained by the Women’s Service League which
provided food to needy mothers and assisted their young children with
nutrition. The Master and His entourage entered a large assembly room, still
draped with the green and red decorations of the Christmas season. At two
long tables, some 60 women and more than a hundred children sat, enjoying
an afternoon tea. ‘Abdu’l-Baha was invited to speak from a podium but as
was His wont, He walked straight to the impoverished women and spoke as
He mingled with them, pacing up and down the aisle between the two tables,
His face beaming.

‘I am very glad’, He said, ‘to be among you, who are blessed in God’s
name with children. They are the true signs of His spiritual love. The most
divine gifts of God. These little ones will grow to be fruitful trees. We must
look to them for the founders of many beautiful families. Let their education
be directed in the ways of purity and useful service. Here are the seeds of the
future race and upon them may be granted God’s blessing.’3%

At the end of one table the Master patted the head of a small child in his
mother’s arms. The child stretched out his tiny hand and the Master gently
closed it over with a bright new shilling. Down the long rows He passed,
pausing with each child for a moment and bestowing coins.

“The absence of tears from the many wee souls,” wrote one of the party,

. who are not given to complacently accepting strange faces,
singularly illustrates the infinite sincerity of the very young, who
respond to the same quality that is ever present in matured spiritual
character. One noticed, too, the thoughtful gaze of the women as they
watched the distinguished visitor in white turban and brown burnous,
moving in their midst. It is often too true that the very poor are keenly
suspicious of foreigners, especially if their mission is a religious one, but



Abdu’l Baha brings into every environment a profound truth and
sympathy that seems to crush the barriers, raised by isolated
imaginations.%

That night the Master was invited to speak at Essex Hall to the Women’s
Freedom League, of which Mrs Despard was the President. The League’s
professed aim was:

To secure for Women the Parliamentary Vote as it is or may be granted
to men; to use the power thus obtained to establish equality of rights and
opportunities between the sexes, and thereby to promote the social and
industrial well-being of the community.33¢!

While the policy of the Pankhursts’ Women’s Social and Political Union was
generally open warfare on the government, the WFL held its militant options
in reserve. Mrs Despard merged all her interests, including the right to vote,
Theosophy and vegetarianism, into one concept for spiritual evolution, all
preparations — as she saw it — for ‘the divine event toward which the whole
creation moves’ 1237

As they arrived at the door, ‘Abdu’l-Baha discovered hundreds of people
clamouring to get in, and no seats vacant inside the hall or gallery. More than
a thousand suffragettes were present. After Mrs Despard’s stirring
introduction, the Master began to speak on the subject of the equality of men
and women, His remarks, often witty, eliciting laughter and a shower of
approval. After every few sentences the crowd burst into applause. At the end
of the address, Lady Blomfield made some closing remarks and many people
surged forward to shake hands with the Master.

‘It was considered the best meeting ever held in London,’ reported Ahmad
Sohrab. ‘There was a constant flow of enthusiasm and interest. The faces
were illumined and the hearts were rejoiced.’3%

A few days later Lady Blomfield received a letter from Florence A.
Underwood of the League, which asked her to ‘kindly convey to His
Excellency Abdul Baha our warmest and most grateful thanks for coming to
our meeting and for speaking so splendidly on behalf of women. We are
proud of the fact that he has so honoured us, and I am sure that his powerful
advocacy of our cause will do an incalculable amount of good.’23

One afternoon Lady Blomfield’s younger daughter Ellinor went out with



‘Abdu’l-Baha to Regent’s Park without His interpreter. On the way, in Mrs
Thornburgh-Cropper’s car, and as they walked in the park, He taught them
Persian words.

‘They had a most enjoyable time with Him,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab.24)

Ellinor was happy to bring her elocution teacher, a celebrated actress, to
meet the Master. Lady Blomfield was also present as the visitor emphatically
declared that she was an ‘anti-suffragist’. She said she did not believe in
women getting votes and that she was working against the realization of such
a dreadful thing. The Master was amused and told her that she had found a
foe worthy of her steel.

“What is your reason for working against suffrage?’ He asked her.

‘Oh! T feel that women must attend to the duties of the house and child
rearing,” she answered.

‘Abdu’l-Baha replied that this was not a question of feeling, that He
required the reason for her opposition.

‘Suppose a judge is sitting in the chair and you and a suffragist are going
to decide your case,” He said. ‘The suffragist would say that the plant and
animal life already enjoy suffrage. There are male and female, their rights are
equal and they never fight over who is superior or who is inferior because
they receive the same kind of natural education. But in the human kingdom
there is this fight. In the vegetable kingdom, only the female is productive;
the male is barren. A female palm tree yields dates; a female fig tree produces
figs; a female mulberry tree gives fruits etc; while the male trees are good for
nothing. What would she say to this? Besides, a lioness is more valorous than
the lion. The hunters are not as much afraid of him as the lioness. The lion
may flee at the sight of a hundred hunters with their rifles aimed at him but
the lioness will stand her own ground . . .2

The actress laughed and admitted that ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s arguments were
unanswerable.

On the evening of 4 January Lady Blomfield hosted a meeting in her drawing
room. The Master entered at half past eight and expounded upon love. Sitarih
later decided to include His words as an additional chapter in Paris Talks.

‘What a power is love!’ said the Master. ‘It is the most wonderful, the
greatest of all living powers.’

Love gives life to the lifeless. Love lights a flame in the heart that is



cold. Love brings hope to the hopeless and gladdens the hearts of the
sorrowful.

In the world of existence there is indeed no greater power than the
power of love. When the heart of man is aglow with the flame of love,
he is ready to sacrifice all — even his life. In the Gospel it is said God is
love.

There are four kinds of love. The first is the love that flows from God
to man; it consists of the inexhaustible graces, the Divine effulgence and
heavenly illumination. Through this love the world of being receives
life. Through this love man is endowed with physical existence, until,
through the breath of the Holy Spirit — this same love — he receives
eternal life and becomes the image of the Living God. This love is the
origin of all the love in the world of creation.

The second is the love that flows from man to God. This is faith,
attraction to the Divine, enkindlement, progress, entrance into the
Kingdom of God, receiving the Bounties of God, illumination with the
lights of the Kingdom. This love is the origin of all philanthropy; this
love causes the hearts of men to reflect the rays of the Sun of Reality.

The third is the love of God towards the Self or Identity of God. This
is the transfiguration of His Beauty, the reflection of Himself in the
mirror of His Creation. This is the reality of love, the Ancient Love, the
Eternal Love. Through one ray of this Love all other love exists.

The fourth is the love of man for man. The love which exists between
the hearts of believers is prompted by the ideal of the unity of spirits.
This love is attained through the knowledge of God, so that men see the
Divine Love reflected in the heart. Each sees in the other the Beauty of
God reflected in the soul, and finding this point of similarity, they are
attracted to one another in love. This love will make all men the waves
of one sea, this love will make them all the stars of one heaven and the
fruits of one tree. This love will bring the realization of true accord, the
foundation of real unity.

But the love which sometimes exists between friends is not (true)
love, because it is subject to transmutation; this is merely fascination. As
the breeze blows, the slender trees yield. If the wind is in the East the
tree leans to the West, and if the wind turns to the West the tree leans to
the East. This kind of love is originated by the accidental conditions of



life. This is not love, it is merely acquaintanceship; it is subject to
change.

Today you will see two souls apparently in close friendship;
tomorrow all this may be changed. Yesterday they were ready to die for
one another, today they shun one another’s society! This is not love; it is
the yielding of the hearts to the accidents of life. When that which has
caused this ‘love’ to exist passes, the love passes also; this is not in
reality love.

Love is only of the four kinds that I have explained. (a) The love of
God towards the identity of God. Christ has said God is Love. (b) The
love of God for His children — for His servants. (c) The love of man for
God and (d) the love of man for man. These four kinds of love originate
from God. These are rays from the Sun of Reality; these are the
Breathings of the Holy Spirit; these are the Signs of the Reality.2%2

Early in the morning of Monday 6 January Lady Blomfield and her daughters
collected the Master from the apartment and travelled with Him to Euston
railway station. After saying their farewells, the Blomfields departed for a
few days’ rest at the coast, while the Master commenced His mission to
Scotland. He had been invited by Mrs Jane Elizabeth Whyte, ‘one of the
noblest and kindliest women that I have ever met,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab.243
A friend of Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper, Mrs Whyte had travelled with her on a
visit to the Master in ‘Akka in 1906. Mrs Whyte’s husband, Alexander, was a
leading figure in the United Free Church of Scotland and a former Moderator
of its General Assembly. Their expansive manse at 7 Charlotte Square in
Edinburgh’s New Town district was a fine Georgian house, attached to St
George’s United Free Church.

Edinburgh at the time of the Master’s visit enjoyed a reputation for being a
cosmopolitan city, with a population of 375,000, whose university — and in
particular its medical department — attracted students from as far afield as
Burma, Russia, Egypt, India and Persia, some of whom ‘Abdu’l-Baha would
meet during His stay in the city.

On the train journey to the Scottish capital, the Master told His company
that the work of teaching the Baha’i Faith was only just beginning in the city
and that they should associate with the people with exemplary devotion.
‘Abdu’l-Baha stayed at the Whytes’ home with Ahmad Sohrab while the rest



of His entourage stayed in a hotel. The Whytes had prepared for the Master a
room on the third floor with its own fireplace, which gave it ‘an air of
comfort and a glow of peace’ 2%

The manse in Charlotte Square quickly took on the appearance of Lady
Blomfield’s home at 97 Cadogan Gardens. Eminent citizens, Esperantists,
Theosophists, suffragettes, churchmen as well as students from the East
packed into its elegant, high-ceilinged drawing room to pay their respects to
one about whom they had heard much. Mrs Whyte had organized a full
programme for the Master, inviting the Outlook Tower Society, the
Edinburgh Esperanto Society and the Scottish Theosophical Society each to
host one of His public meetings. Her personal friend, the educational and
social reformer Sir Patrick Geddes, was the founder of the Outlook Tower
Society and played a major role in the Master’s visit to the city.

For the native Scots, the weather for ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s sojourn in their
capital was considered to be mild and sunny. The Master however found the
cold very trying and, one morning, He was taken around the city’s clothing
shops to buy more appropriate attire, much to the interest and admiration of
several shopkeepers unused to seeing a visitor from the East.

But this visit to Edinburgh stirred up more controversy than any other
aspect of the Master’s stay in Britain. There were a number of hostile letters
in the newspapers, and once He had left the city, a correspondence in the
press ensued denouncing His teachings as damaging to the missionary
achievements and unique message of Christianity. The Master, though,
considered His visit to Edinburgh had been a great success. Many people
accepted the teachings, according to Ahmad Sohrab, ‘to the extent that they
came to Him and asked how they should join the Bahai Cause. I believe from
now on there will be Bahais in Scotland and, of course, many people who
will be always interested and many societies will be glad to have Bahais
speak from their platform.’3%

One of the Master’s first acts on leaving Edinburgh was to consider how
the teaching work could be continued there. Alice Buckton was on His mind
as a suitable teacher for the Scottish people.

‘The people are greatly interested,” He told her the following day.
‘Edinburgh has a great capability. There are many souls who are
attracted.’12%



Sitarih, Mary and Ellinor, along with Beatrice Platt, eagerly awaited the
Master’s return from Edinburgh on 10 January. Shortly after He arrived at 97
Cadogan Gardens, ‘Abdu’l-Baha said that He felt He had troubled them too
much and expressed His desire to go to a hotel and have only the meetings in
the apartment.

‘Lady Blomfield, her daughters and Miss Platt moaned and lamented and
pleaded, the latter on her knees,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab, ‘that the Master
consented to stay.’3%

The cold and rain of London, following straight on from the chill weather
of Edinburgh, was hardly endearing ‘Abdu’l-Baha to the British climate.

‘I not like dark. I like light,” He said sadly in English.:24!

‘Abdu’l-Baha had not been fully well before leaving for Scotland and He
certainly was finding that the prevailing temperatures did not suit Him. He
nevertheless maintained His gruelling schedule of meetings and talks with
happiness and determination.

‘One very definite impression . . .” wrote Lady Blomfield after ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s visit to Edinburgh, ‘was of His power to refresh Himself from some
spiritual source when His strength had been overtaxed.’2%

On the afternoon of 11 January Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper had organized
another large farewell meeting for the Master at Caxton Hall. As the
entourage arrived, they found the hall was filled to overflowing, with many
of the audience standing. ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s speech on the life of Bah&’u’llah,
which included stories of the early martyrs of the Faith including Tahirih,
made a profound impression. After His address ‘Abdu’l-Baha went into a
large adjoining room where cakes and fruits were arranged on long tables.
Mrs  Thornburgh-Cropper introduced an array of clergymen,
parliamentarians, ministers, writers and thinkers who were pleased to shake
‘Abdu’l-Baha’s hand. While ‘Abdu’l-Baha was receiving the distinguished
guests, the talks were continuing in the main hall. Lady Blomfield spoke,
along with a Roman Catholic bishop, Alice Buckton and Eric Hammond.

That evening Sir Richard Stapley organized a dinner for the Master at his
home in Bloomsbury Square. Several professors were present, along with
more churchmen, philanthropists and other prominent men and women.
‘Abdu’l-Baha was intrigued to see the ladies and gentlemen lead each other
arm in arm into the dining room. He asked Ahmad Sohrab if this was the
custom, to which His interpreter replied that he supposed it was. Without



waiting for an introduction, the Master went forward and took hold of the
arm of an older woman and proceeded into the dining room with her. Lady
Stapley was somewhat put out, since the custom would have been for the
lady of the house to conduct the guest of honour.

The dining room was decorated most lavishly with flowers on the table. In
front of the Master a large cake was placed with the word ‘Unity’ on it. On
each of the four corners of the cake were beautiful white doves and in the
centre two hands clasped together as a symbol of the unity of East and West.

‘I heard Lady Blomfield quoting last night a few lines from Longfellow,’
wrote Ahmad Sohrab the following day as ‘Abdu’l-Baha was preparing to
speak at the New Congregational Church in Woolwich, southeast of the River
Thames, an arsenal district, where ‘cannon, powder and rifles are made to kill
our brothers’.1220

With ‘all the fire and enthusiasm of a lover of peace’,>*! Lady Blomfield
recited from Longfellow’s 1845 poem, ‘The Arsenal at Springfield’:

Were half the power, that fills the world with terror,
Were half the wealth, bestowed on camps and courts,
Given to redeem the human mind from error,

There were no need of arsenals or forts . . .

The church at Woolwich was full when the Master arrived at half past six in
the evening. The congregation rose as He stepped in. The minister, the
Reverend J. J. Pool, gave a brief account of the history of the Cause with the
greatest enthusiasm.

“Abdu’l-Baha calls Himself the Servant of God,’ said the minister, ‘but I
prefer to call him my Master and myself His Servant . . .’1222

‘Abdu’l-Baha gave such a penetrating address,” wrote Ahmad Sohrab,
‘that even Lady Blomfield and Mrs Cropper who have heard Him often
thought it the most wonderful of all. It stirred the souls and created a holy
atmosphere of love and good fellowship.’1223

“The congregation seemed spell-bound by the power which spread like an
atmosphere from another, higher world,” Lady Blomfield said later..24

After the address the Master gave £5 to Reverend Pool as His contribution
for the poor of the church. The minister was astonished but ‘Abdu’l-Baha
told him it was His custom to contribute something to every church He went
to. On leaving the church, the congregation had formed two lines through



which the Master passed and then gathered around Mrs Thornburgh-
Cropper’s car to bid farewell to their visitor from the Orient.

A little over a week remained of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s visit to London yet many
unique encounters and meetings were still in store, including two excursions
out of the capital. On Wednesday 15 January the Master returned to Bristol to
stay one night at the Clifton Guest House. Wellesley Tudor Pole met
‘Abdu’l-Bahd once more at the railway station and took Him for a drive
before a gathering with many of the guests and neighbours He had met more
than a year previously. In the evening, some 150 guests — including a group
of students from the East — gathered to hear the Master speak. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
gave the eastern greeting of raising the palms of His hands to His forehead,
after which He told the gathering that since last seeing them, He had been
half over the world. ‘In fact,” He said, ‘I have come to Clifton this time via
Los Angeles and Chicago.”>>

‘Abdu’l-Bahd and entourage at the Clifton Guest House, Bristol, during the Master’s second visit to the
city, 16—17 January 1913. Left to right: Mu‘ayyiru’l-Mamdlik, Ahmad Sohrab (?), Lutfu’lldh Hakim,
‘Abdu’l-Bahd, Mirza Mahmud-i-Zarqdni, Mirzd Asadu’lldh
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‘Abdu’l-Baha looks from the balcony of the Clifton Guest House to see who is
calling on Him

In a persuasive speech, ‘Abdu’l-Baha shared with His audience ten major
principles of the teachings of Baha’u’llah and concluded, ‘The divine table is
spread, the heavenly illumination is all-encircling; eternal life is provided for
all; divine food is prepared for all! Therefore let us practise the divine
essence of love and love each other from our very hearts and souls so that the
East and West shall embrace each other and realize that all are the sheep of
God. God is the good shepherd — then will we gather under the tabernacle of
His mercy!’13%¢!

After the meeting, the guests met with the Master in the library. Among
them were five Egyptian students, replete with the red fez. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
spoke to them in Arabic and emphasized the necessity for a universal
language. He said that in the future many such groups would gather from the
four corners of the earth for the purpose of mutual understanding.

On His return to London the following day, Lady Blomfield presented
‘Abdu’l-Baha with a statement she had prepared which she wished to send to
King George V, suggesting a meeting might be arranged. ‘Abdu’l-Baha
thanked her for preparing it but advised against her contacting the King,
saying He had come to the West to meet the poor, not monarchs and
noblemen. He would meet any seeker with affection but had no particular
wish to meet the rulers. Such a move could be misunderstood and
misconstrued, He said, and might create alarm.3>2

“The Cause has become very great,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha told a gathering at 97
Cadogan Gardens later that day.

Many souls are entering it — souls with different mentalities and range of
understanding. Complex difficulties constantly rise before us. The
administration of the Cause has become most difficult. Conflicting
thoughts and theories attack the Cause from every side. Now consider to
what extent the believers of God must become firm and soul-sacrificing.
Every one of the friends must become the essence of essences; each one
must become a brilliant lamp. People all around the world are entering
the Cause, people of various tribes and nations and religions and sects. It



is most difficult to administer to such heterogeneous elements. Wisdom
and Divine insight are necessary. Firmness and steadfastness are needed
at such a crucial period of the Cause.

All the meetings must be for teaching the Cause and spreading the
Message, and suffering the souls to enter into the Kingdom of
Baha’u’llah. Look at me. All my thoughts are centred around the
proclamation of the Kingdom. I have a lamp in my hand searching
throughout the lands and seas to find souls who can become heralds of
the Cause. Day and night I am engaged in this work. Any other
deliberations in the meetings are futile and fruitless. Convey the
Message! Attract the hearts! Sow the seeds! Teach the Cause to those
who do not know. It is now six months that Siyyid Asadu’llah implored
that I write a few lines to my sister, my daughters. I have not done this
because I find I must teach. I enter all meetings, all churches, so that the
Cause may be spread. When the ‘Most Important’ work is before our
sight, we must let go the ‘Important’ one. If the meeting or spiritual
assembly has any other occupations the time is spent in futility. All the
deliberations, all consultations, all the talks and addresses must revolve
around one focal centre, and that is: Teach the Cause. Teach. Teach.
Convey the Message. Awaken the souls. Now is the time of laying the
foundation. Now must we gather brick, stone, wood, iron, and other
building materials. Now is not the time of decoration. We must strive
day and night and think and work; what can I say that may become
effective? What can I do that may bring results? What can I write that
may bring forth fruits? Nothing else will be useful today. The interests of
such a Glorious Cause will not advance without such undivided

attention. While we are carrying this load we cannot carry any other
load!>#!

On the eve of 17 January, ‘Abdu’l-Baha bestowed a unique gift upon
Gabrielle Enthoven, a neighbour of the Blomfields, to whom the Master gave
the name ‘Hamsa’ih’, meaning neighbour. Enthoven was a passionate lover
of the theatre whose collection of stage memorabilia later formed the basis of
the Theatre Museum in London’s Covent Garden. ‘Abdu’l-Baha informed
her that He would give her the scenario for a play. ‘The circle of friends, who
were gathered round Him that evening, held a tense silence, while, in His



deep sonorous voice, He unfolded the pageant of His sublime imagination,’
wrote Mary Blomfield.22 With the exception of pauses for translation, the
Master recited the lengthy scenario without referring to any notes. As it
happened, Enthoven did not write the play but Mary did, two decades later. It
was entitled The Drama of the Kingdom.

The next day, Friday, ‘Abdu’l-Baha was driven by Sir Richard and Lady
Stapley to the small market town of Woking for perhaps the most unusual
visit of His second stay in England. In the 1870s, a Hungarian-born linguist
and editor of the Asiatic Review, Dr Gottlieb Wilhelm Leitner, had set up an
Oriental University in Woking. He hoped that it would develop a curriculum
for Asians living in Europe and provide them with a familiar living
environment, while also allowing Europeans who wished to travel the
opportunity to learn about the eastern way of life. Leitner had died in 1899
and the institute he founded closed along with the mosque he had built in its
grounds ten years earlier, the first purpose-built mosque in Europe outside of
Moorish Spain. It was periodically reopened for use on special occasions,
most notably for a memorial service for the Persian king Muzaffari’d-Din
Shah who had died in 1907. Five years later a missionary for the Ahmadiyya
religious movement, Kwaja Kamel ud Din, arrived in Britain and re-opened
the mosque.

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s visit was at the request of a number of Muslims who had
previously visited Him at Cadogan Gardens. Under the auspices of the
Asiatic Review, they invited Him to give a talk at the mosque on the theme of
world unity. Lady Blomfield described those who congregated to meet Him
at Woking as ‘an important gathering of their friends’ who ‘gave an
enthusiastic welcome to Him Who, albeit the bearer of the new Message to
all the religions of the world, was descended from the ancient line of nobles
in Islam’ 2%
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An invitation to the Woking Mosque to hear ‘Abdu’l-Baha speak

On His arrival ‘Abdu’l-Baha was welcomed by Henry Leitner, son of the
founder, who spoke to the Master of his father’s lifelong devotion to
orientalism. After lunching with various Muslim and Christian notables,
‘Abdu’l-Baha walked to the steps of the mosque and addressed the gathering
of British, Turkish, Indian and Egyptian friends in the courtyard outside the
small, white-domed building.

‘During my sojourn among many lands and peoples,” He told them, ‘I
have been desired to speak in Christian churches, in Jewish synagogues, and
in every kind of religious gathering.’

In all of them I summoned the people to work for the unity of the human
race, and for the peace of the whole world. I told them the principles of
the religion of God, saying unto them ‘The foundation of the religion of
God is one.” That ‘one’ is absolute truth and reality, which is indivisible,
and not able to be multiplied or separated.

The religion of God is the means of the education of man, and leads
him to become a manifestation of the highest virtues of humanity. It
encourages the people to uphold the principle of peace. The great
underlying truth of the religion of God is love . . 138U

Following the Master’s brief address, Dr John Pollen, representing the East



India Association, remarked that ‘Abdu’l-Baha was hastening that ‘diviner
day’ when all men would work together ‘in noble brotherhood’.12*4 On behalf
of Leitner, Dr Pollen announced that from that day onward the building
would be open for Muslims to worship at any time they pleased.

Before leaving the mosque the Master wrote in its visitors’ book, ‘O God,
illumine this “Review”, and ignite this Society like unto a lamp, so that it
may spread the Light in all directions.’2%

‘Abdu’l-Baha at Woking Mosque, 17 January 1913

On His final Sunday in London ‘Abdu’l-Baha honoured His arrangement
with the Reverend R.J. Campbell and had lunch with the clergyman’s parents
as well as some other divines. The Master spoke to them about the opening
verses of the Gospel of St John. The luncheon was followed by a visit to the
artist Felix Moscheles who had an ‘At home’ meeting with a number of
guests.

‘We had witnessed a solemn act in the Mysterious Sacred Drama of the



World,” wrote Sitarih, who had played such a significant role in that drama as
it unfolded in London.2%4!

‘Abdu’l-Bahé’s historic visits to Britain were ended. ‘We stood bereft of His
presence,’ said Lady Blomfield.

Of the friends who gathered round Him at the train, one had been a
constant visitor, a charming Eastern potentate [the Maharajah of
Jhalawar], dignified and picturesque in his jewelled turban. He was an
example of earthly kingship, one of the many other great personages of
the world, all of whom, absent and present, were so small, so
insignificant, when compared with the Ambassador of the Most High, as
He stood, clad in a simple garment, speaking courteous words of
farewell, smiling that love-laden smile which comforted all hearts.

Discarding preconceived ideas, a new consciousness seemed to
awaken when in His presence.

Some of the minds, though as yet so finite, reached out to a
recognition of the Light of the great Manifestation, now being diffused
by ‘Abdu’l-Baha on all Humanity. To us He was impregnated with that
Light, ‘as a vesture wrapped about him, like a garment round him
thrown’.

Small wonder that we mortals were overwhelmed with awe, as we
drew near to the heavenly Messenger of that immortal Spirit of Truth
and Light, which had come to save the children of men from chaotic
destruction.

Would Humanity awaken? Or would they continue to sleep

‘Unaware’ 1363

On Tuesday 21 January 1913, more than five weeks since returning to
Britain, the Master left London for the final time, on a train bound from
London’s Victoria station to the coast from where He would sail to France.

‘O my beloved daughter! Thy letter was received,” responded ‘Abdu’l-
Baha to a letter from Lady Blomfield on His arrival in Paris. ‘. . . As to thy
statement that thy house is now empty: wheresoever thou art, know that that
place is not empty but abundantly filled. For I am with thee wherever thou
dwellest; that place is overflowing with spiritual susceptibilities, and the light
of the Kingdom casteth its effulgence upon it.’25

A historic episode in the Heroic Age of the Baha’i Faith — indeed in the



history of London and the British Isles — had ended. But for Sara Louisa,
Lady Blomfield, named Sitarih Khanum by the Centre of the Covenant —
those sublime days would remain vividly in her mind until her last breath.
They would inspire, in the three decades of life left to her, services of
exceptional scope and significance.

‘... the star (sitdrih) is shining,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha observed, ‘. . . she
speaketh forth and summoneth the people to the Kingdom of God. It is
certain that her brilliance shall increase as day followeth day.’2*



CHAPTER SEVEN: PURE AND GOODLY DEEDS

The betterment of the world can be accomplished through pure and goodly
deeds,
through commendable and seemly conduct.3%!
Baha’u’llah
With the Master departed from British shores, it might be thought that life for
His followers in London would have returned to some semblance of
normality. Normality for them, however, was seldom without intense activity
and for Lady Blomfield, settled back into her home at 97 Cadogan Gardens,
exertion for the Baha’i Cause showed no sign of abating.

The early months of 1913 saw Sitarih widening her circle of friends,
especially those who were eager to learn more of the Baha’i teachings. She
also began to visit once again some of her older acquaintances whom she felt
she had neglected before and during the weeks of the Master’s stay. She was
pleased to discover that one such friend, a Lady Nicholson — who may have
been the wife of Sir Charles Nicholson, like Sir Arthur Blomfield an architect
of churches — had been curious about the teachings as far back as 1896 from
which time she had collected newspaper cuttings about the Baha’i
Movement. Lady Nicholson was fascinated to hear of the work of ‘Abdu’l-
Baha, and Lady Blomfield felt that it appeared likely she would assist in
spreading the message.

‘Convey my respects to Lady Nicholson’, wrote ‘Abdu’l-Baha, ‘and
deliver this message to her on my behalf: This century is the century of God
and the dawning place of the Sun of Truth. Endeavour as far as thou canst to
receive thy share of its radiance.”2%J

Lady Blomfield was told by another interested acquaintance, Baroness
Driickman, that she planned to contact her relatives in Germany and
encourage them to visit the Master during His forthcoming stay in Stuttgart.
‘Abdu’l-Baha’s message to the Baroness was, “The fountain of eternal life is
gushing forth. Wert thou to drink but a draught thereof, thou wouldst see this
world to be another world and wouldst find the East and the West illumined
with the rays of the Sun of Truth.’5%

<



Lady Blomfield also maintained a regular correspondence at this time with
Maude Holbach, a travel writer whose works included Bosnia and
Herzegovina: Some Wayside Wanderings and Bible Ways in Bible Lands: An
Impression of Palestine. Maude, her husband Otto — who took the
photographs for her books — and daughter Dorothy lived in Oxford, were well
acquainted with Professor Cheyne, and attended Christian Science as well as
Anglican meetings, in addition to their interest in the Baha’i message.

With Baha’i activities maintaining their momentum in London in the wake
of the Master’s second visit, Sitarih contemplated selling Springfield House,
the country home in Broadway, Worcestershire, to which she had retreated in
the early days of her widowhood. Being free from the business of keeping the
property in order, she believed, would allow her more time to concentrate her
efforts on the Baha’i work. She wrote to ‘Abdu’l-Baha in Paris, seeking His
blessing for her idea to sell the home and purchase another in London which
she might put to good use to serve the Cause. ‘Abdu’l-Baha responded
through Lutfu’llah Hakim, who was with the Master in the French capital,
that she should be careful not to lose money on it — if there was someone who
was willing to offer a good price, then she should sell the house and buy a
new one.

‘If not,” conveyed Hakim, ‘let it, and then hire one in London instead.

While the property was still in her hands, however, Sitarih extended an
invitation to one of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s daughters, Riha — who had just
undergone surgery in Paris — to consider making the journey across the
English Channel to recuperate in the fresh Cotswolds air.

‘It would make me extremely happy to be in your home,” Ruha responded,
in the first letter that her doctor had allowed her to write since she had left
Haifa. ‘I am sure I will feel quite at home there. I have heard so much of you
from the Master that I would like very much to meet you and your dear
daughters before I leave Europe but I am not quite sure yet if I will be able to
take the trip to England . . . It would be a great disappointment for me to
come to France and be so near England where my friends are and not be able
to just cross the channel and go to see them. I am sure I will regret it
always.’3%2

Ruha’s doctor was well enough satisfied with her recuperation following
the operation that she did manage to make the journey and spend some
precious days convalescing with the Blomfields, who showed her the quality

>[371



of welcome that her father had so much appreciated.

‘I cannot find a word to thank you enough for all your kindness and
hospitality,” she wrote to Lady Blomfield after her stay. ‘Indeed I enjoyed
very much my visit with you and can never forget those happy days I spent in
your dear home. I have learned so much from you and you have done much
for me, that really I do not know what to say or how to thank you.”22

Another Baha’i friend whom Lady Blomfield took under her motherly
wing was a Persian man in his thirties named Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar Rafsanjani.
Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar, who had become a believer a decade before Lady
Blomfield, in 1897, had been forced to leave his home and business as a
paper merchant after a wave of persecution against the Baha’is in Iran
erupted in 1903. From Rafsanjan, he moved to Tehran where he attended a
class for Baha’i teachers that was being held by the esteemed teacher Sadr al-
suddr. Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar became an outstanding promoter of the Baha’i
Cause, demonstrating great skill at memorizing the sacred scriptures which
he chanted in a beautiful voice. In 1911 the Master summoned Mirza ‘Ali-
Akbar to Paris, after which he was sent by Him on a teaching tour through
Germany and England with Lutfu’llah Hakim as his translator.

Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar visited 97 Cadogan Gardens on a number of occasions
and proved to be of some assistance to Lady Blomfield, clarifying for her
aspects of the Baha’i teachings about which she still lacked clarity. One such
matter was the question of capital punishment, which she and Mirza ‘Ali-
Akbar discussed at length.

‘Last night when I came at home,” ‘Ali-Akbar wrote to her in his fractured
English after one such conversation, ‘immediately I looked in the little book
which I have it for my pocket and I saw that I have said true about it but
when I read the verse after I saw Bhaollah has commanded for this
punishment an eternal prison. I became so happy that I am not able to express
my happiness. I asked Lotfulla to translate these two verse for you and I sent
them to you my dear mother . . "3

On 13 May 1913 when Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar was in London and Lady
Blomfield was out of town, he wrote to her, ‘Sometimes think at myself that
this City without dear Lady is really like a body without spirit or an eye
without light. Every one know that body without spirit it is no thing . . .’2%>

Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar provided invaluable assistance to Professor Cheyne,
researching texts for him in the British Museum as the venerable theologian



prepared his book about the Baha’i teachings, The Reconciliation of Races
and Religions. When the possibility of Mirza ‘Ali-Akbar leaving London for
Stuttgart was mooted, Lady Blomfield was most insistent he should stay.

“The work he is doing . . . is needed by Dr Cheyne for the scholarly book
he is writing in the service of the Holy Bahdi Cause, and is of the greatest
importance,” she wrote to Maude Holbach. ‘It is also imperative that there
should be as little delay as possible — the health of dear Dr Cheyne being in
so precarious a condition!! Seeing the importance of time in this work, it is to
my mind not wise for Ali Akbar to go to Stuttgart until the museum work for
Dr Cheyne is finished — that he may have all possible data at hand in the
compilation of his book, so that he may not be hampered by having to wait. It
is for the future welfare of the Kingdom!!! I know you will quite understand.
I feel that (in fact I know) the Master wishes this to be assisted by Ali Akbar
with all his power.”2%

The well-being of Cheyne and his wife was very much in the mind of the
Master, who urged Lady Blomfield to show them the ‘utmost of
consideration and kindness’.

‘He is a very good and noble person . . .” wrote Lutfu’llah Hakim on
‘Abdu’l-Baha’s behalf. ‘She is a very chaste, honourable and kind lady.
Again He said to tell Lady, Mrs Cropper and Miss Rosenberg, “Have
consideration for him”.”2Z

The Master Himself wrote to Cheyne,

b

O thou my spiritual philosopher! Many professors are living in this
world but the majority of them are deprived of the reality of the
Kingdom; but praise be to God that thou hast become the candle of all
the Professors, hast found the way to the Universe of the Kingdom, thou
art not travelling on the earth but hast soaring in thy wings.

There were many Doctors amongst the Jews but they were all earthly
but St Paul became heavenly, because he could fly upwards. In his own
time no one duly recognized him nay rather he spent his days amidst
difficulties and contempt. Afterward it became known that he was not an
earthly bird, he was a celestial one; he was not a natural philosopher but
a divine philosopher . . .

It is similarly my hope that thou mayest become filled with Baha
Ullah and become a first herald in that country and region — so that thou



mayest shine from the horizon of reality like unto a star for ever and

ever.228

‘When Professor and Mrs Cheyne pay thee a visit at thy summer home,’
‘Abdu’l-Baha told Lady Blomfield, ‘make thou an effort, that they may
become wholly spiritual and illumined, and that, in the latter days of his life,
he may light a candle whose radiance may endure for all eternity.’2%

Cheyne would live until 16 February 1915, one year after his book on the
Baha’i Cause was published.

Friday 21 March 1913 — the new year of the Baha’i calendar — coincided with
the Good Friday holiday of the Easter period. As ‘Abdu’l-Baha celebrated the
Naw-Ruz festival with guests at a special luncheon in His hotel in Rue
Lauriston, near the Place de I’Etoile in Paris, Lady Blomfield wrote to Him
from Cadogan Gardens, expressing her appreciation of the prayers He was
continually offering on behalf of her family.

‘I prize with heartfelt delight and gratitude the assurance that you are
praying for us,” she wrote, ‘and that you will ever ask Blessings and
Confirmations of the Spirit for my girls, my son and for myself.’2%

Lady Blomfield’s son, Frank, may have been an ongoing source of worry
for her. He is mentioned rarely in any of her letters and was bequeathed
nothing in her will. Some years after her passing, a young Baha’i actor living
in London — David Hofman — was instructed by Sitarih’s daughter Mary to
take a five pound note on her behalf to her brother. Hofman found a
dishevelled Frank living in a rundown bedsit in Camden Town. How this
Eton-educated son of aristocracy, who had once served in the Royal Navy,
who had been blessed with a Persian name from the Master — had fallen upon
such sorry times is lost to history.

The final leg of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s sojourn in Europe was about to begin, as
He prepared to travel onward from Paris to Germany, Hungary and Austria,
and then make one last return to the French capital before departing for
Egypt. His gratitude to Lady Blomfield and her daughters, along with
Beatrice Platt, for compiling His talks in Paris was evident from a message in
which He wrote, ‘O Thou kind Lord! This daughter of the Kingdom hath
made a great exertion and hath written down the addresses of ‘Abdu’l-Baha.
O Lord! Assist her and her daughters to spread abroad the splendours of the
Kingdom.’:384



‘I like the Lady very much,’ the Master told Hakim. ‘She is very dear to
me. | always remember her. She is indeed very dear and her whole aim is for
serving the Cause.’'3%2

On Thursday 12 June ‘Abdu’l-Baha departed from His Paris hotel and
took a 12-hour train journey to Marseilles, where He rested for the night. The
following morning He boarded a steamship, the Himalaya, and returned to
Egypt.

‘A most significant scene in a century-old drama had been enacted,’
reflected Shoghi Effendi on the conclusion of his grandfather’s historic
travels to the West.

A glorious chapter in the history of the first Baha’i century had been
written. Seeds of undreamt-of potentialities had, with the hand of the
Centre of the Covenant Himself, been sown in some of the fertile fields
of the Western world. Never in the entire range of religious history had
any Figure of comparable stature arisen to perform a labour of such
magnitude and imperishable worth. Forces were unleashed through those
fateful journeys which even now, at a distance of well nigh thirty-five
years, we are unable to measure or comprehend.’3%

‘Abdu’l-Baha would never fail to remember Lady Blomfield’s unique
contribution to that glorious chapter of history.

‘O my heavenly daughter! From the day I departed London until now, I
have not forgotten thee for a moment. Thou hast ever been and remain in my
thoughts,” wrote the Master from Egypt on 15 September 1913.

I cherish the hope that, through the blessings and confirmations of God,
thou mayest day by day become more illumined and draw nearer to Him,
that the confirmations of the Holy Spirit may reach thee, that thy words
may touch the hearts and become the cause of the guidance of the souls,
and that, through the protection and help vouchsafed by Baha’u’llah,
thou mayest raise aloft in London a blazing torch that may endure

eternally and cause that land to become illumined.28!

Lady Blomfield did her utmost to ensure that the work promoting the Baha’i
teachings in London was progressing well, particularly a public meeting
which was held weekly at King’s Weigh House, a Congregational church off
Oxford Street in central London, today known as the Ukrainian Catholic



Cathedral of the Holy Family in Exile.

Charles Mason Remey was one among many believers from other
countries who passed through London and were impressed by the activities in
the city.

‘There were meetings practically every day in the week in various parts of
the city and it was most encouraging and hopeful to mingle with the people
and to see and to feel their devotion to the cause of humanity. We were quite
touched by the kindness and the hospitality of the friends,” he wrote in his
1915 account, Through Warring Countries to the Mountain of God.

I will describe one meeting, never to be forgotten. It was a so-called
feast, an institution which has been enjoined by each of the three great
Bahai teachers of this day, a coming together of people in order to
partake of both material and spiritual food in the form of refreshments
and food, together with reading, speaking and conversation about the
Divine Cause and its realities.

This particular feast to which I refer was held in the King’s Weigh
House, where the regular weekly Bahai meetings had for some time been
held. It was quite typical of the work of our friends in London.

Over one hundred persons assembled, people of different
nationalities, races, and religions, and representing many varied
movements and interests. There were Moslems and Hindus from the
East, and Jews and Orthodox Christians, Theosophists, New Thought
people, and others of the new modern movements from the West, each

attracted to the Bahai light and enthusiastic over its broad principles.28!

Sitarih believed the public meetings to be very useful, ‘for all sorts of
enquirers attend and ask questions; and strangers are easier to manage there
than in Private Meetings, where sometimes undesirable people make things
difficult for the young in the Cause, whom they entice away! In a Public
Meeting, this is not so much attempted.’2%

The Christmas and New Year period of 1913-14 witnessed another staging of
Alice Buckton’s nativity play Eager Heart, which had so moved the Master
the previous year.

‘We are gradually getting back into normal days after the Eager Heart
time,” wrote Lady Blomfield, who astonishingly entertained more than 700
people over the seasonal festivities. ‘Several people said “only for our day at



Springfield, seeing Eager Heart, and having our Christmas Tea, we should
have had no Christmas at all”.’2¢Z!

Among the Blomfields’ visitors over the Christmas holidays were Mirza
‘Ali-Akbar and Dorothy Holbach, whose parents were travelling in the Holy
Land. Lady Blomfield decided to invite ‘Dot’ back to spend the Easter
holidays with her daughters, one of whom — Ellinor — was preparing to
perform in Shakespeare’s Twelfth Night.

‘Well your dear little Dot looks well and is happy in her studies at her
school,” Sitarih wrote to Maude on 28 January 1914. ‘We read your letters
together, and felt that we touched hands across the space which divides us;
we simply gloated over the descriptions, and felt one with all the glorious
holy time and spiritual influence of the “Holy Land” . . .”:3%8

Lady Blomfield had long cherished the hope to visit Haifa, a journey she
had come close to making on a number of occasions only to find her plans
thwarted by various practical considerations. She had sent ‘Abdu’l-Baha a
scarf as a Christmas gift, along with other presents for His daughters, and she
yearned to see the Master again and meet His family. She was interested to
learn that the Holbachs were staying in a convent in Haifa.

‘It might be just the place for us, when we shall be able to go to the
desired land. I think we should love to stay there,” she wrote, as she
continued to try to let or sell the house in Broadway before she could free
herself to make the journey eastwards.'28%

‘I expect thine arrival and that of thy respected daughters during this or the
following spring,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote to her on 24 February 1914.
‘Undoubtedly ye will come. If possible, pass through Stuttgart on your way
to the Holy Land. Ye will indeed bring great joy to the hearts in this
household, for all are longing to see you.’2%

Having returned to the Holy Land in early December 1913, in addition to
His manifold duties attending to the needs of the Baha’i community who had
been deprived of His presence during His western journeys, the Master
welcomed a continuous stream of pilgrims and maintained an extensive
correspondence with His followers around the world, offering unceasing
guidance, encouragement and advice with a care, consistency and attention to
personal detail that was nothing less than superhuman. Lady Blomfield was
the recipient of many such letters.

‘During my sojourn in London,” He wrote to her, ‘although my physical



health was precarious, yet the confirmations of the heavenly spirit were
unceasing.’

How many days and nights did we converse together with perfect joy
and radiance, speaking of the eternal outpourings of God’s grace and
imparting the glad-tidings of the advent of His Kingdom! No doubt thou
dost recall all those memories.

Wherefore, O my heavenly daughter, strive with heart and soul that
day by day the light of guidance may shine forth more brightly in that
land, that thou mayest become like unto a candle that giveth light to its
inhabitants.22!

Sitarih delivered one of the public talks at King’s Weigh House on 27
February 1914, using ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s guidance to the believers in Stuttgart as
the basis of her address. The Master told her that the talk would have ‘a far-
reaching effect’, saying that ‘undoubtedly thou wilt speak at the next meeting
with still greater eloquence and fluency. Convey to that gathering the
following message on my behalf’:

Praise be to God, this century is an illumined century. It is the century of
the divine spirit. It is the century of truth, in which the sun of truth will
shine with such intensity as to obliterate the darkness of blind imitation
and to entirely banish contention and conflict, hatred and hostility from
amongst mankind. For all are God’s flock, and God is their true
Shepherd, and His compassion embraceth them all. Therefore, all
mankind must, under the sheltering protection of the true Shepherd,
embrace each other, roam in the utmost love and harmony in the
meadow of divine mercy, grow and develop therein, and attain infinite
joy and happiness..32

As the militancy of the suffragette movement reached its zenith, each day’s
news announced yet more violent struggles and acts of vandalism committed
by women. Emmeline Pankhurst had been sentenced to three years in prison
in April 1913 for inciting destruction of the home of the Chancellor of the
Exchequer: a group of militant campaigners stormed Manchester Art Gallery
where they mutilated more than a dozen paintings; corrosive acid was
regularly poured into letter boxes destroying the contents; in February 1914
women campaigners broke the windows of the Home Secretary’s London



office and in May 1914 an attempt was made to set fire to the building of the
New Castle Lawn Tennis Club, Nottingham Park.

Lady Blomfield found such actions profoundly shocking. Even a fellow
Baha’i, Elizabeth Herrick, felt compelled to join in the campaign of shop
window smashing, believing that by breaking a small window in a back street
post office she might get no more than three days in prison. Unfortunately for
her, she was sentenced to six weeks. Untroubled by the verdict, she casually
asked in court if she might have her hammer back. It was a family heirloom,
she said.

The fortress-like Holloway women’s prison, situated in northeast London,
was no laughing matter, however. Herrick described how the walls of her cell
were covered with obscenities — phrases so vile and disgusting that she spent
her days and nights attempting to cleanse the atmosphere by reciting prayers
and repeating the Greatest Name — Allah-u-Abhda — over and over.
Regulations allowed the prisoner to demand an interview with the governor,
the doctor or the chaplain. While most of the detained women did not know
this, Herrick exercised her rights and demanded an interview with each of
them every day. She insisted that the chaplain recognize her right to be
identified as a Baha’i rather than an Anglican. From the doctor she secured a
daily ration of fruit, not just for herself but the other prisoners.

Despite her distaste for militant action, Lady Blomfield was appalled by
the government’s treatment of the suffragettes. Under the so-called ‘Cat and
Mouse Act’, hunger striking prisoners who had earlier been forcibly fed were
allowed not to eat but when they fell ill, were released for recovery, then
rearrested. While Mrs Pankhurst was let out of prison after her hunger strike,
her accomplice, Mary Richardson, who had also stopped eating to secure her
own release, was kept in and subjected instead to force-feeding.

Aware of the passion that Lady Blomfield’s daughters had for the matter
of gender equality, ‘Abdu’l-Baha expressed His hope that they might one day
go to Persia to promote the idea.

“The emancipation of women is one of the pillars of the Cause of God . . .’
the Master wrote to Sitarih.

In Persia, owing to the extreme fanaticism of the inhabitants, women
have not yet attained full emancipation — indeed, were a woman to be
fully emancipated, they would immediately tear her to pieces — yet in



spite of this the believers of God are day by day advancing on this path. I
hope that erelong the full emancipation of women will be achieved.2%!

Yet the Master urged Mary and Ellinor to keep their passion for women’s
rights within the boundaries of the law.

‘For the present . . . thy daughters must speak with moderation concerning
the emancipation of women in Europe,” He told Lady Blomfield.

They must not appear strident, for stridency bringeth about other harms.
One’s speech must be mild. In the Bible God instructed Moses and
Aaron to speak mildly to Pharaoh. Thy revered daughters must engage in
teaching the Cause of God: That Cause compriseth all that is good,

among which is the emancipation of women and their equality with men.
[394]

The Blomfield girls’ stance on suffrage soon became well known, however,
and in a very public way.

King George V had instituted a series of evening receptions with the
intention of allowing closer contact with his people, albeit those who were
deemed worthy by name, title or achievement to attend. On Thursday 3 June
1914 Lady Blomfield travelled by car with a young married woman she
intended to present to the Court, unaware that her daughters had hatched a
plan that same evening to appeal to the King to intervene over the treatment
of imprisoned suffragettes. Mary and Ellinor arrived at Court after their
mother, and without her knowledge. Following presentations to the King and
Queen of a Lady Townsend and her sister, Mrs Walrond, Mary appeared
before their majesties, suddenly dropped down onto one knee, flung out her
hands, and cried out, ‘For God’s sake, Your Majesty, put a stop to forcible
feeding!’

The Queen, it was reported, turned pale and made no effort to conceal her
displeasure. Brigadier General Sir Douglas Dawson, a Comptroller in the
Lord Chamberlain’s office who was standing at the right of the King with the
Lord Chamberlain, swiftly summoned officials and half led, half carried
Mary out of the King’s presence who, as the Daily Mirror phrased it, had
remained serene.222) Most of those in the Throne Room simply thought that a
debutante had fainted. Lady Blomfield had to intimate to the press her
repudiation of what her daughter had done, claiming she saw nothing of the
incident. In a letter to the Daily Mail she stated that she was ‘in no way



connected with the militant suffragists’.2%! Sylvia Pankhurst later wrote, in
somewhat of an exaggeration, ‘Lady Blomfield had been enthusiastic for
militancy of the most extreme kind, so long as it was committed by other
people’s daughters.’2%

‘A member of the Blomfield family’ was quoted in the New York Times as
saying, ‘I should like it as widely known as possible that we dissociate
ourselves entirely from this girl’s misguided act. We are sick and disgusted to
a degree. I know the head of the family shares my views, and I can speak
safely for all the rest of us, with the exception of this small contingent.’2%

‘I cannot imagine what has come over my half sisters,” Charles Blomfield
told another newspaper. ‘Mary would have made a capital doctor. Elinor is a
born lawyer . . . Every relative the girls have is highly indignant at their
outrageous action. We have taken both of them to the country. I do not intend
to let them return to town.”2%

When the incident had blown over, the Queen was said to have remarked,
‘If this had been the worst thing the women had done, they might perhaps be
forgiven.”®® Mary’s outburst, however, resulted in precautions being taken
at later such Courts, with officials vigorously examining the guest lists and
withdrawing invitations to groups of women whom they suspected of having
suffragette tendencies.

Perhaps to Lady Blomfield’s discomfort, news of the event reached the
ears of Baha’is around the world. However they were nothing less than in
awe of Mary’s act, spurred on by ‘Abdu’l-Bahd’s own enthusiasm at her
courage. The distinguished Baha’i teacher and Disciple of ‘Abdu’l-Baha
Joseph Hannen — who himself visited prisoners and consoled the distressed —
wrote to Lady Blomfield from Washington pc and likened Mary’s act to the
calls for women’s liberation voiced by the first woman follower of the Bab,
Tahirih, almost 70 years before:

. when I read in our daily papers of the brave deed of your noble
daughter, both Mrs Hannen and I were filled with admiration. We
conduct a Sunday School Class for the Baha’i children here, and it was
with much pride and pleasure that I told them the following Sunday of
the heroic deed of this Western Qurat-El-Ayn. Later, one of the dear
believers intimated that the act might not have been wise, and that you
were probably inimical to its spirit. I therefore forbore sending a letter



which I had framed mentally, praising Miss Mary’s courageous act and
congratulating you on the possession of such a splendid Bahai daughter.
And now I know the inward meaning of the scriptural utterance ‘Quench
not the Spirit!” For that letter should have been written! At this late date I
read the Master’s Praise, and in sending it to you, it is with regret that
mine was not sent sooner. Nevertheless it is not meet for the servant to
speak before his Master, and so perhaps it is just as well that I have kept
silent until now 401

Indeed, it was in a letter which Hannen had received from Mirza Ahmad
Sohrab that the western believers learned of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s reaction to the
event.

‘The Daily Sketch, of London, Saturday June 6,” wrote Sohrab, ‘contains a
long article concerning the attendance of Misses Mary and Ellinor Blomfield
at the Court of England, and the speech of the former in behalf of the
Suffrage Cause.’

The paper publishes the photographs of Lady Blomfield and her two
daughters. Above the photograph of Miss Mary (Parveen) Blomfield, on
the first page, is written: ‘The Suffragette in the Throne Room: Lady
Blomfield’s daughter, who caused the sensation at Court’. Below the
photo, the following is written, ‘Your Majesty, for God’s sake stop
forcible feeding.” Here is Miss Mary Blomfield, the Society Suffragist,
who made the impassioned appeal to the King in the Throne Room, and
created the Court sensation that everyone in England was talking about
yesterday. It was the first time in history that so dramatic a speech had
been made by a girl at the Throne of England.” The paper was given to
me by the mail-man in the morning, and I read the article on page 7 with
much interest. In half an hour, every Bahai knew about it, the Pilgrims
were talking about it and admiring the supreme courage and fearlessness
of Parveen Khanum. As everybody knows, Lady Blomfield and her
daughters were the Master’s hostesses on the occasion of his two visits
to England; therefore our interest in this matter resolves itself into a
more particular form. ‘What matchless resolution! What an heroic deed!”
were the words uttered by every lip as soon as they heard the story and
looked at the picture. I had the hardest time to keep the paper in my
possession, because everyone wanted to have it for himself. At last the



afternoon came around and the Beloved sent for me. I took the paper
with me to show it to Him. I knew He would be interested to hear the
news. As soon as I entered the room, He said, ‘What is in thy hand?’ I
gave the paper to him. At first glance he recognized Lady Blomfield and
her daughters, ‘Oh! What is this?’ Then I gave him an outline of this
most dramatic event. He listened most attentively, and then laughed
heartily. “What courage!’ he said ‘Come! Take the paper and read the
article to me,” which I did with equal ardour and spirits. He was
especially pleased with the remark in the Christian Commonwealth of
June 10th, in an Editorial on ‘King and People’, in answer to the
criticism of the Press. It says: ‘The original idea of these Royal
receptions was to afford an opportunity for the Sovereign to become
personally acquainted with his subjects and to receive any
communication they might wish to make to him.’

After this, he dictated eleven Tablets for the believers in America and
Persia, and just as he was going to continue his dictation they brought
the news that the Commander, accompanied by the General of the forces
in Damascus, would call on him in a few minutes. After a while, they
came and the Master welcomed them at the doorway . . .

After a few minutes’ conversation, the Blessed One said: ‘Today we
have received a newspaper from London containing the photograph of a
Baha’i girl who has given a most dramatic speech before the King and
Queen of England in favour of the Suffrage Cause. Will you look at her
photograph, as well as that of her mother and sister? When I was in
England, I met many leaders of the Suffrage Movement, amongst them
Mrs Pankhurst. Day by day they are getting nearer to their goal. In fact,
according to the report of this last paper, one of their lecturers felt that
“such an action as that which took place on Thursday night must
enormously help the Cause because the King and Queen know now, if
they did not know before, that the women mean business”. Again she
says, “Whether we are militants or whether we are not, I do not think it
matters. We must all take our hats off to the woman who showed such
terrific courage.” The question of the equality of right between male and
female is one of the fundamental laws of nature, and it will be realized
sooner or later. It is bound to come. However the leaders of the Suffrage
Movement in England must not retard the realization of their aspirations



through incendiary and militant methods. Such rash and unseemly deeds
are not worthy of the noble station of womanhood. They must hold fast
to pacific methods, like their American sisters across the Atlantic, who
have secured the right of universal suffrage in nine states, with others on
the list. If the English women desire to keep their traditional dignity and
natural self-respect, they must avoid all revolutionary and lawless
methods. They should demand their rights through the acquirement of
sciences, arts, belles-lettres and literature, and not through window
smashing, derailing of trains, putting bombs in the churches, burning the
houses of public officials and destroying the letters in the post-boxes.’
He continued to speak along this line and admired the pluck and energy
of Miss Mary Blomfield.[%

In her book The Suffragette Movement, Sylvia Pankhurst recalled how she
had received a visit from Lady Blomfield, expressing her delight that
‘Abdu’l-Baha ‘of whom she was proud to call herself a follower’, had spoken
with sympathy of the Suffragettes.

‘He had suffered forty years’ imprisonment, she told me ecstatically, for
preaching the unity of religions and the brotherhood of man. Under his
teaching she had lost all regard for the pomps and vanities of earthly
existence.’ 4%

Sitarih became so ashamed of the way the Government was dealing with
the issue of votes for women that she relinquished her membership of the
Liberal Party and never joined another one. Nevertheless, she would never
bring herself to approve of incendiary devices going off in London churches
or Velazquez’s masterpiece, the Rokeby Venus being badly slashed at the
National Gallery.

The outbreak of the First World War saved many suffragettes from facing
prosecution. ‘Even the suffragettes had the sense to realize that while men
fought and died in France,” one commentator has written, ‘the British people
would have little patience with women who smashed shop windows.”4%
Unbowed, Christabel Pankhurst would announce, ‘This great war . . . is
God’s vengeance upon people who held women in subjection.”%

In addition to women’s right to vote, the other great political concern of the
day with which Lady Blomfield sympathized was that of home rule for
Ireland, the land of her birth. The third Home Rule bill, allowing self-



government for Ireland within a United Kingdom of Great Britain and
Ireland, was, when passed, the first law ever enacted by the British
parliament that sought to establish devolved government in a part of the
United Kingdom. The Ulster Unionists were indignant, adopting the slogan
“Ulster will fight and Ulster will be right’. With the country hovering on the
precipice of a civil war, thirty thousand service rifles each with a hundred
rounds of ammunition were shipped illegally into Northern Ireland from
Germany.

Any kind of violence deeply pained Sitarih and she preferred not to speak
about the events transpiring on the other side of the Irish Sea. As was the case
with the campaign of the suffragettes, however, Britain’s declaration of war
with Germany intervened. Hundreds of thousands of Irishmen then found
themselves joining the conflict, fighting on the side of an Empire from which
they had campaigned so long to rid themselves. The third Home Rule act
never took effect.

The gunning down in Sarajevo on 28 June 1914 of Archduke Franz
Ferdinand, heir to the Austro-Hungarian Empire, sent shock waves
throughout the world. ‘The assassination comes like a clap of thunder to
Europe,” wrote The Daily Chronicle. Within a month, countries were arming
themselves for what would become the most devastating war the world had
yet witnessed. The cordiality that had once been characteristic of relations
between Russia and Germany collapsed, with Germany declaring war on 1
August and Russia marching over Kaiser Wilhelm’s borders the following
day. German troops began their push into France, Luxemburg, Switzerland
and Belgium. By the second week of August, Britain had entered the war — a
conflict, as the then Chancellor of the Exchequer David Lloyd George put it,
‘on behalf of liberal principles, a crusade on behalf of the “little five-foot-five
nations” like Belgium, flagrantly invaded by the Germans, or Serbia and
Montenegro, now threatened by Austria-Hungary’.*%! Seventeen million men
from eight nations were mobilized into action.

During His travels in the West, ‘Abdu’l-Baha had predicted on numerous
occasions the inevitability of war on the European continent, which He
described as ‘like an arsenal, a storehouse of explosives ready for ignition,’
one spark of which would ‘set the whole of Europe aflame’.[*Z Throughout
Britain there was broad agreement as to the rightness and justice of the



conflict, which even became talked about as a holy cause, supported by the
leaders of the church.

‘These warring nations believe that the object of the religion of God is war
and strife!” ‘Abdu’l-Baha told a gathering of believers on Mount Carmel on
Monday 3 August. ‘This is the most preposterous idea that any man could let
enter into his mind! . . . It is as though there is not a single iota of love in the
hearts of men, as though they have never heard the name of love, as though
their hearts are the sepulchres of hatred and envy! Man is the most ferocious
animal, yet does he accuse the wild beasts of this quality! The ferocious
beasts kill other beasts, but not one belonging to their own species.’4%

Until its end — despite the devastation and the slaughter of some 16 million
military personnel and civilians — the majority of the population maintained
that the war was just and necessary. The Master entertained no such illusion
that the ends justified such horrifying means.

‘No sane person can at this time deny the fact that war is the most dreadful
calamity in the world of humanity,” He wrote to one of the English believers,
Beatrice Irwin, ‘that war destroys the divine foundation, that war is the cause
of eternal death, that war is conducive to the destruction of populous,
progressive cities, that war is the world-consuming fire, and that war is the
most ruinous catastrophe and the most deplorable adversity.” 4%

As the fighting commenced, Lady Blomfield and her daughters were
staying in Geneva, the outbreak of hostilities putting paid to hopes of their
long-anticipated pilgrimage to the Holy Land. A letter from the Master on 14
October must have come as a bitter disappointment: ‘O thou noble Lady!’
‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote.

It was our hope that this winter thou wouldst travel to Haifa, stay for a
while in this blessed and luminous Spot in the Holy Land, receive an
abundant portion of the outpourings of divine grace, and that we couldst
meet together every day. But the present war and upheaval have
rendered this impossible. I hope that in the coming year this great aim
may yet be realized and that thou and thy noble daughters may be able to
visit the Holy Land and acquire a share of God’s infinite grace.

Thou art ever in my thoughts, and I beg for thee from the source of
divine providence unfailing aid and protection, that thou mayest spend
thy days in acquiring that which is conducive to eternal glory — for



material honour and prominence endureth not and are as fleeting as an
image traced upon the water. Whereas I have desired for thee and for thy
noble daughters the illumination of the world of the Kingdom and the
splendour of the dominion of the Most High, that ye may draw nigh unto
God and forget aught else save Him, that your faces may become radiant
and that your hearts may shine as brightly as the expanse of heaven. It is
my ardent hope that ye may attain unto this exalted station and sow
seeds that will flourish forevermore and continually produce a bountiful
harvest.[4%

During His visit to Paris ‘Abdu’l-Baha had described to Lady Blomfield His
wish to see a group of British believers working collectively as an
administrative committee, responsible for collecting funds and publishing
literature. The Master had chosen the membership of the committee to
include Lady Blomfield herself and her neighbour Gabrielle Enthoven, Ethel
Rosenberg, Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper, Mrs Whyte, Alice Buckton and Tudor
Pole. The Baha’i ‘Consultation Committee’ which met at the home of Miss
Rosenberg on 16 November 1914 had a somewhat different membership.
Lady Blomfield was by then devoting her energies to the war effort. Tudor
Pole, initially engaged in government work producing biscuits, felt that he
was failing in service to his country and had volunteered as a Royal Marine.
Of the original recommended membership set out by the Master, only
Rosenberg and Thornburgh-Cropper were present. The other members were
Eric Hammond, who was elected chairman, Annie Gamble, Lutfu’llah
Hakim, Mrs Crosby and Florence ‘Mother’ George.

Mother George had embraced the Baha’i teachings in France where she
had studied painting under the American artist and believer Frank Edwin
Scott. During the Master’s sojourn in Paris she had seen Him every day and
felt impelled to return to England with His blessing. She provided invaluable
help to the London believers, serving on the committee, booking public
meetings, managing a lending library and offering a Sunday school class
every week in her own home.

But ‘everything stopped during the war,” Mother George later
remembered. ‘Lady Blomfield and her daughters went to Paris to work in the
hospitals. No one kept the Baha’i meetings except myself; and I felt this was
the most useful ‘war work’ I could do. Of course Zeppelins prevented going



out after dark. Before the war there had been five meetings a week at the
houses of different Baha’is!*4

The early months of 1915 saw a serious threat to continued communication
with the Master in Haifa. The Commander of the 4th Army Corps, Jamal
Pasha, took up his mission to overrun the Suez Canal and drive the British
out of Egypt. Turkish leaders persuaded the Islamic clergy to designate their
campaign as a ‘holy war’. A reign of terror came to Syria.

Jamal Pasha was a ruthless character known instantly to kill anyone he
believed to have a prominent reputation. Gallows were set up in every town
and large numbers of noteworthy citizens were eliminated. Arab nationalists
were particularly victimized, facing almost certain execution. Taking
advantage of the situation, the disloyal members of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s own
family saw a fresh opportunity to plot against the Master and invent ways to
provoke Jamal Pasha against Him, depicting Him as a political mischief-
maker. Representing themselves to the authorities as ones who had been
wronged and victimized by ‘Abdu’l-Baha, they proffered extravagant gifts,
including precious mementos that had belonged to Baha’u’llah, and accused
the Master of having designs to inaugurate a new monarchy. On one occasion
they presented Jamal Pasha with a painted flag of the Greatest Name symbol,
saying it was ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s new ‘Standard of the Monarchy’.

‘A number of followers of self and passion,” wrote the Master to Lady
Blomfield,

. even as Judas Iscariot, have strayed from the Cause of God and
arisen to instil doubt in the hearts, that they may tear down the
foundations of the Covenant and strike at the root of the Tree of the
Cause. They have no aim but sedition and mischief. Wolves are they,
though outwardly they may claim to be shepherds. They are even as
those souls who, in the days of the former Manifestations, sought
through all manner of machinations to foster doubt within the Cause of
God. But the sanctified souls who were firm and steadfast avoided them
and protected the flock of God from the clutches of such wolves. It is my
hope that thou wilt be one of those holy souls, who even as a glass unto
the flame of the Cause of God, guard it from contrary winds.*2!

In the event of guidance from the Holy Land being completely cut off, the
administrative committee in London decided that those believers specifically



named by ‘Abdu’l-Baha to serve on it would be authorized to resolve any
difficult questions that might arise.

The contribution of Lady Blomfield and her daughters to the war effort began
with correspondence with Bernard Harrison of the British Red Cross Society
in Paris. He wrote to Sitarih, informing her of the formalities needed for work
in a French hospital. All requirements duly observed, they arrived soon
afterwards to lend their support.

Baron Leslie Haden Guest — possibly already known to Lady Blomfield as
a keen Theosophist — was a doctor by training and founder of the Anglo-
French committee of the Red Cross. He was managing a hospital unit set up
at the Hotel Majestic in Paris. The Blomfields moved into the nearby Hotel
d’Jena from where they could easily walk to the Majestic, where they had
signed up to serve as Voluntary Aid Detachments (VADs). VADs, largely
middle class women eager to ‘do their bit’ for the war effort, worked under
the instruction of fully trained nurses. On arrival, their list of tasks included
cleaning tables, sinks, patients’ lockers and crockery, sorting linen and
sweeping. The reality was much more harrowing. Nothing could have
prepared Lady Blomfield and her daughters for what they now encountered —
scenes that could not have been further removed from the tranquillity of
Cadogan Gardens and the atmosphere of loving calm which the Master’s
presence had brought to their home.

‘On the face of it no one could have been less equipped for the job than
these gently nurtured girls who walked straight out of Edwardian drawing-
rooms into the manifold horrors of the First World War,” wrote Lyn
MacDonald in The Roses of No Man’s Land, the story of the women
volunteers who arose to serve in a medical capacity during the war.

It was all a far cry from the old myth of the ‘ministering angel’. These
girls had to be tough . . . They nursed men with terrible wounds and saw
them off to convalescent camp, or laid them out when they died. They
nursed in wards where the stench of gas-gangrenous wounds was almost
overpowering. They nursed men choked to death as the fluid rose in their
gassed lungs, men whose faces were mutilated beyond recognition,
whose bodies were mangled beyond repair, whose nerves were shattered
beyond redemption.13

The Blomfields were shocked by what they found on their first morning in



the wards.

‘Any kind of suffering touched my mother profoundly,” wrote Mary, ‘but
the sight of young men maimed for life, and the new and horrible experiences
she had to endure during the dressing of their wounds, her mental agony
reflecting their pain, tortured her beyond words. After that first heart-rending
morning in the wards, we were silent as we walked back to the Hotel d’Jena
for luncheon. We imagined ourselves unable to touch any food. But my
mother’s courage and strength of mind prevailed. She said quietly: “We must
eat, or we shall be ill ourselves. Then we shall not be able to help.”’414

On the other side of the border, many of the Baha’is that Lady Blomfield
had met in Stuttgart were also engaged in nursing, taking care of wounded
German soldiers who, according to Alma Knobloch, were ‘well remembered
with flowers, cigars, chocolates and cakes’. Prisoners of war were also
receiving the same care, ‘yet a good many of them are mistrustful and believe
they will be killed yet. What astonishes me the most is that so little hatred is
shown by the Germans, though the German soldiers are almost always
brought back in a terrible condition,” wrote Alma 41!

With the imminent spread of the war to the Haifa and ‘Akka regions,
‘Abdu’l-Baha became concerned to protect the Baha’i community and
alleviate their anxiety. All who were merchants lost their wares as the
government seized everything they possessed, leaving them without the most
basic provisions. If anyone protested, hanging was the immediate response.

‘Those Baha’i friends who were merchants suffered great losses,” Lady
Blomfield later wrote, ‘for all their stores of tea, sugar, etc., were
commandeered by the Government, without payment.’4

Rumours of an allied bombardment of Haifa stirred panic amongst its
citizens including the believers.

“The friends, in spite of the reassurances of the Master that no guns would
be turned on Haifa, were living in constant fear, and the children, having
heard terrible stories which were being told everywhere, grew quite ill,
always looking round and about with frightened eyes,” wrote Sitarih.[41”

‘Abdu’l-Baha arranged to remove the remaining Baha’i community to
Abu-Sinan, a peaceful Druze town to the east of ‘Akka, away from any
possible bombardment. Some 140 adults and an equal number of children
were taken in, sustained by supplies of wheat, vegetables and corn that had



been grown and stored at ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s instruction. “Their food was of the
simplest: lentils, dried beans, delicious olives and their oil, and sometimes
milk, eggs, and even some goat’s meat,” wrote Lady Blomfield, who would
eventually herself pay a visit to Abu-Sinan in the spring of 1922. ‘The fresh
pure air was, of course, wonderfully good for their health, and they quickly
recovered calm nerves and strength of body.’ 4

The village head Shaykh Salih had enormous respect for the Master and
personally housed His sister, wife, daughters and their families, as well as
Edith Sanderson and Lua Getsinger who were then staying in the Holy Land.
From the Shaykh’s balcony the family would watch for the Master’s return
on the days when He was expected back from Haifa or ‘Akka.

Star of the West reported that the Master was in excellent spirits. ‘He is
happier than at any time since the war began.’#1

‘In spite of all the difficulties which surrounded them, the sojourn at Abti-
Sinan village was a time of great happiness,” wrote Lady Blomfield. “Was not
the Beloved One more with them than ever before? It was many years since
His family had seen so much of their Father.’42

When their hospital unit moved from Paris, the Blomfields returned to
London but continued to do whatever they could to support the war effort.
Lady Blomfield volunteered in various hospitals, served on committees and
kept open house at Cadogan Gardens for soldiers of the Australian and New
Zealand Army Corps — the so-called Anzacs — who were recovering from
their wounds.

Among her papers is a handwritten poem entitled ‘Anzac!” by her
husband’s niece — the poetess Dorothy Frances Gurney — that Lady Blomfield
must have admired:

Anzac, Anzac, you came to help and save

Our little old, old country from a shameful grave;
Rapscallion, saint or martyr,

You did not stop to barter,

Anzac, Anzac, bravest of the brave!

Anzac, Anzac, Mother Nature smiled

And gave you a hunter’s body and the heart of a little child,
Eyes clear for long distance,

Mouth set for resistance —



Anzac, Anzac, wildest of the wild!

Anzac, Anzac, from your mountains blue,

The bush and the wide pasture, the white sheep wander through
You came — you heard us call you —

Little recked what might befall you —

Anzac, Anzac, truest of the true.

Anzac, Anzac, one with the strength of ten

To tell your deeds of valiance would take an angel’s pen
You who flinched for no men

Won praise from niggard foemen —

‘God! If I could lead them, glorious fighting men!’

Anzac, Anzac, while the Earth shall spin

Her many coloured web and throw the shuttle out and in
The shimmer of your glory

Shall be woven in its story —

Anzac, Anzac, who did but die to win!

On 25 April 1915, Sitarih received a telegram from the Baha’i Spiritual
Assembly in Tehran, dated ten days previously, stating that ‘Venerable Behai
martyred Meshed. Preparing uprising against Behais. Help us, ask justice
from Persian Government, parliament. Telegraph your Legation here.
Advertise Paris others.’42

Shaykh ‘Ali-Akbar-i-Quchani, one of the best-known and most
distinguished Baha’is of Khurasan, had been shot in the back on 14 March in
the bazaar in Mashhad on the instruction of one of that city’s most prominent
clerics, who was one of his former pupils. Shaykh ‘Ali-Akbar’s body lay
where it fell in the bazaar for some days. The animosity to the Baha’is had
reached a point where no one dared move it for fear of triggering a purge on
the Baha’i community. A photograph of 50 believers was posted in the
bazaars and they were shunned in all the shops.

The British Consul-General in Mashhad, Colonel Haig, reported the
murder of Shaykh ‘Ali-Akbar and added that the ‘people, suspecting an
intention of burying the body in a Muhammadan burying ground and
resenting the arrest of those suspected of the murder, raised a disturbance in
the Shrine. The body was at last removed secretly by night from the place



where it lay and carried off to Kuchan.’®2Z Colonel Haig recorded in his
diaries that the Baha’is in Khurdsan, under threat of a general massacre, felt
increasingly vulnerable in the weeks that followed.

The London Baha’i committee meeting at Ethel Rosenberg’s home
discussed the situation at length. The members decided that Sir Richard
Stapley, who had been such a strong supporter of the Master during His
London visits, might be approached with a view to a question being raised in
Parliament. Sir Richard, however, was reluctant to do so, saying that, in the
war climate, tabling such a question would not be wise. Letters were also
officially sent to Lord Lamington, Lady Morell — the wife of a Member of
Parliament who had interested herself in the matter — and to the British
Admiral in the Persian Gulf.

Lady Blomfield, for her part, immediately wrote to Mary, Countess of
Wemyss — formerly Lady Elcho, an old acquaintance from her days in
Broadway — whom she had introduced to ‘Abdu’l-Baha when He was in
London. The Wemyss’s daughter was married to the son of Prime Minister
Asquith, whose brother-in-law was Jack Tennant, the Under Secretary of
State for War. ‘One thing of great use which occurs to me, (can you do this?)
to write to Mr J. Tennant,” Lady Blomfield asked Mary Wemyss. ‘Could he
have a telegram sent to the British Legation at Teheran, or to the British
Consulate at Meshed, to stop the persecution of the Bahais, the dear harmless
people! Meshed is a sacred city of the Shia Mahommedans, and the people
are very fanatical there, for this reason comes the danger to the Bahais. Some
way of helping will, I know, occur to you, it is very urgent!’%]

Countess Wemyss appears to have been extremely embarrassed to have to
forward Lady Blomfield’s request. Yet she did write to Tennant — in a
manner that veered between the apologetic and the sympathetic — perhaps
because the memory of the Master’s personality had left an indelible mark on
her mind:

You will T fear think me quite mad, and very bad too to trouble you
when such a load of care and responsibility which already rests upon
your shoulders. I feel I ought not to take the few seconds it may take you
to read this letter but you will please believe me when I say that you
certainly must not answer.

I received yesterday a rather mad letter from Lady Blomfield



(Theosophist!!! of a sort). She used to put up the venerable Behai from
Persia (who is or was quite a genuine old saint, I believe and who with
his followers are really harmless (preaching peace! and harmony! and
love) and non-political). But I imagine these sort of people are
particularly maddening to fanatics and are bound to fare badly in
troublous times — still they are really I believe most innocent and really
put their non-aggressive and non-political principles into practice — and
the Engl. Gov. [English Government] is supposed to protect the weak — I
gather that if harm (a rising) was really meant them it is all over by now,
but I felt I must send on the telegram, with some sentences from Lady
B’s letter ommitting [sic] the Balderdash — as much as I can — if there is
or has been trouble you will of course have heard of it — through the
proper, recognized channels, which makes my writing seem doubly
futile and intrusive. The Christian Commonwealth recognizes the Behai
and his followers and I visited him in London and used to talk about him
to Lord Hugh Cecil. I am curious to know what has happened to him —

it’s an ill world for peaceful souls!4

Lady Blomfield also told Countess Wemyss that she had written to the wife
of Colonel Percy Sykes, formerly the British Consul General at Mashhad.

‘Now please forgive me! for obeying this wild and worried lady’s bequest
[sic],” wrote Wemyss in a note appended to her letter,

— my sister Pamela knows the old Bahai too as he came to her house — If
the Behais are in danger - can Sir E. Grey reach out a paw of protection?

Of course I can’t help feeling that if there is an innocent population in
danger of persecution — that they have some means of communicating

through the recognized channels to the proper source %!

Jack Tennant forwarded the letter to the Foreign Office. Once received, a
memorandum dated 29 April was drafted, saying:

Lady Blomfield has written to various personages urging enquiry at
Teheran regarding a reported massacre of that unorthodox sect in
Meshed — the Bahais.

I submit, however, that our most able Consul General at Meshed —
Col. Haig - and Mr Marling at Teheran are well able to take any action
locally that may be necessary. Moreover, while numerous, the sect is



anathema to the orthodox Persian and while there is still some faint sign

of agitation for a jehad it would not be politic to champion for the cause
of the Behai.[42%!

George Clerk, a Foreign Office official, added a note to Tennant’s
memorandum, saying, ‘I think we might enquire whether Colonel Haig has
reported any violence against the Bahais. They are an inoffensive people,
with sympathizers in this country, and we might find out what is happening
to them.’ 42

The enquiry to Charles Marling, British minister at Tehran, resulted in a
curt telegram which read, ‘No truth in reports of massacres. One Bahai was
murdered March 14th.”42

The anticipated purge against the believers in Mashhad did not occur, but
the high level of activity generated by Lady Blomfield and her friends in
order to respond to the request of their co-religionists in Persia served once
again to remind the prominent people of British society of the presence in
London of the Baha’is, whose existence had been largely ignored since the
departure of ‘Abdu’l-Baha from their shores. The incident also signalled the
first occasion when the Baha’is of Britain arose to defend their persecuted
brethren in Iran, calling upon the leaders of their country to exert their
influence, thus launching a pattern of action that has continued into the
opening years of the 21st century.

Reflecting on the murder of Shaykh ‘Ali-Akbar, ‘Abdu’l-Baha at Abu-
Sinan is reported to have said,

Thousands upon thousands of people are presently being killed on the
battlefield, though their deaths will bear no fruit or benefit whatsoever.
But one sanctified soul is martyred in the path of God and thousands of
others are given life. They water the tree of God with their blood . . .
How cruel are the Iranians! They have not eased their oppression. So
many calamities and adversities have befallen them and yet they
continue with their former persecutions. But they must pay some day. It
is revealed, ‘God gives them time but does not overlook them.’4%

In addition to London and Manchester, a third local community of British
Baha’is emerged during the war years — in Bournemouth. At the centre of this
development, which cheered the hearts of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s devotees, was Dr
John Ebenezer Esslemont, a Scotsman who first heard of the Baha’i



Movement from the wife of a colleague, Kathleen Parker. Her meeting with
the Master in London had immediately sparked Esslemont’s interest. By
March 1915 he was enthusiastically following the 19 day Baha’i fast and
addressing the Bournemouth Lodge of the Theosophical Society about the
teachings.

‘In this time of strife and bloodshed,” Esslemont wrote to Lutfu’llah
Hakim, ‘it is a great comfort to have Baha’u’llah’s promise of the Most Great
Peace and to feel that a spiritual power is at work which by-and-by will turn
the swords into plough shares and the spears into pruning hooks. 43

In Britain, the war also gave rise to a measure of persecution of anyone
who appeared to be voicing opinions against the conflict. The Baha’is in
London struggled to decide how best to continue meetings and to present the
message, which was not getting a sympathetic hearing in the prevailing
climate. Mother George believed the war could represent a time of great
spiritual awakening, when many who would not listen before might now
begin to do so. The challenge was actually to get people together, she
averred, while a public meeting with few in attendance would convey the
wrong impression.

At a time when Britain had no effective air defences, raids by German
Zeppelin airships brought all kinds of evening activities in London to a halt.
On 1 June 1915, the East End was bombarded with 90 incendiaries and
explosive bombs. By 1917 the Zeppelins were replaced by Gotha heavy
bomber aeroplanes and the raids increased. More than 20 German planes
reached London on 7 July and badly damaged properties around St Pancras
railway station. A 50 kilogram bomb was dropped outside the Bedford Hotel,
Bloomsbury, on 24 September, killing 13.

“The air raids have been of course very terrible and trying,” wrote Ethel
Rosenberg to her friend Helen Goodall in California. ‘The noise of the firing
is tremendous. Our chief danger in these parts is from unexploded shells —
some of which have fallen very near. What anxiety we feel about our dear
friends in Palestine — God keep them safe and protected . . . These air raids
have brought us really into the war now.’43!

Despite the difficulties of gathering together, the London Baha’is did
manage to meet at Lady Blomfield’s home on 17 November 1917 to
celebrate the centenary of the birth of Baha’u’llah, five days after the
anniversary.



‘We had a delightful Unity Meeting at Lady Blomfield’s on the 17th,’
Ethel Rosenberg wrote. ‘Unfortunately she could not hold it on the 12th but
we all enjoyed it very much. She spoke, then I did so and after that Mrs
George and Mrs Howard.’432

Lady Blomfield and the London believers were profoundly relieved and
‘rejoiced beyond words’ to receive news of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s health and safety.

‘We think of him, walking in the garden of his home, and great is our
longing for the day when we may be in the light of his presence,” Sitarih
wrote to Mirza Ahmad Sohrab. “We all unite in our gratitude at hearing news
of our beloved one, for his Salutation, and for his benediction. We ask his
continued prayers for our Protection and Grace that we may consecrate our
lives anew to the Glory of God and to the service of humanity.’!42

Lady Blomfield wrote how she had been able to help in nursing injured
servicemen and being of some comfort to the wounded.

‘Some of those who come to us, afflicted with the loss of their sight, are
pleased to talk of Holy things — which gives them solace in their darkened
world. Will the kind and benevolent one pray for them and for Miss Helen
Grand who has brought them to us, and whose life is spent in their welfare
and whose heart is set on bringing them into the Kingdom of Glory? . . .
Indeed, the sure and certain hope of the coming of the ‘Most Great Peace of
God’ is our support and comfort in this terrible time of the Most Great
War!’1434

The close connections nurtured by ‘Abdu’l-Baha between believers across
the world led them to call upon each other for small favours during wartime.
Corinne True, one of ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s most distinguished followers in the
United States and later a Hand of the Cause of God, wrote to Lady Blomfield
about a nephew of hers, stationed with the Aviation Corps in London. She
asked Sitarih if she might get in touch with the young man, Duncan Knight,
and befriend him.

Reports of the Master rarely made it out of the Holy Land during the war
years, but when they did the British Baha’is derived great strength and
encouragement from them. However, when news arrived that the Master’s
own life may once again be in danger, it came as a tremendous shock to the
believers. It was through their efforts, mobilized by Wellesley Tudor Pole,
that a calamity was averted.

Tudor Pole had arrived in Egypt on 23 November 1917 and had been sent



up to the Palestine front immediately as a member of the Egyptian
Expeditionary Force. Just ten days later near Jerusalem, he was wounded in
his left arm and shoulder by a sniper’s bullet, fired from an olive tree. He was
then posted as an intelligence officer to the general headquarters of General
Allenby in the Second Echelon of the Occupied Enemy Territory
Administration.

‘I was able to drive down and hobble into the Bahai gathering . . . and I
presented the greetings of the London friends,” Tudor Pole wrote to Ethel
Rosenberg from Egypt on 22 December.

They have some method of getting through information concerning A.B.
quite ingenious, but one cannot mention it in writing. Up to the end of
November he was well & the family in safety. The problem will arise
when our advance commences in that direction. I hope to be on that
portion of the Front next month & trust to get through in due course. The
authorities here have promised me they will do their best to afford
protection when the time comes & I feel my efforts may not prove
wasted in the end. The Intelligence people here owned up to have quite
forgotten the presence of A.B. and His party at ‘H’, and promised me
they would give the matter consideration . . . I need all possible support
in the form of Cables urging protection and help for A.B. when the
opportunity arises.’4%

The Master was certainly facing danger. Jamal Pasha had stated his definite
intention to take the lives of ‘Abdu’l-Baha and those around Him should the
Turkish Army be compelled to evacuate Haifa and retreat north. The British
were preparing to move towards Haifa but for a number of reasons the
advance had to be delayed until the summer.

‘Abdu’l-Baha’s position was not understood by the British authorities, as
Tudor Pole explained in a letter to Sir Mark Sykes MP, written two days after
Tudor Pole’s letter to Ethel Rosenberg.

It is not even realized that he controls a remarkable religious movement,
wholly devoid of political and military associations; which can number
many millions of adherents through the Near and Middle East. Jews,
Moslems of various Sects, Christians, Parsis, Hindoos, Kurds unite
under the Bahai banner of Spiritual Fellowship. May not these people
contribute much, later, to the harmonising of Sectarian and Oriental



Religious feuds? Is it too much to ask the Authorities at home to request
the Authorities here to afford Abdul Baha every protection and
consideration? . . . A word from Whitehall works wonders.142¢!

Tudor Pole’s letter to Sykes did not reach the Foreign Office until 6
February. He tried without success to arouse interest in ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s plight
among those who were responsible for intelligence activities, including
General Gilbert Clayton, Sir Wyndham Deedes, Sir Ronald Storrs — the
recently-appointed Governor of Jerusalem — and Major-General Sir Arthur
Money, the Chief Administrator of Occupied Enemy Territory, Tudor Pole’s
own chief. None of them knew anything about the Master, nor could Tudor
Pole rouse them to realize the urgent need to ensure His safety.

Tudor Pole then set out on an extremely dangerous course of action.
Risking a court martial, he decided to evade the very strict censorship, bypass
his military superiors and the War Office in London and find a way to
approach directly the British Cabinet. Major David Ormsby Gore was in
Egypt as an attaché for the Foreign Office to the Zionist Commission. Tudor
Pole met Gore at the Sporting Club in Alexandria and enlisted his services.
As a serving officer he too was subject to King’s Regulations and censorship
control but he agreed to carry an uncensored letter from Tudor Pole to
London addressed to the elderly Walburga, Lady Paget, a writer who had
once been an intimate friend of Queen Victoria. She passed the letter to her
son-in-law, Lord Plymouth, who took it directly to the Foreign Secretary,
Lord Balfour. Balfour arranged for its contents to be placed on the agenda of
a meeting of the War Cabinet at which he, the Prime Minister Lloyd George
and the Leader of the House of Lords, Lord Curzon, were present.

At the same time Lady Blomfield and some other believers also launched
themselves into action, pleading for ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s protection. Sitarih
reported that she was ‘much startled and deeply disturbed by a telephone
message: ‘‘Abdu’l-Bahd in serious danger. Take immediate action.’4

‘Do you know anyone of influence whom you could interest in the
matter?’ she wrote straight away to Ethel Rosenberg.

Any one in touch with ‘Intelligence’ or W.O. [War Office] here? I do
think it so very important, don’t you? The author of the Persian History,
is he in England now? Would Lord Glenconner do anything do you
think? Or Lord Wemyss? I have sent a copy to Mrs. T.C. who might get



into touch with Lord Lamington at any rate I asked her to try. It seems
too dreadful that our W.O. people (Central certainly) — in Egypt — should
practically know nothing about Abdul Baha and have forgotten his
whereabouts. What a mercy that WTP is out there. I dare say you will be
able to think of someone who might help?!43#!

The next day Lady Blomfield drafted a note:

Abdul Baha — sometimes called Abbas Effendi — is now, with his wife
and family, either at Haifa or on Mount Carmel. Abdul Baha is the
leader of the Bahai Movement which has, for its object, the
establishment of true peace in the world, individual and international. He
has suffered much persecution at the hands of various fanatical bodies.
Abdul Baha’s friends in Great Britain and in America are anxious that
He and his family should not suffer any unpleasantness when our Army
arrives because of his identity not being known. These friends would be
very grateful if a cable may be sent without delay commending him to
consideration and protection at the hands of our command in Palestine.
[439]
The meeting with Lord Lamington quickly transpired. His ‘sympathetic
regard for ‘Abdu’l-Baha, his understanding of the ramifications and “red
tape” necessary for “immediate action” were of priceless value,” wrote Lady
Blomfield.[**¥ T.amington, who treasured memories of the Master’s London
visit, enjoyed considerable influence and wrote immediately to Lord Balfour
explaining ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s position and the urgent need to protect Him.

‘In the past he has undergone much persecution at the hands of fanatics
and anxiety is felt by his many friends in Gt. Britain and America lest he, his
wife and family should not receive adequate protection during the British
advance owing to his identity not being known to our authorities,” wrote
Lamington.44!

‘“Through the influence of Lord Lamington, and his prompt help,” wrote
Lady Blomfield, ‘the letter, with its alarming news, was at once put into the
hands of Lord Balfour.”#4

Mrs Whyte, who had hosted the Master on His visit to Edinburgh, also
joined the campaign, writing to her son Frederick, who was a Member of
Parliament. He informed Sir Mark Sykes in a letter dated 25 January:



. .. I presume I need not waste your time in giving an account of Abdul
Baha himself, whose personality and work must be well known to you.
But as you are aware, he has a good many followers, if one may so call
them, in this country; and in general there is a number of people who,
like myself, are much interested in his work and will be prepared to do
something to make sure that the Military Authorities in Palestine are
aware of his presence. I know that at one time Lord Curzon was very
deeply impressed with the Bahai Movement in Persia itself and he may
be willing to interest himself in the matter now.443

‘I am very glad to hear of the wonderful work you have been doing lately
with regard to the safeguarding of the Beloved,” wrote Lutfu’llah Hakim to
Lady Blomfield. ‘I trust and hope that successful results have been
obtained.’##

This sudden activity on behalf of ‘Abdu’l-Baha succeeded in alerting the
British authorities to His existence. Lamington received a letter from the
Foreign Office within a week which informed him that Secretary Balfour ‘has
requested His Majesty’s High Commissioner for Egypt to call the attention of
the British Military Authorities to the presence of Abdul Baha at Haiffa [sic],
and to request them to treat him and his family with all possible consideration
in the event of a further advance by the British forces in Palestine’.[*%

A cable was sent to the British High Commissioner in Egypt asking that
he warn the General Officer that ‘Abdu’l-Baha and His family should be
treated with special consideration in the event of their occupying Haifa. The
despatch passed through Tudor Pole’s hands in Cairo on its way to the British
Army Headquarters at Ludd, and was duly delivered to be dealt with by the
Headquarters Staff there. No one at HQ had heard of ‘Abdu’l-Baha or the
Baha’i movement, and Intelligence was requested to make urgent enquiry. In
due course the demand for information reached the Headquarters of
Intelligence at Cairo’s Savoy Hotel and was ultimately passed to Tudor Pole
for action. As a result, General Allenby was provided with full particulars in
regard to ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s record and the history of the Movement.

Allenby at once issued orders to the General Commanding Officer in
command of the Haifa operations to the effect that immediately the town was
entered, a British guard was to be posted at once around ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s
house and a further guard was to be placed at the disposal of His family and



followers. Means were found for making it known within the enemy lines
that stern retribution would follow any attempt to cause death or injury to the
Master or any of His household.

When the British finally took Haifa in September 1918, information about
‘Abdu’l-Baha’s safety was swiftly transmitted to London, to the great relief
of his friends and followers.

‘My dear Lamington,” wrote Lord Balfour on 30 September. ‘You will
remember that you wrote to me in January last, regarding the safety of Abdul
Behar [sic] and the Bahais at Haifa. I have now received a telegram from the
Chief Political Officer in Palestine, reporting that on the occupation of Haifa,
Abdul Behar was found to be still in the town and in good health, and that he
is being well cared for.”44

‘Abdul Baha is extraordinarily well and has suffered very little during the
past year or nine months,” wrote Tudor Pole to Ethel Rosenberg on 4
November 1918.

I should like you and all those who took the trouble to act on my
suggestion last February to know that the result of that work has proved
invaluable. As a consequence of the Foreign Office intervention and of
my personal interview with the Chief Administrator and the Chief
Political Officer, everything was made easy for Abdul Baha and his
family when we occupied Haifa and his house property was protected
and he was given facilities to receive and send letters through this
department. A large number of cables were sent over and the letters that
accumulated at Port Said are gradually being delivered in Haifa.[”!

At 11 o’clock in the morning of the 11th day of the 11th month of 1918 the
Great War ended. An entire generation, more than ten million people, had
been wiped out, six million of them civilians.

‘Praise be to God that the swords have been sheathed, the awful carnage
has stopped, the battle-flags have been unfurled and the “Parliament of Man,
the Federation of the world” is well nigh to be established,” wrote ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s grandson Shoghi Effendi, full of the optimism of the hour, to Dr
Esslemont.[48!

‘When the glad news became known in London scenes of remarkable
enthusiasm were witnessed,’ reported the Daily Mirror.

Flags appeared on all sides with amazing rapidity. They floated proudly



over all public buildings, they appeared like magic from private houses,
they were waved in the streets, worn (in miniature) on hats, pinned on
coats, waved frantically on bus tops, lorries, charabancs, taxicabs,
costers’ carts and on every description of vehicle that could pass through
the surging joyous multitudes that thronged the main arteries of
London’s traffic.4

For the believers in London, it was a moment not only for celebration but
rededication to the cause of universal peace. Mother George longed to see
Baha’i meetings happening once again in the city. With the blessing of Ethel
Rosenberg and others, she visited a number of possible venues and settled on
the Lindsay Hall in Notting Hill Gate where weekly meetings could be held
on Wednesday evenings. The believers were most relieved, however, that the
Master and His family were safe and looking toward the future.

‘This world-war has come to an end,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha wrote to the Baha’is
of the British Isles. “We trust that at least it will lead to the preliminaries of
universal peace, just as it is plainly foretold in the blessed Tablets.”/42

The news of the Armistice reached Tudor Pole sitting in his office in
Cairo, where the atmosphere was entirely different. He gave a small dinner
for his staff and, having toasted them, said,

Many of you do not at present realize that we stand at perhaps the most
remarkable point in the history of the world. One era has closed before
our eyes; it is closed in the midst of carnage and tumult. We are now
actually witnessing the birth of a New Day, a Day during which the
human race will be enlightened, transformed, regenerated. Do not let this
hour pass lightly; enjoy the outward triumph of the Armistice but let
your thoughts run deep as well . . .

Those of us who have looked death in the face during the past few
years, and who realize something of the tragedy that war brings in its
wake, have determined to carry out two resolutions: We will bring home
to our children and to those around us some idea of what war really
means . . . We will create in the minds of the next generation such a
detestation of human warfare, its horror, its uselessness, that the tradition
of peace universal shall grow up firmly implanted in the human
consciousness of the future, and war will become inconceivable.
Secondly, we have determined that the world of our own generation



shall be lifted out of gloom and sorrow towards peace and steadfast
happiness.

. . . After destruction, Reconstruction! We can each in our humble
sphere help forward the building of a new and better world upon the
basis of a sure foundation. Let us be very sure of our own foundations
before we begin to build, either within or without, and all will be well.
[451]

By the end of November, Tudor Pole was himself able to pay an
unannounced visit to the Master.

‘Captain Tudor Pole, the beloved of Abdul Baha, arrived today at Acca all
of a sudden, and how deep our pleasure and surprise has been,” Shoghi
Effendi wrote.[2

The Master greeted His unexpected visitor ‘with that sweet smile and
cheery welcome for which he is famous,’ reported Tudor Pole. ‘For 74 long
years Abdul Baha has lived in the midst of tragedy and hardship, yet nothing
has robbed or can rob him of his cheery optimism, spiritual insight and keen
sense of humour.’423

Tudor Pole found ‘Abdu’l-Baha looking a little older than he had
remembered Him from the unforgettable visit to his Bristol home seven years
earlier. How much they had both endured since those memorable days. Yet,
Tudor Pole noted, ‘Abdu’l-Baha seemed to be much more vigorous than He
had been after His exhausting American journey. His voice was ‘as strong as
ever, his eyes clear, his step virile . . .44

‘I have made all the necessary arrangements, military and governmental,
for the comfort and security of the Master and his household,” Tudor Pole
wrote to Ethel Rosenberg, ‘and you can advise all concerned, both in England
and America, that there is no danger of the Persian Colony in Palestine
running short of provisions this winter, or of receiving adequate protection. I
am arranging for Abdul Baha to visit Jerusalem as the military Governor’s
guest, and hope to see him again before the year is out.’4=

Sir Herbert Samuel, the first High Commissioner for Palestine under the
British Mandate, took an early opportunity of paying a visit to ‘Abdu’l-Baha
at His home in Haifa. Sir Herbert ‘felt privileged’ to make the acquaintance
of the Master, telling Lady Blomfield that he ‘was impressed, as was every
visitor, by ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s dignity, grace, and charm. Of moderate stature, his



strong features and lofty expression lent to his personality an appearance of
majesty. In our conversation he readily explained and discussed the principal
tenets of Baha’ism, answered my inquiries and listened to my comments. 4=

Indeed, calling upon the Master was becoming a regular feature of life for
the occupying British forces in Palestine.

‘English officers of all ranks, Major General, Brigadier General, Colon-
els, Majors, Lieutenants, Captains and non-commissioned men and privates
have called on him and drank tea with him and listened reverently to his
words of wisdom,” Mirza Ahmad Sohrab told Star of the West.

The military Governors of Acca and Haifa have often met him; the
former being his guest at dinner. Once about eight members of the
Australian Flying Corps, who have their aerodrome at the foot of Mount
Carmel, were his guests all day in Bahje, near Acca. They visited the
tomb of Baha’o’llah, listened to the lecture of Abdul-Baha on the history
of this Cause and its principles, and left in the evening in their large auto
with glad hearts and beaming faces.>7

Tudor Pole encouraged the friends in London to convey their gratitude for the
consideration shown to ‘Abdu’l-Baha since the British occupation to both
General Allenby and General Sir Arthur Money. At the same time, he urged
that a memorandum should also be sent to the Foreign Secretary who was
responsible for instructing the Military Authorities to safeguard ‘Abdu’l-
Baha and to give Him full protection. To Allenby, the letter read:

We, the friends of Abdul Baha Abbas Effendi in Great Britain wish to
convey our thankful appreciation of your most kind and prompt action
undertaken for the protection and help of him and his family since the
British advance on Haifa. We recognise how much we owe to you and
we desire you to accept our unbounded gratitude 458

The Baha’is thought it best to have the letter signed by a few of ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s ‘leading’ followers on behalf of the entire Baha’i community. The
letter was sent out over the names of Mrs Whyte, Mrs Thornburgh-Cropper,
Miss Rosenberg and Lady Blomfield.

‘From all that Major WTP has told us we feel that we can hardly be
sufficiently grateful to the personages named in his Memorandum for all they
have done for our beloved Abdul Baha, his friends and his family,” Ethel



Rosenberg wrote to Bah4’is in North America.l>

To Sir Arthur Money, the letter read, “We recognize how greatly indebted
we are to you for this splendid service and we desire you to accept our
unbounded gratitude.”*® To Balfour: ‘That this result has taken place we
abundantly recognize is due to your great kindness and promptitude, and we
therefore desire you to accept our heartfelt unbounded gratitude.’'4%

‘How grand a privilege for Britain, who was able to do this service to the
“Servant of God” through the chosen instruments of “The Protector, The
Supreme”,” enthused Lady Blomfield.4!

‘I hope that you and yours are well and recovering from the strain of the war
and of the splendid war work that you have undertaken both in France and in
England,” Tudor Pole wrote to Lady Blomfield. %! Certainly Sitarih had
witnessed more than she might ever have imagined. But the days following
the joy and relief of the Armistice were not without personal sorrow either. In
the early months of 1919 Lady Blomfield lost her mother, Emily Ryan.

‘Grieve not over of the death of thy revered mother,” wrote ‘Abdu’l-Baha
on 16 May, ‘for she hastened from a world of darkness to a realm of light and
soared from a narrow prison to the loftiest of mansions.’4%

On 29 July the Master once again urged Sitarih not to be grieved over the
death of her mother. ‘Tearfully and with utmost lowliness I will implore
forgiveness and pardon for her at the divine threshold, that she may be
submerged in the sea of lights and immersed in the realm of mysteries.’4%

In addition, Lady Blomfield’s concern for the well-being of her son Frank
was ongoing.

‘I will also pray and supplicate on behalf of thy dear son,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha
assured her, ‘that his may be a luminous heart and a heavenly spirit, and that
he may be aided by the boundless effusions of celestial grace.’4%

When the Great War came to an end, few nations had any plans in hand as to
what should transpire once the hostilities had ceased. It was America’s
President Woodrow Wilson whose ideas, by default, laid the foundation for
the peace that was established. His ‘Fourteen Points’, presented to the
American Congress on 8 January 1918, ten months before the Armistice,
provided the only coherent framework considering how the peace might be
negotiated and consolidated. Opposition to the points came from Britain and
France. Britain rejected Wilson’s second point concerning freedom of



navigation of the seas, while France demanded war reparations. President
Wilson was forced to compromise a number of his ideals in order that his
most important concept, the establishment of the League of Nations, was
accepted. The Treaty of Versailles, signed on 28 June 1919, which ended the
war between Germany and the Allied Powers, went against many of Wilson’s
points. His own Senate refused to consent to the ratification of the Treaty and
the United States of America never joined the League of Nations, hampering
its credibility as a mediator for conflicts.

‘Although the representatives of various governments are assembled in
Paris in order to lay the foundations of Universal Peace’, observed the
Master, ‘and thus bestow rest and comfort upon the world of humanity, yet
misunderstanding among some individuals is still predominant and self-
interest still prevails. In such an atmosphere, Universal Peace will not be
practicable, nay rather, fresh difficulties will arise. This is because interests
are conflicting and aims are at variance . . .”4¢

Nevertheless, despite the protestations of politicians, ‘Abdu’l-Baha
believed that President Wilson was ‘indeed serving the Kingdom of God for
he is restless and strives day and night that the rights of all men may be
preserved safe and secure, that even small nations, like greater ones, may
dwell in peace and comfort under the protection of Righteousness and
Justice. This purpose is indeed a lofty one. I trust that the incomparable
Providence will assist and confirm such souls under all conditions.”4

The primary goals of the League of Nations included preventing war
through collective security, disarmament and settling international disputes
through negotiation and arbitration. Other goals included regulating labour
conditions, the just treatment of native inhabitants, the arms trade, global
health and the protection of minorities in Europe. Little wonder, then, that the
Baha’is of East and West observed the League’s establishment with a joyous
optimism, interpreting its formation as a sign of the Lesser Peace which, as
prophesied by Baha’u’llah, was certain to follow calamitous events that
would, out of necessity, unite the nations. An editorial in Star of the West
read, ‘Now is the time, to use the words of President Wilson, for humanity to
“rise to the clear heights of (God’s) own justice and mercy”.’4%

‘There will be much unrest and fermentation in Europe for years yet, I
expect,” Dr Esslemont wrote to Star of the West, ‘but unrest is better than the
placid acquiescence with vile conditions — with slums, drunkenness,



prostitution, sweated labour and profligate extravagance; and it seems to me
that on the whole, things are moving towards a better state of affairs —
towards the Most Great Peace. There must be destruction before
reconstruction, and the old structure of society in Europe had to be thrown on
the scrapheap.’4%

To Woodrow Wilson must be ascribed, Shoghi Effendi later wrote, ‘the
unique honour, among the statesmen of any nation, whether of the East or of
the West, of having voiced sentiments so akin to the principles animating the
Cause of Baha’u’llah, and of having more than any other world leader,
contributed to the creation of the League of Nations — achievements which
the pen of the Centre of God’s Covenant acclaimed as signalizing the dawn
of the Most Great Peace . . .’4Z

‘For the first time in the history of humanity’, Shoghi Effendi reflected,
‘the system of collective security, foreshadowed by Baha’u’llah and
explained by ‘Abdu’l-Baha, has been seriously envisaged, discussed and
tested . . . For the first time in human history tentative efforts have been
exerted by the nations of the world to assume collective responsibility, and to
supplement their verbal pledges by actual preparation for collective
action.’42

However promising the signs were that humanity stood on the threshold of
a new era of global security, ‘Abdu’l-Baha knew that the League of Nations
was incapable of establishing universal peace. ‘But the Supreme Tribunal
which Baha’u’llah has described’, He wrote to the Executive Committee of
the Central Organization for a Durable Peace in the Hague, ‘will fulfil this
sacred task with the utmost might and power.’42

The League was ‘doomed to failure from the outset,” wrote Mary
Blomfield. “To begin with the refusal of the United States to become a State
Member rendered the League incomplete. Baha’u’llah had enjoined a League
including ALL nations.”“%

Nevertheless, having witnessed first hand the devastation of the war, Lady
Blomfield determined to return to Switzerland to proclaim the Baha’i
message and influence the thinking of the global community gathering
around the League of Nations. In Geneva, she ‘attempted to inculcate the
principles of the Baha’i Faith in a way which showed her discrimination and
wisdom perhaps more markedly than in any other work she had done for the
Cause,” wrote Mary 4%



It was in Geneva also that Sitarih would form a close bond with the
Englishwoman with whom she would collaborate for the well-being of the
children of Europe, whose very survival hung in the balance in the aftermath
of the carnage of the Great War.



CHAPTER EIGHT: THE FIRST OBLIGATION

To contribute towards the cause of these pitiful children, and to protect and
care for them is the highest expression of altruism and worship, and is well-
pleasing to the Most High, the Almighty, the Divine Provider.[!
‘Abdu’l-Baha

Lady Blomfield, her daughter said, had always keenly felt the world’s
suffering. Among her mother’s papers, Mary found one of Sitarih’s thoughts,
penned in her own handwriting, which Mary believed illustrated the theme of
Lady Blomfield’s life:

‘It would seem that in one day,’ it read, ‘s’en dégager et éclairer la vie [to
free oneself and clarify life] — there is a rebirth of spiritual life which is the
reaction against the doctrines of those who have attempted to destroy the
ideal which has ever existed in the heart of Man. In order to acquire the
power to serve Mankind, it is worthwhile greatly to renounce earthly joys.
The end of Renunciation is accomplished only in acquiring thereby power to
succour humanity. 42

Since her earliest days as a follower of Baha’u’llah, and more particularly
since ‘Abdu’l-Baha’s visits to London during which He had become well-
acquainted with her natural gift for communicating, the Master had urged
Lady Blomfield to develop her talent for speaking, encouraging her to give
talks that were lucid and eloquent.

He wrote to her on 29 July 1919, after learning of two such presentations
about the Baha’i Cause she had made — to a ladies’ gathering and a
philosophical meeting. ‘I pray God that thou mayest deliver in numerous
meetings such discourses on the divine teachings, which are the spirit of this
age and the light of this century, for this twentieth century of the Christian
Era is as the body and the teachings of Baha’u’llah are as the spirit.’

‘Strive as far as thou canst to diffuse these teachings, that those who are
asleep may awaken, the blind may see, and the dead be quickened to life,’ the
Master told her .48

One month before this letter was written, the Covenant of the League of
Nations was signed by 44 states and the Master had hopes that Lady



Blomfield would play a part in the promising processes that were underway.
“This is but the beginning of the dawn of peace,” He told her,

... and only a faint ray thereof hath shone forth. But we cherish the hope
that the day-star of universal peace will shine with such intensity that all
beings, that is, the entire world of creation, will attain perfect
tranquillity. This can in no wise be realized save through the penetrating
power of the Word of God. Political measures can have great influence,
but only on condition that they be associated with the power of the Word
of God and assisted by the aid of the Holy Spirit. For otherwise the
foundations of this mighty edifice cannot stand secure but will be shaken
every day for a different reason. Now, praise be to God, this is the
beginning of the establishment of its foundations. It is our hope that,
supported by a celestial might, a heavenly power and an everlasting
grace, this edifice may become firmly established and may rise up to the
highest heaven.*”

Entering the seventh decade of her life, Sitarih, Lady Blomfield — ‘Abdu’l-
Baha’s star — was brightly shining. Her enthusiasm was contagious, and ‘the
intense light of her faith and the captivating charm of her presence . . . made
her loved and revered by all,” wrote Hasan Balyuzi.®” The moment had now
arrived for her to make a more concerted commitment to the promotion of the
Cause in the Swiss city where, seven years earlier, she had been instructed by
the Master to establish a Baha’i centre. The seat in Geneva of the League of
Nations made the reasons for her presence there all the more urgent. ‘Abdu’l-
Baha prayed that her efforts would ‘free the souls from the darkness of the
world of nature, and lead them to the splendorous light of the Kingdom’ 1481
“This world of dust is fraught with peril,” He wrote,

. and surrounded on all sides with trials and afflictions. Hapless
humanity is plunged in this vortex. A divine power is needed to rescue
and guide it to the shore of safety. I pray God that thou mayest become
the captain of the ark of existence, deliver it, and all who dwell within it,
from this whirlpool, and guide it safely to the harbour of the Kingdom of

mercy.482

By the end of January 1920, Lady Blomfield had arrived in Geneva and had
settled into a room at the prestigious Hotel d’ Angleterre. Designed in 1872 by



a celebrated Swiss architect, Anthony Krafft, the Hotel offered spectacular
vistas across Lake Geneva towards Mont Blanc. But Sitarih’s interests did
not lie with taking in the views. Encouraged by the Master, she was
determined to assist the efforts of those gathered in the city by influencing
their deliberations with the teachings of Baha’u’llah. Soon, in the person of
Eglantyne Jebb — an Englishwoman of immense energy and determination —
Lady Blomfield discovered a kindred spirit.

Eglantyne Jebb was born in 1876 into a wealthy Shropshire family. The Jebbs
were by no means conventional Victorian landowners. The women were
passionately interested in acquiring knowledge of new things, and their
delight in reading gave them a broad and enlightened world view. Despite
their affluence, Eglantyne grew up admiring the simplicity of life in the
country. She despised the class system, believing that respect accorded to
people ‘should not depend upon the way they spend their working hours. In a
social sense there should only be one class — the great class of humanity’.[4%



Eglantyne Jebb on a boat, possibly on Lake Geneva

Eglantyne’s inquisitive mind benefited further from the burgeoning of
educational opportunities for women. In 1895 she went up to Lady Margaret
Hall in Oxford to study history. There she took a vigorous interest in world
issues and enjoyed debating them with other young women. After Oxford,
despite a range of opportunities open to young women from privileged
backgrounds, Eglantyne felt the need to do something useful for society. She
trained to be an elementary teacher in the impoverished south London suburb
of Stockwell. The following year she was appointed to a post at a school in
Marlborough where she quickly won her pupils’ affection but, after just 18
months, ill health forced her to resign. Depression set in and Eglantyne
agonized over what she could offer that was of value. She privately gave
lessons to a niece and nephew, travelled with her mother in Europe,



attempted to write a novel and became involved with the Charity
Organization Society, where she began studying how the issue of poverty
was being dealt with in Cambridge and developed a good understanding of
how charitable organizations worked.

In 1913 Eglantyne received a request from the Macedonian Relief Fund in
London, inviting her to deliver relief money after the Balkan Wars. It was
practically unheard of for an English woman to venture alone around her own
country without a male escort, let alone in a war zone. In Macedonia she
witnessed for herself the aftermath of the conflict and was especially
incensed by the suffering of thousands of starving, displaced refugees,
uprooted from their homes. Returning to England, she urged the Fund to act
more constructively, settling refugees on the land rather than carrying out
short-term relief. Her pleas were ignored.

By the time the Great War broke out, Eglantyne was working with the
Agricultural Organization Society. Her sister, Dorothy Buxton, concerned
that the British press was doing nothing to highlight the realities of the
suffering in Europe, began to publish a newsletter carrying translations of
reports from the continent. Eglantyne joined her in this enterprise.

As the war was coming to an end, people on mainland Europe were
suffering not only from the devastation wreaked by the war but also from the
Allied blockade which continued, after the fighting ceased, in an attempt to
force the defeated powers to agree to a peace treaty. The reports which the
Jebb sisters received were horrifying — people were starving and newly born
children were being wrapped in newspapers because linen was unavailable.

‘Our minds are appalled at the magnitude of this catastrophe, however
sluggish our imagination may be!” wrote Lady Blomfield of the dire torture
being suffered by Europe’s children. ‘Their cries reached the inner ears of
two heroic women, who with breadth of vision, and hearts awakened to
universal conceptions, having faith in the spiritual potency, arose and set
about their Father’s business.’4%

Eglantyne and Dorothy participated in a campaign called the Fight the
Famine Council but it soon transpired that while the Council campaigned,
there was a very real need to provide immediate help to the thousands in
distress. Thus their Save the Children Fund was born and, on 19 May 1919,
Eglantyne and her sister addressed a large crowd on the Fund’s aims. The
public arrived supplied with rotten apples to throw at the heads of these



women who wanted to raise money for ‘enemy children’. But the Jebbs were
unperturbed and Eglantyne’s passionate conviction won over the crowd. The
public launch of Save the Children was an unqualified success. Support for
relief work swelled and soon after the launch money began pouring in. The
Archbishop of Canterbury was appealed to, then the Free Churches and the
Patriarch of the Greek Church. The cooperation secured was remarkable.

Eglantyne believed that there was a great need to get the widest possible
publicity to ease the suffering. In an unprecedented move for that time, the
Save the Children Fund employed a professional publicist and, on his advice,
took out full-page advertisements in the national press. The tactic worked and
while they were criticized for ‘wasting money’, the first advertisement, which
cost some £5,000, brought donations in of £120,000. Save the Children raised
almost £400,000 in its first year — a sum equal to about £8 million in today’s
money.

Local branches of the Fund started up. The first was opened in Fife,
Scotland, in 1919. Within two years there were three hundred groups across
the United Kingdom and one million pounds had been collected. Committees
were also set up in Ireland, Canada, Australia and New Zealand. In December
1919 Eglantyne had a crucial audience with Pope Benedict XV in Rome,
during which he unequivocally supported Save the Children, to the extent of
donating £25,000 of his own money and declaring Innocents Day — 28
December — a day to collect funds via the Church. The Pope insisted that his
contributions were not to be limited only to the relief of children from Roman
Catholic backgrounds but were to be used wherever the need was greatest.
Lady Blomfield wrote,

The widespread collections in all the Churches of Christendom on Holy
Innocents Day 1919 and 1920 were one of the first great results of this
beginning of the translation into action of the continually talked of
Brotherhood of Mankind . . . Had it not been, however, that Pope
Benedict XV was stirred to pity by the sufferings of the children and
their mothers in the famine-stricken lands, and had he not translated the
holy compassion of his into practical action by coming to their rescue, it
could not have been possible to establish at Geneva the International
Union of the Save the Children Fund.#%]

Eglantyne Jebb believed that every country should do its best to help its own



people, and not just rely on aid. So as Save the Children spread, the focus
was not just on relief for war victims but also for the disadvantaged children
of each country. On 6 January 1920 she launched the Save the Children
International Union, in Geneva. The International Committee of the Red
Cross offered its patronage, recognizing in the movement the same ideals of
universal charity expressed in practical service to humanity which had
inspired its own founders. The Red Cross placed its own representatives in
war-stricken countries at the service of the Union and instructed them to act
as International Commissioners for Save the Children, coordinating and
supervising the work at different centres.

Ever ready to champion any cause to protect the innocent from injustice,
Lady Blomfield was swift to lend her support to the work of Save the
Children after her arrival in Switzerland.

‘It is my hope that thou mayest be confirmed in that important cause,
which is of greatest service to the world of humanity,” ‘Abdu’l-Baha
encouraged her, ‘for those poor children are dying of hunger and their
condition is truly heart-rending. This is but one of the many evils of war.’4&

The Master was in no doubt that the work of the Fund’s founders would
receive blessings from God.

“The English lady who hath established